
BOROUGH OF TAMWORTH 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 
 

22 August 2011 
 
 
A Meeting of the CABINET will be held on Wednesday, 31st August, 2011, 6.00 pm 
in Committee Room 1 - Marmion House 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
NON CONFIDENTIAL 

 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 4) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (personal and/or 
personal and prejudicial) in any matters which are to be considered at this 
meeting. 

 
When Members are declaring a personal interest or personal and 
prejudicial  
interest in respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the 
nature of such interest.  Members should leave the room if they have a 
personal and prejudicial interest in respect of which they do not have a 
dispensation.   
 

 
 

4 Annual Review 2010/11 (Pages 5 - 18) 

 (Report of Leader of the Council) 
 
 

5 Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults (Pages 19 - 78) 

 (Report of the Quality of Life Portfolio) 
 

6 Increase in Disabled Facilities Grant Budget to Reflect Contributions (Pages 
79 - 82) 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



 (Report of the Quality of Life Portfolio) 
 

7 Tamworth Core Strategy: Proposed Housing Policy Consultation 
Responses (Pages 83 - 144) 

 (Report of the Economic Development and Enterprise Portfolio) 
 
 

8 Infrastructure Delivery Plan (Pages 145 - 166) 

 (Report of the Economic Development and Enterprise Portfolio) 
 
 

9 Write Offs 01/04/2011 - 30/06/2011 (Pages 167 - 174) 

 (Report of the Corporate Services & Assets Portfolio) 
 
 

 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Deputy Chief Executive 
 
 
People who have a disability and who would like to attend the meeting should contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709264 or e-mail committees@tamworth.gov.uk  
preferably 24 hours prior to the meeting.  We can then endeavour to ensure that any 
particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
 
 
 
To Councillors 



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

CABINET 

HELD ON 20th JULY 2011 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor D Cook (Chair), Councillors R Pritchard, M Oates and 

J Garner 

 
The following officers were present: John Wheatley (Deputy Chief Executive and 
Corporate Director (Resources)), Andrew Barratt (Deputy Director (Assets and 
Environment)), Stefan Garner (Deputy Director (Finance Exchequer and 
Revenues)), Matthew Bowers (Head of Strategic Planning and Development), 
Tina Mustafa (Housing Operations Manager) and Neil Mason (Sports Facilities 
Officer) 
 
 
 

28 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies were received from Councillors B Beale and S Claymore and A 
Goodwin, Chief Executive. 
 

29 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 29 June were approved and signed as a 
correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 

30 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

31 MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  

 
LANDLORD TENANCY AGREEMENT   

 

At the Corporate Scrutiny Committee held on 19 July 2011 the proposed Landlord 
Tenancy Agreement was scrutinised. The recommendations that followed were 
dealt with at agenda item 6. 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Cabinet 20 July 2011 

 

 

2 
 

32 ANNUAL REPORT ON THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT SERVICE AND 

ACTUAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2010/11  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and Assets seeking to 
approve the actual 2010/11 Prudential Indicators within the report and accept the 
Treasury Management stewardship report for 2010/11 was considered. 
 
RESOLVED  
 1 The actual 2010/11 Prudential Indicators within the report 

was approved, and; 
 2 The Treasury Management stewardship report for 2010/11 

was accepted. 
(Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by Councillor J Garner) 
 

33 LANDLORD TENANCY AGREEMENT  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for the Quality of Life seeking to approve the 
Landlord Services Tenancy and Conditions shown at Annex One was considered. 
 
RESOLVED  
 1 The proposed Tenancy Agreement and Conditions to be 

served on all secure tenants and used for new secure 
tenants was approved; 

 2 An incentive for the return of signed and fully completed 
Tenancy Agreement and Conditions was approved; 

(Moved by Councillor M Oates and seconded Councillor by D Cook) 
 
Corporate Scrutiny were thanked for the review of the report and following 
their feedback the following recommendations were added: 
 
 3 Cabinet delegated authority to the Portfolio Holder Quality 

of Life and officers to agree the necessary changes to the 
tenancy agreement following Corporate Scrutiny 
recommendations, and; 

 4 A cash incentive of £50 for the return of keys on time was 
approved. 

(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor M Oates) 
 
 
 

34 LANDLORD IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR ILLEGAL SUBLETTING 2010/11  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Quality of Life seeking to approve the good 
practice guide/toolkit on illegal subletting, developed as a result of the grant 
funding obtained in 2010 was considered. 
 
RESOLVED  
 1 The good practice guide/toolkit on illegal subletting, 

developed as a result of the grant funding obtained in 
2010, shown at annex one was approved, and; 

 2 The approach outlined in relation to ceasing the fraud hot 

Page 2



Cabinet 20 July 2011 

 

 

3 
 

line and incorporating this work into the wider landlord 
tenancy sustainment roles was supported. 

(Moved by Councillor M Oates and seconded by Councillor J Garner) 
 

35 CONSERVATION GRANT ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2010-2011  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Enterprise 
providing Members with an update on the conservation grants offered by the 
Borough Council over the last financial year 2010-2011 was considered. 
 
RESOLVED  
 1 Progress made in respect of the conservation grant 

programme in the 2010-2011 financial year was endorsed. 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor M Oates) 
 

36 STAFFORDSHIRE HOARD TEMPORARY EXHIBITION  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Enterprise 
seeking approval from Members to release the Staffordshire Hoard Contingency 
budget and their endorsement of the progress made to date in planning and 
preparing for the Hoard temporary exhibition was considered. 
 
RESOLVED  
 1 The release of the £20k Staffordshire Hoard contingency 

budget to support the delivery of the temporary exhibition 
was approved; 

 2 The preparation and planning for the Staffordshire Hoard 
temporary exhibition was endorsed, and; 

 3 Merchandise will be available in the Tourist Information 
Centre as well as at the Castle.  

(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 

37 GATEWAY PROJECT  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Enterprise 
seeking approval from Members for funding to appoint a Landscape Architect to 
design a number of schemes for improvement of key gateways to the town centre 
and linkages between the town centre and popular edge of centre destinations, 
and updating Members as to how the town centre Masterplan can be taken 
forward and to request Member approval for funding be approved. 
 
RESOLVED  
 1 The recent consultation exercise and further community 

engagement was endorsed, and 
 2 The release of £20k of Section 106 monies to this project 

was approved, and; 
 3 The procurement of a Landscape Architect to develop 

schemes for this project was approved. 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 

Page 3



Cabinet 20 July 2011 

 

 

4 
 

38 RELEASE OF MONEY FROM CONTINGENCY BUDGET FOR DEFAULT 

ACTION BY THE BOROUGH COUNCIL IN RESPECT OF CURRENT SECTION 

215 NOTICE RELATING TO 11 BLOOMFIELD WAY, TAMWORTH  

 
The Report of the Portfolio for Economic Development and Enterprise seeking 
approval for the release of the necessary money for the Borough Council to 
ensure compliance with the Section 215 Notice served in February of this year, 
following the approval of the Planning Committee on 29 January 2011 was 
considered. 
 
RESOLVED  
 1 The release of £7500 from the Contingency Budget to 

cover default action by the Borough Council to secure 
compliance with the Section 215 Notice served under the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), in 
respect of 11 Bloomfield Way, Tamworth was approved, 
and; 

 2 The Deputy Director Communities, Partnership and 
Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
Economic Development and Enterprise, was authorised to 
recover the costs of the default action by the most 
appropriate means. 

(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 

39 BMX TRACK FEASIBILITY REPORT  

 
The Report Holder for Corporate Governance and Assets and Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Development and Enterprise seeking endorsement from Members for 
the findings and conclusions reached by the independent feasibility study 
conducted by FMG Consulting into the potential for a completion BMX tract to be 
built in Tamworth, and to secure Member’s endorsement for the proposed next 
steps as recommended by officers following consideration of the feasibility study 
was considered. 
 
RESOLVED  
 1 The findings and conclusions of the independent feasibility 

study into a completion BMX racing track were endorsed; 
 2 The proposed next steps arising from the conclusions as 

detailed in this report were endorsed, and; 
 3 That the Torc site is promoted as a preferred location 

along with engagement with the land owners and other 
stakeholders to explore the possibilities of a combined 
facility at this site. 

(Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by Councillor M Oates) 
 
 
 
 

  

 Leader  
 

Page 4



 

NAME OF COMMITTEE 

Cabinet 
 
 

DATE OF COMMITTEE 

31st August 2011 
 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER; CORPORATE DIRECTOR; ASSISTANT 

DIRECTOR; 

Leader of the Council 
 
 

REPORT OF THE  

Corporate Performance Officer 
 
 

TITLE OF REPORT 

Annual Review 2010/11 
 
 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 

N/A 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Cabinet approves the Annual Review such that it can be published 
without delay 
 
 

PURPOSE 

It is good practice for organisations to provide stakeholders with an annual review of 
activity. 
 
The Annual Review informs stakeholders (including members, staff, partners and the 
public at large) about the council’s past performance and future aspirations; in 
accordance with the authority’s obligations to communicate effectively with the public, 
be open to public scrutiny and to share its performance with the borough. 
 
 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications directly arising from this report 
 
 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 

There are no legal or risk implications directly arising from this report 
 
 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

There are no sustainability implications arising from this report 
 
 

CONCLUSIONS 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION   

 
 
 

REPORT AUTHOR 

John Day 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 
 

APPENDICES 

Annual Review 2010/11 

 

Page 6



Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 C
o

u
n

ci
l

Page 7



3

N
ev

er
 b

ef
o

re
 h

a
ve

 t
h

e 
ch

a
n

g
es

 a
n

d
 c

h
a
ll
en

g
es

 f
a
ci

n
g

 l
o

ca
l 
a
u

th
o

ri
ti

es
b

ee
n

 s
o

 r
a
d

ic
a
l 
o

r 
th

ei
r 

im
p

a
ct

 s
o

 s
ig

n
if

ic
a
n

t.
  
A

s 
a
 r

es
u

lt
, 
th

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l
h

a
s 

b
ee

n
 c

o
n

ce
n

tr
a
ti

n
g

 o
n

 ‘
w

h
a
t 

h
a
p

p
en

s 
n

ex
t?

’ 
a
n

d
 n

o
t 

u
p

o
n

 ‘
w

h
a
t

h
a
s 

a
lr

ea
d

y 
h

a
p

p
en

ed
?’

Th
e 

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 p

ro
vi

d
es

 a
ll 

of
 t

hi
s 

w
it

h 
an

 o
p

p
or

tu
ni

ty
 t

o 
lo

ok
 b

ac
k 

an
d

 t
o 

re
m

in
d

ou
rs

el
ve

s 
of

 s
om

e 
of

 t
he

 g
re

at
 w

or
k 

w
e 

ha
ve

 d
on

e;
 d

es
p

it
e 

th
e 

ch
an

g
es

 a
nd

ch
al

le
ng

es
.

Th
is

 y
ea

r, 
w

e 
ca

n 
lo

ok
 b

ac
k 

w
it

h 
co

ns
id

er
ab

le
 p

ri
d

e 
an

d
 s

at
is

fa
ct

io
n 

an
d

, 
w

it
h 

th
e 

ai
d

of
 t

hi
s 

re
vi

ew
, 

m
ea

su
re

 h
ow

 w
el

l w
e 

d
id

 a
g

ai
ns

t 
w

ha
t 

w
e 

se
t 

ou
t 

to
 d

o.
  

O
ur

 c
on

ti
nu

ed
 s

up
p

or
t 

fo
r 

th
e 

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
se

ct
or

 m
ea

nt
 t

ha
t 

m
an

y 
of

 t
he

 m
os

t 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

in
 o

ur
 c

om
m

un
it

ie
s 

w
er

e 
ab

le
 t

o 
ac

ce
ss

 s
up

p
or

t 
an

d
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

lo
ca

lly
. 

 

Th
e 

in
tr

od
uc

ti
on

 o
f 

w
ha

t 
w

e 
no

w
 k

no
w

 t
o 

b
e 

an
 a

w
ar

d
 w

in
ni

ng
 D

om
es

ti
c 

W
as

te
 &

R
ec

yc
lin

g
 S

er
vi

ce
 h

as
 s

av
ed

 £
5

0
0
k 

p
er

 y
ea

r 
an

d
 r

ed
uc

ed
 t

he
 n

um
b

er
 o

f 
co

m
p

la
in

ts
.

C
ri

m
e 

an
d

 a
nt

i-
so

ci
al

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 f

ig
ur

es
 c

on
ti

nu
e 

to
 f

al
l, 

m
ak

in
g

 T
am

w
or

th
 a

 s
af

er
p

la
ce

, 
w

hi
ch

 in
 t

ur
n 

en
co

ur
ag

es
 m

aj
or

 e
ve

nt
s 

su
ch

 a
s 

th
e 

m
us

ic
 f

es
ti

va
l a

nd
 o

th
er

s 
to

re
tu

rn
.

W
it

h 
ju

st
 o

ne
 y

ea
r 

to
 t

he
 O

ly
m

p
ic

s,
 o

ur
 T

ou
ri

st
 I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
C

en
tr

e 
an

d
 B

ri
ta

in
 in

 B
lo

om
te

am
s 

ha
ve

 a
lr

ea
d

y 
w

on
 g

ol
d

 w
it

h 
th

e 
he

lp
 o

f 
ou

r 
co

m
m

un
it

ie
s.

A
ll 

in
 a

ll,
 y

es
, 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

p
er

fo
rm

ed
 w

el
l b

ut
 t

he
re

 is
 s

ti
ll 

m
uc

h 
to

 d
o.

O
ur

 f
oc

us
 s

hi
ft

s 
to

 t
he

 f
ut

ur
e…

..
ou

r 
fu

tu
re

; 
th

e 
ne

ed
 t

o 
ra

is
e 

th
e 

as
p

ir
at

io
ns

 a
nd

at
ta

in
m

en
t 

of
 o

ur
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 t
o 

in
cr

ea
se

 t
he

 p
ro

sp
er

it
y 

of
 o

ur
 t

ow
n 

an
d

 t
o 

co
nt

in
ue

 o
ur

ef
fo

rt
s 

to
 m

ak
e 

Ta
m

w
or

th
 a

 s
af

er
 a

nd
 h

ea
lt

hi
er

 p
la

ce
 t

o 
liv

e.

W
e 

w
ill

 d
o 

al
l w

e 
ca

n 
w

it
h 

th
e 

re
so

ur
ce

s 
av

ai
la

b
le

 a
nd

 w
e 

kn
ow

 o
ur

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
w

ill
 t

oo
.

H
ow

ev
er

 w
e 

b
el

ie
ve

 w
or

ki
ng

 w
it

h 
th

e 
co

m
m

un
it

y 
is

 v
it

al
 t

o 
ou

r 
su

cc
es

s.
 E

ve
ry

on
e

w
it

hi
n 

th
e 

b
or

ou
g

h 
ha

s 
an

 e
ss

en
ti

al
 r

ol
e 

to
 p

la
y 

in
 h

el
p

in
g

 u
s 

co
nc

en
tr

at
e 

ou
r 

ef
fo

rt
s

on
 ‘O

ne
 T

am
w

or
th

, 
Pe

rf
ec

tl
y 

Pl
ac

ed
’.

F
o
re

w
o
rd

2
Ta

m
w

or
th

 B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il

C
o
n

te
n

ts

2
. 

Fo
re

w
o

rd

4
. 

Lo
o

k 
b

a
ck

: 

  
  
 1

2
 m

o
n

th
s 

a
t 

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

 

  
  
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 C

o
u

n
ci

l

5
.

O
u

r 
vi

si
o

n
 a

n
d

 v
a
lu

es

6
.

C
el

eb
ra

ti
n

g
 s

u
cc

es
s

1
0
.

O
u

r 
a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts

1
4
.
Th

e 
fu

tu
re

1
6
.S

u
m

m
a
ry

 a
cc

o
u

n
ts

1
9
.C

o
n

ta
ct

 u
s

Th
e 

la
st

 1
2

 m
o

n
th

s 
h

a
s 

b
ro

u
g

h
t 

m
a
n

y 
ch

a
ll
en

g
es

 t
o

 c
o

u
n

ci
ls

 a
n

d
co

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
a
cr

o
ss

 t
h

e 
co

u
n

tr
y,

 y
et

 i
n

 T
a
m

w
o

rt
h

 w
e 

a
re

 n
o

t 
o

n
ly

st
ri

vi
n

g
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

n
ew

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s,

 w
e 

a
re

 i
m

p
le

m
en

ti
n

g
 i
n

n
o

va
ti

ve
w

a
ys

 o
f 

w
o

rk
in

g
.

Th
is

 y
ea

r 
I 
p

re
se

nt
ed

 a
 f

ou
r-

ye
ar

 b
al

an
ce

d
 b

ud
g

et
 t

o 
Fu

ll 
C

ou
nc

il,
 w

hi
ch

 is
 a

 h
ug

e
ac

hi
ev

em
en

t 
w

he
n 

co
up

le
d

 w
it

h 
th

e 
fa

ct
 w

e 
ha

ve
 f

ro
ze

n 
C

ou
nc

il 
Ta

x 
w

it
h 

no
 c

ut
s 

to
fr

on
t 

lin
e 

se
rv

ic
es

.

D
es

p
it

e 
th

e 
ne

w
s 

p
or

tr
ay

in
g

 a
 g

lo
om

y 
na

ti
on

al
 p

ic
tu

re
 f

or
 m

an
y,

 w
e 

ha
ve

 w
or

ke
d

 h
ar

d
to

 m
ak

e 
su

re
 w

e 
kn

ow
 w

ha
t 

is
 g

oi
ng

 o
n 

in
 o

ur
 c

om
m

un
it

ie
s 

an
d

 w
or

ki
ng

 w
it

h 
g

ro
up

s
in

 k
ey

 a
re

as
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

a 
d

iff
er

en
ce

.

W
e 

ha
ve

 s
p

en
t 

m
or

e 
th

an
 £

8
0

,0
0

0
 o

n 
co

m
m

un
it

y 
p

ro
je

ct
s;

 c
ho

se
n 

an
d

 v
ot

ed
 f

or
 b

y
re

si
d

en
ts

. 
I 
b

el
ie

ve
 t

hi
s 

w
ay

 o
f 

w
or

ki
ng

 is
 a

 r
ad

ic
al

 d
ep

ar
tu

re
 f

ro
m

 h
ow

 m
an

y 
lo

ca
l

au
th

or
it

ie
s 

op
er

at
e;

 a
nd

 it
 w

or
ks

. 
I 
kn

ow
 h

av
in

g
 s

ta
ff

 b
as

ed
 in

 o
ur

 c
om

m
un

it
ie

s 
m

ea
ns

w
e 

ar
e 

m
uc

h 
cl

os
er

 t
o 

ou
r 

re
si

d
en

ts
, 
m

ea
ni

ng
 w

e 
ca

n 
ad

d
re

ss
 c

on
ce

rn
s 

b
ef

or
e 

th
ey

b
ec

om
e 

is
su

es
. 

O
ur

 o
ut

d
oo

r 
ev

en
ts

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
co

nt
in

ue
s 

to
 g

ro
w

, 
se

ei
ng

 t
ho

us
an

d
s 

flo
ck

 t
o 

St
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

D
ay

, 
ou

r 
im

p
re

ss
iv

e 
fir

ew
or

ks
 e

ve
ni

ng
, 

ou
r 

C
hr

is
tm

as
 li

g
ht

s,
 t

o 
th

e 
m

an
y

sp
ec

ia
lis

t 
d

ay
s 

w
e 

ru
n 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 t

he
 y

ea
r.

Th
es

e 
ev

en
ts

 n
ot

 o
nl

y 
b

ri
ng

 p
eo

p
le

 t
o 

th
e 

to
w

n 
b

ut
 t

he
y 

al
so

 b
oo

st
 o

ur
 e

co
no

m
y;

al
m

os
t 

a 
m

ill
io

n 
p

ou
nd

 is
 s

p
en

t 
in

 a
nd

 a
ro

un
d

 t
he

 t
ow

n 
as

 a
 r

es
ul

t 
of

 o
ur

 e
ve

nt
s.

  

D
ur

in
g

 t
he

 la
st

 f
in

an
ci

al
 y

ea
r 

p
la

ns
 w

er
e 

p
ut

 in
 p

la
ce

 f
or

 a
 b

ig
g

er
 a

nd
 b

et
te

r
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ce

nt
re

 t
o 

p
ut

 T
am

w
or

th
 o

n 
th

e 
m

ap
. 

Th
is

 is
 n

ow
 u

p
 a

nd
 r

un
ni

ng
 a

nd
 e

ar
ly

in
d

ic
at

io
ns

 s
ho

w
 it

 is
 g

oi
ng

 f
ro

m
 s

tr
en

g
th

 t
o 

st
re

ng
th

.

W
hi

le
 t

he
re

 is
 a

 lo
t 

go
in

g 
on

 in
 a

nd
 a

ro
un

d 
ou

r 
bo

ro
ug

h 
th

at
 p

eo
pl

e 
ca

n 
se

e,
 b

eh
in

d
th

e 
sc

en
es

 t
he

re
 is

 a
 g

re
at

 d
ea

l o
f s

tr
at

eg
ic

 w
or

k 
go

in
g 

to
 s

ha
pe

 T
am

w
or

th
’s

 fu
tu

re
. O

ur
ne

w
 v

is
io

n 
‘O

ne
 T

am
w

or
th

 P
er

fe
ct

ly
 P

la
ce

d’
 m

ea
ns

 w
e 

ar
e 

w
or

ki
ng

 t
ow

ar
ds

 o
ne

 s
in

gl
e

go
al

. T
o 

ac
hi

ev
e 

th
is

, w
e 

ha
ve

 fo
rm

ed
 t

he
 T

am
w

or
th

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

hi
ch

 is
m

ad
e 

up
 o

f o
rg

an
is

at
io

ns
 s

uc
h 

as
 t

he
 p

ol
ic

e,
 t

he
 fi

re
 s

er
vi

ce
, t

he
 y

ou
th

 s
er

vi
ce

, s
oc

ia
l

la
nd

lo
rd

s 
an

d 
he

al
th

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

su
re

 w
e 

ar
e 

al
l w

or
ki

ng
 t

og
et

he
r.

I 
am

 c
on

st
an

tl
y 

am
az

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
w

ea
lt

h 
of

 k
no

w
le

d
g

e,
 e

xp
er

ti
se

 a
nd

 e
nt

hu
si

as
m

 w
e 

ha
ve

he
re

 in
 T

am
w

or
th

. 
W

it
h 

so
 m

an
y 

p
eo

p
le

 w
or

ki
ng

 t
og

et
he

r 
to

 m
ak

e 
su

re
 T

am
w

or
th

re
al

ly
 is

 ‘p
er

fe
ct

ly
 p

la
ce

d
’, 

I 
am

 c
on

fid
en

t 
ou

r 
b

or
ou

g
h 

w
ill

 c
on

ti
nu

e 
to

 o
ff

er
 e

xc
el

le
nt

op
p

or
tu

ni
ti

es
 f

or
 b

us
in

es
se

s 
in

 T
am

w
or

th
, 

vi
si

to
rs

 a
nd

 r
es

id
en

ts
, 

w
hi

le
 e

ns
ur

in
g

 o
ur

yo
un

g
 p

eo
p

le
 c

an
 m

ee
t 

th
ei

r 
fu

ll 
p

ot
en

ti
al

. 

C
o

u
n

ci
ll
o

r 
D

a
n

ie
l 
C

o
o

k

Le
a
d

er

A
n

th
o

n
y 

E
. 

G
o

o
d

w
in

C
h

ie
f 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 2

0
1

0
/1

1

Page 8



w
he

n 
m

an
y 

ot
he

rs
 h

av
e 

b
ee

n 
fo

rc
ed

 t
o

si
g

ni
fic

an
tl

y 
sc

al
e 

b
ac

k 
ev

en
ts

, 
w

e 
co

nt
in

ue
 t

o 
no

t
on

ly
 b

el
ie

ve
 -

 b
ut

 a
ls

o 
in

ve
st

 -
 in

 c
om

m
un

it
y 

ev
en

ts
w

hi
ch

 e
vo

ke
 a

 f
ee

lin
g

 o
f 

co
m

m
un

it
y 

p
ri

d
e.

  

‘B
ig

 S
oc

ie
ty

’ i
s 

no
t 

ne
w

 t
o 

Ta
m

w
or

th
; 

w
e 

p
ri

d
e

ou
rs

el
ve

s 
on

 o
ur

 w
or

k 
w

it
h 

ou
r 

co
m

m
un

it
ie

s 
–

 o
r

‘lo
ca

lit
y’

 w
or

ki
ng

. 
Th

is
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

a 
m

aj
or

 p
ri

or
it

y 
an

d
fo

cu
s 

of
 o

ur
 w

or
k 

fo
r 

so
m

e 
ti

m
e.

 I
n 

fa
ct

, 
in

 t
he

 la
st

tw
el

ve
 m

on
th

s 
co

m
m

un
it

ie
s 

in
 a

 n
um

b
er

 o
f 

ar
ea

s
ac

ro
ss

 t
he

 b
or

ou
g

h 
w

er
e 

g
iv

en
 t

he
 c

ha
nc

e 
to

 id
en

ti
fy

an
d

 v
ot

e 
fo

r 
p

ro
je

ct
s 

th
ey

 w
an

te
d

 t
o 

se
e 

in
 t

he
ir

 a
re

a.
Th

is
 s

aw
 £

8
0

,0
0

0
 d

ir
ec

tl
y 

sp
en

t 
on

 f
un

d
in

g
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s
p

ro
vi

d
ed

 b
y 

lo
ca

l g
ro

up
s 

an
d

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

ns
 a

nd
 m

or
e

im
p

or
ta

nt
ly

, 
vo

te
d

 f
or

 b
y 

lo
ca

l r
es

id
en

ts
. 

 

It
 is

 o
nl

y 
b

y 
lis

te
ni

ng
 t

o 
ou

r 
re

si
d

en
ts

, 
b

us
in

es
se

s
an

d
 v

is
it

or
s 

w
e 

ca
n 

m
ak

e 
su

re
 o

ur
 w

or
k 

an
d

p
ri

or
it

ie
s 

m
ee

ts
 t

he
ir

 n
ee

d
s.

 W
e 

p
ri

d
e 

ou
rs

el
ve

s 
on

m
ak

in
g

 s
ur

e 
w

e 
co

ns
ul

t 
as

 o
ft

en
 a

s 
p

os
si

b
le

th
ro

ug
h 

w
or

k 
w

it
h 

ou
r 

C
it

iz
en

s 
Pa

ne
l, 

Ta
m

w
or

th
Li

st
en

s 
ev

en
ts

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 a

ve
nu

es
, 

w
hi

le
 a

ls
o 

ty
in

g
ou

r 
w

or
k 

in
to

 t
he

 n
at

io
na

l g
ov

er
nm

en
t 

ag
en

d
a.

W
e 

ar
e 

co
ns

ta
nt

ly
 r

ev
ie

w
in

g
 o

ur
 v

is
io

n,
 p

ri
or

it
ie

s
an

d
 v

al
ue

s 
to

 m
ak

e 
su

re
 w

e 
co

nt
in

ue
 t

o 
se

rv
e 

ou
r

co
m

m
un

it
ie

s 
as

 w
el

l a
s 

w
e 

ca
n.

  
W

e
kn

ow
 w

it
ho

ut
 t

he
 in

p
ut

 o
f 

ou
r 

re
si

d
en

ts
, 

d
ed

ic
at

ed
st

af
f 

an
d

 c
ou

nc
ill

or
s,

 w
e 

w
ou

ld
 n

ot
 b

e 
ab

le
 t

o
p

ro
vi

d
e 

th
e 

hi
g

h 
le

ve
l o

f 
se

rv
ic

es
, 

ev
en

ts
 a

nd
 n

ew
p

ro
je

ct
s 

w
e 

p
ri

d
e 

ou
rs

el
ve

s 
on

. 
W

e 
lik

e 
to

 t
hi

nk
 w

e
ar

e 
le

ad
in

g
 t

he
 w

ay
 in

 h
ow

 a
lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

ri
ty

 s
ho

ul
d

op
er

at
e;

 r
eg

ar
d

le
ss

 o
f 

th
e

na
ti

on
al

 p
ic

tu
re

.

W
o

rk
in

g
 m

o
re

 c
lo

se
ly

 t
h

a
n

 e
ve

r 
b

ef
o

re
 w

it
h

 o
u

r 
re

si
d

en
ts

 i
n

 t
h

e 
ve

ry
h

ea
rt

 o
f 

o
u

r 
co

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
 n

ew
s 

th
a
t 

th
e 

St
a
ff

o
rd

sh
ir

e 
H

o
a
rd

 w
o

u
ld

 b
e

ex
h

ib
it

ed
 a

t 
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
 C

a
st

le
, 
th

e 
M

id
la

n
d

s 
M

u
si

c 
Fe

st
iv

a
l 
b

ri
n

g
in

g
2

0
,0

0
0
 p

eo
p

le
 t

o
 t

h
e 

C
a
st

le
 G

ro
u

n
d

s,
 f

re
e 

sw
im

m
in

g
 f

o
r 

ev
er

yo
n

e,
 a

n
ew

 ‘
fi

n
d

in
g

 a
 h

o
m

e’
 s

er
vi

ce
 a

n
d

 a
 b

ra
n

d
 n

ew
 w

a
st

e 
m

a
n

a
g

em
en

t
se

rv
ic

e 
w

er
e 

ju
st

 s
o

m
e 

o
f 

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 C
o

u
n

ci
l’s

 a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
o

ve
r 

th
e 

p
a
st

 1
2
 m

o
n

th
s.

D
es

p
it

e 
th

e 
d

iff
ic

ul
t 

fin
an

ci
al

 b
ac

kd
ro

p
 f

ac
ed

 b
y 

lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
ri

ti
es

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

co
un

tr
y,

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il 

ha
s 

co
nt

in
ue

d
 t

o 
g

o 
fr

om
 s

tr
en

g
th

-t
o-

st
re

ng
th

, 
in

cl
ud

in
g

ne
w

 a
nd

 in
no

va
ti

ve
 p

ro
je

ct
s 

to
 m

ak
e 

su
re

 w
e 

ar
e 

su
p

p
or

ti
ng

 t
he

 n
ee

d
s 

of
 T

am
w

or
th

re
si

d
en

ts
, 

vi
si

to
rs

 a
nd

 b
us

in
es

se
s.

Th
e 

B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il 
fu

nd
ed

 lo
ca

l g
ro

up
s 

to
 t

he
 t

un
e 

of
 £

7
5
0

,0
0

0
 t

o 
p

ro
vi

d
e 

se
rv

ic
es

ur
g

en
tl

y 
ne

ed
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

p
ub

lic
. 

Th
is

 in
cl

ud
ed

 g
ra

nt
s 

to
 t

he
 C

A
B

, 
B

ar
na

rd
o’

s,
 S

am
ar

it
an

s
an

d
 H

om
e 

St
ar

t.
 

In
 a

d
d

it
io

n,
 T

am
w

or
th

 ‘s
tr

uc
k 

g
ol

d
’ i

n 
th

e 
H

ea
rt

 o
f

En
g

la
nd

 I
n 

B
lo

om
 c

om
p

et
it

io
n 

w
hi

ch
 s

aw
 t

he
 e

nt
ir

e
b

or
ou

g
h 

aw
as

h 
w

it
h 

b
ri

g
ht

 b
lo

om
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g
 a

 f
lo

ra
l

tr
ib

ut
e 

to
 t

he
 ‘T

am
w

or
th

 T
w

o’
, 

th
e 

d
is

p
la

ys
 r

ai
se

d
 m

an
y

p
os

it
iv

e 
co

m
m

en
ts

 f
ro

m
 r

es
id

en
ts

 a
nd

 v
is

it
or

s 
al

ik
e.

 

O
ur

 im
p

re
ss

iv
e 

ou
td

oo
r 

ev
en

ts
 a

nd
 e

nt
er

ta
in

m
en

t
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

sa
w

 m
or

e 
th

an
 1

0
0

,0
0

0
 p

eo
p

le
 a

tt
en

d
. 

Th
is

ra
is

ed
 a

n 
in

co
m

e 
of

 £
1
8

5
,0

0
0

 a
nd

 a
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 o
f 

th
es

e
ev

en
ts

, 
al

m
os

t 
£

1
 m

ill
io

n 
w

as
 s

p
en

t 
in

 a
nd

 a
ro

un
d

 t
he

b
or

ou
g

h.
 T

hi
s 

in
cl

ud
es

 m
on

ey
 s

p
en

t 
on

 f
oo

d
,

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

an
d

 v
is

it
in

g
 o

th
er

 p
la

ce
s 

in
 t

he
 t

ow
n.

Ev
en

ts
 in

cl
ud

ed
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

D
ay

, 
th

e 
fir

ew
or

ks
ex

tr
av

ag
an

za
 a

nd
 t

he
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 li
g

ht
s 

sw
it

ch
-o

n.
 A

t 
a 

ti
m

e

T
h

e
 l

a
st

 1
2
 m

o
n

th
s:

 
A

 l
o
o
k

 b
a
ck

 

4
Ta

m
w

or
th

 B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il
5

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 2

0
1

0
/1

1

O
u

r 
v
is

io
n

, 
y
o
u

r 
p

ri
o
ri

ti
e
s 

Fo
r 

2
0
1
0
/1

1
, 
o

u
r 

vi
si

o
n

 w
a
s

u
n

ch
a
n

g
ed

, 
b

u
t 

o
u

r 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
w

er
e 

re
vi

se
d

 s
li
g

h
tl

y.

V
is

io
n

�
B

y 
2

0
2
0

, 
Ta

m
w

or
th

 w
ill

 b
e 

an
 id

ea
l

p
la

ce
 t

o 
liv

e,
 w

or
k 

an
d

 r
ai

se
 y

ou
r

fa
m

ily
 in

 t
he

 H
ea

rt
 o

f 
En

g
la

nd

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 p

ri
o
ri

ti
e
s

�
W

or
ki

ng
 w

it
h 

lo
ca

l p
eo

p
le

 a
nd

p
ar

tn
er

s 
w

e 
w

ill
 m

ak
e 

ou
r

co
m

m
un

it
ie

s 
sa

fe
r, 

m
or

e 
co

nf
id

en
t

an
d

 b
et

te
r 

p
la

ce
s 

to
 li

ve

�
W

or
ki

ng
 w

it
h 

lo
ca

l p
eo

p
le

 a
nd

 o
th

er
s

w
e 

sh
al

l d
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 m
ai

nt
ai

n 
an

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

th
at

 r
ef

le
ct

s 
th

e 
ne

ed
s

of
 t

he
 f

ut
ur

e 
w

hi
le

 c
on

se
rv

in
g

 t
he

un
iq

ue
ne

ss
 o

f 
ou

r 
p

as
t

�
W

or
ki

ng
 w

it
h 

ot
he

rs
 w

e 
w

ill
 d

ev
el

op
a 

vi
b

ra
nt

 a
nd

 p
ro

sp
er

ou
s 

to
w

n

�
W

or
ki

ng
 w

it
h 

lo
ca

l p
eo

p
le

 a
nd

p
ar

tn
er

s 
w

e 
w

ill
 im

p
ro

ve
 h

ou
si

ng
ch

oi
ce

 a
nd

 a
d

d
re

ss
 h

ou
si

ng
 n

ee
d

s 
fo

r
th

e 
p

eo
p

le
 o

f 
Ta

m
w

or
th

�
W

or
ki

ng
 w

it
h 

ot
he

rs
 w

e 
w

ill
 p

ro
m

ot
e

Ta
m

w
or

th
 a

s 
g

oo
d

 f
or

 b
us

in
es

s,
 g

re
at

to
 v

is
it

 a
nd

 w
el

co
m

in
g

 t
o 

al
l

�
A

ct
iv

el
y 

su
p

p
or

t 
th

os
e 

re
sp

on
si

b
le

 
fo

r 
th

e 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

of
 h

ea
lt

h 
an

d
ed

uc
at

io
n 

st
an

d
ar

d
s 

in
 T

am
w

or
th

�
To

 b
e 

ac
co

un
ta

b
le

, 
ap

p
ro

ac
ha

b
le

 
an

d
 v

is
ib

le

Page 9



Th
is

 la
st

 y
ea

r 
al

so
 s

aw
 a

 d
ra

m
at

ic
 s

w
in

g
 t

ow
ar

d
s 

’b
us

in
es

s 
le

d
’ a

ch
ie

ve
m

en
ts

.
Pr

og
re

ss
 o

n 
p

ro
m

ot
in

g
 t

he
 u

ni
q

ue
 b

le
nd

 o
f 

le
is

ur
e,

 h
er

it
ag

e 
an

d
 r

et
ai

l o
ff

er
s 

w
as

 m
ad

e
un

d
er

 t
he

 le
ad

er
sh

ip
 o

f 
th

e 
‘P

la
ce

 P
ro

je
ct

’, 
w

hi
ch

 s
ee

s 
th

e 
lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

ri
ty

 w
or

ki
ng

 w
it

h
p

ri
va

te
 b

us
in

es
se

s 
an

d
 v

ol
un

ta
ry

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

ns
 t

o 
en

su
re

 T
am

w
or

th
 is

 p
ro

m
ot

ed
 m

uc
h

b
et

te
r 

th
an

 e
ve

r 
b

ef
or

e.

A
t 

th
e 

sa
m

e 
ti

m
e,

 t
he

 G
re

at
er

 B
ir

m
in

g
ha

m
 &

 S
ol

ih
ul

l L
oc

al
 E

nt
er

p
ri

se
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 (

LE
P)

b
ro

ug
ht

 t
og

et
he

r 
p

ri
va

te
 a

nd
 p

ub
lic

 s
ec

to
r 

le
ad

er
s 

fr
om

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

re
g

io
n,

 t
o 

fo
cu

s 
on

re
g

en
er

at
in

g
 a

nd
 r

eb
ui

ld
in

g
 lo

ca
l p

ro
sp

er
it

y.

It
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e 
a
lm

o
st

 i
m

p
o

ss
ib

le
 t

o
 l
is

t 
a
ll
 o

f 
o

u
r 

a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
 o

ve
r 

th
e

p
a
st

 y
ea

r, 
h

o
w

ev
er

 s
o

m
e 

o
f 

th
e 

h
ig

h
li
g

h
ts

 i
n

cl
u

d
e:

 

�
Th

e 
la

u
n

ch
 o

f 
th

e 
Fi

n
d

in
g

 a
 H

o
m

e 
Sc

h
em

e

�
St

re
et

 w
a
rd

en
s 

g
iv

en
 p

o
w

er
s 

to
 i
ss

u
e 

fi
xe

d
 p

en
a
lt

y 
n

o
ti

ce
s 

fo
r

li
tt

er
in

g
 a

n
d

 d
o

g
 f

o
u

li
n

g

�
£
7
5

0
,0

0
0
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 t

o
 l
o

ca
l 
g

ro
u

p
s 

a
n

d
 o

rg
a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

s

�
In

tr
o

d
u

ct
io

n
 o

f 
a
 s

h
a
re

d
 d

o
m

es
ti

c 
w

a
st

e 
a
n

d
 r

ec
yc

li
n

g
 s

er
vi

ce
 w

it
h

Li
ch

fi
el

d
, 
sa

vi
n

g
 £

5
0
0
k 

a
 y

ea
r

�
H

ea
rt

 o
f 

E
n

g
la

n
d

 i
n

 B
lo

o
m

 G
o

ld
 a

w
a
rd

�
Th

e 
M

id
la

n
d

s 
M

u
si

c 
Fe

st
iv

a
l 
h

el
d

 i
n

 t
h

e 
C

a
st

le
 G

ro
u

n
d

s 
a
tt

ra
ct

in
g

m
o

re
 t

h
a
n

 2
0
,0

0
0
 v

is
it

o
rs

�
Th

e 
To

u
ri

st
 I

n
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 C
en

tr
e 

w
in

n
in

g
 G

o
ld

 i
n

 t
h

e 
E
n

jo
y 

E
n

g
la

n
d

E
xc

el
le

n
ce

 A
w

a
rd

s

�
St

 G
eo

rg
e’

s 
D

a
y 

ce
le

b
ra

ti
o

n
 s

a
w

 1
0

,0
0
0
 p

eo
p

le
 f

lo
ck

in
g

 t
o

 t
h

e 
C

a
st

le
G

ro
u

n
d

s

A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
 s

uc
h 

as
 t

he
se

, 
w

he
n 

se
t 

al
on

g
si

d
e 

th
e 

b
or

ou
g

h’
s 

m
aj

or
 e

ve
nt

s
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

an
d

 t
he

 s
ec

ur
in

g
 o

f 
th

e 
St

af
fo

rd
sh

ir
e 

H
oa

rd
 e

xh
ib

it
io

n,
 r

ep
re

se
nt

 t
he

he
ad

lin
es

. 
 W

ha
t 

al
so

 w
ar

ra
nt

s 
m

en
ti

on
 a

re
 t

he
 s

up
er

b
 d

ay
-t

o-
d

ay
 a

ch
ie

ve
m

en
ts

 o
f 

ou
r

B
en

ef
it

s 
te

am
, 

ou
r 

ho
us

in
g

 s
ta

ff
, 

p
la

nn
in

g
 o

ff
ic

er
s 

an
d

 e
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h 
te

am
s

w
ho

 c
ol

le
ct

iv
el

y 
an

d
 t

ir
el

es
sl

y 
w

or
k 

to
 m

ak
e 

Ta
m

w
or

th
 a

 b
et

te
r 

p
la

ce
. 

O
ur

 C
om

m
un

it
y 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
O

ff
ic

er
s 

ha
ve

 t
ak

en
 t

he
 ‘l

oc
al

it
ie

s’
 w

or
k 

fr
om

 s
tr

en
g

th
-t

o-
st

re
ng

th
, 

in
cl

ud
in

g
 c

om
m

un
it

y 
ev

en
ts

 w
hi

ch
 s

aw
 h

un
d

re
d

s 
of

 p
eo

p
le

 c
om

e 
to

g
et

he
r,

ra
is

in
g

 c
om

m
un

it
y 

p
ri

d
e 

an
d

 s
p

ir
it

. 

In
 a

d
d

it
io

n,
 t

he
re

 a
re

 o
ur

 s
up

p
or

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 w

hi
ch

 e
ns

ur
e 

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il

co
nt

in
ue

s 
to

 o
p

er
at

e 
to

 s
uc

h 
hi

g
h 

et
hi

ca
l, 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
nd

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 s
ta

nd
ar

d
s.

Th
e 

or
g

an
is

at
io

n 
an

d
 r

un
ni

ng
 o

f 
la

st
 y

ea
r’

s 
g

en
er

al
 e

le
ct

io
n 

al
so

 w
ar

ra
nt

s 
m

en
ti

on
. 

It
in

vo
lv

ed
 t

he
 d

el
iv

er
y 

of
 a

lm
os

t 
6

0
,0

0
0

 p
ol

l c
ar

d
s,

 r
un

ni
ng

 7
7

 p
ol

lin
g

 s
ta

ti
on

s,
 t

he
co

un
t 

an
d

 t
he

 p
os

t 
el

ec
ti

on
 w

or
k.

  

C
e
le

b
ra

ti
n

g 
su

cc
e
ss

7
6

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 2

0
1

0
/1

1

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

a
n

d
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 g

ro
u

p
s 

re
ce

iv
e 

£
3
/ 4

m
il
li
o

n
 f

u
n

d
in

g

In
 t

ot
al

 n
in

e 
or

g
an

is
at

io
ns

 r
ec

ei
ve

d
 £

6
8
3
,3

9
5
, 
in

cl
ud

in
g

 £
1
9
5
,0

0
0
 t

o 
Ta

m
w

or
th

 C
V

S,
 £

1
8
0
,0

0
0
 t

o 
C

it
iz

en
s

A
d

vi
ce

 B
ur

ea
u 

w
hi

le
 B

ar
na

rd
o’

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 £

7
5
,0

0
0
.

Th
e 

g
ra

nt
s 

m
ea

ns
 t

ax
p

ay
er

s’
 m

on
ey

 is
 b

ei
ng

 s
p

en
t 

w
he

re
 it

 is
 m

os
t 

ne
ed

ed
 f

or
 r

es
id

en
ts

 li
vi

ng
 in

 T
am

w
or

th
.

It
 is

 t
he

 e
q

ui
va

le
nt

 o
f 

al
m

os
t 

£
2
1
 p

er
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

.

B
y 

w
or

ki
ng

 m
or

e 
cl

os
el

y 
w

it
h 

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
an

d
 c

om
m

un
it

y 
g

ro
up

s,
 t

he
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il 

w
as

 a
b

le
 t

o 
co

ns
id

er

in
 g

re
at

er
 d

et
ai

l w
ha

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 w

er
e 

av
ai

la
b

le
 a

nd
 h

ow
 t

he
y 

co
ul

d
 b

et
te

r 
m

ee
t 

th
e 

ne
ed

s 
of

 lo
ca

l p
eo

p
le

.

B
y 

w
or

ki
ng

 w
it

h 
an

d
 c

om
m

is
si

on
in

g
 lo

ca
l v

ol
un

ta
ry

 a
nd

 c
om

m
un

it
y 

g
ro

up
s,

 it
 m

ea
ns

 t
ha

t 
or

g
an

is
at

io
ns

ca
n 

w
or

k 
in

 t
he

 h
ea

rt
 o

f 
th

e 
co

m
m

un
it

y 
an

d
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

g
oo

d
 q

ua
lit

y 
se

rv
ic

es
.

�
C

it
iz

en
’s

 A
d

vi
ce

 B
u
re

au
, 
£
1
8
0
,0

0
0

–
 T

o 
in

cr
ea

se
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 d
eb

t 
an

d 
fin

an
ci

al
 w

el
l b

ei
ng

 a
dv

ic
e

�
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
 C

V
S 

, 
£
9
3
,0

0
0

–
 b

ui
ld

 s
up

p
or

t 
fo

r 
vo

lu
nt

ar
y 

an
d

 c
om

m
un

it
y 

se
ct

or

�
B

a
rn

a
rd

o
’s

 -
 £

7
5
,3

9
5

–
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

su
p

p
or

t 
fo

r 
p

ar
en

ti
ng

 a
nd

 s
up

p
or

t 
fo

r 
fa

m
ili

es

�
A

n
d

 a
n

 a
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 
£
7
5
,0

0
0

–
 T

o 
su

p
p

or
t 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 a

d
ul

ts
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

�
H

o
m

e 
St

a
rt

 -
 £

7
5
,0

0
0

–
 S

up
p

or
ti

ng
 p

ar
en

ts
 a

nd
 p

eo
p

le
 w

it
h 

yo
un

g
 f

am
ili

es
 v

ul
ne

ra
b

le
 t

o

m
en

ta
l d

is
tr

es
s 

d
ue

 t
o 

so
ci

al
 is

ol
at

io
n,

 b
er

ea
ve

m
en

t 
an

d
 m

ar
it

al
 b

re
ak

d
ow

n

�
B

a
rn

a
rd

o
’s

 -
 £

5
0
,0

0
0

–
 p

ro
m

ot
e 

th
e 

w
el

l b
ei

ng
 a

nd
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h 

of
 a

ll 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d
 y

ou
ng

p
eo

p
le

, 
es

p
ec

ia
lly

 t
ho

se
 a

t 
hi

g
he

r 
ri

sk

�
St

a
ff

o
rd

sh
ir

e 
W

il
d

li
fe

 T
ru

st
 –

 £
4
5
,0

0
0

–
 p

ro
te

ct
 a

nd
 e

nh
an

ce
 w

ild
lif

e 
an

d
 w

ild
 p

la
ce

s 
an

d

en
co

ur
ag

in
g

 c
om

m
un

it
y 

in
vo

lv
em

en
t

�
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
 C

V
S 

- 
£
2
7
,0

0
0

–
 in

cr
ea

se
 a

w
ar

en
es

s 
an

d
 k

no
w

le
d

g
e 

of
 v

ol
un

te
er

in
g

�
H

o
m

e 
St

a
rt

 -
 £

2
7
,0

0
0

–
 w

or
ki

ng
 w

it
h 

fa
m

ili
es

 o
n 

lo
w

 in
co

m
es

 t
o 

p
re

ve
nt

 d
eb

t 
an

d
 p

ov
er

ty

�
Sa

m
a
ri

ta
n

s 
- 

£
2
1
,0

0
0

–
 s

up
p

or
ti

ng
 v

ul
ne

ra
b

le
 p

eo
p

le
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

in
g

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h 
is

su
es

 a
nd

th
os

e 
at

 r
is

k 
of

 s
el

f 
ha

rm
 o

r 
su

ic
id

e

�
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
 C

re
d

it
 U

n
io

n
, 
£
1
5
,0

0
0

–
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

af
fo

rd
ab

le
 lo

an
s 

an
d

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
sa

vi
ng

s

Se
e 

o
u

r 
vi

d
eo

s 
ta

ke
n

a
t 

th
e 

el
ec

ti
o

n
, 
st

re
et

 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 w

a
rd

en
s 

a
n

d
 f

ro
m

 o
u

r 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
ev

en
ts

:

w
w

w
.y

ou
tu

b
e.

co
m

/u
se

r/
Ta

m
w

or
th

C
ou

nc
il

Page 10



‘A
n

 e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 
th

a
t 

re
fl

e
ct

s 
th

e
n

e
e
d

s 
o
f 

th
e
 f

u
tu

re
 w

h
il

e
 c

o
n

se
rv

in
g

th
e
 u

n
iq

u
e
n

e
ss

 o
f 

o
u

r 
p

a
st

’
Th

e 
ne

w
 jo

in
t 

w
as

te
 c

ol
le

ct
io

n 
se

rv
ic

e 
ha

s 
d

el
iv

er
ed

 n
ot

 o
nl

y 
ye

ar
ly

 c
os

t 
sa

vi
ng

s 
of

£
5
0

0
k,

 b
ut

 h
as

 a
ls

o 
re

su
lt

ed
 in

 a
n 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

 w
as

te
 r

ec
yc

lin
g

 f
ig

ur
e 

w
hi

ch
 in

tu
rn

 h
as

 le
d

 t
o 

lo
w

er
 w

as
te

 t
o 

la
nd

fil
l f

ig
ur

es
.

Fo
llo

w
in

g
 t

he
 a

w
ar

d
 o

f 
si

lv
er

 g
ilt

 in
 2

0
0

9
 in

 t
he

 H
ea

rt
 o

f 
En

g
la

nd
 in

 B
lo

om
co

m
p

et
it

io
n,

 w
e 

w
en

t 
on

e 
b

et
te

r 
in

 2
0
1

0
 a

nd
 w

er
e 

aw
ar

d
ed

 g
ol

d
 f

or
 o

ur
 f

lo
ra

l
d

is
p

la
ys

. 
 T

he
 v

ar
io

us
 e

st
at

e 
w

al
ka

b
ou

ts
 a

nd
 “

ti
d

y 
up

” 
ev

en
ts

 w
it

h 
re

si
d

en
ts

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
e

to
 k

ee
p

in
g

 t
he

 b
or

ou
g

h 
ti

d
y.

O
u

r 
p

er
fo

rm
a
n

ce
 o

ve
r 

th
e 

la
st

 1
2
 m

o
n

th
s 

h
a
s 

b
ee

n
 s

tr
o

n
g

 –
 T

h
e 

fa
ct

s
sp

ea
k 

fo
r 

th
em

se
lv

es
: 

w
e 

a
re

 p
er

fo
rm

in
g

 w
el

l 
a
g

a
in

st
 o

u
r 

in
d

ic
a
to

rs
.

O
u

r 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 S

co
re

ca
rd

, 
w

h
ic

h
 g

iv
es

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 o
n

 p
er

fo
rm

a
n

ce
a
g

a
in

st
 o

u
r 

p
er

fo
rm

a
n

ce
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
, 

is
 a

va
il
a
b

le
 o

n
 o

u
r 

w
eb

si
te

.
H

o
w

ev
er

 w
e 

a
re

 c
o

n
st

a
n

tl
y 

le
a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 m

o
vi

n
g

 t
h

in
g

s 
fo

rw
a
rd

. 
Fo

r
2
0

1
1
/1

2
, 

w
e 

h
a
ve

 r
ev

is
ed

 o
u

r 
co

rp
o

ra
te

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 a
n

d
 o

u
r 

p
er

fo
rm

a
n

ce
fr

a
m

ew
o

rk
 i
s 

n
o

w
 d

ed
ic

a
te

d
 a

ro
u

n
d

 ‘
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
 t

h
e 

P
la

ce
’.
  
R

ea
d

 o
u

r
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

la
n

 2
0
1

1
/1

2
 o

n
 o

u
r 

w
eb

si
te

: 
w

w
w

.t
a
m

w
o

rt
h

.g
o

v.
u

k

‘M
a
k

in
g 

o
u

r 
co

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
sa

fe
r,

 m
o
re

co
n

fi
d

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 b

e
tt

e
r 

p
la

ce
s 

to
 l
iv

e
’ 

Th
e 

w
or

k 
of

 t
he

 C
om

m
un

it
y 

Sa
fe

ty
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
, 

of
 w

hi
ch

 w
e 

ar
e 

a 
le

ad
 m

em
b

er
, 

ha
s

re
su

lt
ed

 in
 a

 f
al

l i
n 

cr
im

e 
an

d
 a

nt
i-

so
ci

al
 b

eh
av

io
ur

 d
ur

in
g

 2
0

1
0
/1

1
. 

 I
nn

ov
at

iv
e

p
ro

je
ct

s 
su

ch
 a

s 
th

e 
“R

ed
 C

ar
d

 C
am

p
ai

g
n”

 t
o 

ta
ck

le
 d

om
es

ti
c 

vi
ol

en
ce

, 
“O

p
er

at
io

n
Sa

fe
r 

N
ig

ht
s 

p
lu

s”
 a

nd
 t

he
 “

Sa
fe

r 
Ta

m
w

or
th

” 
ev

en
t 

he
ld

 a
t 

th
e 

A
ss

em
b

ly
 R

oo
m

s 
ha

ve
b

ee
n 

co
nt

ri
b

ut
or

y 
fa

ct
or

s 
to

 t
hi

s 
su

cc
es

s.
 

Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il’

s 
C

om
m

un
it

y 
Sa

fe
ty

 t
ea

m
 h

as
 n

ow
 r

el
oc

at
ed

 t
o 

th
e 

p
ol

ic
e 

st
at

io
n,

p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 o
p

er
at

io
na

l a
nd

 t
ac

ti
ca

l b
en

ef
it

 t
hr

ou
g

h 
b

et
te

r 
ta

sk
in

g
 a

nd
 c

o-
or

d
in

at
io

n.

Th
e 

p
ar

ti
ci

p
at

or
y 

b
ud

g
et

in
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
–

 w
hi

ch
 s

aw
 c

om
m

un
it

ie
s 

vo
te

 o
n 

p
ro

je
ct

s
th

ey
 w

an
te

d
 t

o 
se

e 
in

 t
he

ir
 a

re
a 

- 
co

nt
in

ue
d

 w
it

h 
ev

en
ts

 h
el

d
 in

 o
ur

 p
ri

or
it

y 
ar

ea
s 

of
G

la
sc

ot
e,

 B
el

g
ra

ve
 a

nd
 S

to
ny

d
el

p
h.

 T
o 

d
at

e,
 1

4
 g

ro
up

s 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

su
p

p
or

te
d

.

O
ur

 “
G

ra
nt

s 
to

 v
ol

un
ta

ry
 o

rg
an

is
at

io
ns

 s
ch

em
e”

 r
ec

og
ni

se
s 

th
e 

va
lu

ab
le

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n
su

ch
 o

rg
an

is
at

io
ns

 m
ak

e 
to

 o
ur

 b
or

ou
g

h.
 T

hi
s 

ha
s 

re
su

lt
ed

 in
 £

9
,5

0
0
 b

ei
ng

 s
ha

re
d

am
on

g
 1

8
 s

uc
h 

g
ro

up
s.

O
ur

 c
on

ti
nu

ed
 c

om
m

it
m

en
t 

to
 w

or
ki

ng
 w

it
h 

co
m

m
un

it
ie

s 
sa

w
 t

he
 o

p
en

in
g

 o
f 

th
e

fo
ur

th
 A

R
C

H
 (

A
d

vi
ce

 R
es

ou
rc

e 
C

om
m

un
it

y 
H

ub
) 

ce
nt

re
 in

 B
el

g
ra

ve
.

G
ra

n
ts

 t
o

ta
ll
in

g
 £

7
5
0
,0

0
0

w
er

e 
g

iv
en

 o
ut

 t
o 

C
A

B
, 

Ta
m

w
or

th
 C

V
S,

 B
ar

na
rd

o’
s,

 H
om

e
St

ar
t,

 S
ta

ff
or

d
sh

ir
e 

W
ild

lif
e 

Tr
us

t 
an

d
 T

am
w

or
th

 C
re

d
it

 U
ni

on
.

O
u

r 
a
ch

ie
v
e
m

e
n

ts

9
A

nn
ua

l R
ev

ie
w

 2
0

1
0
/1

1
8

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il

‘G
et

 b
eh

in
d

 u
s!

’ 
–
 s

tr
ee

t 
w

a
rd

en
s 

u
rg

e 
p

u
b

li
c 

o
n

 l
it

te
r 

ca
m

p
a
ig

n

St
re

et
 w

ar
d

en
s 

ur
g

ed
 t

he
 p

ub
li c

 t
o 

le
nd

 t
he

ir
 s

up
p

or
t 

to
 t

he
ir

 n
ew

 li
tt

er
 c

am
p

ai
g

n.

Ev
er

y 
w

ee
k,

 B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il 
St

re
et

 S
ce

ne
 s

ta
ff

 c
ol

le
ct

 m
or

e 
th

an
 2

0
0

 b
ag

s 
of

 li
tt

er
 f

ro
m

th
e 

st
re

et
s.

 T
hi

s 
is

 e
q

ua
l t

o 
2

1
5

 t
on

ne
s 

a 
ye

ar
 –

 t
he

 w
ei

g
ht

 o
f 

5
0

 A
fr

ic
an

 e
le

p
ha

nt
s 

- 
an

d
co

st
s 

in
 r

eg
io

n 
of

 £
1

 m
ill

io
n 

ev
er

y 
ye

ar
 t

o 
cl

ea
n 

up
. 

Th
e 

ne
w

 c
am

p
ai

g
n 

sa
w

 s
tr

ee
t 

w
ar

d
en

s 
g

iv
en

 e
nf

or
ce

m
en

t 
p

ow
er

s,
 m

ea
ni

ng
 t

he
y 

co
ul

d
is

su
e 

fix
ed

 p
en

al
ty

 n
ot

ic
es

 f
or

 li
tt

er
in

g
 o

r 
le

tt
in

g
 t

he
ir

 d
og

s 
fo

ul
. 

Fa
ilu

re
 t

o 
p

ay
 t

he
 f

ix
ed

p
en

al
ty

 c
ou

ld
 le

ad
 t

o 
p

ro
se

cu
ti

on
. 

‘G
et

 B
eh

in
d

 U
s’

 w
as

 in
 r

es
p

on
se

 t
o 

su
rv

ey
s 

w
hi

ch
 r

ev
ea

le
d

  
m

or
e 

th
an

 h
al

f 
of

 r
es

id
en

ts
fe

lt
 li

tt
er

 w
as

 a
 p

ro
b

le
m

 in
 T

am
w

or
th

, 
w

hi
le

 8
9

%
 o

f 
re

si
d

en
ts

 s
up

p
or

te
d

 a
n 

ac
ti

ve
ap

p
ro

ac
h 

to
 e

nv
ir

on
m

en
ta

l c
ri

m
e.

 

�
M

o
re

 t
h
an

 1
0
0
 f

ix
ed

 p
en

a l
ty

 n
o
ti

ce
s 

an
d

 1
2
4
 e

n
vi

ro
n
m

en
ta

l c
ri

m
e 

n
o
ti

ce
s 

h
av

e
b

ee
n
 is

su
ed

 

�
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 C

o
u
n
ci

l p
ro

vi
d

es
 7

5
0
 s

tr
ee

t 
lit

te
r 

b
in

s

�
Th

es
e 

b
in

s 
ar

e 
em

p
ti

ed
 b

y 
St

re
et

 S
ce

n
e 

st
af

f 
2
,2

8
2
 t

im
es

 p
er

 w
ee

k

�
St

re
et

 S
ce

n
e 

st
a f

f 
co

lle
ct

s 
o
n
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

2
0
0
 b

ag
s 

o
f 

st
re

et
 li

tt
er

 p
er

 w
ee

k

�
It

 c
o
st

s 
ap

p
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
£
1
 m

ill
io

n
 p

er
 y

ea
r 

to
 m

an
u
a l

ly
 c

le
an

 li
tt

er
 in

 T
am

w
o
rt

h
ev

er
y 

ye
ar

Se
e 

o
u

r 
‘I

n
 B

lo
o

m
’ 
a
n

d
st

re
et

 w
a
rd

en
 v

id
eo

s:
w

w
w

.y
ou

tu
b

e.
co

m
/u

se
r/

Ta
m

w
or

th
C

ou
nc

il

Page 11



Th
e 

A
ss

em
b

ly
 R

oo
m

s,
 C

as
tl

e,
 C

as
tl

e 
G

ro
un

d
s,

 S
no

w
d

om
e,

 V
en

tu
ra

 P
ar

k 
an

d
 o

ur
hi

st
or

ic
 t

ow
n 

ce
nt

re
, 

in
cl

ud
in

g
 S

t 
Ed

it
ha

’s
 C

hu
rc

h,
 a

re
 ju

st
 s

om
e 

of
 t

he
 a

tt
ra

ct
io

ns
Ta

m
w

or
th

 h
as

 t
o 

of
fe

r.

W
e 

ha
ve

 p
ro

ve
d

 t
im

e 
an

d
 t

im
e 

ag
ai

n 
th

at
 w

e 
ar

e 
ex

p
er

t 
at

 h
an

d
lin

g
 m

aj
or

 e
ve

nt
s;

 t
he

w
ee

ke
nd

-l
on

g
 T

am
w

or
th

 M
us

ic
 F

es
ti

va
l a

tt
ra

ct
ed

 m
or

e 
th

an
 2

0
,0

0
0

 v
is

it
or

s 
to

 t
he

to
w

n 
an

d
 t

he
 s

p
ec

ta
cu

la
r 

an
nu

al
 f

ir
ew

or
k 

d
is

p
la

y 
w

as
 a

tt
en

d
ed

 b
y 

1
8

,0
0

0
 p

eo
p

le
.

Th
es

e 
ev

en
ts

 a
ls

o 
b

ri
ng

 a
ro

un
d

 £
1

 m
ill

io
n 

in
to

 t
he

 b
or

ou
g

h.
 

A
s 

w
el

l a
s 

th
e 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d

 h
is

to
ry

 e
le

m
en

t 
to

 o
ur

 t
ow

n,
 w

e 
ha

ve
 a

n 
en

vi
ab

le
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

. 
D

es
p

it
e 

th
e 

ec
on

om
ic

 d
ow

nt
ur

n 
b

us
in

es
se

s 
ha

ve
 c

on
ti

nu
ed

 t
o 

in
ve

st
 in

Ta
m

w
or

th
, 

sh
ow

in
g

 t
he

ir
 c

on
fid

en
ce

 in
 t

he
 b

or
ou

g
h.

 I
n 

ad
d

it
io

n,
 G

un
g

at
e 

w
as

d
em

ol
is

he
d

, 
p

av
in

g
 t

he
 w

ay
 f

or
 a

 m
aj

or
 r

ed
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
of

 t
he

 s
it

e.
 

Jo
hn

 L
ew

is
 a

t 
H

om
e,

 O
ut

fit
 (

w
hi

ch
 in

co
rp

or
at

es
 a

 n
um

b
er

 o
f 

le
ad

in
g

 h
ig

h 
st

re
et

b
ra

nd
s)

, 
an

d
 a

 n
ew

 B
&

Q
 a

re
 a

ll 
re

ce
nt

 a
d

d
it

io
ns

 t
o 

Ta
m

w
or

th
. 

A
s 

w
el

l a
s 

b
ri

ng
in

g
 m

or
e

m
on

ey
 in

to
 t

he
 a

re
a,

 t
he

se
 c

om
p

an
ie

s 
ar

e 
al

so
 p

ro
vi

d
in

g
 e

m
p

lo
ym

en
t.

W
e 

fu
lly

 s
up

p
or

te
d

 a
nd

 h
el

p
ed

 s
ha

p
e 

B
ir

m
in

g
ha

m
 a

nd
 S

ol
ih

ul
l L

oc
al

 E
nt

er
p

ri
se

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p

 (
LE

P)
. 

Th
is

 m
ea

ns
 w

e 
no

w
 h

av
e 

a 
b

ig
g

er
 v

oi
ce

 w
he

n 
it

 c
om

es
 t

o 
im

p
or

ta
nt

d
ec

is
io

ns
, 

w
hi

le
 in

flu
en

ci
ng

 k
ey

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 
an

d
 in

ve
st

m
en

ts
.

Th
is

, 
co

up
le

d
 w

it
h 

th
e 

b
ra

nd
in

g
 o

f 
‘T

am
w

or
th

 t
he

 p
la

ce
’, 

w
ill

 h
el

p
 u

s 
to

 a
tt

ra
ct

 m
or

e
in

w
ar

d
 in

ve
st

m
en

t,
 a

 p
os

it
iv

e 
st

ep
 f

or
 t

he
 t

ow
n.

 T
hr

ou
g

h 
th

e 
sh

ar
ed

 e
co

no
m

ic
d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

se
rv

ic
e 

w
it

h 
Li

ch
fie

ld
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
ou

nc
il,

 a
 n

um
b

er
 o

f 
p

ro
je

ct
s 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n
jo

in
tl

y 
m

an
ag

ed
 a

nd
 d

el
iv

er
ed

, 
in

cl
ud

in
g

 T
hi

nk
 L

oc
al

 4
 B

us
in

es
s.

Ta
m

w
or

th
 r

em
ai

ns
 a

 k
ey

 p
la

ye
r 

in
 t

he
 M

er
ci

an
 T

ra
il 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p

 a
nd

 is
 p

ar
t 

of
 t

he
‘H

oa
rd

 o
n 

To
ur

 2
0
1

1
’. 

Th
is

 is
 a

 v
er

y 
ex

ci
ti

ng
 p

ro
sp

ec
t 

fo
r 

th
e 

to
w

n 
w

he
n 

vi
si

to
rs

 w
ill

ha
ve

 t
he

 o
p

p
or

tu
ni

ty
 s

ee
 t

he
 t

op
 4

0
 S

ta
ff

or
d

sh
ir

e 
H

oa
rd

 it
em

s 
on

 d
is

p
la

y 
at

 T
am

w
or

th
C

as
tl

e.
 

‘D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g 
a
 v

ib
ra

n
t 

a
n

d
p

ro
sp

e
ro

u
s 

to
w

n
’

1
1

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
1

0
Ta

m
w

or
th

 B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il

A
ff

or
d

ab
le

 h
om

es
 a

re
 o

ne
 o

f 
th

e 
ob

je
ct

iv
es

 u
nd

er
 t

hi
s 

p
ri

or
it

y 
an

d
 d

ur
in

g
 t

he
 la

st
tw

el
ve

 m
on

th
s,

 7
0
 u

ni
ts

 o
f 

th
is

 t
yp

e 
of

 a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n 

w
er

e 
co

m
p

le
te

d
. 

 H
om

e
En

er
g

y 
A

d
vi

ce
 T

am
w

or
th

 (
H

EA
T)

 c
on

ti
nu

ed
 a

nd
 m

an
y 

re
si

d
en

ts
 t

oo
k 

ad
va

nt
ag

e 
of

 f
re

e
or

 d
is

co
un

te
d

 h
om

e 
in

su
la

ti
on

 m
ea

su
re

s.

Te
na

nt
 s

at
is

fa
ct

io
n 

w
it

h 
ou

r 
la

nd
lo

rd
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 f

ro
m

 6
5

%
 in

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 t
o 

7
5

%
in

 2
0
1

0
/1

1
.N

ew
 h

o
u

si
n

g
  

sc
h

em
e 

p
ro

ve
s 

a
 b

ig
 s

u
cc

es
s  

Th
e 

‘F
in

d
in

g
 a

 H
om

e’
 s

ch
em

e 
w

hi
ch

 g
iv

es
 p

eo
p

le
 lo

ok
in

g
 f

o r
 a

 h
om

e 
a 

lo
t 

m
or

e 
ch

oi
ce

ov
er

 w
he

re
 t

he
y 

liv
e 

ha
s 

b
ee

n 
ha

i le
d

 a
s 

a 
su

cc
es

s,
 a

lm
os

t 
a 

ye
ar

 o
n 

fr
om

 it
s 

la
un

ch
.

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il’

s 
Fi

nd
in

g
 a

 H
om

e 
sc

he
m

e 
–

 o
r 

ch
oi

ce
-b

as
ed

 le
tt

in
g

s 
–

b
eg

an
 i n

 M
ay

 la
st

 y
ea

r 
an

d
 m

ea
ns

 p
eo

p
le

 lo
ok

in
g

 f
or

 a
 c

ou
nc

il  
ho

m
e 

ar
e 

ab
le

 t
o 

b
id

 f
or

p
ro

p
er

ti
es

 t
he

y 
ar

e 
in

te
re

st
ed

 in
, 

ra
th

er
 t

ha
n 

ha
vi

ng
 a

 h
om

e 
al

lo
ca

te
d

 b
y 

th
e

au
th

or
it

y.

U
nd

er
 t

he
 F

in
d

in
g

 a
 H

om
e 

sc
he

m
e,

 p
eo

p
le

 r
eg

is
te

re
d

 w
it

h 
Ta

m
w

or
th

 B
or

ou
g

h
C

ou
nc

il 
ar

e 
to

ld
 w

h i
ch

 b
an

d
 t

he
y 

fa
ll 

in
to

 a
nd

 w
hi

ch
 p

ro
p

er
ti

es
 a

re
 a

va
ila

b
le

 t
o

th
em

, 
in

st
ea

d
 o

f 
th

e 
ol

d
 p

oi
nt

s-
b

as
ed

 w
ai

ti
ng

 li
st

 s
ys

te
m

. 

Ex
is

ti
ng

 a
nd

 p
ot

en
ti

al
 t

en
an

ts
 c

an
 e

xp
re

ss
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 in

 –
 o

r 
‘b

id
’ f

or
 -

 u
p

 t
o 

th
re

e
p

ro
p

er
ti

es
 a

 w
ee

k.
 A

ll 
em

p
ty

 h
om

es
 a

re
 li

st
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il’
s 

w
eb

si
te

an
d

 d
is

p
la

ye
d

 in
 M

ar
m

io
n  

H
ou

se
.  

Th
e 

ho
m

es
 a

re
 t

he
n 

al
lo

ca
te

d
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

ho
us

in
g

ne
ed

 a
nd

 le
ng

th
 o

f 
ti

m
e 

an
 a

p
p

lic
an

t 
ha

s 
b

ee
n 

re
g

is
te

re
d

. 

Si
nc

e 
th

e 
la

un
ch

 o
f 

Fi
nd

in
g

 a
 H

om
e 

la
st

 y
ea

r:

�
M

o
re

 t
h
an

 3
0
0
 p

ro
p

er
ti

es
 h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 le

t

�
6
-7

 p
ro

p
er

ti
es

 a
 w

ee
k 

ar
e 

av
ai

la
b

le
 f

o
r 

b
id

d
in

g
 o

n

�
A

n
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

o
f 

4
4
 b

id
s 

a 
w

ee
k 

ar
e 

m
ad

e 
o
n
 a

va
ila

b
le

 p
ro

p
er

ti
es

�
C

u
st

o
m

er
 s

at
is

fa
ct

io
n
 s

u
rv

ey
s 

sh
o
w

 t
h
at

 9
3
%

 o
f 

p
eo

p
le

 w
h
o
 h

av
e 

u
se

d
ch

o
ic

e-
b

as
ed

 le
tt

in
g

s 
to

 f
in

d
 a

 h
o
m

e 
ar

e 
sa

ti
sf

ie
d

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

se
rv

ic
e

‘I
m

p
ro

v
in

g 
h

o
u

si
n

g 
ch

o
ic

e
 a

n
d

 a
d

d
re

ss
in

g 
h

o
u

si
n

g 
n

e
e
d

s’

Se
e 

o
u

r 
fi

re
w

o
rk

s 
a
n

d

m
u

si
c 

fe
st

iv
a
l 
vi

d
eo

s:

w
w

w
.y

ou
tu

b
e.

co
m

/u
se

r/
Ta

m
w

or
th

C
ou

nc
il

Page 12



Ta
m

w
or

th
 t

ru
ly

 is
 a

 g
re

at
 p

la
ce

 t
o 

vi
si

t.
 T

he
 A

ss
em

b
ly

 R
oo

m
s 

ho
st

ed
 m

or
e 

th
an

 1
0

0
ev

en
ts

 la
st

 y
ea

r, 
ou

r 
O

ut
d

oo
r 

Ev
en

ts
 t

ea
m

 r
an

 1
7
 e

ve
nt

s 
an

d
 w

er
e 

in
vo

lv
ed

 w
it

h 
1

5
ar

ts
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

p
ro

je
ct

s.
 T

he
 e

ve
nt

s 
an

d
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
es

 a
tt

ra
ct

ed
 m

or
e 

th
an

 1
0
0

,0
0

0
vi

si
to

rs
 t

o 
th

e 
to

w
n 

w
it

h 
a 

9
7

%
 s

at
is

fa
ct

io
n 

ra
ti

ng
. 

Ex
am

p
le

s 
of

 t
he

se
 in

cl
ud

e 
th

e 
Fr

en
ch

 a
nd

 I
ta

lia
n 

m
ar

ke
ts

, 
H

er
it

ag
e 

O
p

en
 W

ee
ke

nd
 a

nd
th

e 
St

 G
eo

rg
e’

s 
D

ay
 c

el
eb

ra
ti

on
s.

  
Th

e 
TI

C
 a

ch
ie

ve
d

 r
ec

og
ni

ti
on

 f
or

 t
he

 s
te

rl
in

g
 w

or
k 

to
p

ro
m

ot
e 

ou
r 

to
w

n 
an

d
 it

s 
w

id
e 

ra
ng

e 
of

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
b

y 
w

in
ni

ng
 g

ol
d

 in
 t

he
 r

eg
io

na
l f

in
al

of
 t

he
 E

nj
oy

 E
ng

la
nd

 E
xc

el
le

nc
e 

A
w

ar
d

s.

To
 f

ur
th

er
 e

nh
an

ce
 t

he
 s

er
vi

ce
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

, 
p

la
ns

 w
er

e 
un

d
er

w
ay

 t
o 

re
lo

ca
te

 t
o 

b
ig

g
er

an
d

 b
et

te
r 

p
re

m
is

es
 in

 t
he

 P
hi

lip
 D

ix
 c

en
tr

e 
d

ur
in

g
 2

0
1

1
/2

0
1

2
.

B
us

in
es

se
s 

ar
e 

al
so

 c
on

ti
nu

in
g

 t
o 

in
ve

st
 in

 T
am

w
or

th
 a

nd
 b

ri
ng

in
g

 m
or

e 
em

p
lo

ym
en

t
to

 t
he

 a
re

a.
 T

hi
s 

is
 v

er
y 

en
co

ur
ag

in
g

 d
ur

in
g

 t
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 f
in

an
ci

al
 s

it
ua

ti
on

. 

‘P
ro

m
o
ti

n
g 

T
a
m

w
o
rt

h
 a

s 
go

o
d

 f
o
r

b
u

si
n

e
ss

, 
gr

e
a
t 

to
 v

is
it

 a
n

d
w

e
lc

o
m

in
g 

to
 a

ll
’

1
3

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
1

2
Ta

m
w

or
th

 B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il

Th
e 

A
nn

ua
l A

ud
it

 le
tt

er
 is

su
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

A
ud

it
 C

om
m

is
si

on
 g

av
e 

an
 ‘u

nq
ua

lif
ie

d
’ o

p
in

io
n

on
 o

ur
 a

cc
ou

nt
s,

 it
 a

ls
o 

p
ra

is
ed

 u
s 

fo
r 

ou
r 

ap
p

ro
ac

h 
to

 c
on

su
lt

at
io

n 
w

it
h 

co
m

m
un

it
ie

s
ov

er
 b

ud
g

et
 s

et
ti

ng
, 

w
or

ki
ng

 w
it

h 
re

si
d

en
ts

 t
o 

al
lo

ca
te

 r
es

ou
rc

es
 in

 t
he

ir
 a

re
a 

an
d

 jo
in

t
w

or
ki

ng
 s

uc
h 

as
 t

he
 w

as
te

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

se
rv

ic
e,

 b
ui

ld
in

g
 c

on
tr

ol
, 

ec
on

om
ic

d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
an

d
 h

ea
lt

h 
an

d
 s

af
et

y.

A
s 

p
ar

t 
of

 t
he

 T
am

w
or

th
 L

is
te

ns
 in

it
ia

ti
ve

 w
e 

un
d

er
to

ok
 a

 “
sp

ee
d

 d
at

e 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

ill
or

”
ev

en
t.

 T
hi

s 
en

ab
le

d
 m

em
b

er
s 

of
 t

he
 p

ub
lic

 t
o 

p
os

e 
q

ue
st

io
ns

 t
o 

C
ou

nc
ill

or
s,

 o
ff

ic
er

s
an

d
 r

ep
re

se
nt

at
iv

es
 f

ro
m

 t
he

 f
ir

e 
an

d
 p

ol
ic

e 
se

rv
ic

es
. 

 A
n 

on
- 

lin
e 

fo
ru

m
 g

av
e 

m
em

b
er

s
of

 t
he

 p
ub

lic
 t

he
 o

p
p

or
tu

ni
ty

 t
o 

ha
ve

 a
 b

lo
g

 c
ha

t 
w

it
h 

th
e 

le
ad

er
 o

f 
th

e 
co

un
ci

l. 
 P

la
ns

ar
e 

b
ei

ng
 m

ad
e 

fo
r 

a 
“C

ab
in

et
 o

n 
To

ur
” 

w
hi

ch
 w

ill
 s

ee
 r

es
id

en
ts

 b
ei

ng
 a

b
le

 t
o 

p
ut

q
ue

st
io

ns
 t

o 
se

ni
or

 c
ou

nc
ill

or
s 

at
 d

iff
er

en
t 

ve
nu

es
 t

hr
ou

g
ho

ut
 t

he
 b

or
ou

g
h 

d
ur

in
g

 t
he

ye
ar

.

Ev
en

 in
 d

iff
ic

ul
t 

ec
on

om
ic

 t
im

es
 o

ur
 c

ol
le

ct
io

n 
ra

te
s 

fo
r 

co
un

ci
l t

ax
, 

b
us

in
es

s 
ra

te
s 

an
d

d
eb

to
rs

 r
em

ai
n 

hi
g

h 
an

d
 f

or
 t

ho
se

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
in

g
 d

iff
ic

ul
ti

es
, 

ou
r 

b
en

ef
it

s 
te

am
 w

er
e

ab
le

 t
o 

p
ro

ce
ss

 c
la

im
s 

sp
ee

d
ily

.

O
ur

 o
nl

in
e 

el
ec

ti
on

 c
ov

er
ag

e,
 w

hi
ch

 in
cl

ud
ed

 li
ve

 b
lo

g
g

in
g

 a
nd

 v
id

eo
, 

w
as

 h
ig

hl
ig

ht
ed

as
 b

es
t 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 
b

y 
So

ci
tm

, 
th

e 
m

em
b

er
sh

ip
 a

ss
oc

ia
ti

on
 f

or
 I
C

T 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

ns
 a

cr
os

s
p

ub
lic

 s
ec

to
rs

. 

W
e 

al
so

 in
tr

od
uc

ed
 a

 n
um

b
er

 o
f 

so
ci

al
 n

et
w

or
ks

 in
cl

ud
in

g
 a

 b
lo

g
, 

Yo
uT

ub
e 

ch
an

ne
l

an
d

 T
w

it
te

r 
ac

co
un

t.
 T

hi
s 

ha
s 

en
ab

le
d

 r
es

id
en

ts
 t

o 
g

et
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 a
 d

eb
at

e 
w

it
h 

th
e

b
or

ou
g

h 
co

un
ci

l, 
m

ea
ni

ng
 w

e 
ca

n 
ha

ve
 a

 t
w

o-
w

ay
 d

ia
lo

g
ue

 w
it

h 
ou

r 
co

m
m

un
it

ie
s.

‘T
o
 b

e
 a

cc
o
u

n
ta

b
le

, 
a
p

p
ro

a
ch

a
b

le
a
n

d
 v

is
ib

le
’

‘S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g 

th
e
 i

m
p

ro
v
e
m

e
n

t 
o
f

h
e
a
lt

h
 a

n
d

 e
d

u
ca

ti
o
n

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s’
O

ur
 r

ev
is

ed
 p

ri
or

it
ie

s 
re

co
g

ni
se

d
 t

ha
t 

w
hi

le
 w

e 
d

o 
no

t 
ha

ve
 a

 d
ir

ec
t 

re
sp

on
si

b
ili

ty
 f

or
he

al
th

 a
nd

 e
d

uc
at

io
n,

 it
 is

 s
om

et
hi

ng
 w

hi
ch

 is
 v

er
y 

im
p

or
ta

nt
 t

o 
us

. 
Ex

am
p

le
s 

of
 h

ow
w

e 
p

la
y 

a 
m

aj
or

 p
ar

t 
in

 t
he

 h
ea

lt
h 

an
d

 e
d

uc
at

io
n 

ag
en

d
a 

in
cl

ud
e:

 a
n 

ou
td

oo
r 

g
ym

 in
th

e 
C

as
tl

e 
G

ro
un

d
s,

 t
he

 la
un

ch
 o

f 
th

e 
va

ri
ou

s 
“l

ife
 c

he
ck

” 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

nd
 f

re
e 

sw
im

m
in

g
fo

r 
th

e 
un

d
er

 1
6

s 
an

d
 o

ve
r 

6
0

s.
 P

la
ns

 t
o 

p
ro

vi
d

e 
fr

ee
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 f

or
 a

ll 
at

 W
iln

ec
ot

e
Le

is
ur

e 
C

en
tr

e 
w

er
e 

al
so

 u
nd

er
 d

is
cu

ss
io

n 
fo

r 
2
0

1
1

-2
0

1
2
. 

 

W
e 

al
so

 w
or

ke
d

 c
lo

se
ly

 w
it

h 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g
 p

up
ils

 g
et

ti
ng

 in
vo

lv
ed

 in
 a

ve
g

et
ab

le
 g

ro
w

in
g

 c
om

p
et

it
io

n 
fo

r 
‘In

 B
lo

om
’, 

th
e 

w
or

k 
th

e 
st

re
et

 w
ar

d
en

s 
ca

rr
y 

ou
t

in
 lo

ca
l s

ch
oo

ls
 a

nd
 t

he
 h

os
ti

ng
 o

f 
ev

en
ts

 a
t 

th
e 

A
ss

em
b

ly
 R

oo
m

s 
fo

r 
ed

uc
at

io
n 

an
d

N
H

S 
se

rv
ic

es
.

Se
e 

o
u

r 
ca

rn
iv

a
l,
 T

IC
 a

n
d

St
 G

eo
rg

e’
s 

D
a
y 

vi
d

eo
s:

w
w

w
.y

ou
tu

b
e.

co
m

/u
se

r/
Ta

m
w

or
th

C
ou

nc
il

O
u

r 
C

o
u

n
ci

ll
o
rs

 2
0
1
0
/1

1
Ta

m
w

or
th

 B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il 
co

ns
is

ts
 o

f 
3

0
 c

ou
nc

ill
or

s 
in

 1
0

 w
ar

d
s.

 F
ol

lo
w

in
g

 t
he

 lo
ca

l
au

th
or

it
y 

el
ec

ti
on

 in
 M

ay
 2

0
1

0
, 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

w
as

 m
ad

e 
up

 o
f 

2
4
 C

on
se

rv
at

iv
e,

 f
iv

e
La

b
ou

r 
an

d
 o

ne
 I
nd

ep
en

d
en

t 
co

un
ci

llo
rs

. 
D

et
ai

ls
 o

f 
al

l o
ur

 c
ou

nc
ill

or
s 

ca
n 

b
e 

fo
un

d
 b

y
vi

si
ti

ng
: 

w
w

w
.t

am
w

or
th

.g
ov

.u
k

Page 13



T
o
 A

sp
ir

e
 a

n
d

 P
ro

sp
e
r 

in
 T

a
m

w
o
rt

h
To

 c
re

a
te

 a
n

d
 s

u
st

a
in

 a
 t

h
ri

vi
n

g
 l
o

ca
l 
ec

o
n

o
m

y 
a
n

d
 m

a
ke

 T
a
m

w
o

rt
h

 a
 m

o
re

a
sp

ir
a
ti

o
n

a
l 
a
n

d
 c

o
m

p
et

it
iv

e 
p

la
ce

 t
o

 d
o

 b
u

si
n

es
s.

To
 a

ch
ie

ve
 t

hi
s 

w
e 

w
ill

:

a)
  

  
 R

ai
se

 t
he

 a
sp

ir
at

io
n 

an
d

 a
tt

ai
nm

en
t 

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
yo

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

b
) 

  
  

C
re

at
e 

op
p

or
tu

ni
ti

es
 f

or
 b

us
in

es
s 

g
ro

w
th

 t
hr

ou
g

h 
d

ev
el

op
in

g
 a

nd
 u

si
ng

 s
ki

lls
 

  
  

  
  
an

d
 t

al
en

t

c)
  

  
  
Pr

om
ot

e 
p

ri
va

te
 s

ec
to

r 
g

ro
w

th
 a

nd
 c

re
at

e 
q

ua
lit

y 
em

p
lo

ym
en

t 
lo

ca
lly

d
) 

  
  

B
ra

nd
 a

nd
 m

ar
ke

t 
“T

am
w

or
th

” 
as

 a
 g

re
at

 p
la

ce
 t

o 
“l

iv
e 

lif
e 

to
 t

he
 f

ul
l”

e)
  

  
 C

re
at

e 
th

e 
p

hy
si

ca
l a

nd
 t

ec
hn

ol
og

ic
al

 in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

 t
o 

su
p

p
or

t 
th

e 
  

  
  

  
ac

hi
ev

em
en

t 
of

 t
hi

s 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

ou
tc

om
e.

T
o
 b

e
 H

e
a
lt

h
ie

r 
a
n

d
 S

a
fe

r 
in

 T
a
m

w
o
rt

h
To

 c
re

a
te

 a
 s

a
fe

 e
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

in
 w

h
ic

h
 l
o

ca
l 
p

eo
p

le
 r

ea
ch

 t
h

ei
r 

fu
ll
 p

o
te

n
ti

a
l 
a
n

d
li
ve

 l
o

n
g

er
, 
h

ea
lt

h
ie

r 
li
ve

s.

To
 a

ch
ie

ve
 t

hi
s 

w
e 

w
ill

:

a)
  

  
 A

d
d

re
ss

 t
he

 c
au

se
s 

of
 p

oo
r 

he
al

th
 in

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

p
le

b
) 

  
  

Im
p

ro
ve

 t
he

 h
ea

lt
h 

an
d

 w
el

l b
ei

ng
 o

f 
ol

d
er

 p
eo

p
le

 b
y 

su
p

p
or

ti
ng

 t
he

m
 t

o 
liv

e 
  

  
  

  
ac

ti
ve

, 
in

d
ep

en
d

en
t 

liv
es

c)
  

  
  
R

ed
uc

e 
th

e 
ha

rm
 a

nd
 w

id
er

 c
on

se
q

ue
nc

es
 o

f 
al

co
ho

l a
b

us
e 

on
 in

d
iv

id
ua

ls
, 

  
  

  
  
fa

m
ili

es
 a

nd
 s

oc
ie

ty

d
) 

  
  

Im
p

le
m

en
t 

‘T
ot

al
 P

la
ce

’ s
ol

ut
io

ns
 t

o 
ta

ck
lin

g
 c

ri
m

e 
an

d
 A

SB
 in

 d
es

ig
na

te
d

 
  

  
  

  
lo

ca
lit

ie
s

e)
  

  
 D

ev
el

op
 in

no
va

ti
ve

 e
ar

ly
 in

te
rv

en
ti

on
s 

to
 t

ac
kl

e 
yo

ut
h 

cr
im

e 
an

d
 A

SB
, 

an
d

f)
  

  
  
C

re
at

e 
an

 in
te

g
ra

l a
p

p
ro

ac
h 

to
 p

ro
te

ct
in

g
 t

ho
se

 m
os

t 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 in
 o

ur
 lo

ca
l 

  
  

  
  
co

m
m

un
it

ie
s.

‘O
n

e 
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
, 
Pe

rf
ec

tl
y 

P
la

ce
d

’ 
is

 t
h

e 
n

ew
, 
si

n
g

le
 v

is
io

n
 f

o
r 

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 C
o

u
n

ci
l,
 a

p
p

ro
ve

d
 b

y 
C

a
b

in
et

 a
t 

th
e 

st
a
rt

 o
f 

th
e 

ye
a
r. 

It
 h

as
 lo

ng
 b

ee
n 

a 
p

ol
it

ic
al

 a
sp

ir
at

io
n 

th
at

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

ns
 w

e 
w

or
k 

w
it

h 
ag

re
e 

to
 t

ac
kl

e
th

e 
m

os
t 

im
p

or
ta

nt
 is

su
es

 f
ac

in
g

 T
am

w
or

th
 a

nd
 w

e 
al

l s
ha

re
 t

he
 s

am
e 

vi
si

on
. 

B
y 

w
or

ki
ng

 t
ow

ar
d

s 
on

e 
si

ng
le

 g
oa

l, 
th

is
 w

ill
 h

el
p

 u
s 

ac
hi

ev
e 

ou
r 

ne
w

 g
oa

l f
or

 t
ho

se
w

ho
 li

ve
, 

w
or

k 
an

d
 v

is
it

 t
he

 a
re

a;
 t

o 
en

su
re

 o
ur

 f
oc

us
 is

 ‘O
ne

 T
am

w
or

th
, 

Pe
rf

ec
tl

y
Pl

ac
ed

’.

H
ow

ev
er

, 
th

e 
re

al
 c

ha
lle

ng
e 

fa
ci

ng
 p

ol
it

ic
ia

ns
 a

nd
 o

ff
ic

er
s 

is
 b

al
an

ci
ng

 t
he

 in
cr

ea
si

ng
ne

ed
s 

an
d

 a
sp

ir
at

io
ns

 o
f 

ou
r 

d
iv

er
se

 c
om

m
un

it
ie

s,
 w

it
h 

th
e 

fu
nd

s 
an

d
 r

es
ou

rc
es

av
ai

la
b

le
.

W
e 

b
el

ie
ve

 w
e 

ha
ve

 d
on

e 
th

is
: 

 t
he

 s
in

g
le

 v
is

io
n 

sh
ow

s 
ho

w
 w

e 
w

ill
 d

el
iv

er
 s

er
vi

ce
s,

su
p

p
or

t 
co

m
m

un
it

ie
s 

an
d

 in
flu

en
ce

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
an

d
 o

rg
an

is
at

io
ns

. 
Th

is
 a

llo
w

s 
us

 t
o 

ta
ck

le
th

e 
m

os
t 

im
p

or
ta

nt
, 

lo
ng

 t
er

m
s 

is
su

es
 f

ac
in

g
 T

am
w

or
th

, 
th

e 
co

m
m

un
it

y 
an

d
 t

he
 p

la
ce

.

Th
e 

C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il,

 P
ol

ic
e,

 H
ea

lt
h 

Se
rv

ic
e,

 F
ir

e 
&

 R
es

cu
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

, 
vo

lu
nt

ar
y 

se
ct

or
 a

nd
ot

he
rs

 w
ill

 a
ls

o 
ad

op
t 

a 
si

m
ila

r 
ap

p
ro

ac
h.

W
or

ki
ng

 t
og

et
he

r, 
sh

ar
in

g
 s

ki
lls

 a
nd

 r
es

ou
rc

es
 w

hi
le

 f
oc

us
in

g
 o

n 
w

ha
t 

is
 im

p
or

ta
nt

, 
is

th
e 

m
os

t 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

w
ay

 f
or

 n
ot

 o
nl

y 
th

e 
b

or
ou

g
h 

co
un

ci
l t

o 
w

or
k,

 b
ut

 a
ll 

ou
r 

p
ar

tn
er

or
g

an
is

at
io

ns
. 

 B
y 

ad
op

ti
ng

 o
ne

 s
in

g
le

 v
is

io
n 

w
e 

kn
ow

 r
es

id
en

ts
 w

ill
 s

ee
 a

 d
iff

er
en

ce
.

A
 l

o
o
k

 t
o
 t

h
e
 f

u
tu

re
:

‘O
n

e
 T

a
m

w
o
rt

h
,

P
e
rf

e
ct

ly
 P

la
ce

d
’

1
5

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
1

4
Ta

m
w

or
th

 B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il

Page 14



H
o

u
si

n
g

 R
ev

en
u

e 
A

cc
o

u
n

t

Th
e 

ov
er

al
l r

ev
en

ue
 f

in
an

ci
al

 p
os

it
io

n
re

la
ti

ng
 t

o 
co

un
ci

l h
ou

si
ng

 s
ho

w
s 

a
su

rp
lu

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
 o

f 
£
0

.3
7

m
. 

Th
is

eq
ua

te
s 

to
 a

n 
ov

er
sp

en
d

 o
f 

£
0

.1
6
m

w
he

n 
co

m
p

ar
ed

 t
o 

th
e 

ap
p

ro
ve

d
 b

ud
g

et
fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
, 

m
ai

nl
y 

d
ue

 t
o 

hi
g

he
r

G
ov

er
nm

en
t 

su
b

si
d

y 
co

st
s 

d
ue

 t
o 

lo
w

er
in

te
re

st
 c

os
ts

 t
og

et
he

r 
w

it
h 

lo
w

er
 t

ha
n

ex
p

ec
te

d
 g

ar
ag

e 
re

nt
 in

co
m

e.
 T

hi
s 

ha
s

re
su

lt
ed

 in
 a

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 h
ou

si
ng

re
ve

nu
e 

ac
co

un
t 

b
al

an
ce

s 
fr

om
 £

4
.7

1
m

to
 £

5
.0

9
m

 t
o 

b
e 

ca
rr

ie
d

 f
or

w
ar

d
 t

o
2

0
1
1

/1
2

.

C
a
p

it
a
l 
E
xp

en
d

it
u

re

D
ur

in
g

 2
0

1
0
/1

1
 t

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
sp

en
t

£
5
.6

2
m

 o
n 

ca
p

it
al

 w
or

ks
. 

Th
e 

m
aj

or
it

y 
of

ex
p

en
d

it
ur

e 
re

la
te

d
 t

o 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t,

en
ha

nc
em

en
t 

or
 o

ng
oi

ng
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

w
or

ks
. 

 F
ix

ed
 a

ss
et

 a
cq

ui
si

ti
on

s 
in

 t
he

ye
ar

 in
cl

ud
e 

th
e 

p
ur

ch
as

e 
of

 I
T

eq
ui

p
m

en
t 

(s
of

tw
ar

e 
&

 h
ar

d
w

ar
e)

; 
co

st
s

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

it
h 

th
e 

ex
p

an
si

on
 o

f 
th

e
W

as
te

 M
an

ag
em

en
t 

an
d

 R
ec

yc
lin

g
Sc

he
m

e;
 t

he
 c

os
t 

of
 w

or
ks

 t
o 

th
e 

ri
ve

r
b

an
k 

an
d

 t
he

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

ts
 t

o 
th

e 
C

C
TV

Sy
st

em
. 

D
ur

in
g

 t
he

 y
ea

r 
W

in
cr

es
t 

H
ou

se
 f

la
ts

w
er

e 
d

em
ol

is
he

d
 a

nd
 t

he
 s

it
e 

cl
ea

re
d

.

Th
e 

C
o

st
 o

f 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
Se

rv
ic

es
 f

o
r 

2
0
1

0
/1

1

Th
e 

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 I

n
co

m
e 

a
n

d
 E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

 A
cc

o
u

n
t

b
el

ow
 s

ho
w

s 
th

e 
co

st
 o

f
ru

nn
in

g
 C

ou
nc

il 
se

rv
ic

es
 b

et
w

ee
n 

A
p

ri
l 2

0
1
0

 a
nd

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
1

1
, 

w
he

re
 t

he
 m

on
ey

 c
am

e
fr

om
 t

o 
fin

an
ce

 t
ho

se
 c

os
ts

 a
lo

ng
 w

it
h 

th
e 

su
rp

lu
s 

or
 d

ef
ic

it
 a

t 
th

e 
ye

ar
 e

nd
.

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il 

b
ud

g
et

ed
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

a 
d

ef
ic

it
 o

f 
£

1
.1

3
m

 in
 2

0
1
0

/1
1

. 
Th

e
ye

ar
-e

nd
 p

os
it

io
n 

w
as

 a
 d

ef
ic

it
 o

f 
£

0
.3

7
m

.

Th
e 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
in

 t
he

 C
ou

nc
il’

s 
es

ti
m

at
ed

 f
in

an
ci

al
 p

os
it

io
n 

ar
os

e 
m

ai
nl

y 
fr

om
 e

xt
ra

in
co

m
e 

fr
om

 a
 N

on
-D

om
es

ti
c 

R
at

es
 r

ef
un

d
, 

a 
V

A
T 

re
fu

nd
 a

nd
 s

av
in

g
s 

in
 c

on
ti

ng
en

cy
b

ud
g

et
s.

 T
he

 C
ou

nc
il’

s 
g

en
er

al
 f

un
d

 b
al

an
ce

s 
at

 3
1

st
 M

ar
ch

 2
0
1

1
 w

as
 r

ed
uc

ed
 b

y 
th

e
in

 y
ea

r 
d

ef
ic

it
 t

o 
£
4

.5
1

m
.

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 I

n
co

m
e 

a
n

d
 E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

 A
cc

o
u

n
t

D
ra

ft
 U

n
a
u

d
it

e
d

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 A
cc

o
u

n
ts

 

1
7

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
1

6
Ta

m
w

or
th

 B
or

ou
g

h 
C

ou
nc

il

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
m

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
m

0
.6

C
en

tr
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s
0

.9

9
.1

C
ul

tu
ra

l, 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l &

 P
la

nn
in

g
9

.8

0
.1

H
ig

hw
ay

s,
 R

oa
d

s 
&

 T
ra

ns
p

or
t

0
.4

(7
.0

)
Lo

ca
l A

ut
ho

ri
ty

 H
ou

si
ng

3
4

.4

1
.4

O
th

er
 H

ou
si

ng
 S

er
vi

ce
s

1
.7

1
.4

C
or

p
or

at
e 

&
 D

em
oc

ra
ti

c 
C

or
e

1
.6

0
.2

O
th

er
 C

os
ts

(7
.0

)

5
.8

N
et

 C
o

st
 o

f 
Se

rv
ic

es
4
1
.8

1
.8

Fi
na

nc
in

g
 &

 I
nv

es
tm

en
t 

In
co

m
e 

&
 E

xp
en

d
it

ur
e

(2
.3

)

3
.2

A
p

p
ro

p
ri

at
io

ns
 &

 I
nt

er
na

l A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

(2
8

.6
)

1
0
.8

A
m

o
u

n
t 

to
 b

e 
m

et
 f

ro
m

 G
o

ve
rn

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 &

 L
o

ca
l

Ta
x 

Pa
ye

rs

1
0
.9

(3
.4

)
C

ou
nc

il 
Ta

x
(3

.5
)

(1
.6

)
G

en
er

al
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
G

ra
nt

s
(1

.0
)

(5
.5

)
N

on
-D

om
es

ti
c 

R
at

es
(6

.0
)

0
.3

N
et

 G
en

er
a
l 
Fu

n
d

 (
Su

rp
lu

s)
 /

 D
ef

ic
it

0
.4

5
.2

B
al

an
ce

 o
n 

1
st

 A
p

ri
l

4
.9

4
.9

B
al

an
ce

 o
n 

3
1

st
 M

ar
ch

4
.5

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
m

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
m

(1
6

.4
)

In
co

m
e 

fr
om

 R
en

ts
 &

 C
ha

rg
es

(1
6

.6
)

9
.4

Ex
p

en
d

it
ur

e
5

0
.9

1
.2

N
et

 I
nt

er
es

t 
p

ai
d

1
.1

4
.9

A
p

p
ro

p
ri

at
io

n 
&

 in
te

rn
al

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g

(3
5

.8
)

(0
.9

)
N

et
 s

u
rp

lu
s

(0
.4

)

3
.8

B
al

an
ce

 o
n 

1
 A

p
ri

l
4

.7

4
.7

B
al

an
ce

 o
n 

3
1

 M
ar

ch
5

.1

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
m

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
m

4
.2

C
ou

nc
il 

D
w

el
lin

g
s

4
.4

0
.0

O
th

er
 L

an
d

 &
 B

ui
ld

in
g

s
0

.1

0
.5

Ve
hi

cl
es

, 
Pl

an
t 

&
 E

q
ui

p
m

en
t

0
.5

0
.0

C
om

m
un

it
y 

A
ss

et
s

0
.1

0
.4

H
ou

si
ng

 &
 O

th
er

 G
ra

nt
s

0
.4

0
.1

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

Pr
op

er
ti

es
0

.0

0
.3

A
ss

et
s 

un
d

er
 C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

0
.0

0
.1

So
ft

w
ar

e
0

.1

3
.4

Ic
el

an
d

ic
 B

an
ki

ng
 I
m

p
ai

rm
en

t 
C

ap
it

al
is

at
io

n
0

.0

9
.0

5
.6

1
.0

Fi
na

nc
ed

 b
y:

C
ap

it
al

 R
ec

ei
p

ts
0

.9

0
.6

G
ov

er
nm

en
t 

G
ra

nt
s 

&
 O

th
er

 C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
0

.5

3
.5

R
ev

en
ue

/ 
R

es
er

ve
s

3
.7

0
.5

Su
p

p
or

te
d

 B
or

ro
w

in
g

0
.5

3
.4

Su
p

p
or

te
d

 B
or

ro
w

in
g

 I
ce

la
nd

ic
 I
m

p
ai

rm
en

ts
0

.0

0
.0

U
ns

up
p

or
te

d
 B

or
ro

w
in

g
0

.0

9
.0

5
.6

Page 15



1
9

A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 2

0
1

0
/1

1

B
a
la

n
ce

 S
h

ee
t 

–
 w

h
a
t 

th
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
o

w
n

s,
 o

w
es

 o
r 

is
 o

w
ed

1
8

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il

To
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

fe
ed

b
ac

k 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 o
n 

th
e 

fo
rm

 a
nd

 c
on

te
nt

 o
f 

th
is

 A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
, 
p

le
as

e
em

ai
l j

oh
n-

d
ay

@
ta

m
w

or
th

.g
ov

.u
k

Fo
r 

m
or

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ab

ou
t 

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il 

vi
si

t 
ou

r 
w

eb
si

te
 a

t
w

w
w

.t
am

w
or

th
.g

ov
.u

k 
or

 p
ic

k 
up

 a
 c

op
y 

of
 o

ur
 r

es
id

en
ts

’ m
ag

az
in

e,
 T

al
kb

ac
k.

C
o
n

ta
ct

 U
s

3
1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
0

£
m

3
1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
1

£
m

2
2

0
B

ui
ld

in
g

s,
 L

an
d

 &
 A

ss
et

s 
O

w
ne

d
 b

y 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il
1

6
9

1
6

M
on

ey
 O

w
ed

 t
o 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il

1
6

(7
)

M
on

ey
 O

w
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il

(6
)

1
7

In
ve

st
m

en
ts

1
5

(3
9

)
Pe

ns
io

n 
Li

ab
ili

ty
(2

3
)

(2
0

)
Lo

ng
 T

er
m

 D
eb

t
(2

0
)

1
8
7

To
ta

l
1
5
1

7

Fi
na

nc
ed

 b
y:

R
es

er
ve

s
7

1
0

R
ev

en
ue

 B
al

an
ce

s
1

0

3
C

ap
it

al
 I
nc

om
e 

no
t 

ye
t 

us
ed

2

2
0

6
C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ce
 &

 R
ev

al
ua

ti
on

 o
f 

A
ss

et
s

1
5

5

(3
9

)
Pe

ns
io

n 
R

es
er

ve
(2

3
)

1
8
7

To
ta

l
1
5
1

Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s 
St

at
em

en
t 

of
 A

cc
ou

nt
s 

ha
s 

b
ee

n
p

re
p

ar
ed

 in
 a

cc
or

d
an

ce
 w

it
h 

th
e 

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

C
od

e 
of

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
un

d
er

 I
nt

er
na

ti
on

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

R
ep

or
ti

ng
 S

ta
nd

ar
d

s.
 F

or
 t

he
 p

ur
p

os
es

 o
f 

th
is

su
m

m
ar

y 
so

m
e 

si
m

p
lif

ic
at

io
ns

 h
av

e 
b

ee
n 

m
ad

e
to

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
m

or
e 

m
ea

ni
ng

fu
l i

nf
or

m
at

io
n.

Fo
llo

w
in

g
 c

on
cl

us
io

n 
of

 t
he

 a
ud

it
 b

y 
th

e 
A

ud
it

C
om

m
is

si
on

, 
a 

fu
ll 

co
p

y 
of

 t
he

 C
ou

nc
il'

s 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
au

d
it

ed
 a

cc
ou

nt
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

av
ai

la
b

le
 o

n 
th

e
C

ou
nc

il'
s 

w
eb

si
te

.

A
 c

op
y 

of
 t

he
 C

ou
nc

il'
s 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

 u
na

ud
it

ed
ac

co
un

ts
 is

 a
va

ila
b

le
 o

n 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s 

w
eb

si
te

w
w

w
.t

am
w

or
th

.g
ov

.u
k

an
d

 a
va

ila
b

le
 f

or
in

sp
ec

ti
on

 a
t 

M
ar

m
io

n 
H

ou
se

. 
Pl

ea
se

 c
on

ta
ct

 t
he

C
or

p
or

at
e 

D
ir

ec
to

r 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 o
n 

0
1

8
2

7
 7

0
9

2
5

2
fo

r 
fu

rt
he

r 
d

et
ai

ls
.

Page 16



2
0

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il

A
lt

er
n

a
ti

ve
 F

o
rm

a
ts

If
 y

o
u

 r
eq

u
ir

e 
th

is
 d

o
cu

m
en

t 
in

 a
n

o
th

er
 f

o
rm

a
t

o
r 

la
n

g
u

a
g

e 
p

le
a
se

 c
o

n
ta

ct
 u

s.

Ta
m

w
or

th
 B

or
ou

g
h 

C
ou

nc
il

M
ar

m
io

n 
H

ou
se

Li
ch

fie
ld

 S
tr

ee
t

Ta
m

w
or

th
St

af
fo

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 7

B
Z

Em
ai

l –
 e

nq
ui

ri
es

@
ta

m
w

or
th

.g
ov

.u
k

Te
le

p
ho

ne
 –

 0
1
8
2
7
 7

0
9
 5

8
8

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET 
 

31st August 2011 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder Quality of Life 
 

 
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS PROTECTION 

POLICY 
 

 
PURPOSE     
 
The purpose of the report is to secure Members’ approval to adopt the revised 
Children and Vulnerable Adult Protection Policy (CVAPP), please see appendix ‘A’.  

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Members: 
 

1. Approve the draft Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults 
Protection Policy 

 
2.  Endorse the implementation of the policy and promote attendance at the 

Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection training 
associated with this policy  

 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS    
 
There are no immediate financial implications arising from this report. The cost of 
training and materials will be met from existing budgets. 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND  
 
This policy has been revised in line with the Working Together to Safeguard Children 
inter-agency guide 2010. An equalities impact assessment has been completed and 
is attached at appendix ‘B’. 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION     
 
Tamworth Borough Council has both a legal and moral duty to protect vulnerable 
children and adults from harm. The Children’s Acts 1989 and 2004 along with the 
associated statutory guidance set out our legal responsibilities for protecting children. 
As part of our ongoing commitment to these responsibilities the Council has revised 

Agenda Item 5

Page 19



the current policy in line with the revised Working Together to Safeguard Children 
that was published in March 2010 following the publication of Lord Laming’s report, 
The protection of Children in England: A Progress Report, March 2009.  
 
We have a duty to recognise and report any issues that we detect via our contact 
with customers, visitors and from our partners that identify potential issues of safety, 
welfare or vulnerability of an individual.  At Tamworth Borough Council we take that 
duty seriously and to support our policy and training, have launched an on-line 
reporting tool via our corporate CRM system.  
 
Access to the CRM for all staff is via our intranet, and is proving to be used widely by 
various teams.  It is also evident that other agencies are advising us of safeguarding 
issues and these are also being incorporated onto recording and reporting system.   
 
Between 1 Apr 2010 until 31 March 2011, 61 initial concerns have been reported and 
logged onto the Councils CRM system 
 
In summary the reports are telling us that –  
 

1. Teams using the CRM to report their initial concerns are – Housing Services 
(Estate Management, Housing Advice, Cleaning and Caretaking Services, 
Income Management), CCTV, Street Wardens, Sports Development, Strategic 
Partnerships, Housing Benefits and Customer Services.  

2. Geographically we have received reports that relate to the following areas -  
Town centre (shopping centre & homeless) (14) , Town Centre (residential) 
(2), Amington (2), Glascote (4), Fazeley (3),  Bolehall (2) Leyfields (6), 
Belgrave (8), Kettlebrook (1), Wilnecote (1), Coton Green (2), Stonydelph (14), 
and (3) for Lichfield. 

3. Those we have concerns for age between approximately 20 months old to 90 
years old. 

4. Reports have come in from a variety of sources, staff witnessing issues, 
neighbours reporting issues, staff hearing concerns when talking to customers 
over the phone, we have received 3 reports from outside agencies ( Hospital, 
the Police and a College). 

5. There are significant implications for the Housing Service, with the exception 
of a few reports – most appear to relate to those in Council accommodation 
and some are in need of Council assistance in finding 
accommodation/housing advice.  

6. Reports range from verbal abuse to serious sexual abuse to financial abuse. 
7. Some reports relate to multiple types of suspected abuse, with this there 

appears to be a link with substance abuse & sexual abuse. 
8. The are several reports linked to alcohol related incidents. 
9. It would also appear that most incidents take place at home or very near to the 

home of the person we have concerns for. 
10. We’ve had 2 reports of children being left in cars. 
11. All incidents were reported to the Police, First Response, or another agency. 

 
The revised Policy and Procedures have been endorsed by the Staffordshire 
Safeguarding Children’s Board. The CVAPP is split into two sections with the first 
providing a policy context for the procedures which follow in section two.  

Page 20



 
 
REPORT AUTHOR  
 
Rob Mitchell, Deputy Director Communities, Planning & Partnerships 01827 709616 
Rob-mitchell@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS       
 
Working Together to Safeguard Children (2010 DCSF) 
Statutory Guidance Under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004  
The Laming Report 2009, The Protection of Children in England       
 
 
APPENDICES     
 
Appendix ‘A’ – Tamworth Borough Council Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable 
Adults Protection Policy  
Appendix ‘B’ – Equality Impact Assessment  
 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE POLICY

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection 
Policy

Document Hierarchy: Policy 

Document Status: Final Draft 

Document Ref: DOC CVAPP 

Originator: L Shore 

Updated: S Ivey 

Owner: Deputy Director Communities, Planning and Partnerships 

Version: 7 

Date: 26/03/11 

To be approved by Corporate Management Team and Cabinet 

Classification: SEC1 - Routine 

1 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy 
02 12 10 v. 7 Draft 

Page 23



2 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy 
02 12 10 v. 7 Draft 

Document Location 

This document is held by Tamworth Borough Council, and the document owner 
is Robert Mitchell DD Communities Planning and Partnerships. 

Printed documents may be obsolete, an electronic copy will be available on 
Tamworth Borough Councils Intranet. Please check for current version before 
using.

Revision History 
Revision Date Version Control Summary of changes 
August 08 1 Re draft pre existing 

policy

02/12/08 2 Draft incorporate Staffs 
Safeguarding Board 
changes

09/02/09 3 Draft procedural

16/3/09 4 Final Draft minor edit 

31/3/09 5 Data protection content 
updated 

12/6/09 6 Role of Members 

01/04/11 7 Review of policy
implementation of
Working Together 2010 
guidance 

Approvals V7 
Name Title Approved

Robert Mitchell DD Communities Planning and Partnerships  01-05-11 

Carrie Wain Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board 27-06-11

Maria DuQuesnay 
District Director Adult Social Care and 
Health

Tony Goodwin Chief Executive 

Tracy Yeomans Customer Services Manager 

Jane Hackett  Solicitor Monitoring Officer 

Christie Tims HR Manager 

CMT -

Cabinet -

Page 24



3 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy 
02 12 10 v. 7 Draft 

Document Review Plans 

This document is subject to a scheduled annual review. Updates shall be made 
in accordance with business requirements and changes and will be with 
agreement with the document owner. 

Distribution

The document will be available on the Intranet and access by authorised users. 

Security Classification 

This document is classified as SEC 1 Routine with access restricted to Tamworth 
Borough Council Staff and business partners. 

Page 25



Section 1 
Children and Vulnerable Adults 

Protection Policy 

Section 2 
Procedure Guide 

4 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy 
02 12 10 v. 7 Draft 

Page 26



5 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy 
02 12 10 v. 7 Draft 

Section 1 - Policy 
Contents

1 Introduction 

2 Policy Statement 

3 Principles 

4 Summary of supporting documentation 

Section 2 – Procedure Guide 
Contents

1 Introduction 

2 Definitions used within the procedure 

3 Roles and responsibilities within the Council 

4 Recognition of abuse and bullying 

5 Responding to disclosure, suspicions and allegations 

6 Promoting good practice with children and vulnerable adults 

7 Best practice in the recruitment of staff and volunteers working with 
children

8 Contact Information 

Page 27



6 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy 
02 12 10 v. 7 Draft 

1 Introduction  

All children and vulnerable adults have the right to live their lives to the fullest 
potential, to be protected, to have the opportunity to participate in and enjoy 
any activity, and to be treated with dignity and respect.  

Tamworth Borough Council has both a moral and legal obligation to ensure a 
duty of care for children and vulnerable adults across its services. We are 
committed to ensuring that all children and vulnerable adults are protected 
and kept safe from harm whilst engaged in services organised and provided by 
the Council.  

The purpose of this policy and its associated procedures is to help protect the 
children and vulnerable adults placed in our care within our services and 
protect Tamworth Borough Council, its staff, elected members and volunteers.

The principle of vulnerable adult protection is slightly different to that of child 
protection and raises different issues. It is acknowledged that there are 
different issues to take into account when dealing with cases of the abuse of 
children and the abuse of vulnerable adults. Therefore the supporting 
procedures include two distinct sections covering the different types of abuse 
experienced by children and vulnerable adults.  

2 Policy Statement 

Tamworth Borough Council accepts the moral and legal responsibility to 
implement procedures, to provide a duty of care for children and vulnerable 
adults, to safeguard their well being and protect them from abuse when they 
are engaged in services organised and provided by the Council. This is 
identified within section 11 of the Children’s Act 2004. We aim to comply with 
our duties under the Act by:

! Respecting and promoting the rights, wishes and feelings of children and 
vulnerable adults.

! Raising the awareness of the duty of care responsibilities relating to 
children and vulnerable adults throughout the Council.  

! Promoting and implementing appropriate procedures to safeguard the well-
being of children and vulnerable adults to protect them from harm.

Page 28



7 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Creating a safe and healthy environment within all our services, to 
protect all parties and reduce the risk of abuse or allegations of abuse 
from occurring. 

! Recruiting, training, supporting and supervising staff, elected members 
and volunteers to adopt best practice to safeguard and protect 
children and vulnerable adults from abuse, and to also minimise any 
risk to themselves.  

! Responding promptly to any suspicions or allegations of misconduct or 
abuse of children or vulnerable adults in line with this Policy and 
Procedures and those of the Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
and ‘No Secrets’ guidance, as well as implementing, where 
appropriate, the relevant disciplinary and appeals procedures.

! Requiring staff, elected members and volunteers to adopt and abide by 
the Council’s Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and 
Procedures, Code of Conduct and associated procedures (see Appendix 
G).

! Reviewing and evaluating these Policy and Procedures on an annual 
basis in line with best practice, changing legislation, organisational 
requirements and service delivery.  

! Ensure representatives of Tamworth Council who have contact with 
children, young people or vulnerable adults are subject to safe 
recruitment procedures. This includes an appropriate Criminal Records 
Bureau (CRB) check prior to any appointment which should be repeated 
every three years. 

! This is also applicable for when the council is working in partnership 
with other private, voluntary or contracted organisations and 
employees. The Council will require written confirmation that any 
employee provided by these partner agencies, has where appropriate 
been subject to CRB disclosures. The Council will also require copies of 
external organisations safeguarding policy and procedures.  

3  Principles  

This policy and supporting procedures are based on the following 
principles

! The welfare of children and vulnerable adults is the primary concern.  

! All children and vulnerable adults irrespective of their age, culture, 
disability, gender, language, racial origin, socio-economic status, 
religious belief and/ or sexual orientation have the right to protection 
from abuse.

! It is everyone’s responsibility to report any concerns about abuse and 
the responsibility of Staffordshire Children’s Social Care and the Police 
to conduct where appropriate, a joint investigation.  

Page 29



8 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! All incidents of alleged poor practice, misconduct and abuse will be 
taken seriously and responded to swiftly and appropriately.  

! All personal data will be processed in accordance with the 
requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998. 

4 Supporting Documents

Documents specific to Tamworth Borough Council 

! Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Procedures 

! Dignity at Work Policy and Procedures 

! Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Procedure 

! Recruitment Procedure 

! Data Protection Policy 

! Individual Service operating procedures relating to undertaking the 
delivery of services to children, vulnerable adults, their parents, 
guardians or carers. 

General Background Information 

! The Children Act 1989 – provides legislation to ensure that the 
welfare and developmental needs of children are met, including their 
need to be protected from harm.  The welfare of the child is 
paramount.

! The Children’s Act 2004 - Section 11 places a duty on all 
organisations to ensure that their functions are discharged with 
regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 
The Act offered the legislative framework for the implementation of 
the five Every Child Matters principles which are considered to be 
integral to achieving positive outcomes and life chances for all 
children and young people from birth into adulthood. These principles 
are;

Be healthy 
Staying safe 
Enjoying and achieving 
Making a positive contribution 
Achieving economic wellbeing 

! Working Together to Safeguard Children’ 1999. This statutory 
guidance was revised by the government in 2006 and again in March 
2010. It details the roles and responsibilities of all agencies with the 
aim of promoting effective working together to promote the welfare 

Page 30



9 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

and safety of children. To view the 2010 Working Together to 
Safeguard Children statutory guidance please go to; 

https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/standard/publicationdetail/pag
e1/DCSF-00305-2010

! Care Standards Act 2000 - this Act details the statutory responsibility 
for all agencies to ensure the protection of vulnerable adults. 

! Inter-agency procedures for safeguarding children and promoting 
their welfare (all available on line at www.staffsscb.org.uk)

There is a wide range of associated legislation and guidance available, 
see the Office of Public Sector Information for more information 
(www.opsi.gov.uk)

Section 2 
Procedure Guide 

1 Introduction 

This set of procedures and guidelines sets out how Tamworth Borough 
Council will implement the Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection 
Policy. It is to be used by all staff that come into direct contact with those 
who fall under the definition of the Procedure, or those who are 
responsible for managing services that affect these individuals or groups. 

The procedure guide is intended to be used in conjunction with the policy 
document, and other supporting individual service procedures.  

2 Definitions used within the Procedure 

! The term children or young person is used to refer to anyone under the 
age of 18 years.  

! All the policies and procedures described within this document refer to 
vulnerable adults as well as children.  

! The term “vulnerable adult” or a person with community care needs 
can include people with learning disabilities, older people, people with 
physical or sensory disabilities, people with mental ill health, people 
with certain physical illnesses or people with drug or alcohol problems.

! The term parent is used as a generic term to represent parents, carers 
and guardians.  

Page 31



10 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! The term staff, elected members and volunteers is used to refer to 
employees, district councillors, volunteers and anyone working on 
behalf, delivering a service for or representing the Council.  

 

3 Roles and responsibilities within the Council 

Designated Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection Officer  

For the Council the Designated Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection 
Officer is the Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer. It is their 
responsibility to:

! Receive information from staff, volunteers and children who have 
concerns, and record them. The standard form is attached at 
Appendix B.  

! Be the delegated liaison on behalf of the Council for any formal 
investigations into allegations of abuse undertaken by the police 
and / or Staffordshire’s Children’s Social Care Service (CSC).  

! Receive the appropriate child protection and vulnerable adults
          protection training.

In the absence of the Designated Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection 
Officer queries should be forwarded to Deputy Child and Vulnerable Adult 
Protection Officer the Deputy Director for Communities, Planning and 
Partnerships or one of the departmental safeguarding officers. Queries can 
also be raised directly with Staffordshire’s CSC First Response Team or the 
Vulnerable Adult Protection Team (see appendix A for contact details).  

The Director, Community Services

The Director (or a delegated Deputy Director within the Community 
Directorate) is responsible for: 

! Ensuring Policy documents and procedures are up to date and in 
line with best practice as defined under the “No secrets” 
documentation and other legislative and statutory guidance. 

! Ensuring that all of their employees (including volunteers, 
contractors, agents and other partner representatives) are aware of 
this policy and understand how to comply with this procedure. 

Page 32



11 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Working with responsible bodies to implement and promote a 
partnership approach to working together to protect children and 
vulnerable adults in all areas of the community. 

Head of Organisational Development 

The Head of Organisational Development is responsible for ensuring: 

! Appropriate procedures are in place to carry out pre-employment 
checks for all employees and volunteers working with the Council 
who have contact with children and / or vulnerable adults in 
carrying out their duties, including robust reference and CRB 
disclosure checking processes. 

! Will ensure that CRB checks are renewed every three years in 
accordance with CRB policy. 

! Will ensure that CRB checks and employee references are kept 
secure and confidential in compliance with the CRB Code of 
Practice.

! Will maintain a record of all employees and volunteers that have 
completed a CRB check and are considered to be suitable for 
working with children, young people and vulnerable adults. 

! Will ensure correct procedures are in place for checking staff 
against future Independent Safeguarding Authority requirements.  

! Training is in place for all staff who fall into the definition of level 
1 (basic) or level 2 (specialist / intermediate) and any additional 
specialist training as part of the corporate training plans for 
induction and on-going training, and that adequate budget is in 
place to fund training for those staff who require it as a part of 
their role. 

! Appropriate support is provided for any employee that reports a 
concern in good faith, even if these concerns are subsequently 
proven to be unfounded. 

Departmental Children and Vulnerable Adult Protection Officers

! Staff can seek advice or raise concerns with their Departmental 
Children & Vulnerable Adult (C&VA) Protection Officer please refer 
to Appendix A for names and contact details. 

! The Departmental C&VA Officer must ensure that the concern is 
recorded on the system and if considered a safeguarding issue 
referred to Staffordshire’s Children’s Social Care Services First 
Response Service or in the case of a vulnerable adult Staffordshire’s 
Social Care and Health Service / Team.

Page 33



12 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

All Employees and Members 

! Should not begin any unsupervised activity involving direct access 
to children, young people or vulnerable adults prior to the Council 
receiving a satisfactory CRB disclosure and in accordance with CRB 
policy.

! Should be aware of this policy and procedure and of any local or 
national related policies / procedures that are applicable for their 
service area, as part of their induction programme. 

! Need to attend mandatory child protection and vulnerable adults 
training if applicable to their employment role and responsibilities 
(i.e. if they have direct or some form of indirect contact with 
children / young people / vulnerable adults). 

! Should be aware of appropriate and inappropriate behaviour for 
employees who are working with children, young people and 
vulnerable adults. 

! Need to know who their Designated Child Protection Officer is.

! Have an expected responsibility to take action when they have 
concerns, witness or hold information that relates to the abuse of a 
child, young person or vulnerable adult. 

4  Recognition of Abuse, Neglect and Bullying  

Abuse and neglect are forms of maltreatment of a child or vulnerable 
adult. Somebody may abuse or neglect a child or vulnerable adult by 
inflicting harm, or by failing to act to prevent harm. Children and 
vulnerable adults may be abused in a family or in an institutional or 
community setting; by those known to them or, more rarely, by a stranger 
for example via the internet. They may also be abused by an adult or 
adults, or another child or children.  

Recognising Abuse

Recognising abuse is not easy, and it is not the responsibility of Council 
staff, elected members or volunteers to decide whether or not child abuse 
has taken place or if a child or vulnerable adult is at significant risk, we 
do however have a responsibility to act if we have a concern.  

Disabled People

There have been a number of studies which suggest people with 
disabilities are at increased risk of abuse. Various factors contribute to 
this, such as stereotyping, prejudice, discrimination, isolation and a 
powerlessness to protect themselves, or inadequately communicating that 

Page 34



13 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

abuse has occurred. Children from ethnic minorities, who may also be 
experiencing racial discrimination, may be doubly powerless.  

Race and Racism

People from black and minority groups (and their parents) are potentially 
likely to have experienced harassment, racial discrimination and 
institutionalised racism. Although racism causes significant harm it is not, 
in itself, a category of abuse and dealing with it is considered under other 
specific policies of the Council.

Abuse and Neglect of Children

It is generally accepted that there are four main forms of child abuse; 
physical, emotional, sexual and neglect.  

Physical Abuse

Physical abuse may involve hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, burning 
or scalding, drowning, suffocating or otherwise causing physical harm to a 
child or vulnerable adult.  
Physical harm may also be caused when a parent or carer feigns the 
symptoms of, or deliberately causes ill health to a child whom they are 
looking after. The situation is commonly described as fabricated or 
induced illness. A person might do this because they enjoy or need the 
attention they get through having a sick child or young person.  

Physical abuse, as well as being a result of a deliberate act, can also be 
caused through omission or the failure to act to protect.  

PHYSICAL ABUSE 

Physical Signs Behavioural Indicators 

! Unexplained bruising, 
marks or injuries on any 
part of the body

! Bruises which reflect hand 
marks or fingertips (from 
slapping or pinching)

! Cigarette burns  

! Bite marks  

! Broken bones  

! Scalds  

! Fear of parents being approached for an 
explanation  

! Aggressive behaviour or severe temper 
outbursts

! Flinching when approached or touched  

! Reluctance to get changed, for example 
wearing long sleeves in hot weather  

! Depression  

! Withdrawn behaviour  

! Running away from home  

Page 35



14 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Where an injury appears to be 
inconsistent with the 
explanation offered 

Emotional Abuse

Emotional abuse is the persistent emotional ill treatment of a child such 
as to cause severe and persistent adverse effects on the child’s emotional 
development. It may involve making them feel or believe that they are 
worthless or unloved, inadequate or valued only insofar as they meet the 
needs of another person. It may include not giving the child the 
opportunities to express their views, deliberately silencing them or 
‘making fun’ of what they say or how they communicate. It may feature 
age or developmentally inappropriate expectations being imposed on 
children.

These may include interactions that are beyond the child’s developmental 
capability, as well as overprotection and limitation of exploration and 
learning, or preventing the child participating in normal social interaction.  
It may involve seeing or hearing the ill-treatment of another. It may 
involve serious bullying (including cyberbullying), causing children 
frequently to feel frightened or in danger, or the exploitation or 
corruption of children. Some level of emotional abuse is involved in all 
types of maltreatment of a child, though it may occur alone. (i.e. without 
any accompanying physical or verbal abuse.) 

EMOTIONAL ABUSE 

Physical signs Behavioural Indicators 

! A failure to thrive or grow  

! Sudden speech disorders  

! Developmental delay, either 
in terms of physical or 
emotional progress

! Neurotic behaviour, e.g. hair twisting, 
rocking

! Being unable to play / or being 
prevented from socialising with others 

! Fear of making mistakes  

! Self harm  

Page 36



15 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Fear of parent being approached 
regarding their behaviour

Sexual Abuse

Sexual abuse involves forcing or enticing a child to take part in sexual 
activities, not necessarily involving a high level of violence whether or not 
they are aware of, or consent to, what is happening. The activities may 
involve physical contact, including assault by penetration (for example, 
rape or oral sex) or non-penetrative acts such as masturbation, kissing, 
rubbing and touching the outside of clothing.   

Sexual abuse may also include non-contact activities, such as involving a 
child in looking at, or in the production of, sexual images, watching sexual 
activities, encouraging children to behave in sexually inappropriate ways, 
or grooming a child in preparation for abuse (including via the internet).
Sexual abuse is not solely perpetrated by adult males. Women can also 
commit acts of sexual abuse, as can other children.  

SEXUAL ABUSE 

Physical Signs Behavioural Indicators 

! Pain or itching in the 
genital/anal areas

! Bruising or bleeding near 
genital/anal areas

! Sexually transmitted disease  

! Vaginal discharge or infection  

! Stomach pains  

! Discomfort when walking or 
sitting down

! Pregnancy  

! Sudden or unexplained changes 
in behaviour, e.g. becoming 
aggressive or withdrawn

! Fear of being left with a specific 
person or group of people

! Having nightmares  

! Running away from home  

! Sexual knowledge which is 
beyond their age or development 
age

! Sexual drawings or language  

! Bedwetting  

! Saying they have secrets they 
cannot tell anyone about

Page 37



16 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Self harm or mutilation, 
sometimes leading to suicide 
attempts

! Eating problems such as 
overeating or anorexia

Neglect  

Neglect is the persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or 
psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the 
child’s health or development. Neglect may occur during pregnancy as a 
result of maternal substance abuse. Once a child is born, neglect may 
involve a parent or carer failing to: 

! Provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion 
from home or abandonment). 

! Protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger. 

! Ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate 
caregivers).

! Ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment 

! It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child’s 
basic emotional needs.  

NEGLECT

Physical Signs Behavioural Indicators 

! Constant hunger, sometimes 
stealing food from others

! Constantly dirty or ‘smelly’  

! Loss of weight, or being constantly 
underweight

! Inappropriate dress for the 
conditions

! Complaining of being tired all the 
time

! Not requesting medical assistance 
and/or failing to attend appointments  

! Having few friends  

! Mentioning their being left alone or 
unsupervised  

Domestic Abuse

Domestic abuse is defined by the Home Office as: 

‘Any incident of threatening behaviour, violence or abuse 
psychological, physical, sexual, financial or emotional between 
adults who are or have been intimate partners or family members, 
regardless of gender or sexuality. 

Page 38



17 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

The domestic violence perpetrator may be directly physically and/or 
sexually abusive to the child. All of the 5 key objectives defined within 
the Every Child Matters agenda are critical to successful outcomes for 
children are likely to be adversely affected by a child’s exposure to 
domestic abuse. 

In all cases where there is knowledge or suspicion that there exists a 
potential for a child or children to be suffering harm as a result of 
domestic abuse, then a referral should be made to Children’s Social 
Care via the First Response Team (FRT) who act as the first point of 
contact for all referrals in relation to the welfare and safety of a child.  

For further information on safeguarding children and domestic abuse 
please go to Part 22 of the SSCB Inter-agency Safeguarding Children 
Procedures at; http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/professionals/procedures/

Safeguarding Children who may have been trafficked

The organised crime of child trafficking into the UK has become an issue 
of considerable concern to all professionals with responsibility for the care 
and protection of children.  Any form of trafficking children is an abuse. 

Trafficking of persons shall mean the recruitment, transportation, 
transfer, harbouring or receipt of person, by means of the threat of, or 
use of coercion, abduction, fraud, deception, abuse of power or of a 
position of vulnerability. It also includes  the giving or receiving of 
payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control 
over another person, for the purpose of exploitation.  

It is important to note that some cases involve UK-born children being 
trafficked within the UK, e.g. a child or young person being trafficked 
from one town to another. The consent of the victim of trafficking is 
irrelevant where any of the above methods have been used. 

Trafficked children may be used for sexual exploitation, agricultural 
labour including tending plants in illegal cannabis farms.  

If you have a concern regarding the possible trafficking of a child you 
should immediately contact the Designated Child Protection Officer or  
make a referral direct to Children’s Social Care via the First Response 
Team (FRT). Practitioners should not do anything which would heighten 
the risk of harm or abduction to the child. 

Page 39



18 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

For further guidance about safeguarding trafficked children please go to; 
http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/professionals/procedures/RegionalNational/

Abuse of Disabled Children and Disabled Vulnerable Adults

The signs and indicators of abuse for disabled and non-disabled children 
and vulnerable adults are fundamentally the same. However, there are 
additional indicators for disabled children and disabled vulnerable adults: 

! Force feeding 

! Unjustified or excessive physical restraint 

! Rough handling 

! Extreme behaviour modification  

! Deprivation of liquid, medication, food or clothing 

! Misuse of medication, sedation, tranquillisation 

The signs and indicators of abuse for disabled children and vulnerable 
adults are: 

! more subtle 

! there are fewer behaviours, and fewer signs and indicators 

! there are more possible explanations 

! they are harder to untangle – especially if there are      
communication differences and they can more easily be 
explained away: 

–   by the impairment 
–   by the illness 
–   by the medication 
–   “it’s always been like this” 
–   as attention-seeking behaviour 
–   as self-inflicted

Abuse of Vulnerable Adults 

Vulnerable adults can experience abuse as outlined above but there are 
several other types of abuse that are particular to vulnerable adults. 
These include financial abuse (sometimes called material abuse), 
discriminatory abuse and institutional abuse. 

Financial Abuse

The “No Secrets” document defines financial abuse as including theft, 
fraud, exploitation, pressure in connection with wills, property or 
inheritance or financial transactions, or the misuse or misappropriation of 

Page 40



19 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

property, possessions or benefits. Financial abuse may be opportunistic or 
may be planned. The victim may have been deliberately targeted because 
of their vulnerability.  

FINANCIAL

Examples When it might occur 

! Misappropriation of money 
and/or other assets by 
various means such as theft 
or fraud.

! Transactions to which the 
person could not consent or 
which were invalidated by 
intimidation or deception.

! Misuse of assets to meet the 
legitimate needs of a 
vulnerable person.

! Non-use of assets to meet 
the legitimate needs of a 
vulnerable person.

! The perpetrator befriending the victim 
and then using their position of trust 
to gain financially form the victim – 
moving into their house to ‘care’ for 
them, becoming their 
appointee/attorney.

! Being over charged for services or 
tricked into receiving goods or 
services that they do not want or 
need.

Discriminatory Abuse  

The “No Secrets” document defines discriminatory abuse as any form of 
abuse based on discrimination because of a person’s race, culture, belief, 
gender, age, disability, sexual orientation etc. Discrimination may be a 
motivating factor in other forms of abuse.  

DISCRIMINATORY

Physical signs Actions of the abuser 

! The person being 
abused maybe 
withdrawn, reject 
appropriate
services or have 
low self esteem.

! They may 
sometimes agree 
with the abuser 
just to have an 
easier life.

The person who is abusing may:

! use inappropriate “nick names”, use derogatory 
language or terminology,  

! have a lack of understanding of a person’s 
needs

! enforce rules or procedures which undermine 
the individual’s well being.  

Page 41



20 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Institutional Abuse

The “No Secrets” document defines institutional abuse as repeated 
incidents of poor professional practice or neglect. Inflexible services 
based on needs of providers rather than the person receiving services.

INSTITUTIONAL ABUSE

Examples

• Service users required to ‘fit in’ excessively to the routine of the 
service.
• Lack of procedures and guidelines for staff.  

No or little evidence of training programmes for staff.

 The “No Secrets” guidance is available at:  
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAn
dGuidance/DH_4008486

The Staffordshire and Stoke–on-Trent Adult Safeguarding Partnership 
Inter-Agency Adult Protection Procedures are available at: 
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Resources/Documents/i/InteragencyProceduresFin
al2aug10.pdf

Important Rule

It is important to remember that many children and 
vulnerable adults will exhibit some of these signs and 
indicators at some time, and the presence of one or more 
should not be taken as proof that abuse is occurring. 
There may well be other reasons for changes in behaviour 
such as a death, or the birth of a new baby in the family, 
relationship problems between parents/carers, etc.
However, you should always report anything that causes 
you concern in order for appropriate action to be taken to 
ensure the welfare and safety of children and vulnerable 
adults.

Page 42



21 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Bullying

It is important to recognise that in some cases of abuse, it may not always 
be an adult abusing a child or vulnerable adult. It can occur that the 
abuser may be a young person for example in the case of bullying. Bullying 
may be seen as deliberately hurtful behaviour, usually repeated over a 
period of time, where it is difficult for those bullied to defend 
themselves. Vulnerable adults may also experience bullying from other 
adults, members of their family, care assistants etc.  

Although anyone can be the target of bullying, victims are typically shy, 
sensitive and perhaps anxious or insecure. Sometimes they are singled out 
for physical reasons – being overweight, physically small or having a 
disability. Belonging to a different race, faith or culture can result in 
overt racism.

Bullies come from all walks of life, they bully for a variety of reasons and 
may have experienced difficulties themselves. Typically, bullies can have 
low self esteem, be excitable, aggressive and jealous. Crucially, they have 
learned how to gain power over others and there is increasing evidence to 
suggest that this abuse of power is, in some cases, associated with 
subsequent criminal behaviour and activity.  

Bullying can include: 

! Physical: pushing, hitting, kicking and pinching etc.  

! Verbal: name-calling, spreading rumours, constant teasing and 
sarcasm.

! Emotional: tormenting, ridiculing, humiliating and ignoring.  

! Racist: taunts, graffiti and gestures.  

! Sexual: unwanted physical contact or abusive comments.  

There are a number of signs that may indicate that a person is being 
bullied:

! Behavioural changes such as reduced concentration and/or becoming 
withdrawn, clingy, depressed, tearful, emotionally up and down, 
reluctance to go to school.

! A drop off in performance at school or standard of performance.  

! Physical signs such as stomach aches, headaches, difficulty in sleeping, 
bed-wetting, scratching and bruising, damaged clothes and bingeing 
for example on food, cigarettes or alcohol.  

! A shortage of money or frequent loss of possessions.

Page 43



22 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Allegations of bullying will be dealt with either through the Councils 
Harassment and Bullying Policy and Procedures for staff (accessed on the 
Intranet,) or through this policy.

5 Responding to Disclosure, Suspicions and Allegations

Council employees may come across cases of suspected abuse either 
through direct contact with children and vulnerable adults, for example, 
running a holiday activity, or for peripatetic staff visiting homes as part of 
their day to day work. It is not an employee’s responsibility to decide 
whether or not a child or vulnerable adult has been abused. It is 
however their responsibility to act immediately and report their 
concerns. The Council’s primary concern is to ensure any relevant 
information is passed to the police, the Vulnerable Children’s Division First 
Response Team or Adults Social Care and Health Services without delay. 
These organisations have statutory responsibilities to make enquiries and 
to assess whether a child or vulnerable adult is at risk of harm. A flow 
chart on how to report incidents or suspicions is attached at Appendix C. 

Responding to Disclosure

Abused children and vulnerable adults are more likely to disclose details 
of abuse to someone they trust and with whom they feel safe. By listening 
and taking seriously what the child or vulnerable adults is saying, 
employees are already helping the situation.  

The following points are a guide to help employees respond appropriately:  

Actions employees should take  

! React calmly so as not to frighten them  

! Take what the person says seriously, recognising the difficulties 
inherent in interpreting what is being said by a person who has for 
example a speech impairment and / or differences in language.  

! Avoid asking leading or direct questions other than those seeking to 
clarify your understanding of what the person has said. They may be 

Page 44



23 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

subsequently formally interviewed by the Police and Staffordshire’s 
Children’s Social Care Services and they should not have to repeat 
their account on several occasions.  The first person told may become 
a witness at court if they have asked/gained direct relevant 
information.

! Reassure the child or vulnerable adult but do not make promises of 
confidentiality which might not be feasible in the light of subsequent 
developments.  

! Explain to them that concerns may have to be shared with someone 
who is in a position to act.

! Tell them they were not to blame and that they were right to tell.  

Record in writing on a Tamworth Borough Council Child Protection 
Incident Reporting Form (see Appendix B) all the background details and 
what was said using the child or vulnerable adult’s own words, within 24 
hours.
If a referral is made through First Response it must be followed up by a 
written referral within 48 hours using the multi agency referral form. For 
further guidance on making a referral about a child please go to Part 3 of 
Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board’s Inter-agency procedures at; 
http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/professionals/procedures/.

The record should include:

o The date and time.  
o The child or vulnerable adult’s name, address and date of birth.  
o The nature of the allegation.  
o A description of any visible injuries.  
o The employees observations – e.g. a description of the child or 

vulnerable adult’s behaviour and physical and emotional state.  
o Exactly what the child or vulnerable adult said and what was said in 

reply. Record the child or vulnerable adult’s account of what has 
happened as accurately as possible.  

o Any action taken as a result of the concerns being raised e.g. who 
was spoken to and resulting actions. Include names, addresses and 
telephone numbers.  

o Sign and date what has been recorded.
o Store the information in accordance with relevant procedures, e.g. 

Data Protection, see section 5.10.  
o Report to and inform your line manager and/or the Council’s 

Designated Child and Vulnerable Adults Protection Officer.  

Page 45



24 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Actions to Avoid

The person receiving the disclosure should not:

! Dismiss the concern.

! Panic.

! Allow their shock or distaste to show.  

! Probe for more information than is offered.

! Speculate or make assumptions.  

! Make negative comments about the alleged abuser.

! Make promises or agree to keep secrets.  

! It is extremely important that you do not ask the child, young person, 
vulnerable adult or any witnesses to sign your written information as 
this will be significantly detrimental to any subsequent police 
investigation.

! Do not take photographs of any alleged injuries. If you use your mobile 
telephone or any other available photographic equipment, this 
equipment may be confiscated by the police and later used as 
evidence.

Responding to Suspicions

In the first instance if an employee has any suspicions regarding a child or 
vulnerable adult who they think is being abused it is important  for them 
to act immediately and share their concerns with the Designated CP 
Officer. They should then jointly complete the incident reporting form as 
immediate action may be required to promote the safety of a child / 
vulnerable adult. 
Copies of these forms are available on the intranet. Where there is 
evidence of immediate harm then the employee should phone 999 and 
report the incident to the Police.

It is the responsibility of the designated Child Protection Officer to take a 
lead on reporting any concerns to the VCD First Response Team and / or 
the Police and to assist in any further action required on behalf of the 
Council.

The service manager should also ensure that the employee reporting the 
incident is reassured that their concerns are being appropriately 
addressed and that they have access to staff support if needed.  

Page 46



25 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Actions to be taken by the Designated Child Protection Officers / 
Departmental Child Protection Officers/ Senior Managers 

! Where concerns relate to a child or young person the Designated CP 
Officer should seek advice from Staffordshire Children’s Social Care’s 
First Response Team on 0800 1313126 (between 8.00 am and 8pm) 
or via a brief e-mail firstr@staffordshire.gov.uk with your contact details 

(please note this should not include any confidential details about a 
child or young person) and explain the need for an urgent response 
due to a child protection concern. 

! Outside of 8.00 am and 8.00pm any concerns relating to a child 
should be directed to Staffordshire Children’s Social Care Services 
(Vulnerable Children Division) Emergency Duty Service on 0845 

6042886. 

! Alternatively you can contact Staffordshire Police Central Referral Unit 
on 0300 1234455 or dial 999 in an emergency. 

! Where there are concerns relating to a vulnerable adult advice should 
be sought from the Access Team based at Tamworth Social Services 
Area Office, Marmion House (telephone 01827 475506). A referral can 
also be made direct to the Staffordshire Social Care and Health 0845 
6042719.

Always make a note of the name and title of the person you have 
passed your concerns on to. Please ensure that your concerns are 
followed up in writing to the FRT or police within 48 hours and that it 
reflects the verbal referral information you have already shared. For 
further guidance on making a referral about a child please go to Part 3 of 
Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board’s Inter-agency procedures at;     
http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/professionals/procedures/.

Sharing Concerns with Parents, Carers or Partners  

Whilst delivering our services to children there is a commitment to work in 
partnership with parents/carers and share concerns about their child or 
vulnerable adult. Therefore in most circumstances it would be important 
to talk to parents or carers to clarify any concerns. For example if a child 
seems withdrawn, there may be a reasonable explanation which a parent 
can provide. In most cases this decision will be taken and followed up by 
Children’s Social Care Services as the professional body on protection 
issues.

Page 47



26 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

When it is Inappropriate to Share Concerns with Parents, Carers or 
Partners

There are circumstances when children/vulnerable adults can be placed at 
greater risk by sharing concerns with their parents/carers e.g. where the 
parent/carer is the one who may be responsible for the abuse, or not able 
to respond to the concern appropriately. In these circumstances, or where 
concerns still exist despite an explanation from parents/carers, any 
suspicion, allegation or incident of abuse must be reported to the Child 
and Vulnerable Adults Protection Officer immediately and recorded. 

Responding to allegations against Staff or Volunteers

It is important that any concerns for the welfare of the child or vulnerable 
adult arising from abuse or harassment by a member of staff or volunteer 
should be reported immediately to the Designated Child and Vulnerable 
Adult Protection Officer and an incident report form completed. There 
may be circumstances where allegations are about poor practice rather 
than abuse but those responsible should always consult senior colleagues 
including the Service Manager and Head of Human Resources who will seek 
to gain advice from the Children’s Social Care Services and/or 
Staffordshire Police.

The Designated Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection Officer consult with 
the Local Area Designated Officer from Staffordshire County Council who 
will jointly take all decisions about the type, level and conduct of the 
investigation, and will take responsibility for informing the relevant other 
bodies such as the Police and the VCD First Response Team.

Support for the Reporter of the Alleged Abuse  

Strong feelings may be generated by the discovery that a member of staff 
or volunteer is, or may be, abusing a child or vulnerable adult. This can 
raise concerns among other staff or volunteers and create difficulties in 
reporting such matters. The Council will fully support and protect all 
staff/volunteers who, in good faith (without malicious intent), report his 
or her concern about a colleague’s practice or the possibility that a child 
or vulnerable adult may be being abused. 

This support may take the form of counselling through the Council’s 
service, moving the person reporting the abuse / potential abuse to 
another workplace temporarily whilst the incident is reported. The 

Page 48



27 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Council also has a Confidential reporting (whistleblowing) Procedure which 
should be consulted in these situations.

Types of Investigation

Where there are allegations of abuse about a member of staff there may 
be three strands of investigation which follow Local Authority Designated 
Officer (LADO) guidelines:  

! Child/Vulnerable Adult Protection investigation  

! A disciplinary or misconduct investigation  

! Criminal Investigation

The Council will consider suspending any employee accused of abuse 
pending a formal investigation. Suspension is a neutral act that does not 
imply any form of guilt. If suspension is felt unnecessary the member of 
staff will be relocated to another area of work pending the outcome of 
the formal investigation. An investigation will carried out as quickly as is 
practically possible for the protection of all parties involved. The Council 
will assess each individual allegation on its own, taking into account the 
findings of any criminal investigation and respond to the outcome of the 
investigation in line with Council policy and procedure.  

Further guidance available at  
http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/NR/rdonlyres/B423F1E7-9E1E-4C51-BF56-
364932A39B59/158008/MicrosoftWordPart7AllegationsManagementrev
isedMarc.pdf

Confidentiality

! Every effort should be made to ensure that confidentiality is 
maintained for all concerned. Information should be handled and 
disseminated on a need to know basis only.  

*Where there is any possibility that a criminal act may have been 
committed care should be taken not to take any action that may 
jeopardise any subsequent criminal investigation. This includes 
contacting the alleged perpetrator. Advice should FIRST be sought from 
the police and/or Children’s Social Care LADO.

It is extremely important that allegations or concerns are not discussed, as 
any breach of confidentiality could be damaging to the child or vulnerable 
adult, their family and any child/vulnerable adult protection 
investigations that may follow.  

Page 49



28 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Any individual under supervision has the right to be notified about the 
cause for concern. This should be done in joint consultation with 
Children’s Social Care Services and the Police. It is important that the 
timing of this does not prejudice the investigation.  

Recorded information should be stored in a secure place with limited 
access e.g. to the Designated Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection 
Officer, and in line with data protection laws (e.g. that information is 
accurate, regularly updated, relevant and secure).

If enquiries arise from the public (including parents) or any branch of the 
media, it is vital that all staff, elected members and volunteers are 
briefed so that they do not make any comments regarding the situation. 
Staff, elected members and volunteers should be informed who the 
relevant designated Council spokesperson will be, and all enquiries 
directed through them. Staff, elected members and volunteers should 
reply ‘no comment’ to all questions / enquiries. 

6 Promoting Good Practice with Children and Vulnerable Adults

Code of Conduct for the Protection of Children and Vulnerable Adults

It is possible to limit the situations where the abuse of children and 
vulnerable adults may occur, by promoting good practice to all staff, 
elected members and volunteers.

This code of conduct details the type of practice required by all staff, 
elected members and volunteers when in contact with children or 
vulnerable adults. The types of practice are categorised into good 
practice, practice to be avoided and practice never to be sanctioned. 
Suspicions or allegations of non-compliance of the Code by a member of 
staff will be dealt with through the Councils Disciplinary Procedure.  

Good Practice for working with Children and Vulnerable Adults 

Tamworth Borough Council supports and requires the following good 
practice by staff, members and volunteers when in contact with children 
and vulnerable adults.  

When working with children and vulnerable adults all parties should:  

Page 50



29 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Adhere to the children, young people and vulnerable adult’s policy at all 
times.

! Always work in an open environment e.g. avoid private or unobserved 
situations and encourage an open environment for activities. 

! Treat all children and vulnerable adults equally, with respect and 
dignity.

! Be an excellent role model including not smoking or drinking alcohol in 
the company of children and vulnerable adults.  

! Ensure that if any form of manual or physical support is required for a 
child or vulnerable adult, it is provided openly, the child or vulnerable 
adult is informed of what is being done and their consent is obtained.  

! Deliver educational instruction first verbally; secondly role-modelling; 
and thirdly, and only if necessary, with hands on – which must be 
accompanied by telling the child or vulnerable adult why it is 
necessary and obtaining their consent. 

! Involve parents, guardians and carers wherever possible.  

! Build balanced relationships on mutual trust that empower children 
and vulnerable adults to share in the decision making process.

! Recognise the developmental needs and capacity of children and 
vulnerable adults and avoid excessive training or competition and 
either pushing them against their will or putting undue pressure on 
them.

An example form for obtaining parental consent for taking part in events / 
activities is given at Appendix D. 

Practice to be avoided  

In the context of job roles within Tamworth Borough Council, the 
following practice should be avoided by employees:  

! Avoid having favourites – this could lead to resentment and jealousy by 
other children or vulnerable adults and could lead to false allegations.  

! Avoid spending excessive amounts of time alone with children or 
vulnerable adults away from others.

! Ensure that when children or vulnerable adults are taken away from 
home adults avoid entering their rooms unless in an emergency 
situation or in the interests of health and safety. If it is necessary to 
enter rooms, the door should remain open, if appropriate.  

! Avoid, where possible, doing things of a personal nature for children 
and vulnerable adults that they can do for themselves.  

NB. It may sometimes be necessary to do things of a personal nature for 
children or vulnerable adults, particularly if they are very young or are 
disabled. These tasks should only be carried out with the full 
understanding and consent of the parent or guardian. In an emergency 

Page 51



30 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

situation that requires this type of help, employees should endeavor to 
have someone present and fully inform the parents as soon as it is 
reasonably possible. In such situations it is important that all staff etc are 
sensitive to the child or vulnerable adult and undertake personal care 
tasks with the utmost discretion. Staff should not take on the 
responsibility for tasks for which they are not appropriately trained.  

Practice never to be sanctioned 

In the context of job roles within the Council, the following practices 
should never be sanctioned by employees:  

! Never engage in sexually provocative games, including horseplay.  

! Never engage in rough or physical contact except as permitted within 
the rules of the game or competition. 

! Never form intimate emotional or physical relationships with children 
or vulnerable adults.

! Never allow or engage in touching a child or vulnerable adult in a 
sexually suggestive manner.

! Never allow children and vulnerable adults to swear or use sexualised 
language unchallenged. 

! Never make sexually suggestive comments to a child or vulnerable 
adult, even in fun. 

! Never reduce a child or vulnerable adult to tears as a form of control.  

! Never allow allegations made by a child or vulnerable adult to go 
unchallenged, unrecorded or not acted upon.

! Never share a room with a child or vulnerable adult for sleeping 
accommodation.

! Never invite or allow children or vulnerable adults to stay at an 
employee’s private home.

Never use the internet to access child pornography sites (see Acceptable 
Use Policy). 
http://tbcintranet/Documents/DOC%207.2%20Acceptable%20Use%20Policy.doc

! Never physically restrain a child or young person unless this is an 
appropriate response to prevent physical injury to the individual or to 
another person, or to prevent damage to any property. In any 
circumstances physical restraint must be proportionate and reasonable 
otherwise the restraint could be defined as assault. 

! Never leave children unattended or with employees who have not been 
subject to an appropriate CRB check. 

! Never issue medication to a child or a vulnerable adult unless there are 
specific and detailed instructions and written consent given by the 
child / young person’s parent, carer or legal guardian (someone who 
has parental responsibility for the child / young person). 

Page 52



31 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Important Note: In special cases room sharing may be required for health 
and safety reasons or if the child is very young or particularly vulnerable. 
If so, is should be explained why this is necessary to the child/vulnerable 
adult and their parent or guardian and their consent sought. Where 
possible ensure that at least two adults, preferably male and female are 
in the room. 

Employees who breach this code of behaviour shall be subject to the 
Council’s disciplinary procedures.  

First Aid and Treatment of Injuries  

If a child or vulnerable adult requires first aid or any form of medical 
attention whilst in the care of an employee, then the following good 
practice should be followed:  

! Be aware of any pre-existing medical conditions, medicines being 
taken by participants or existing injures and treatment required.

! Keep a written record of any injury that occurs, along with the details 
of any treatment given.

! Where possible, ensure access to medical advice and/or assistance is 
available.

! Only those with a current, recognised First Aid qualification should 
respond to any injuries.

! Where possible any course of action should be discussed with the 
child/vulnerable adult, in language that they understand and their 
permission sought before any action is taken.  

! In more serious cases, assistance must be obtained from a medically 
qualified professional as soon as possible.  

! The child’s or vulnerable adult’s parents/guardians or carers must be 
informed of any injury and any action taken as soon as possible, unless 
it is in the child’s or vulnerable adult’s interests and on professional 
advice not to.

! A notification of Accident Form must be completed and signed and 
passed to the Health and Safety Officer.

For Transporting Children and Vulnerable Adults Away From Home

If it is necessary to provide transport or take children or vulnerable adults 
away from home the following good practice must be followed:  

! Where practical request written parental/guardian consent if members 
of staff are required to transport children or vulnerable adults.  

Page 53



32 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Always tell another member of staff that a child is being transported, 
giving details of the route and the anticipated length of the journey.  

! Ensure all vehicles are correctly insured.

! All reasonable safety measures are taken, e.g. children in the back 
seat behind the driver, seatbelts are worn and booster seats in place.

! Ensure where possible, a male and female accompany mixed groups of 
children or vulnerable adults. These adults should be familiar with and 
agree to abide by the Council’s Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection 
Policy and Procedures. 

! Always plan and prepare a detailed programme of activities and ensure 
copies are available for other staff and parents/guardians. 

Use of Contractors

Tamworth Borough Council and its staff, elected members and volunteers 
should undertake reasonable care that contractors doing work on behalf of 
the Council are monitored appropriately. Service Level agreements or 
contracts in place for these contractors should therefore specify this 
requirement.

Any contractor or sub-contractor engaged by the Council in areas where 
workers are likely to come into contact with children or vulnerable adults, 
must have an appropriate CRB check and their own equivalent Children 
and Vulnerable Adult Protection Policy, or failing this, must confirm in 
writing to the relevant departmental manager that they have read and 
understood and are willing to comply with the terms of this policy and 
associated procedures.  

Where there is potential for contact with children or vulnerable adults it 
is the responsibility of the manager who is using the services of the 
contractor (the Client) to check that the correct Criminal Records Bureau 
check has been satisfactorily completed.  

Guidelines on Children and Vulnerable Adults in Publications and on the 
Internet

Websites and publications provide excellent opportunities to publicise 
achievements of individuals and provide a showcase for the activities of 
children and vulnerable adults. In some cases, however, displaying certain 
information about children and vulnerable adults could place them at risk. 
The following procedure must be followed to ensure the Council’s 
publications and information on the internet does not place children or 
vulnerable adults at risk.  

Page 54



33 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Publications or information on an internet site must never include 
personal information that could identify a child and vulnerable adult. 
Any contact information must be directed to the Council or another 
relevant organisation’s address.  

! Before publishing any information about a child or vulnerable adult, 
written consent must be obtained from the child or vulnerable adult’s 
parent/guardian. If the material is changed from the time of consent, 
the parents/guardians must be informed and consent provided for the 
changes.

! The content of photographs or videos must not depict a child or 
vulnerable adult in a provocative pose or in a state of partial undress. 
Children and vulnerable adults must never be portrayed in a 
demeaning or tasteless manner.  

! For photographs or videos of groups or teams of children or vulnerable 
adults ensure that only the group or team is referred to not individual 
members. Credit for achievements by a child or vulnerable adult are to 
be restricted to first names only.  

! All published events involving children or vulnerable adults must be 
reviewed to ensure the information will not put children or vulnerable 
adults at risk. Any publications of specific meetings or child/vulnerable 
adult events e.g. team coaching sessions, must not be distributed to 
any individuals other than to those directly concerned.

! Particular care must be taken when publishing photographs, film or 
videos of children or vulnerable adults who are considered particularly 
vulnerable e.g. the subject of a child or vulnerable adult protection 
issue or a custody dispute.

Important Note: Any concerns or enquiries about publications or internet 
information should be reported to the Council’s Designated Child and 
Vulnerable Adults Protection Officer Jane Hackett on 01827 709258.  

Guidelines on Use of Photography, Videoing and Filming of Children and 
Vulnerable Adults – (Including Mobile Phone Technology)

There is evidence that some individuals have used public events as an 
opportunity to take inappropriate photographs or film footage of children.
The following best practice is to be adopted to protect children and 
vulnerable adults who are being photographed or videoed.  

! When commissioning professional photographers or inviting the press to 
cover Council services, events and activities organisers must ensure 
that they make expectations clear in relation to child and vulnerable 
adult protection.  

! Organisers must check the credentials of any photographers and 
organisations used.

Page 55



34 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Where possible the consent of the parent/guardian for photographing, 
videoing and/or filming of a child or vulnerable adult must be obtained 
prior to the event or activity. 

! Where possible anyone wishing to use photographic/film/video 
equipment at a venue must obtain the approval of the Council.  

! An activity or event specific identification badge/sticker must be 
provided and clearly displayed at all times, by accredited 
photographers, film and video operators on the day of the activity or 
event.

! Unsupervised access must not be allowed to children or vulnerable 
adults or one to one photographic sessions.  

! Do not allow photographic sessions outside of the activities or services, 
or at a child or vulnerable adults home.  

! It is recommended that the names of children or vulnerable adults 
should not be used in photographs or video footage, unless with the 
express permission of the child or vulnerable adult’s parent or 
guardian.

! Tamworth Borough Council reserves the right at all times to prohibit 
the use of photography, film or video at any event or activity with 
which it is associated.

! The specific details concerning photographic /video and filming 
equipment should, where possible, be published prominently in event 
programmes and must be announced over the public address system 
prior to the start of an event. The recommended wording is, 
“In line with the recommendation in the Councils Children and 
Vulnerable Adult Protection Policy, the promoters of the event 
request that any person wishing to engage in any video, zoom or close 
range photography should register their details with staff at the 
spectators entry desk before carrying out any such photography. The 
promoter reserves the right to decline entry to any person unable to 
meet or abide by the promoters conditions.”  

Any concerns with photographers or video or film operators are to be 
reported to the Council’s Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection Officer 
and where relevant, the Police.

Parents/Carers use of Photographic and Filming Equipment at Events  

It is good practice to inform parents/carers of our expectations of them 
using their own photographic/filming equipment at events organised by 
the Council.  

! Parents/carers and spectators should register with the organiser, their 
intent to use zoom, close range photography or filming equipment at 
an event.

Page 56



35 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

! Children, vulnerable adults, parents/carers should be informed that if 
they have concerns they can report these to the organiser.  

! Concerns regarding inappropriate or intrusive photography or filming 
should be reported to the organiser, or senior member of staff present. 
It is their responsibility to record the incident on the incident report 
form and pass on to the Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection officer 
to take appropriate action.

An example of wording to be displayed at an event or on publicity 
material prior to the event should follow the lines of:  

“In line with Tamworth Borough Council’s Children and Vulnerable Adults 
Policy, any person wishing to engage in the zoom, close range 
photography or filming, should register their intent with the 
event/activity organiser, prior to carrying out any such photography or 
filming. The organiser reserves the right to refuse any such photography 
or filming if there are concerns or complaints about its appropriateness”  

An example form for use at Events and for taking photographs, video 
material is given at Appendix C. 

Videoing as a Coaching Aid

There is no intention to prevent coaches or teachers using video 
equipment as a legitimate coaching aid. However, performers and their 
parents/carers should be aware that this is part of the coaching 
programme and care should be taken in the storing of such films.  

Best practice in the recruitment of staff and volunteers working with 
Children

Pre-recruitment

If any form of advertising is used to recruit staff and volunteers, it should 
reflect:

! The responsibilities of the role.  

! The level of experience or qualifications required (e.g. experience of 
working with children is an advantage).

! The Council’s open and positive stance on children and vulnerable 
adult protection.  

! The use of the Criminal Records Bureau and other Vetting and Barring 
procedures to promote safe recruitment and selection processes. 

Page 57



36 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Applicant Information  

All applicants, whether for paid or voluntary, full- or part-time positions, 
should complete an application form which should elicit the following 
information:

! Name, address and National Insurance Number.  

! Past career, relevant interests, any gaps in employment and reasons 
for leaving.

! Relevant experience, educational qualifications, job specific 
qualifications and training.  

! Any criminal record.

! The names of at least two people (not relatives) willing to provide 
written references that comment on the applicant’s previous 
experience of, and suitability for, working with children and vulnerable 
adults where it is a requirement of the job and a willingness to assist in 
the completion of a CRB check.  

Checks and References

Staff and volunteers recruited to work in services for children and 
vulnerable adults must be checked for any possible irregularities (or 
issues), which may give reason for concern.  

! A minimum of two references must be taken up, one of which must be 
the previous employer and if available, at least one should be 
associated with former work with children or vulnerable adults. 
Written references will be followed up by letter or telephone. 
References should include the applicant’s suitability to work with 
children or vulnerable adults where it is a requirement of the job.  

In accordance with guidance from the Criminal Records Bureau (CRB), all 
posts that have direct contact with children and vulnerable adults will 
require an Enhanced CRB Disclosure. These checks will be completed by 
the Human Resources Team.

If a CRB check highlights an unspent conviction a risk assessment will be 
carried out to assess the suitability of the applicant to work with children 
or vulnerable adults. This will be carried out by the line manager and the 

Page 58



37 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Head of Human Resources and the outcome verified by the Designated 
Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection Officer.  

Interview

Interviews are carried out in line with the Council’s Recruitment and 
Selection procedures. The interview is likely to include questions on how 
to deal with children and vulnerable adult protection issues. 

Induction and Training

Checks are only part of the process to protect children and vulnerable 
adults from possible abuse. Appropriate training will enable individuals to 
recognise their responsibilities with regard to their own good practice and 
the reporting of suspected poor practice/concern of possible abuse. It is 
important that the recruitment and selection process is followed by 
relevant inductions and training in order to further protect children and 
vulnerable adults from possible abuse.

The induction and training should include:  

! An assessment of the training needs required.

! Clarification, agreement and signing up to the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Employees.  

! Clarification, agreement and signing up to the Council’s Children and 
Vulnerable Adult Protection Policy and Procedure Guidelines (policy 
declaration (Appendix D) is signed and completed).  

! The expectations, roles and responsibilities of the job are clarified.  

! As a minimum The Council expects all staff to have undergone formal 
children and or vulnerable adult training related to their job within 6 
months of commencement of employment with the Council. Refresher 
training will be required every 3 years.  This is the responsibility of line 
managers in services where children and/or vulnerable adults are 
clients/customers. 

Probation, Monitoring and Appraisal

All newly appointed members of staff undergo an agreed period of 
probation on commencement of their role.  

All members of staff who have contact with children and vulnerable adults 
will be monitored and their performance appraised. This will give an 
opportunity to evaluate progress, set new goals, identify training needs 

Page 59



38 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

and address any issues of poor practice. Line Managers should be sensitive 
to any concerns about poor practice and act on them at an early stage. 
They should also offer appropriate support to those who report 
concerns/complaints.  

It is the responsibility of Line Managers to monitor good practice. This can 
be done in a number of ways:  

! Direct observation of the activity or service.

! Staff appraisals, mentoring and providing feedback on performance.  

! Children and adults feedback on the activities or services.  

Rehabilitation of Offenders

Tamworth Borough Council is committed to the fair treatment of its staff, 
potential staff or users of its services, regardless of race, gender, religion, 
sexual orientation, responsibilities for dependants, age, physical/mental 
disability or offending background.  

Having a criminal record will not necessarily bar someone from working 
with the Council. This will depend on the nature of the position, the 
nature of the offence, how long ago and at what age the offence was 
committed and any factors which may be relevant.  
Failure to declare a conviction, caution or pending police action, will 
disqualify the applicant from appointment or result in summary dismissal 
if the discrepancy comes to light. 

Page 60



39 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Appendix A 

Contact Information
Tamworth Borough Council 
Designated Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection Officer is the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer 
Jane Hackett  01827 709258 

Deputy Child Protection Officer  
Deputy  Director (Communities, Planning and Partnerships) 
Rob Mitchell 01827 709616 

Departmental Designated Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection Officers:

Housing Services 
Heather Wilson 01827 709472
Rachel Ashford  01827 709484
Lee Birch 01827 709474
Lisa Hall 01827 709507
Tina Mustafa 01827 709467

Communities, Planning & Partnerships 
Neil Mason 01827 709568 
Stephanie Ivey 01827 709381

Staffordshire County Council Children’s Social Care Services  
First Response Team: For all child protection issues contact:

First Response Team - 0800 1313126 (between 8.00am and 8.00 pm)

If you experience a delay due to the high volume of calls, please e-mail 
firstr@staffordshire.gov.uk giving your name, contact details and that you have 
a child protection concern and a First Response Team operator will ring you 
back. Please remember not to detail any personal information about 
service users within any e-mail communication  or contact; 

Staffordshire Police Central Referrals Unit on 0300 1234455 

Outside of the hours of 8.00am and 8.00pm all child protection concerns 
need to be made to the Children’s Social Care Emergency Duty Service 
on 0845 6042886 

For vulnerable adult issues age 18 and over contact: 

Staffordshire Social  Care and Health on 0845 6042719 

Page 61



40 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Appendix B
Confidential

Child and Vulnerable Adult Safeguarding – Initial Concerns Form

To be given to designated child and vulnerable adult protection officer

ABOUT YOU 
Your Name

Job Title 

Contact Tel No. 

E-mail Address 

Date concern raised 

Time concern raised 

ABOUT THE CHILD/VULNERABLE ADULT 
Name of child / vulnerable adult 
you have concerns about 

Address of child/vulnerable adult 
you have concerns about 

Date of Birth of child/vulnerable 
adult (if known) 

Name of parent or carer responsible 
for child /vulnerable adult (if known) 

NATURE OF YOUR CONCERN 
(please include as much detail as possible)

ACTION YOU HAVE TAKEN 
Details of what you have done 
with the concern
e.g. passed concerns on to Police, 
passed to First Response, passed 

to Designated Officer … 
Reference Number if applicable 

Page 62



41 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

To be completed by Tamworth Borough Council’s Designated Child & Vulnerable 
Adult Protection Officer 

Designated Child Protection Officer’s 
name

Date concern received 

Time concern received 

Action you have taken

Reference Number if applicable 

Has the Multi Agency Referral Form  
been completed  
http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/professionals/procedures/.

Page 63



42 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Appendix C 

1 Flow chart of Actions  

Suspicions of abuse reported or identified – involving a member of 
TBC staff

Abuse / poor practice 
suspected /observed by staff 

Employee raises concerns with CP 
Officer they jointly complete the 
standard form (Appendix A) and 
forward to First Response / Adult 

Social Health team 

Is immediate harm suspected or evident?

YES
NO

Employee rings 999 and 
alerts CP Officer who 
informs First Response 
Team / Adult Social 
Health Care team 

directly CP Officer undertakes 
precautionary suspension of 
employee and sets up process for 
investigation jointly with 
Staffordshire’s Children’s Social 
Care LADO (who will determine 
whether and at what stage police 

need to be involved) 

CP Officer co-ordinates internal 
investigation and disciplinary 

procedure

NB In the absence of the CP Officer (Monitoring Officer) 
any concerns should be reported to the Deputy CP 
Officer, who is the Assistant Director, Communities, 

Planning & Partnerships Rob Mitchell on 01827 709616 

Abuse reported by third 
party to staff about another 

member of staff  

Page 64



43 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

2 Flow chart of Actions  

Suspicions of abuse reported or identified – not involving a member 
of TBC staff

Abuse suspected 
/observed by staff as 

part of their duties 

Employee raises concerns with 
Departmental Child Protection 
Officer or the Designated 
Child Protection Officer they 
jointly complete the on-line 
concerns form (Appendix A). 
The concern is then phoned 
through to First Response

Child Protection Officer opens case 
file on CRM system 

YES

Employee rings 999 and 
then alerts CP Officer who 
informs First Response 
Team directly on 0800

1313126

NO

Is harm to child/ vulnerable person immediate? 

Abuse reported by third 
party to staff as part of their 

duties

NB In the absence of the CP Officer (Monitoring Officer) any concerns 
should be reported to the Deputy CP Officer, who is the Assistant Director, 
Communities, Planning & Partnerships, Rob Mitchell on 01827 709616 or 
one of the Departmental CP Officers or directly to the First Response or 
Vulnerable Adult Protection Team 

Page 65



44 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Appendix D
Example Consent Form

All information will be treated in strict confidence

Please use block capitals and print clearly  

Event/Activity: Date:

Name of child: Date of birth: 

Home address:  

Home telephone No: Mobile telephone No: 

Medical conditions (if any) e.g. asthma, diabetes, allergies:

I confirm that my son/daughter is in good health and I give consent / do not consent for my 
son/daughter to participate in the above event/activity.  

I consent / do not consent to any emergency treatment required by my son/daughter during 
the course of the event/activity  

I give / do not give consent for my son/daughter to be photographed during the course of 
the above event/activity and I consent to the photographs being used by Tamworth 
Borough Council for bona fide promotional purposes. This also includes the use on the 
World Wide Web (internet).  

The information you provide will be used in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998, 
to ensure the safety of all participants and may be shared with other people/organisations 
involved in the delivery of the above event/activity, if appropriate. By signing this form you 
are consenting to the Council using the information, which you have supplied in the manner 
stated above.  

Name of Parent/Guardian:  

.............................................................................................................................. 

Signature:..................................................................... Date: ................................................  

Page 66



45 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Appendix E 

Consent Form for the use of Cameras and other Image 
Recorders

Event you would like 
to take photographs at  

Reason for taking photographs:  

Name of company  (if 
taking photographs in 
a professional 
capacity) 

Full name and address of person taking photographs:

Tel No: 

Mobile Tel No. 

E-mail Address 

Date of Birth …../…../…..

Relationship of the photographer and subject(s)  

Reason for taking photographs and/or uses the images are being, or are intended 
to be put to (i.e. family record/advertising etc)  

I declare that the information provided is true and correct and that images will only be used 
for the purposes stated.  
Signed.............................................................................................           
Date ...... 

Authorised by:..............................................................................  

Date:...............................................  

Position held:................................................................................  

Under the Data Protection Act 1998 the information that you have provided will be 
used only for the purposes contained within our Registration Document which is 
publicly available from Tamworth Borough Council or the Information 

Commissioners Office, www.ico.gov.uk.

Page 67



46 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Appendix F 

Photography Consent Form to be completed by parents  

I give my permission for my child’s photo to be taken and used for 
promotional purposes produced by Tamworth Borough Council only, no 
names will be used and information will be stored in conjunction with the 
Data Protection Act 1998.
The photos will only be used for promotional purposes for one year. 

Parent/Guardian (Print Name): 
………………………………………….

Parent/Guardian (Signature): 
………………………………………….

Name of Child:…………………………………………… 

Page 68



47 of 47 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy and Procedure Guide 
02 12 10 V.7 Draft 

Appendix G

Declaration  

Tamworth Borough Council is fully committed to safeguarding the 
wellbeing of children and vulnerable adults by protecting them, from 
neglect, physical, sexual, emotional and financial harm.  

Working as an employee or volunteer of Tamworth Borough Council or as 
an elected member it is important that you have taken time to thoroughly 
read this Children and Vulnerable Adult Protection Policy and Procedures.  

By being made aware of the policy it is our intention to ensure that all are 
proactive in providing a safe and secure environment for the children and 
vulnerable adults in our care.  

Declaration:

I have read and understood Tamworth Borough Council’s Children 
Protection Policy and Procedures and I accept the principles therein.  

Signed: ............................................................................

Date: ..........................

Name (Please print):

......................................................................................

Position in organisation:  

...........................................................................................

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
Equality 
Impact 

Assessment 
Toolkit

Page 71



Equality Impact Assessment Procedure  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Existing Policy/ 
Procedure/ Practice 

New Policy/ 

Procedure/ Practice 

Identify a group to carry out the EIA  
(group to consist of at least 3 

individuals) 

Individuals to  read 
and consider policy/ 
procedure/ practice 

 

Group to meet and 
carry out EIA using 

template 

Is there sufficient 
information to 

satisfactorily complete 
the EIA  

YES NO 

Complete 
Action Plan 

Identify further requirements 
eg:  

• Consultation with experts, 
individuals, groups 

• Data collection  

• Monitoring 

Carry out EIA whilst developing the 
policy, considering points 1 to 20 on 
the EIA template.  Consider seeking 

views from stakeholders 

Build in findings to the 
policy/ procedure/ 

practice and note on 
EIA template  

Consult where 
appropriate  

 

Consider questions  
21 – 24 on EIA 

template 
 

Complete 
Action Plan 

Give copy of EIA 
to corporate 
equalities  

Publish EIA  

Give copy of EIA 
to corporate 
equalities  

Publish EIA 

Review and 
Monitor  

Page 72



 

Equality Impact Assessment Template 
 

 

Name of policy/ procedure/ 
practice to be assessed 

Safeguarding Children & Vulnerable 
Adults Protection Policy 

Date of Assessment 4th August 2011 

Is this a new or existing 
policy/ procedure/ 
practice? 

Revised 
Policy  

Officer 
responsible for 
the Assessment 
 

Robert Mitchell Department  Communities, Planning & 
Partnerships 

1. Briefly describe the aims, objectives 
and purpose of the policy/ procedure/ 
practice? 
 

Tamworth Borough Council has both a legal and moral duty to protect vulnerable 
children and adults from harm. The Children’s Acts 1989 and 2004 along with the 
associated statutory guidance set out our legal responsibilities for protecting children. 
The policy provides clear definitions of what constitutes abuse and the procedure that 
staff/members should follow if they have concerns about the welfare of a child or 
vulnerable adult.  

2.  Are there any associated policy/ 
procedure/ practice which should be 
considered whilst carrying out this 
equality impact assessment? 

Information Sharing Protocol, Acceptable Use Policy   

3.  Who is intended to benefit from this 
policy/ procedure/ practice and in what 
way? 

Service users, our staff, partner agencies, stakeholders and the wider community. 
 
 

4.  What are the desired outcomes from 
this policy/ procedure/ practice? 

This Safeguarding Children & Vulnerable Adult Protection policy is an overarching 
statement of the Council’s commitment to protect those children and vulnerable adults 
who have been identified as being ‘at risk’ of harm being referred to the appropriate 
services to protect them.   
 
 

5.  What factors/ forces could contribute/ 
detract from the outcomes? 

Factors to contribute to positive outcomes is commitment to the policy from staff and 
that staff recognise and accept that abuse does take place and that they are confident 
to raise concerns about a child or vulnerable adult with the Designated Child Protection 
Officers.  
Factors that could detract are: Lack of training for staff around the policy and 

P
age 73



associated procedures. A reluctance of staff to share information about their concerns. 
A fear that they may make a wrong decision.    
 
 

6. Who are the main 
stakeholders in relation to 
the policy/ procedure/ 
practice? 
 

Staff, Councillors, SSCB 

8.  Which individuals/ groups have been/ will be 
consulted with on this policy/ procedure/ practice? 

Please explain  
Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board, Adult Social Care & Health, 
Customer Services,  
 

9. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact on racial 
groups? 
 
 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
All aspects of vulnerability are at the forefront of this policy. 

10. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact due to 
gender? 
 
 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
There are no gender specific issues. 

11. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact due to them 
being transgender or transsexual? 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
 

P
age 74



12. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact due to 
disability? 
 
 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
 

13. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact due to 
sexual orientation? 
 
 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
 

14. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact due to age? 
 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
 

15. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact due to 
religious belief? 
 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
 

16. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact on Gypsies/ 
Travellers? 
 

 
Y  

 
N 
X  

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
 

17. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact due to 
dependant/caring responsibilities? 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
 

P
age 75



18. Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have a differential impact due to them 
having an offending past? 

 
Y 

 
N 
X 

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
Depend on the type offence committed if the offence bars the individual from 
working with children or vulnerable adults  
 

19.  Are there concerns that the policy/ procedure/ 
practice could have an impact on children or 
vulnerable adults? 
 
 

 
Y  

 
N 
X  

Please explain, your reasoning, giving details of existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise).   
 
Will be a positive impact as it will support and identify specific needs.  

 
20.   Does any of the differential impact identified 

cut across the equality strands (e.g. elder BME 
groups)? 

 
 

 
 
Y 

 
 
N 
X 

Please explain 

21. Could the differential impact identified in 9 – 20 
amount to there being the potential for adverse 
impact in this policy/ procedure/ practice? 
 
 

 
 
Y 

 
 
N 
X 

Please explain 

22.  Can this adverse impact be justified:   

• on the grounds of promoting equality of 
opportunity for one group?  

• For any other reason? 

Y N Please explain for each equality heading on a separate piece of paper 
(questions 9 – 20). 

P
age 76



23.  As a result of carrying out the equality impact 
assessment is there a requirement for further 
consultation? 

 

Y 
 

N Please explain  
 

24. As a result of this EIA should this policy/ 
procedure/ practice be recommended for 
implementation in it’s current state?   

 
 
 
 

 
 
Y 
X 

 
 
N 

Please explain  

 
PLEASE COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING ACTION PLAN FOR ALL IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

P
age 77



Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan 
 
Complete the action plan demonstrating the changes required in order to meet TBC’s commitment to equality and diversity.  
The action plan must contain monitoring arrangements, the publishing of results and the review period required for this 
policy. 
 

ACTION/ ACTIVITY  RESPONSIBILITY TARGET  PROGRESS  

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

Monitoring arrangements: 
 

 Data collected 
quarterly  

 

Publication: 
 

   

Review Period: 
 

 Reviewed 12 monthly 
unless otherwise 
stated 

 

  Expand as appropriate 
 
Signed  
(Completing Officer)…………………………...   Date ………………………. 
 
Signed  
(Head of Department) ……………………………..  Date ………………………. 
 
Signed  
Corporate Diversity/ Equality ………………………  Date ……………………….  

P
age 78



 
 

CABINET 
 

31st August 2011 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Quality of Life 
 

Increase Of Disabled Facilities Grant Budget To Reflect Contributions  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Members are asked to:- 
1. Approve an increase in the Disabled Facilities Grant element of the Capital 

Programme budget by £69,000 to reflect the contribution of £50,000 
received from the Primary Care Trust and £19,000 additional grant 
allocation from Communities and Local Government. 

 
 
 
 

PURPOSE 

To seek Member approval to increase the Disabled Facility Grant budget to reflect 
contributions received. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Members Book Item 19/2010 (Appendix A) approved receipt of a £50,000 
contribution from the Primary Care Trust to fund Disabled Facility Grant works to non 
Council Housing residents in the Tamworth area. 
 
The funding has been made available by the Primary Care Trust to fund disabled 
adaptations with a view to improving the quality of life for disabled residents by 
assisting them to remain in their own home and preventing unnecessary occupation 
of hospital bed-spaces. 
 
The Primary Care Trust have been invoiced for this contribution and the funding has 
now been received. 
 
The Disabled Facilities Grant programme is currently over-subscribed so this 
additional contribution will help to alleviate some of the pressures placed on the 
budget. 
 
At the time of setting the original budgets it was anticipated that the grant allocation 
from Communities and Local Government would be £150,000 as in previous years, 
with a capital allocation of £90,000 resulting in an approved budget of £240,000. The 
actual allocation from CLG was £169,000 giving an additional £19,000 funding for the 
Disabled Facilities Grants Budget. 
 
 
 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

• The funding being provided by the Primary Care Trust comes with no onerous 
conditions with the only requirement being that it is utilised to fund Disabled 
Facilities Grants. 

 

• The Disabled Facilities Grant Budget (CA1004) will need to be increased by 
£69,000 to reflect receipt of £50,000 from the Primary Care Trust and the 
£19,000 additional allocation from the CLG. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 79



 

• There are sufficient applicants on the waiting list to take up the full £50,000 
and the £19,000. 

 

• There will be no additional costs to the council in delivering the extra works 
 

• No additional resources will be required to deliver the extra works. 
 
 
 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 

The additional works will be carried out as an extension of the current programme. 
There is a sufficient  waiting list to take up the full spend and there are no onerous 
conditions being placed on the use of this funding by the Primary Care Trust outside 
of the requirement that it be used to fund Disabled Facilities Grants. 
 
 
 
 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

Non identified – this will be an extension of an existing programme funded through grants 
provided from an external funder. 
 
 

CONCLUSIONS 

• The Council has received the £50,000 from the Primary Care Trust following 
approval through Members Book Item 19/2010. 

• The Primary Care Trust requires that the funding only be expended on 
delivery of Disabled Facilities Grants and as such the budget should be 
increased to reflect this. 

• There is an additional £19,000 of funding through the CLG grant allocation. 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION   

 
 
 

REPORT AUTHOR 

Paul Weston, Head of Asset Management 
01827 709 377 
paul-weston@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 
 
 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A [Copy of Members Book Item] 
 

Scheme of Delegation Ref 19/2010 
 

NON-CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 
 

MEMBERS BOOK 

 
 

Page 80



PORTFOLIO HOLDER QUALITY OF LIFE 

 
 

RECEIPT OF CAPITAL FUNDING FOR DISABLED ADAPTATIONS FROM THE 

PRIMARY CARE TRUST 

 
 
Recommendations 
 
It is recommended that the offer of £50,000 from the Primary Care Trust for use on 
disabled adaptation works be accepted and that the Disabled Facilities Grant budget 
be increased by £50,000 to reflect funding being provided by the Primary Care Trust. 
 

Purpose 

 
The purpose of this report is to provide information on funding being offered by the 
Primary Care Trust, to provide information on what the funding can be used for, to 
formally approve acceptance of the funding and to formally approve the increase in 
the associated budgets to make use of the funding being provided. 
 

Background 

 
The Southern Staffordshire Primary Care Trust have decided to make funding 
available to the various local authorities operating within it’s region for the purpose of 
undertaking additional disabled adaptation works. These works are designed to allow 
disabled people to remain in their homes safely, in completing these works it is 
anticipated that fewer people will require admitting to hospital which in the longer 
term will result in savings for the Primary Care Trust. 
 
The funding being allocated to Tamworth Borough Council is £50,000; this money 
has to be committed in the 2010/11 financial year; it is however acknowledged that 
the majority of work will not be completed until early in the 2011/12 financial year. 
 
The Primary Care Trust have indicated that the money is to be spent to help clear the 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) waiting list which is considerable. 
 
There are currently sufficient applicants on the waiting list to take up the full 
allocation. 
 
A report will be made to Cabinet in April to confirm the additional funding and 
expenditure. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
The Primary Care Trust are offering to fund an additional £50,000 of disabled 
adaptations. There are no onerous conditions attached to the funding providing the 
full amount is spend on Disabled Facilities Grant applicants currently on the waiting 
list and that it is committed in the 2010/11 financial year. 
 
The Disabled Facilities Grant (CA1004) budget will need to be increased by £50,000 
to reflect the additional funding being provided by the Primary Care Trust. 
 
There are sufficient applicants on the current waiting list to ensure that the time 

Page 81



related conditions are met. 
 
There will be no additional costs to the Council in delivering these works. 
 
OFFICER’S DECISION: 
 
The £50,000 funding from the Primary Care Trust should be accepted and the 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) budget should be increased by £50,000 to reflect the 
additional funding. 
 
The Council has received the £50,000 from the Primary Care Trust following 
approval through Members Book Item 19/2010. 
The Primary Care Trust requires that the funding only be expended on delivery of 
Disabled Facilities Grants and as such the budget should be increased to reflect this. 
 
 

 

Page 82



 

NAME OF COMMITTEE 

Cabinet 
 
 

DATE OF COMMITTEE 

31/8/2011 
 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER; CORPORATE DIRECTOR; ASSISTANT 

DIRECTOR; 

Report of the Portfolio Holder Economic Development and Enterprise 
 
 
 

REPORT OF THE  

 
 
 

TITLE OF REPORT 

Tamworth Core Strategy: Proposed Housing Policy Consultation Responses 
 
 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 

N/A 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Members endorse responses to the Core Strategy Housing Policy Consultation 
and approve the suggested Borough Council responses outlined in Appendix A of 
this report, along with the accompanying Sustainability Report as set out in Appendix 
B. 
 
 

PURPOSE 

For Members to consider the responses to the consultation on the Core Strategy 
Proposed Housing Polices carried out between February-April 2011 and the next 
stage in the process to deliver a sound Core Strategy. 
 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

On the basis of responses received, it has been agreed to commission a more up to 
date evidence base of housing need to support establishing tenure type and mix and 
location in the context of government’s housing, welfare and health reforms. This is 
being commissioned jointly with Lichfield DC & Cannock Chase DC. The cost of this 
work (estimated to be up to £50k) will be apportioned between the 3 authorities; on 
the basis of tenders received to date, it is unlikely that Tamworth’s costs will exceed 
£20k. TBC’s Housing Strategy Team is leading the commissioning of this work and 
the cost will be met by their budget. If it is found that there is insufficient budget to 
cover the cost of the work, there are sufficient funds within the LDF budget to cover 
any shortfall.   
 
 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 

None identified 
 
 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The Housing Policies have been subjected to a formal sustainability appraisal 
(attached as Appendix B). This ensures that sustainability issues are given full 
consideration in the preparation and adoption of refining policies. The sustainability 

Agenda Item 7

Page 83



appraisal considers all the revised housing policies, which are H1, H3, H4 and H5.  
Policy H2 was unchanged and although H6 was amended its intent remained the 
same. The policies were assessed as they were drafted for the consultation and are 
set out as Option 1 in the appraisal framework.  In addition, each policy has been 
assessed alongside one realistic alternative option (option 2).  The total scores for 
each policy show that Option 1 has scored highest in every instance, which provides 
a sound endorsement that the preferred Housing Policy approach is the most 
appropriate, in terms of delivering sustainability objectives, for Tamworth. 
 
 

CONCLUSIONS 

The consultation exercise generated a number of useful representations from stakeholders 
which will be used to justify the approach taken by the Council to housing delivery at the 
Core Strategy’s subsequent examination. Suggested objections and amendments to the 
proposed policies have been considered and, where considered appropriate, will be 
incorporated within the policies contained within the published version of the Core Strategy, 
or have resulted in further work being commissioned to provide further robust evidence to 
support policies which refer to addressing housing need and type. The Council’s suggested 
responses to the representations, including justifications for discounting representations, are  
set out in Appendix A which following Cabinet approval will be published on the Council’s 
website.  
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION   

In February this year, the Council re-drafted its housing policies from the 2009 
Proposed Spatial Strategy document and subjected them to a 6 week consultation 
period. The re-drafted policies reflected an important piece of evidence on affordable 
housing viability which enabled the setting of realistic targets for affordable housing. 
Advice obtained from Gypsy and Traveller representatives facilitated a more 
responsive policy to be drafted. 
 
The housing policies included establishing targets where appropriate and supported 
by evidence and included: 
 
H1 - Revised policy on housing delivery   
H2 - Unchanged policy for Anker Valley 
H3 - Revised policy on affordable housing  
H4 - New policy on housing need setting out targets for sizes of dwellings, including 
an approach to delivering ‘flexi care’ accommodation 
H5 - New policy on housing density  
H6 - Revised policy on Gypsy and Travelling Showpeople accommodation 
 

In total, 34 respondents, including statutory bodies, members of the community and 
adjoining local authorities submitted 134 individual representations on the policies. 
These have in turn been summarised, analysed and responses drafted. This report 
seeks approval to agree and publish the responses, along with an accompanying 
sustainability assessment of the policies.  
 
The responses suggest broad support for the strategic approach to housing delivery, 
including proposed generalised locations for potential housing growth to meet 
Tamworth’s needs in neighbouring authorities. However, further discussions are 
planned with Lichfield & North Warwickshire Councils to agree how this will be 
delivered through their respective Core Strategies. Support was received for the 
proposed targets in relation to affordable housing and housing density, accompanied 
by requests for a degree of flexibility to address site specific issues. The targets for 
dwelling sizes and numbers and flexi care accommodation received a number of 
objections on the basis of being overly prescriptive and failing to comply with 
government guidance. On this basis it has been agreed to commission a more up to 
date evidence base of housing need to support establishing tenure type and mix and 
location in the context of government’s housing, welfare and health reforms. The brief 

Page 84



for this piece of work has been agreed and is currently being distributed. It is 
anticipated that the total cost of the work will be around £50k which will be 
apportioned between the 3 authorities. The Tamworth Borough Council proportion 
will be met from the Housing Strategy budget.  
 
 
 

REPORT AUTHOR 

Jon Lord 
 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Proposed Housing Policy Consultation Responses: Summary of issues raised and  
responses 
 
 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A contains a summary of the responses received and a suggested Borough 
Council response whilst The sustainability appraisal of the housing policies is set out 
in Appendix B. 
 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

 
M
a
in
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 R
a
is
e
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

H
ig
h
w
a
ys
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 

W
e
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
 a
n
d
 w
e
lc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 c
o
n
c
e
n
tr
a
te
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

G
a
ry
 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

In
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
, 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 K
e
y
 D
ia
g
ra
m
 i
s
 v
e
ry
 m
is
le
a
d
in
g
. 
It
 

s
h
o
w
s
 a
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
 o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 p
u
rp
le
 w
h
ic
h
 I
 t
a
k
e
 t
o
 b
e
 H
S
G
4
, 
to
g
e
th
e
r 

w
it
h
 L
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 N
o
rt
h
 o
f 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 f
o
r 
a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
g
ro
w
th
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
H
2
 s
ti
ll 

re
v
e
rt
s
 b
a
c
k
 t
o
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 b
e
in
g
 u
n
c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 a
s
 P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 S
p
a
ti
a
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
, 

w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
w
s
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
g
ro
w
th
 t
o
 g
o
 e
a
s
t 
o
f 
H
S
G
4
 u
p
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

A
m
in
g
to
n
 H
a
ll 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
. 
W
h
ic
h
 m
a
p
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
rr
e
c
t 
la
n
d
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

in
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
?
 i
.e
. 
N
o
rt
h
 o
f 
H
S
G
4
 o
r 
E
a
s
t 
o
f 
H
S
G
4
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
v
e
rs
io
n
 w
ill
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
 c
le
a
r 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 o
f 

th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
 

F
o
re
s
tr
y
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

W
e
lc
o
m
e
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 e
x
p
lic
it
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 g
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 –
 t
h
e
 d
e
ta
il 
is
 l
a
c
k
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 d
o
c
 b
u
t 
m
a
yb
e
 h
e
ld
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 v
e
rs
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 l
in
k
e
d
 g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 &
 g
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

s
e
t 
th
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 

to
w
a
rd
s
 e
n
h
a
n
c
in
g
 a
n
d
/o
r 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 g
re
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
. 

P
o
le
s
w
o
rt
h
 P
a
ri
s
h
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
h
e
 l
a
n
d
 a
lo
n
g
 t
h
e
 M
4
2
 C
o
rr
id
o
r 
in
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
s
e
rv
e
d
 f
o
r 
N
o
rt
h
 

W
a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 B
C
's
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 u
s
e
d
 o
n
ly
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
a
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 c
o
re
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 l
a
n
d
. 
T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
C
's
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
t 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
, 
L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
's
 

la
n
d
 b
e
y
o
n
d
 R
a
w
le
tt
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 i
n
fi
ll 
s
it
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 i
ts
 a
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
v
e
 a
re
a
, 
w
it
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 a
c
q
u
ir
e
 l
a
n
d
 w
it
h
in
 P
o
le
s
w
o
rt
h
 o
r 
e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 o
f 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rk
s
. 
 C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 P
o
le
s
w
o
rt
h
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 v
e
h
e
m
e
n
tl
y
 o
p
p
o
s
e
d
 

to
 a
n
y
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 b
y
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
C
 t
o
 a
c
q
u
ir
e
 l
a
n
d
 a
n
y
w
h
e
re
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

o
f 
N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rk
s
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 w
it
h
 N
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
 &
 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 f
u
tu
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

n
e
e
d
. 

B
ro
o
k
e
 S
m
it
h
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

•
 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 f
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 I
n
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 4
.4
6
 o
f 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
1
2
 –
 

‘L
o
c
a
l 
S
p
a
ti
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
’ 
it
 i
s
 i
m
p
e
ra
ti
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 a
re
 f
le
x
ib
le
 t
o
 

d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
. 
T
h
is
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 w
a
s
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 W

M
R
S
S
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
e
v
is
io
n
 E
iP
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
m
a
yb
e
 u
n
v
ia
b
le
 d
u
e
 t
o
 h
e
a
v
y
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 c
o
s
ts
. 
L
ik
e
w
is
e
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 F
u
tu
re
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 S
tu
d
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 t
h
e
 s
it
e
 

a
n
d
 w
a
s
 r
a
n
k
e
d
 s
ix
th
 o
u
t 
o
f 
s
e
v
e
n
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

•
 
In
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 A
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
t 
is
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

th
a
t 
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 s
it
e
s
 i
n
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

T
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 s
it
e
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
o
 b
e
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 s
it
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
R
S
S
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
W
o
rk
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 

V
a
lle
y
 C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 t
o
 t
e
s
t 
it
s
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
T
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tu
d
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 b
o
th
 

th
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

p
la
n
. 

 T
h
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 S
H
L
A
A
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

s
it
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 w
h
ic
h
 p
re
d
o
m
in
a
n
tl
y
 f
o
c
u
s
e
s
 o
n
 

H
1
 D
o
 y
o
u
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
li
v
e
ry
?
 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 A
: 
S
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
n
d
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 

T
B
C
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

Page 87



in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 5
 y
e
a
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
je
c
to
ry
. 
F
ro
m
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 F
u
tu
re
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 S
tu
d
y
, 
it
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
h
a
t 
G
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
 s
it
e
s
 b
o
th
 w
it
h
in
 a
n
d
 a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
, 

s
u
c
h
 a
s
 t
h
e
 s
it
e
 a
t 
M
ile
 O
a
k
, 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
 

a
s
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 b
u
t 
d
o
e
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 s
o
m
e
 G
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
 s
it
e
s
. 
T
h
is
 h
a
s
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
s
u
it
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
 s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 i
t 
is
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
G
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
 s
it
e
s
 n
e
e
d
 

to
 b
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

M
o
rs
to
n
 A
s
s
e
tt
s
 

•
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
2
,9
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 2
0
0
6
-2
0
2
6
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 6
0
%
 o
f 

n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
a
n
d
. 
 W

h
ils
t 
w
e
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 a
llo
c
a
te
 G
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 (
to
 t
h
e
 n
o
rt
h
e
a
s
t 
o
f 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
) 
to
 

m
e
e
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
, 
w
e
 f
ir
m
ly
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 o
f 
B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 s
it
e
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 e
a
rl
y
 

p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 p
la
n
 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
a
n
y
 G
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

W
ill
ia
m
 D
a
v
is
 L
td
 

•
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 w
e
lc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 f
o
r 
a
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 u
rb
a
n
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
. 
 

•
 W

e
lc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 K
e
y
 D
ia
g
ra
m
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
w
h
ic
h
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
 

th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 i
n
 P
o
lic
y
 H
1
. 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 t
h
e
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 

A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 n
o
t 
c
le
a
r 
a
n
d
 c
o
n
fl
ic
ts
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 i
n
 

P
o
lic
y
 H
2
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 o
ri
g
in
a
l 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 
M
o
re
 c
la
ri
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 o
n
 w
h
a
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 

fo
r 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 t
a
k
e
n
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
A
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
a
t 
o
f 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 K
e
y
 D
ia
g
ra
m
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
, 
a
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 w
h
ic
h
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ts
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 
e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

te
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
 a
re
a
’s
 c
a
p
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
n
g
 u
p
 t
o
 1
4
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
. 
S
u
c
h
 

a
n
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 w
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
o
n
ly
 h
e
lp
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 r
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 i
n
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 b
u
t 
w
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 c
o
n
fo
rm

 w
it
h
 

th
e
 S
H
L
A
A
 a
n
d
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
tu
d
y
 w
h
ic
h
 b
o
th
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 

fu
ll 
e
x
te
n
t 
(u
p
 t
o
 1
4
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
) 
o
f 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 s
it
e
. 

•
 I
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
b
o
v
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 P
o
lic
y
 H
2
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

a
m
e
n
d
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
h
a
s
in
g
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 P
o
lic
y
 H
2
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 

a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 
e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 s
it
e
. 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
in
g
 a
n
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 u
p
 t
o
 1
4
0
0
 u
n
it
s
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 o
u
ts
e
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
la
n
 i
s
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
w
a
y
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
. 
T
h
e
 K
e
y
 D
ia
g
ra
m
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 
e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 o
u
r 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

    T
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 o
f 
A
n
k
e
r 
v
a
lle
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
ta
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
lis
e
d
 S
H
L
A
A
. 

                

Page 88



s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 a
lt
e
ra
ti
o
n
 t
o
 P
o
lic
y 
H
2
 w
o
u
ld
 c
o
n
fo
rm

 t
o
 t
h
is
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
. 

   T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
it
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
u
n
it
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 f
o
r 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
. 

B
ro
m
fo
rd
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

•
 
W
h
ils
t 
th
e
 P
la
n
 s
ta
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
fu
tu
re
 g
ro
w
th
 i
s
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 i
n
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 a
re
a
s
 

u
n
ti
l 
a
ft
e
r 
2
0
2
0
, 
th
e
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
im
e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 
a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 s
it
e
s
 o
u
ts
id
e
 

th
e
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 i
s
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
 e
a
rl
ie
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
is
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 w
ill
 

p
re
c
e
d
e
 t
h
e
 2
0
1
7
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 r
e
v
ie
w
. 
  

•
 
G
re
a
te
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 a
n
d
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
la
c
e
d
 o
n
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
s
 

ro
le
 i
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
  
 

•
 
T
h
e
 e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
b
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 s
it
e
s
 i
s
 w
e
lc
o
m
e
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
t 
a
b
o
u
t 
z
e
ro
 c
a
rb
o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 d
is
a
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 -
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

c
o
u
ld
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 m
o
re
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
v
ie
w
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
o
le
 t
h
a
t 
C
o
d
e
 f
o
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 H
o
m
e
s
 i
s
 d
e
e
m
e
d
 t
o
 p
la
y
 i
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

A
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
ri
g
g
e
re
d
 o
n
c
e
 2
9
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 w
h
ic
h
 m

a
y
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 s
it
e
s
 o
u
ts
id
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

N
o
te
d
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
w
it
h
in
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

v
e
rs
io
n
. 

 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

 W
o
rk
 i
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 o
n
 a
s
c
e
rt
a
in
in
g
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
lo
c
a
l 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
re
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 f
o
r 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
. 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 

•
 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
b
je
c
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 

D
ia
g
ra
m
 o
f 
a
ll 
th
e
 l
a
n
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

w
e
s
te
rn
 e
d
g
e
 o
f 
P
o
le
s
w
o
rt
h
 a
n
d
 D
o
rd
o
n
 a
s
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 f
u
tu
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
. 

•
 

W
it
h
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 F
u
tu
re
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 S
tu
d
y
 

fi
n
d
in
g
s
 i
t 
is
 n
o
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 w
a
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
 

m
o
s
t 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
to
 m
e
e
t 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 n
e
e
d
s
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
tr
e
s
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
fo
rm

a
lly
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 t
h
e
 s
tu
d
ie
s
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
 l
a
n
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 e
a
s
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
n
d
 

P
o
le
s
w
o
rt
h
/D
o
rd
o
n
. 
T
h
e
re
 i
s
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
lo
c
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 t
o
 m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
is
 

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
g
a
p
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 a
 m
a
jo
r 
u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 t
w
o
 r
u
ra
l 
s
e
tt
le
m
e
n
ts
. 
T
h
e
 

la
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
a
s
t 
o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
, 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

M
4
2
 (
n
o
t 
th
e
 e
n
ti
re
 r
u
ra
l 
g
a
p
 a
s
 s
h
o
w
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 d
ia
g
ra
m
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 l
a
n
d
 

n
o
rt
h
 o
f 
B
5
0
0
0
) 
s
h
o
u
ld
 o
n
ly
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
s
 a
 l
a
s
t 
re
s
o
rt
 o
p
ti
o
n
, 
a
n
d
 o
n
ly
 i
f 

a
ll 
th
e
 o
th
e
r 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
it
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 

D
is
tr
ic
t)
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
, 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 o
r 
c
a
n
n
o
t 
p
h
y
s
ic
a
lly
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 

T
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
o
u
ld
 e
x
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 i
n
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
  

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 b
o
th
 N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 a
n
d
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

fu
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

Page 89



a
n
d
 /
o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
a
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 T
h
is
 i
s
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 i
t 
is
 v
it
a
l 

th
a
t 
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 c
a
te
rs
 f
o
r 
it
s
 o
w
n
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 a
v
o
id
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
a
le
s
c
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
h
re
e
 

s
e
tt
le
m
e
n
ts
. 

M
e
re
v
a
le
 &
 B
ly
th
e
 

E
s
ta
te
s
 

•
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
C
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
. 
 

•
 

T
h
e
 P
e
n
n
in
e
 W

a
y
 s
it
e
 i
s
 t
h
e
 l
a
rg
e
s
t 
s
it
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
. 
A
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
1
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 O
ff
ic
e
rs
. 
T
h
is
 s
it
e
 i
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 i
t 
is
 i
n
 a
 h
ig
h
ly
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 p
u
b
lic
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
, 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 i
s
 c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 a
 m
ix
 

o
f 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 a
n
d
 t
e
n
u
re
s
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

 D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 o
n
 T
h
e
 P
e
n
n
in
e
 W

a
y 
s
it
e
 a
re
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 a
n
d
 w
e
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 d
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
e
a
r 
fu
tu
re
. 

B
lo
o
r 
H
o
m
e
s
 

•
 
P
le
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
 t
h
e
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
a
n
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
u
rs
e
lv
e
s
, 
a
re
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
in
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
is
 s
it
e
 i
n
 

lin
e
 w
it
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
. 
  

•
 
It
 i
s
 r
e
a
s
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
o
 s
e
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
n
 i
n
te
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 c
o
o
p
e
ra
te
 w
it
h
 a
d
jo
in
in
g
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 g
ro
w
th
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 w
it
h
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 b
o
th
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 a
n
d
 b
e
y
o
n
d
. 
T
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 c
o
o
rd
in
a
te
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 

a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 b
ro
a
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
 c
le
a
rl
y
 a
 v
e
ry
 s
e
n
s
ib
le
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
 

H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 w
e
 a
re
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 a
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

b
ro
a
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 a
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 

W
e
 d
o
 n
o
t 
b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
d
v
ic
e
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 

4
.4
6
 o
f 
P
P
S
1
2
 w
h
ic
h
 c
a
u
ti
o
n
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
u
s
in
g
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
o
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 m
a
tt
e
rs
 t
h
a
t 

c
a
n
 b
e
 f
o
re
s
e
e
n
. 

•
 
A
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 H
2
, 
w
e
 n
o
te
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 n
o
t 
in
te
n
d
in
g
 a
n
y
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
is
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 a
s
 m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 w
e
 c
a
n
 c
o
n
fi
rm

 o
u
r 
o
n
g
o
in
g
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
is
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 n
o
te
d
. 

     C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 b
o
th
 N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 a
n
d
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

fu
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 i
n
 a
ll 
3
 L
P
A
’s
 r
e
s
p
e
c
ti
v
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
. 

J
o
in
t 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

U
n
it
 

•
 
W
e
lc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
 e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 m

ix
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 

to
 e
n
a
b
le
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 t
o
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
 f
u
lly
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
c
k
lin
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 i
s
 c
le
a
rl
y
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 g
o
o
d
 d
e
s
ig
n
 

w
h
ic
h
 y
o
u
 c
le
a
rl
y
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 b
u
t 
it
 m
ig
h
t 
b
e
 w
o
rt
h
 p
u
lli
n
g
 o
u
t 
k
e
y 
d
e
s
ig
n
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
th
is
 p
o
in
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
a
ls
o
 t
o
 r
e
in
fo
rc
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
in
t.
  

•
 
P
le
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
 c
le
a
r 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 u
n
it
s
 f
o
r 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
liv
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
c
lie
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
 a
s
 t
h
is
 i
s
 a
 k
e
y 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
u
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 v
e
rs
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 l
in
k
e
d
 d
e
s
ig
n
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 s
e
t 
th
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 

n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 c
o
n
fo
rm

 t
o
 h
ig
h
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 o
f 
d
e
s
ig
n
. 

   S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
 

K
e
n
 F
o
re
s
t 

Y
e
s
 -
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
e
re
 a
re
 d
e
ta
ils
 a
n
d
 a
s
p
e
c
ts
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
rt
s
, 
d
ia
g
ra
m
s
 a
n
d
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 a
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
ra
je
c
to
ry
 

Page 90



e
x
p
la
n
a
to
ry
 t
e
x
t 
th
a
t 
w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 (
d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 i
s
 s
u
p
p
lie
d
) 

w
h
ic
h
 t
a
k
e
s
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
u
ild
 r
a
te
s
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 

e
m
e
rg
in
g
 S
H
L
A
A
, 
th
is
 m
a
y
 b
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
. 

 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 n
o
te
d
, 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
n
 i
n
te
ra
c
ti
v
e
 P
D
F
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 S
H
L
A
A
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
 s
it
e
 i
s
 

‘d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
’,
 ‘
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
’ 
o
r 
‘n
o
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
’ 
in
 

a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
, 
th
is
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 m
a
k
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
T
h
e
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
it
s
e
lf
 m
a
y 
a
ls
o
 f
e
a
tu
re
 a
 d
ia
g
ra
m
 r
e
fl
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 t
ra
je
c
to
ry
 

o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
n
 a
 s
it
e
 b
y
 s
it
e
 b
a
s
is
. 

 T
h
e
 w
o
rd
in
g
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 n
o
te
d
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

w
h
e
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
. 

T
B
C
/S
S
P
C
T
 

•
 
T
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
s
 a
g
re
e
a
b
le
 a
s
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
e
s
 a
re
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
g
e
s
te
d
 i
n
to
 o
n
e
 a
re
a
 o
f 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 w
h
ic
h
 m
a
y 
le
a
d
 t
o
 a
 ‘
g
h
e
tt
o
’ 
s
e
t 
u
p
. 
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
o
r 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 o
th
e
rs
 m
a
y 
n
o
t 
w
a
rr
a
n
t 
a
 n
e
w
 G
P
/D
e
n
ta
l 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 i
t 
m
u
s
t 
b
e
 s
tr
e
s
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a
 b
ra
n
c
h
 

s
u
rg
e
ry
/h
e
a
lt
h
 c
e
n
tr
e
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
f 
th
e
 f
u
tu
re
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
re
 o
f 
m
ix
e
d
 a
g
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 o
r 
th
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 p
u
b
lic
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 m
a
s
te
rp
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 f
o
r 
a
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 f
a
c
ili
ty
; 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 a
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

•
 
B
ro
a
d
ly
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
. 
T
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 

W
a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
c
ro
s
s
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
It
 i
s
 

re
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 l
a
te
s
t 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
s
, 
p
re
p
a
re
d
 b
y
 S
ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 2
0
0
8
 –
 2
0
3
3
, 
in
d
ic
a
te
 a
 s
c
a
le
 o
f 
g
ro
w
th
 w
h
ic
h
 

e
x
c
e
e
d
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
 a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 s
it
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 

y
o
u
r 
S
H
L
A
A
. 
It
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 n
o
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 m
o
s
t 
u
p
-t
o
-d
a
te
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
d
e
e
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 f
o
r 
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
, 

a
re
 t
re
n
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
o
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 o
f 
p
o
lic
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 o
r 
th
e
 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim

a
te
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 h
e
a
d
lin
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 a
ls
o
 d
o
 n
o
t 
h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
th
e
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 

m
ig
ra
ti
o
n
 p
a
tt
e
rn
s
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 h
is
to
ri
c
a
lly
 a
n
d
 a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 o
c
c
u
r 
in
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu
re
. 
M
ig
ra
ti
o
n
 d
a
ta
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 2
0
0
4
-2
0
0
9
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
in
-m

ig
ra
ti
o
n
 i
n
to
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
fr
o
m
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 –
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 a
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
’s
 n
e
e
d
 i
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 a
s
s
u
m
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 b
o
th
 N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 a
n
d
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

fu
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

Page 91



C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
8
,8
9
2
 f
o
r 
L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
2
0
0
8
-

2
0
2
8
. 
 

•
 
It
 i
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
u
ts
id
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
’s
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
T
h
is
 d
a
te
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 

W
a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
o
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 a
re
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
. 
It
 

is
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 s
h
o
u
ld
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 n
o
 e
a
rl
ie
r 
th
a
n
 2
0
1
7
. 

•
 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 K
e
y
 d
ia
g
ra
m
: 
W
h
ils
t 
it
 i
s
 a
p
p
re
c
ia
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
s
 d
ia
g
ra
m
m
a
ti
c
, 
it
 i
s
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 W

ig
g
in
to
n
 a
n
d
 B
o
n
e
h
ill
 

N
e
tw
o
rk
 R
a
il 

•
 
In
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 R
a
il 
a
re
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

g
ra
n
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
/a
ir
 r
ig
h
ts
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 r
a
ilw

a
y
 l
in
e
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

T
e
rm

s
, 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 R
a
il’
s
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
a
n
d
 r
e
g
u
la
to
ry
 a
p
p
ro
v
a
ls
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 B
A
P
A
 a
n
d
 T
ri
p
a
rt
it
e
 W

o
rk
s
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

b
ri
d
g
e
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
ls
o
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 a
 p
a
rk
 a
n
d
 r
id
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
o
rt
h
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

s
ta
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 l
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 a
t 
o
u
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
lk
e
d
 a
b
o
u
t 

c
re
a
ti
n
g
 a
 l
in
k
/s
e
c
o
n
d
 e
n
tr
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ti
o
n
. 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 R
a
il 
h
a
v
e
 a
d
v
is
e
d
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 s
u
c
h
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
t 
c
o
u
ld
 c
re
a
te
 r
e
v
e
n
u
e
 

p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 f
o
r 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 M
id
la
n
d
. 

 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 

      D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
ta
ti
o
n
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
. 

T
e
tl
o
w
 K
in
g
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 W

M
 

H
a
rp
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 

•
 
W
h
ils
t 
w
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 s
e
tt
in
g
 o
f 
a
n
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
s
 a
 m
in
im
u
m
, 
w
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
th
e
 s
e
tt
in
g
 o
f 
a
 6
0
%
 t
a
rg
e
t 
to
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 b
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 

m
a
y
 b
e
 o
v
e
rl
y
 a
m
b
it
io
u
s
, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
in
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
h
ic
h
 s
ta
te
s
 “
B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
/t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 s
it
e
s
 s
u
ff
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 w
o
rs
t 

a
n
d
 p
ro
v
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g
 t
o
 b
ri
n
g
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
c
lim

a
te
 

..
.”
 W

e
 s
tr
o
n
g
ly
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
d
o
p
t 
a
 m

o
re
 f
le
x
ib
le
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

to
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
n
 b
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
, 
ta
k
in
g
 i
n
to
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 i
n
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
. 

 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 i
n
te
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 j
o
in
tl
y
 w
it
h
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 d
is
tr
ic
ts
 t
o
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
W
h
ils
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
C
 s
e
e
k
s
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
it
s
 l
im
it
e
d
 s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
la
n
d
, 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 

in
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
th
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 S
H
L
A
A
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t’
s
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
. 

Page 92



e
n
s
u
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
. 
W
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 a
 r
e
w
o
rd
in
g
 o
f 

th
e
 f
o
u
rt
h
 p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 t
o
 r
e
a
d
: 
“t
h
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 b
y
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
 m
ix
 o
f 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 r
ig
h
t 
s
iz
e
, 
ty
p
e
, 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 t
e
n
u
re
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 

a
s
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
d
 b
y
 a
n
 u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 S
H
M
A
”.
T
h
is
 p
o
lic
y
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
n
 b
e
 l
in
k
e
d
 i
n
 w
it
h
 P
o
lic
y
 H
4
 –
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 

S
p
o
rt
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 

In
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
  
a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 b
u
t 
h
a
v
e
 s
o
m
e
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 b
ro
a
d
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 g
ro
w
th
: 

 •
 
N
o
rt
h
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 (
L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t)
 –
 t
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 K
e
y
 D
ia
g
ra
m
 o
n
 P
a
g
e
 5
 

a
p
p
e
a
rs
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 l
a
n
d
 n
o
w
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
d
 b
y
 S
C
C
 a
n
d
 w
it
h
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

p
e
rm

is
s
io
n
 f
o
r 
a
 p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 a
t 
R
a
w
le
tt
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
(d
e
liv
e
re
d
 a
s
 

c
o
m
p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
 l
o
s
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 t
w
o
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
c
a
d
e
m
y’
s
).
  
T
h
is
 

la
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 E
X
C
L
U
D
E
D
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 U
rb
a
n
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 a
re
a
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 t
h
a
t 
it
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 a
s
 p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
s
 i
t 
w
a
s
 

s
o
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 s
e
c
u
re
 r
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
 i
n
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
p
la
c
e
 

a
n
d
 t
h
is
 s
it
e
 n
o
w
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
s
 a
 s
p
o
rt
s
 c
o
lle
g
e
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 P
la
y
in
g
 P
it
c
h
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
is
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
is
 n
o
w
 j
u
s
t 
o
u
t 

o
f 
d
a
te
 a
n
d
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
 r
e
fr
e
s
h
).
 

 

•
 
E
a
s
t 
o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 (
N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
) 
- 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 K
e
y
 D
ia
g
ra
m
 o
n
 P
a
g
e
 

5
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 s
e
v
e
ra
l 
s
it
e
s
 o
f 
im
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 s
p
o
rt
: 
  

 
a
. 

P
o
le
s
w
o
rt
h
 S
p
o
rt
s
 G
ro
u
n
d
 –
 a
 c
ri
c
k
e
t 
p
it
c
h
 w
it
h
 a
rt
if
ic
ia
l 
w
ic
k
e
t 

a
n
d
 o
u
td
o
o
r 
n
e
ts
 a
n
d
 f
o
o
tb
a
ll 
p
it
c
h
 

b
. 

B
ir
c
h
o
v
e
r 
F
o
o
tb
a
ll 
p
it
c
h
 

c
. 

P
o
le
w
o
rt
h
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
P
la
y
in
g
 F
ie
ld
s
 –
 7
- 
9
 f
o
o
tb
a
ll/
ru
g
b
y
 p
it
c
h
e
s
, 
a
n
 

a
th
le
ti
c
s
 t
ra
c
k
 a
n
d
 c
ri
c
k
e
t 
p
it
c
h
 

d
. 

G
o
o
d
e
re
 D
ri
v
e
 P
it
c
h
e
s
 –
  
4
 p
it
c
h
e
s
 

e
. 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 K
a
rt
in
g
 R
a
c
e
 T
ra
c
k
 

 
A
ll 
th
e
s
e
 s
it
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 E
X
C
L
U
D
E
D
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 t
h
a
t 
it
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 o
p
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 i
n
 P
P
G
1
7
 i
n
 

g
e
n
e
ra
l 
a
n
d
 p
a
r.
 1
5
 i
n
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
w
h
e
re
 p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
s
 a
re
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
. 
  

 

•
 
P
e
n
n
in
e
 W

a
y 
–
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 s
e
v
e
ra
l 
p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
/s
p
o
rt
s
 s
it
e
s
 a
lo
n
g
 P
e
n
n
in
e
 W

a
y 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 b
o
th
 N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 a
n
d
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

fu
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
. 
U
n
ti
l 
th
e
s
e
 a
re
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 t
h
e
 b
ro
a
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fu
tu
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 c
a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
. 
 

                           

Page 93



(e
.g
. 
T
h
re
e
 P
e
a
k
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l)
 a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 n
o
t 
c
le
a
r 
w
h
e
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
. 
 C
le
a
rl
y
 n
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
 o
r 

s
p
o
rt
s
 l
a
n
d
 a
s
 t
h
is
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 o
p
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 P
P
G
1
7
, 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 S
p
o
rt
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
C
S
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 t
o
 p
ro
te
c
t 
s
u
c
h
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
. 

 

•
 
S
to
rm

k
in
g
 S
it
e
 –
 a
s
s
u
m
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
s
 t
h
e
 r
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
S
to
rm

k
in
g
 P
la
s
ti
c
s
 

s
it
e
 i
t 
lo
o
k
s
 l
ik
e
 i
t 
d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
 d
ir
e
c
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 s
p
o
rt
s
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 

th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 g
o
lf
 c
o
u
rs
e
 i
m
m
e
d
ia
te
ly
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
a
s
t 
w
h
ic
h
 w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

p
ro
te
c
te
d
 f
ro
m
 a
n
y
 i
n
d
ir
e
c
t 
im
p
a
c
ts
. 
 

 W
h
e
re
 t
h
e
s
e
 s
it
e
s
 f
a
ll 
o
n
 t
h
e
 e
d
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
 (
a
ll 
b
u
t 
B
ir
c
h
o
v
e
r 
F
o
o
tb
a
ll 

P
it
c
h
) 
th
e
s
e
 a
re
a
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 e
x
c
lu
d
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 m
a
p
, 
o
th
e
rw
is
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
e
x
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 m
a
k
e
 i
t 
V
E
R
Y
 C
L
E
A
R
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
s
 a
n
d
 s
p
o
rt
s
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 i
n
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 a
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 b
u
ff
e
r 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

a
m
e
n
it
y
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 s
it
e
s
 f
o
r 
s
p
o
rt
 (
n
o
is
e
, 
b
a
ll 
d
a
m
a
g
e
 

e
tc
.)
. 
  

 

        T
h
e
 P
e
n
n
in
e
 W

a
y
 s
it
e
 r
e
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
ta
in
 e
it
h
e
r 
p
la
y
in
g
 

fi
e
ld
s
 o
r 
s
p
o
rt
s
 l
a
n
d
. 

      C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
p
p
ic
a
n
ts
. 

    C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 

 

C
P
R
E
 

C
P
R
E
 n
o
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
0
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 t
h
e
 n
o
m
in
a
l 
tr
a
je
c
to
ry
 

to
w
a
rd
 t
h
e
 W

M
R
S
S
 p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 o
p
ti
o
n
, 
a
s
 d
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
te
d
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 u
p
 t
o
 

2
0
1
3
-1
4
 (
F
ig
 p
4
).
  
T
h
is
 a
llo
w
s
 t
h
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
 r
a
te
 t
o
 f
a
ll 
b
a
c
k
 t
o
 a
b
o
u
t 
7
5
 p
e
r 

a
n
n
u
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
1
2
 y
e
a
rs
, 
a
 t
o
ta
l 
o
f 
a
b
o
u
t 
9
0
0
-1
0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
s
. 
 T
h
is
 

s
e
e
m
s
 t
o
 a
c
c
o
rd
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 9
0
0
 u
n
it
s
 i
n
 p
a
ra
 3
, 
p
6
 o
f 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 

 C
P
R
E
 c
a
n
n
o
t 
a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 “
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
” 
p
u
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 i
n
 p
a
ra
 4
, 
p
6
; 

fi
rs
tl
y
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 2
0
%
 i
s
 a
n
 e
x
c
e
s
s
iv
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 t
o
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
, 
a
n
d
 s
e
c
o
n
d
ly
 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 i
s
 a
p
p
lie
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 W

M
R
S
S
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
w
h
e
re
a
s
 a
t 

le
a
s
t 
5
0
%
 o
f 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
fi
g
u
re
 h
a
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 b
e
e
n
 b
u
ilt
 o
r 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 b
y
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
e
rm

is
s
io
n
s
 o
r 
a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 u
p
 t
o
 2
0
1
3
-1
4
. 

 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
it
 i
s
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

d
u
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
la
n
 p
e
ri
o
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
rm

o
re
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 w
e
 h
a
v
e
 o
n
ly
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 o
n
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 ‘
g
re
e
n
 f
ie
ld
’ 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
it
e
 a
t 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 

th
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
s
m
a
lle
r 
s
it
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 u
rb
a
n
 

a
re
a
. 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 w
ill
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
s
 a
 

re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
it
s
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a
n
d
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ie
s
 o
f 
s
c
a
le
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

b
e
n
e
fi
t 
th
o
s
e
 l
iv
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 s
it
e
 a
n
d
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 m
a
y
 n
o
t 
b
e
 a
c
c
ru
e
d
 f
ro
m
 s
m
a
lle
r 
s
it
e
s
. 
It
 i
s
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
to
 

re
ta
in
 t
h
is
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 a
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 m
a
y 
e
x
is
t 
in
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 o
f 

s
o
m
e
 s
m
a
lle
r 
s
it
e
s
. 

  

Page 94



A
d
d
it
io
n
a
lly
 i
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
L
P
A
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 S
ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
s
p
it
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 L
a
n
d
 A
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
in
g
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
, 
a
 v
e
ry
 

s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
m
e
s
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 a
s
 “
w
in
d
fa
lls
”,
 m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 

to
 a
b
s
o
rb
 t
h
e
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
. 
T
h
is
 p
h
e
n
o
m
e
n
o
n
 i
s
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 t
o
 a
 l
a
rg
e
 

d
e
g
re
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 o
n
 p
6
. 
 T
h
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
n
o
m
in
a
l 
6
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 m
u
s
t 

th
e
re
fo
re
 b
e
 d
is
c
o
u
n
te
d
, 
o
r 
a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
ff
s
e
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
4
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
s
 a
t 

F
a
z
e
le
y
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 b
y
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 o
r 
o
th
e
r 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
“b
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
” 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
. 

 C
P
R
E
’s
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
m
p
ila
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t,
 i
s
 m
o
ti
v
a
te
d
 b
y
 o
u
r 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
a
b
le
 w
is
h
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
te
c
t 

th
e
 c
o
u
n
tr
y
s
id
e
 a
n
d
 G
re
e
n
 B
e
lt
 f
o
r 
it
s
 o
w
n
 s
a
k
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

re
s
id
e
n
ts
. 
 A
ls
o
 n
o
w
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 a
 r
e
n
e
w
e
d
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
ta
in
 t
o
 t
h
e
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 e
x
te
n
t 
o
u
r 
fi
n
it
e
 f
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 f
u
e
l-
p
ro
d
u
c
in
g
 f
a
rm

in
g
 l
a
n
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 

e
m
e
rg
in
g
 g
lo
b
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 s
e
t 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
e
x
p
a
n
d
in
g
 w
o
rl
d
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
s
. 

 C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 w
e
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 d
e
e
p
ly
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 

b
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 s
it
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
tr
a
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o
n
to
 

g
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
s
. 
 W

e
 r
e
g
a
rd
 w
it
h
 s
o
m
e
 d
is
m
a
y
 t
h
e
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

e
v
e
n
 “
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
” 
b
e
in
g
 o
n
ly
 6
0
%
 l
o
c
a
te
d
 o
n
 b
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 e
x
c
e
lle
n
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
8
0
%
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
a
ft
e
r 

p
re
d
o
m
in
a
n
tl
y
 e
x
te
n
d
in
g
 o
n
to
 g
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
 s
it
e
s
. 

 W
e
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 u
rg
e
 t
h
e
 u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
b
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 s
it
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 g
re
a
te
s
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 

d
e
g
re
e
 a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 g
re
a
te
s
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 (
s
e
e
 l
a
te
r 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 o
n
 

d
e
n
s
it
y
) 
th
e
re
b
y
 d
e
fe
rr
in
g
 t
h
e
 l
a
te
r,
 g
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
, 
p
la
n
 s
ta
g
e
s
. 

 It
 i
s
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
n
o
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
1
1
0
0
-1
4
0
0
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
te
rm

. 
 C
e
rt
a
in
ly
 o
n
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 o
f 
th
is
 r
e
p
o
rt
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 U
K
’s
 

s
tr
a
it
e
n
e
d
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
, 
C
P
R
E
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 t
h
a
t 
e
v
e
n
 

th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
c
o
u
ld
 a
w
a
it
 t
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
te
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 2
0
1
7
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
o
u
tw
a
rd
 e
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
to
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 

D
is
tr
ic
t 
a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 c
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
e
v
e
n
 

to
 t
h
a
t.
 

W
h
ils
t 
w
in
d
fa
lls
 m
a
k
e
 u
p
 a
n
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
it
 i
s
 s
ti
ll 
n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 

d
is
c
o
u
n
t 
fu
tu
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
 

                                 

Page 95



     D
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
e
d
 n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 

m
a
in
ta
in
in
g
 a
 b
a
la
n
c
e
d
 s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
la
n
d
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
ym

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
a
 6
0
%
 t
a
rg
e
t 
fo
r 
B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 t
h
e
 

m
o
s
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 
  
 

E
n
g
lis
h
 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

W
e
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
-d
ra
ft
e
d
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
t 
th
is
 

s
ta
g
e
. 
O
u
r 
p
o
s
it
io
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 u
rb
a
n
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 a
s
 

o
u
tl
in
e
d
 i
n
 o
u
r 
fo
rm

a
l 
re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 S
p
a
ti
a
l 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 s
u
b
m
it
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 

e
x
is
t 
a
t 
p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t.
  

E
la
n
o
r 
P
a
tr
ic
k
 

I 
w
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 l
ik
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
 g
re
a
te
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
y
s
te
m
 i
n
 a
n
d
 a
ro
u
n
d
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 T
o
w
n
s
, 
p
ri
o
r 
to
 

a
n
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
ta
k
in
g
 p
la
c
e
. 
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t,
 w
e
 a
ll 
k
n
o
w
 t
h
a
t 

u
n
s
y
s
te
m
a
ti
c
 c
h
a
o
s
 c
a
n
 a
n
d
 d
o
e
s
 o
c
c
u
r 
w
it
h
 a
n
y
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
n
e
w
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
  

A
c
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 i
s
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
to
 a
n
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 t
h
e
y
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

b
e
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

T
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
’s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 a
n
 

In
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 D
e
liv
e
ry
 P
la
n
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
, 
to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ie
 C
C
 

In
it
ia
l 
H
a
b
it
a
t 
R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
 h
a
s
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 m
a
y 
b
e
 a
n
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 C
a
n
n
o
c
k
 C
h
a
s
e
 S
p
e
c
ia
l 
A
re
a
 o
f 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 (
S
A
C
) 
d
u
e
 t
o
 

in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 v
is
it
o
r 
n
u
m
b
e
rs
. 
 W

h
ils
t 
a
 Z
o
n
e
 o
f 
In
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 (
F
o
o
tp
ri
n
t 
E
c
o
lo
g
y
 2
0
0
9
),
 i
t 
is
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

o
u
t-
o
f-
d
a
te
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
o
m
p
le
te
 d
a
ta
. 
 S
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
is
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 r
e
m
e
d
y
 

th
is
 a
n
d
 t
o
 a
llo
w
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

re
la
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 S
A
C
 a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t.
  
T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
1
. 
 I
n
 t
h
e
 m
e
a
n
ti
m
e
, 
it
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 

s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 m
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
, 
s
u
c
h
 

a
s
 S
u
it
a
b
le
 A
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 N
a
tu
ra
l 
G
re
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 (
S
A
N
G
S
) 
a
n
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
. 

 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 e
x
a
c
t 
e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 z
o
n
e
 o
f 
in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 i
s
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
 a
n
d
 w
e
 a
w
a
it
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

m
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
. 

J
V
H
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 

W
a
lt
o
n
 H
o
m
e
s
 

W
e
 d
is
a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
, 
th
is
 i
s
 f
u
n
d
a
m
e
n
ta
lly
 f
la
w
e
d
 

in
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
w
a
y
s
. 
F
ir
s
tl
y
, 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 r
e
lia
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
, 
th
is
 i
s
 n
o
t 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
 d
u
e
 t
o
 i
ts
 h
u
g
e
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 c
o
s
ts
. 
T
h
is
 v
ie
w
 i
s
 

T
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 s
it
e
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
o
 b
e
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 s
it
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
R
S
S
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
W
o
rk
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 

Page 96



s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 F
u
tu
re
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 S
tu
d
y
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
s
t 
to
 b
e
 

in
 t
h
e
 r
e
g
io
n
 £
3
3
,9
6
9
 p
e
r 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
, 
w
h
ic
h
 f
o
r 
9
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 e
q
u
a
te
s
 t
o
 £
3
0
 

m
ill
io
n
 p
o
u
n
d
s
. 
T
h
is
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
is
 e
x
c
lu
s
iv
e
 o
f 
a
n
y
 r
a
n
s
o
m
s
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 r
a
ilw

a
y
s
, 

w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 s
e
e
 t
h
is
 r
is
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r.
 I
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 h
a
s
 f
a
ile
d
 t
o
 e
v
e
n
 b
e
 

s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
e
s
t 
la
n
d
 v
a
lu
e
s
 e
v
e
r 
k
n
o
w
n
, 
it
 i
s
 n
o
t 
th
e
re
fo
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 

g
o
in
g
 t
o
 c
o
m
e
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 n
o
w
 w
it
h
 a
 £
3
0
m
 p
lu
s
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 b
ill
. 
In
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
h
e
 

la
n
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 l
in
k
 a
t 
W
h
it
le
y
 A
v
e
n
u
e
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
a
 

re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
ts
 o
w
n
 r
ig
h
t 
a
n
d
 i
s
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 u
n
a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 
T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
is
 l
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
a
ilw

a
y
 l
in
e
s
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 s
e
e
s
 t
h
is
 l
a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 a
n
 

Is
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 n
o
t 
a
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
p
ti
o
n
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
rm

o
re
 t
h
e
 s
it
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 i
n
 a
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
y
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
r 

o
th
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
v
ia
b
ili
ty
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 a
b
o
v
e
. 

T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
s
 

n
o
w
 o
u
t 
o
f 
s
te
p
 w
it
h
 m
o
d
e
rn
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
d
a
m
e
n
ta
l 
a
im
s
 o
f 

d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
 i
n
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 v
ia
b
le
 s
it
e
s
. 

 C
o
n
c
e
rn
 i
s
 r
a
is
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
lia
n
c
e
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
P
D
L
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

le
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
it
e
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 v
ia
b
le
 t
o
 t
h
e
 m
a
rk
e
t.
 O
u
r 
e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 

in
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
t 
a
n
 a
b
u
n
d
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
v
ia
b
le
 s
it
e
s
 h
e
re
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 t
h
is
 

s
o
u
rc
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 d
e
p
e
n
d
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
. 

 T
h
e
 o
th
e
r 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
ro
a
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
g
ro
w
th
 a
re
 o
u
ts
id
e
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 u
n
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 h
e
a
v
ily
 d
e
p
e
n
d
a
n
t 
u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 p
ri
v
a
te
 c
a
r 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 

re
s
id
e
n
ts
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
lo
ym

e
n
t.
 N
o
is
e
 v
ib
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
ir
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 i
s
s
u
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
to
 g
ro
w
th
 a
lo
n
g
 t
h
e
 M
4
2
 

w
h
ic
h
 w
o
u
ld
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
b
ly
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 a
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
. 
A
n
 

a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
s
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
It
 i
s
 

a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
s
o
m
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 c
o
u
ld
 r
e
m
a
in
 a
 v
ia
b
le
 

o
p
ti
o
n
, 
b
u
t 
th
is
 w
o
u
ld
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 a
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
e
rv
e
d
 o
ff
 t
h
e
 A
s
h
b
y
 R
o
a
d
. 
C
le
a
rl
y
 t
h
is
 l
im
it
s
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 h
e
re
 a
n
d
 s
e
e
s
 v
ia
b
le
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
. 

V
a
lle
y
 C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 t
o
 t
e
s
t 
it
s
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
T
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tu
d
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 b
o
th
 

th
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

p
la
n
. 

 T
o
 d
a
te
, 
n
o
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 l
a
n
d
 a
t 
W
h
it
le
y
 A
v
e
n
u
e
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
. 

               C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
it
 i
s
 s
ti
ll 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
n
o
tw
it
h
s
ta
n
d
in
g
 

A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
, 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
a
in
 o
n
 P
D
L
 a
s
 t
h
is
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ts
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 l
im
it
e
d
 

s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
la
n
d
. 

        C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 b
o
th
 N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 a
n
d
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

Page 97



S
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
s
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
t 
F
a
z
e
le
y
 a
n
d
 M
ile
 O
a
k
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
e
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 h
a
s
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 s
it
e
s
, 

w
h
ic
h
 c
a
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
lb
e
it
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
th
is
 l
a
n
d
 

b
e
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
. 

 It
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
a
t 
th
e
 a
re
a
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 g
re
a
te
s
t 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 g
ro
w
th
 

a
n
d
 

m
a
k
e
 u
p
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
h
o
rt
fa
lls
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 W

e
s
t 
o
f 
D
o
s
th
ill
. 
T
h
is
 l
a
n
d
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
n
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 a
 b
ro
a
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
g
ro
w
th
. 
T
h
is
 a
re
a
 i
s
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
tt
ra
c
ti
v
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 m
a
rk
e
t 
o
n
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 g
ro
u
n
d
s
 a
s
 i
t 
is
 n
o
t 
s
u
b
je
c
t 

to
 h
u
g
e
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 c
o
s
ts
 a
n
d
 h
a
s
 r
e
a
l 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 c
ri
te
ri
a
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
x
im
it
y
 o
f 

th
is
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 W

iln
e
c
o
te
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 o
ff
e
rs
 a
 r
e
a
l 
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 t
o
 p
ri
v
a
te
 c
a
r 
u
s
e
 a
n
d
 

m
a
k
e
s
 t
h
is
 a
 v
ia
b
le
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
 f
a
ilu
re
 o
f 
th
is
 a
re
a
 t
o
 b
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

a
 f
u
n
d
a
m
e
n
ta
l 
fl
a
w
 t
o
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
s
o
u
n
d
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
c
c
o
rd
in
g
ly
 i
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
o
 a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
to
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
P
D
L
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 u
rb
a
n
 

a
re
a
. 

fu
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

            W
h
ils
t 
is
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
W
iln
e
c
o
te
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 d
e
liv
e
rs
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
, 
it
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
’s
 p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 p
ro
x
im
it
y
 t
o
 

th
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 d
e
liv
e
rs
 g
re
a
te
r 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
o
rd
s
 

w
it
h
 p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
. 

T
u
rl
e
y
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
s
 

fo
r 
H
id
g
e
tt
s
 E
s
ta
te
s
 

T
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 ‘
b
ro
a
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
’ 
fo
r 
fu
tu
re
 g
ro
w
th
 i
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
. 
In
 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r,
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
 t
h
a
t 
la
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 W

e
s
t 
o
f 
th
e
 M
4
2
 i
s
 m
o
s
t 
s
u
it
a
b
le
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 (
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
is
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
‘f
u
tu
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t’
);
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
is
 l
a
n
d
, 
im
m
e
d
ia
te
ly
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
o
rt
h
 o
f 

th
e
 A
5
, 
h
a
s
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
 r
e
v
ie
w
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 

a
n
d
 n
o
t 
fo
u
n
d
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
y
 i
n
s
u
rm

o
u
n
ta
b
le
 c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
ts
. 
M
o
re
 r
e
c
e
n
tl
y
 (
F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
) 
p
a
rt
 w
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 a
 s
it
e
 w
it
h
 ‘
fu
tu
re
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l’ 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 N
o
rt
h
 

W
a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 L
a
n
d
 A
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 S
H
L
A
A
 s
it
e
 

N
W
A
R
1
8
7
, 
to
 t
h
e
 w
e
s
t 
o
f 
D
o
rd
o
n
, 
w
a
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 f
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 

o
f 
it
s
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 a
s
 n
o
 i
n
s
u
rm

o
u
n
ta
b
le
 c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
ts
 h
a
v
e
 a
g
a
in
 b
e
e
n
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
A
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 s
it
e
 a
re
a
 o
f 
a
b
o
u
t 
1
5
h
a
 w
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 S
H
L
A
A
, 

w
h
ic
h
 c
o
u
ld
 y
ie
ld
 a
b
o
u
t 
4
5
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
. 
H
o
d
g
e
tt
s
 E
s
ta
te
s
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
is
 l
a
n
d
 

to
 t
h
e
 w
e
s
t 
o
f 
D
o
rd
o
n
 (
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 ‘
b
ro
a
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
’ 
fo
r 
fu
tu
re
 g
ro
w
th
) 
a
n
d
 w
o
u
ld
 i
n
 

p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 b
e
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 t
o
 

b
ri
n
g
 t
h
is
 l
a
n
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 f
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

 In
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
, 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
u
ilt
 i
n
to
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 b
o
th
 N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 a
n
d
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

fu
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

              

Page 98



th
e
 D
P
D
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t,
 i
f 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
th
is
 l
a
n
d
 c
o
u
ld
 c
o
m
e
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 i
n
 a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 o
f 

2
0
2
0
, 
if
 (
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
) 
th
e
re
 a
re
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 w
it
h
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
/d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 w
it
h
 

e
it
h
e
r 
s
it
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
 o
r 
a
t 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
. 

 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 t
a
rg
e
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 ‘
a
t 
le
a
s
t’
 

1
4
5
 d
p
a
, 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
is
 

n
o
t 
u
n
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly
 r
e
s
tr
ic
te
d
. 

         T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
a
l 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 s
u
p
p
ly
 a
n
d
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m
a
rk
e
t 
tr
e
n
d
s
 w
h
ic
h
 

w
ill
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 a
t 
a
n
y
 s
ta
g
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

d
u
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
la
n
 p
e
ri
o
d
. 

C
llr
 S
te
v
e
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

M
y
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 b
u
ilt
 o
n
 l
a
n
d
. 
I 
d
o
 n
o
t 

im
a
g
in
e
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 a
re
 k
n
o
c
k
in
g
 o
v
e
r 
a
n
y
 h
o
u
s
e
s
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
a
t 
la
n
d
 s
o
 i
m
a
g
in
e
 

th
a
t 
w
e
 a
re
 r
e
fe
rr
in
g
 t
o
 l
a
n
d
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 u
ti
lis
e
d
 f
o
r 
in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
. 
H
o
w
 d
o
e
s
 

th
is
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 m
a
k
in
g
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
s
 o
p
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
o
m
e
 w
h
e
re
 t
o
 

tr
a
v
e
l 
fr
o
m
 t
o
 g
o
 t
o
 w
o
rk
?
  
Is
 t
h
e
re
 a
n
y
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
 t
o
 o
ff
e
r 
la
n
d
 f
o
r 

in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 i
n
to
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
?
 

T
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
’s
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 i
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
it
e
s
 

to
 m
e
e
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 f
u
tu
re
 e
m
p
lo
ym

e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
. 
A
n
 e
m
p
lo
ym

e
n
t 
la
n
d
 

re
v
ie
w
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 n
e
e
d
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 

s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
it
e
s
 a
re
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
n
d
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
. 
T
B
C
 i
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

G
re
a
te
r 
B
’h
a
m
 L
E
P
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
a
tt
ra
c
ti
n
g
 i
n
w
a
rd
 

in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
in
to
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 w
h
ic
h
 m
a
y
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 ‘
b
e
s
t 
p
re
m
iu
m
’ 
s
it
e
s
 

b
e
in
g
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 a
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
e
lt
. 

B
o
y
e
r 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 (
o
n
 

b
e
h
a
lf
 o
f 
T
a
yl
o
r 

W
im
p
e
y)
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 i
s
 n
o
t 
c
o
rr
e
c
t 
a
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th
e
 

fo
llo
w
in
g
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 R
D
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 (
o
p
ti
o
n
 1
) 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
2
9
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 i
s
 w
h
o
lly
 

in
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
. 
H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 

a
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
5
0
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 o
v
e
r 
2
0
0
6
-2
0
2
6
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 t
h
e
 R
S
 

E
IP
 P
a
n
e
l’s
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
4
0
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
e
e
n
 a
s
 a
 m
in
im
u
m
. 

It
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 w
it
h
in
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 o
rd
e
r 
o
f 
o
n
ly
 2
9
0
0
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 (
a
s
s
u
m
in
g
 A
n
k
e
r 
v
a
lle
y
 c
o
m
e
s
 f
o
rw
a
rd
) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 t
h
e
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
t 
le
a
s
t 
1
0
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 m
e
t 
o
u
ts
id
e
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
. 

T
h
e
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 C
S
 s
h
o
u
ld
 m

a
k
e
 a
 p
o
lic
y
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 c
o
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
in
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
is
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t.
 

T
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
ill
 d
e
fi
n
it
e
ly
 

b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

b
o
ro
u
g
h
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
in
 t
h
is
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 n
o
t 
le
ft
 f
o
r 
a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
 2
0
1
7
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 b
o
th
 N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 a
n
d
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
C
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

fu
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

Page 99



        

R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

 
M
a
in
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 R
a
is
e
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

F
o
re
s
tr
y
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
p
p
e
a
r 
m
o
d
e
s
t.
 I
t 
is
 v
it
a
l 
th
a
t 
g
re
a
te
r 
c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

g
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/ 
g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 i
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
is
 

h
a
s
 a
 k
e
y
 r
o
le
 i
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
ll-
b
e
in
g
 –
 s
e
e
 

th
e
 C
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
T
re
e
s
 

B
ro
a
d
 G
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

a
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
o
lic
y
. 

B
ro
o
k
e
 S
m
it
h
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 i
s
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
 

M
o
rs
to
n
 A
s
s
e
tt
s
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 c
o
n
ta
in
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 

fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 n
o
t 
p
re
ju
d
ic
e
d
 f
ro
m
 c
o
m
in
g
 

fo
rw
a
rd
 f
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
h
e
re
 i
t 
w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
n
v
ia
b
le
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 3
0
%
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
th
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
o
r 
3
0
%
, 

'w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
'.
 

A
g
re
e
-t
h
e
 w
o
rd
s
 ‘
w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
’ 
w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
s
e
rt
e
d
. 

W
ill
ia
m
 D
a
v
is
 L
td
 

W
e
lc
o
m
e
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
n
 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 V
ia
b
ili
ty
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
o
lic
y
 H
3
, 
in
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
P
P
S
3
. 
A
ls
o
 w
e
lc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
 

le
v
e
l 
o
f 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
n
 a
 s
it
e
 b
y
 s
it
e
 b
a
s
is
. 
T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 P
o
lic
y
 H
3
 w
ill
 

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 s
o
m
e
 s
it
e
s
 b
e
in
g
 u
n
v
ia
b
le
, 
a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 i
m
p
e
ra
ti
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 

T
h
e
 i
n
s
e
rt
io
n
 o
f 
‘w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
’ 
m
a
k
e
s
 i
t 
c
le
a
r 
th
a
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y.
 

L
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
o
rt
h
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 i
n
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 d
is
tr
ic
t 
h
a
s
 l
o
n
g
 b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 a
s
 

th
e
 p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
is
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
L
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
a
s
t 
in
 N
 

W
a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 i
s
 n
o
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 p
u
rs
u
e
d
. 
P
ro
v
is
io
n
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 

b
e
 m
a
d
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
n
o
w
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
to
ry
 f
lo
w
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
la
n
 p
e
ri
o
d
. 
L
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
o
rt
h
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

a
d
jo
in
in
g
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 B
ro
w
n
s
 L
a
n
e
 i
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 a
n
 e
a
rl
y
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
p
p
ro
x
 2
5
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 f
o
r 
th
is
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
 w
it
h
o
u
t 
p
re
ju
d
ic
in
g
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

te
rm

 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
s
 a
 w
h
o
le
. 

 

H
3
 D
o
 y
o
u
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
ts
?
 

Page 100



fl
e
x
ib
le
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 i
n
 P
o
lic
y
 H
3
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 i
s
 n
o
t 
o
v
e
rl
y
 r
e
s
tr
ic
te
d
. 
T
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
th
is
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 w
e
 b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
e
 t
e
x
t 
o
f 
p
o
lic
y 

H
3
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
‘r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
’ 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
o
 ‘
s
e
e
k
in
g
’ 

th
e
m
. 
In
 t
h
is
 w
a
y
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 t
e
x
t 
a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
s
 t
h
e
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

th
a
t 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 s
e
t 
w
ill
 n
o
t 
a
lw
a
y
s
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
. 
W
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
a
n
 S
P
D
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
is
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 l
o
o
k
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
 o
f 
s
a
id
 S
P
D
 

B
ro
m
fo
rd
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

•
 
It
 i
s
 u
n
fo
rt
u
n
a
te
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 c
a
n
 n
o
t 
b
e
 s
e
t 
h
ig
h
e
r.
 I
t 
is
n
’t
 c
le
a
r 
o
n
 w
h
a
t 

ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 t
h
e
 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 T
a
rg
e
ts
 a
re
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
. 
 V
ia
b
ili
ty
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t’
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
m
a
rk
e
t 
w
ill
 s
e
t 
lo
w
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
s
, 
b
u
t 
h
ig
h
e
r 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
 

a
s
 t
h
e
 m
a
rk
e
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 P
la
n
 l
if
e
s
p
a
n
. 
  

•
 
T
h
e
 t
e
n
u
re
 m
ix
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 v
a
g
u
e
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 t
e
n
u
re
s
 o
f 
A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

R
e
n
t,
 S
h
a
re
d
 E
q
u
it
y
 e
tc
. 
 I
s
 t
h
is
 d
e
lib
e
ra
te
?
 

•
 
T
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 w
h
o
 o
w
n
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

la
n
d
 i
n
 S
ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 a
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 t
h
e
 m
a
jo
r 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
r 
to
 t
h
e
 l
a
n
d
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 i
n
 H
3
 

e
).
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 w
ill
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
re
n
d
s
 i
n
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 a
 p
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 
u
n
d
e
r 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
o
u
ld
 t
ri
g
g
e
r 
a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t.
 

   B
ro
m
fo
rd
 a
p
p
e
a
r 
to
 h
a
v
e
 a
 b
la
n
k
e
t 
p
o
lic
y
 t
o
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 A
R
 a
t 
8
0
%
 o
f 

m
a
rk
e
t 
re
n
t 
w
h
e
re
a
s
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 s
ta
te
s
 t
h
is
 c
a
n
 b
e
 u
p
 t
o
 8
0
%
 -
 I
n
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
, 
8
0
%
 m
a
y 
/ 
m
a
y 
n
o
t 
b
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 /
 m
e
e
t 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
 s
o
 

w
e
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 k
e
e
p
 t
h
is
 u
n
d
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
 &
 e
n
te
r 
in
to
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 

R
P
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 e
tc
. 
H
3
 c
le
a
rl
y
 s
ta
te
s
 8
0
%
 A
R
 /
 2
0
%
 i
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 (
i.
e
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 e
q
u
it
y
 (
H
o
m
e
b
u
y
) 
–
 t
h
is
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
s
 c
le
a
rl
y
 l
a
b
e
lli
n
g
. 

    N
o
te
d
. 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
s
it
e
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 S
H
L
A
A
. 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
 o
b
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 i
n
 

v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 V
ia
b
ili
ty
 &
 P
o
lic
y
 S
tu
d
y
 (
F
e
b
 2
0
1
0
).
 T
h
e
 o
n
ly
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
t 
is
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 t
a
rg
e
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 p
e
rh
a
p
s
 b
e
 a
p
p
lie
d
 f
le
x
ib
ly
, 
e
n
a
b
lin
g
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
n
d
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 w
h
e
re
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
n
-s
it
e
 i
s
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 a
n
d
 o
ff
-s
it
e
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 c
o
u
ld
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
 h
ig
h
e
r 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
n
 o
th
e
r 
s
u
it
a
b
le
 s
it
e
s
 (
to
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
).
 T
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 f
le
x
ib
le
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 a
p
p
ly
 t
o
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
, 
w
h
e
re
 

e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
, 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t/
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 h
a
s
 o
th
e
r 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 r
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
, 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 o
f 

T
h
e
 i
n
s
e
rt
io
n
 o
f 
‘w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
’ 
m
a
k
e
s
 i
t 
c
le
a
r 
th
a
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y 
to
 a
llo
w
 o
th
e
r 
fa
c
to
rs
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

o
n
 a
m
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
 b
a
s
is
. 

 O
ff
 s
it
e
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 b
u
t 
e
m
e
rg
in
g
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 

w
it
h
 N
H
B
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 t
h
e
s
e
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 m
ig
h
t 
n
o
t 
b
e
 u
ti
lis
e
d
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
n
 o
th
e
r 
s
it
e
s
 b
u
t 
c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
o
th
e
r,
 n
o
n
-h
o
u
s
in
g
 

re
la
te
d
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
. 

Page 101



s
u
p
p
ly
 a
n
d
 t
e
n
u
re
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
s
o
c
ia
l 
o
r 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
/c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
. 

M
e
re
v
a
le
 &
 B
ly
th
e
 

E
s
ta
te
s
 

It
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
re
 o
v
e
rl
y
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
 b
y
 r
e
fe
rr
in
g
 

to
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
p
e
r 
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 t
e
n
u
re
 s
p
lit
. 
In
 t
h
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim

a
te
 P
o
lic
y
 H
3
 w
ill
 m
a
k
e
 m
a
n
y 
s
it
e
s
 u
n
v
ia
b
le
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
it
 i
s
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 t
h
is
 p
o
in
t 
a
n
d
 a
re
 w
ill
in
g
 t
o
 a
d
o
p
t 
a
 

fl
e
x
ib
le
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 w
ill
in
g
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

w
it
h
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 i
n
s
e
rt
io
n
 o
f 
‘w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
’ 
m
a
k
e
s
 i
t 
c
le
a
r 
th
a
t 

fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
. 

B
lo
o
r 
H
o
m
e
s
 

•
 
P
le
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
in
te
n
d
s
 t
o
 u
ti
lis
e
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 t
e
s
ti
n
g
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 q
u
a
n
ti
ti
e
s
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
. 
 N
e
v
e
rt
h
e
le
s
s
 w
e
 

b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 r
a
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 v
ia
 a
 s
u
p
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ry
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
. 
 

C
le
a
rl
y
 t
h
is
 w
o
u
ld
 a
llo
w
 t
h
e
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 b
e
 t
e
s
te
d
 a
t 

a
n
 e
a
rl
y
 a
n
d
 w
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 a
llo
w
 t
h
is
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 t
o
 b
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
. 
 

A
s
 s
u
c
h
 w
e
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
th
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 t
h
is
 t
o
p
ic
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
ts
e
lf
. 
  

 •
 
T
h
e
 t
e
n
u
re
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 P
o
lic
y
, 
in
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
it
e
m
 (
d
),
 s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 

th
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
v
is
io
n
 t
o
 P
P
S
3
. 

 •
 
T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 c
o
n
te
m
p
la
te
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
e
n
u
re
 a
n
d
 f
in
a
n
c
in
g
 

m
o
d
e
ls
 t
h
a
t 
m
a
y
 b
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
e
s
. 

N
o
te
d
. 
It
 i
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 

te
s
ti
n
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 r
e
q
u
e
s
ts
 f
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 ‘
in
 t
h
e
 r
o
u
n
d
’.
 

          C
o
m
m
e
n
t 
n
o
te
d
, 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
 i
n
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

la
te
s
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 

  C
o
m
m
e
n
t 
in
 r
e
d
 n
o
te
d
 &
 w
e
 a
re
 /
 w
ill
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 R
P
s
 &
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

to
 e
x
p
lo
re
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 &
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
e
n
u
re
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
s
it
e
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 /
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 m
a
k
e
t 
in
 

a
 g
iv
e
n
 a
e
a
 e
tc
. 
–
 t
h
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 s
u
rv
e
y
 

w
o
rk
 &
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
 m
o
re
 i
n
fo
rm

e
d
 v
ie
w
 o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.  

 

J
o
in
t 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

U
n
it
 

T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 s
e
e
m
 s
e
n
s
ib
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
c
lim

a
te
 b
e
a
ri
n
g
 i
n
 m
in
d
 t
h
e
 p
o
in
t 
a
t 
w
h
ic
h
 

p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 n
o
w
 a
b
le
 t
o
 e
n
te
r 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m
a
rk
e
t.
 W

e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 s
p
lit
 o
f 
th
e
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 (
8
0
%
 s
o
c
ia
l 
re
n
te
d
 a
n
d
 2
0
%
 i
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
) 
a
s
 w
e
 a
re
 

in
c
re
a
s
in
g
ly
 f
in
d
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 c
lie
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
 w
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
h
a
re
d
 o
r 
o
u
tr
ig
h
t 

o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
 i
s
 e
v
e
r 
m
o
re
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 d
u
e
 t
o
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
p
ro
d
u
c
ts
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

Page 102



n
o
w
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 t
h
e
m
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 r
e
n
ti
n
g
 i
s
 t
h
e
 o
n
ly
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 o
p
ti
o
n
. 
A
s
 a
b
o
v
e
 

w
e
 a
re
 p
le
a
s
e
 t
o
 s
e
e
 c
le
a
r 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
o
ld
e
r 

p
e
rs
o
n
, 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 

K
e
n
 F
o
re
s
t 

w
h
ils
t 
I 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
n
ti
o
n
s
, 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
, 
I 
d
o
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
. 
 

T
h
is
 i
s
 e
x
p
la
in
e
d
 i
n
 m
o
re
 d
e
ta
il 
in
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ry
 s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
. 
 

IN
S
E
R
T
 

(b
) 
a
n
d
 (
c
) 
T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 m

o
s
t 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 t
a
k
e
s
 p
la
c
e
. 

 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
rt
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 n
o
te
d
 

 e
) 
T
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 w
ill
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 d
e
te
rm

in
in
g
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
s
u
it
a
b
le
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
ty
p
e
s
 o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

T
B
C
/S
S
P
C
T
 

T
h
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
p
p
e
a
r 
re
a
lis
ti
c
 a
n
d
 a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
 a
s
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
d
 b
y
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
 2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
0
 d
e
liv
e
ri
e
s
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 s
ti
ll 
h
a
s
 a
 h
ig
h
 r
a
te
 o
f 
te
e
n
a
g
e
 

p
re
g
n
a
n
c
ie
s
 t
h
is
 h
a
s
 s
h
o
w
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
c
k
 o
f 
s
m
a
lle
r 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
s
 s
ta
rt
e
r 
h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
yo
u
n
g
 

p
a
re
n
ts
. 
T
h
is
 i
n
 t
u
rn
 d
o
e
s
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 o
v
e
rc
ro
w
d
in
g
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
u
ld
 r
e
s
u
lt
 w
it
h
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
d
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 c
h
ild
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 a
s
th
m
a
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 f
o
r 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 t
y
p
e
 a
n
d
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
o
r 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

g
ro
u
p
s
. 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
n
o
te
s
 t
h
e
 m
e
th
o
d
o
lo
g
y
 t
h
a
t 
u
n
d
e
rp
in
s
 t
h
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

ta
rg
e
t.
 W

h
ils
t 
th
is
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
s
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
to
 t
h
a
t 
ta
k
e
n
 b
y
 L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il,
 i
t 
is
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 t
w
o
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
s
 a
re
 c
o
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ry
 a
n
d
 s
e
e
k
 t
o
 m
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

T
e
tl
o
w
 K
in
g
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 W

M
 

H
a
rp
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 

T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
te
n
u
re
 s
p
lit
 o
f 
8
0
%
 s
o
c
ia
l 
re
n
te
d
 a
n
d
 2
0
%
 i
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 i
s
 n
o
t 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
in
g
 o
n
 a
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 P
P
S
3
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 r
e
n
t 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 

th
is
 y
e
a
r.
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 t
o
 b
e
 o
u
t 
o
f 
s
te
p
 w
it
h
 

a
d
o
p
te
d
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 i
f 
it
 f
a
ils
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 t
h
is
 i
n
to
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 w
h
e
n
 s
e
tt
in
g
 a
 t
a
rg
e
t 

te
n
u
re
 s
p
lit
. 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
h
o
u
ld
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
, 

e
n
c
o
m
p
a
s
s
in
g
 t
h
is
 n
e
w
 f
o
rm

 a
n
d
 t
a
k
in
g
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
n
te
x
t.
 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 h
a
v
e
 r
e
g
a
rd
 t
o
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 a
ll 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 a
re
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 f
a
c
e
, 
a
n
d
 m
a
k
e
 a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
a
 s
m
a
ll 
e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
c
ro
s
s
-

s
u
b
s
id
y
 i
n
 r
u
ra
l 
a
re
a
s
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
. 

T
h
e
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 o
f 
s
u
rp
lu
s
 l
a
n
d
 h
o
ld
in
g
s
 b
y
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 P
ro
v
id
e
rs
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 

a
s
 m
u
c
h
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 s
m
a
ll 
s
c
a
le
 c
ro
s
s
-s
u
b
s
id
y
, 
a
s
 

m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 a
b
o
v
e
, 
w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 i
s
 p
ro
b
le
m
a
ti
c
. 

A
s
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
b
o
v
e
 o
n
 P
o
lic
y
 H
1
, 
w
e
 s
tr
o
n
g
ly
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 p
o
lic
y
 

A
g
re
e
 w
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 &
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 A
R
 (
s
e
e
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
b
o
v
e
).
 W

e
 a
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
o
u
r 
/ 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 l
a
n
d
, 

in
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 m
o
d
e
ls
 (
c
ro
s
s
 s
u
b
s
id
y
 e
tc
.)
 a
n
d
 w
e
 a
re
 

c
o
n
d
u
c
ti
n
g
 u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 p
ro
v
id
e
 u
s
 w
it
h
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
d
a
ta
 t
o
 f
o
rm

 a
 m
o
re
 i
n
fo
rm

e
d
 s
ta
n
c
e
 –
 a
s
 a
llu
d
e
d
 t
o
 a
b
o
v
e
, 

w
ill
 w
e
 b
e
 p
u
tt
in
g
 i
n
 t
o
 p
o
lic
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
 /
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 u
s
 w
it
h
 d
a
ta
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 w
h
ic
h
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 

c
o
n
tr
a
d
ic
ts
 o
u
r 
in
fo
 a
s
 o
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 o
c
c
a
s
io
n
s
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
e
d
 

o
u
r 
n
e
e
d
s
 d
a
ta
 w
it
h
 n
o
 r
e
a
l 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 t
o
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
te
 t
h
e
ir
 c
la
im
s
. 

In
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
th
is
 a
g
a
in
 w
ill
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 m
o
re
 

a
p
p
a
re
n
t 
o
n
c
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 s
u
rv
e
y
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
o
n
e
 –
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
e
a
n
ti
m
e
 w
e
 

h
a
v
e
 S
C
C
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 &
 I
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
L
iv
in
g
 &
 

F
le
x
i 
C
a
re
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 w
h
ic
h
 p
ro
v
id
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
is
 i
n
fo
rm

in
g
 t
h
e
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 &
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 i
n
 C
o
re
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 /
 a
n
y
 S
P
D
 w
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
. 

Page 103



m
a
k
e
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
 b
e
in
g
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

n
e
e
d
. 

A
s
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 w
e
 s
tr
o
n
g
ly
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 

s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 i
s
 b
e
s
t 
im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 a
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 p
o
lic
y
 a
s
 a
t 

p
re
s
e
n
t 
p
o
in
t 
g
) 

a
p
p
e
a
rs
 t
o
 b
e
 a
n
 a
ft
e
rt
h
o
u
g
h
t.
 B
ro
m
s
g
ro
v
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
D
ra
ft
 C
o
re
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 2
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
iv
e
 p
o
lic
y
 o
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 (
a
 c
o
p
y
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
);
 

s
u
c
h
 a
 p
o
lic
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 o
f 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 a
g
e
in
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
C
2
 a
n
d
 C
3
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
. 

W
e
 w
e
lc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 

re
g
u
la
r 
re
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 a
n
 S
P
D
. 
N
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
 s
it
e
-b
y
-s
it
e
 b
a
s
is
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
s
 

th
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 t
h
re
e
 

ta
rg
e
t 
th
re
s
h
o
ld
s
 a
re
 u
s
e
fu
l,
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
s
 a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
. 

C
P
R
E
 

C
P
R
E
 a
p
p
re
c
ia
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 o
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 L
P
A
’s
 f
ir
s
t 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 
 C
o
n
c
e
rn
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
a
t 
th
e
 l
a
rg
e
 d
is
c
re
p
a
n
c
y
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

th
e
 S
H
M
A
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
 a
t 
2
0
4
/2
6
5
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
 a
n
d
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
rg
e
t 
o
f 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 4
3
. 
 T
h
is
 b
u
ild
in
g
 r
a
te
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 t
o
 o
n
ly
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
t 
b
e
s
t 
fo
r 

1
/5
th
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 m
e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 l
e
a
s
t 
a
b
le
 t
o
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
re
 p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
tl
y
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 o
f 
th
is
 m
o
s
t 
b
a
s
ic
 o
f 
lif
e
’s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
it
ie
s
. 

 C
P
R
E
 c
o
n
c
u
rs
 s
tr
o
n
g
ly
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
e
n
ti
m
e
n
t 
in
 p
a
ra
 4
, 
p
9
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 

s
u
c
h
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 “
c
a
n
 n
o
t 
re
ly
 (
w
h
o
lly
?
) 
o
n
 m
a
rk
e
t-
d
ri
v
e
n
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

k
e
y 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 h
a
v
e
 a
 r
o
le
 t
o
 p
la
y
 i
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 “
s
u
p
p
ly
 

o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 u
n
it
s
”.
 

 If
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
s
u
c
h
 a
 d
ri
v
e
 i
s
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
it
 h
a
s
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

s
u
p
p
ly
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 c
o
m
p
ly
 w
it
h
 W

M
R
S
S
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 
o
r 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
lly
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 7
5
 h
o
u
s
e
s
 

p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 r
a
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
ta
rg
e
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r.
  
It
 s
e
e
m
s
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 (
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 y
o
u
r 
re
b
u
tt
a
l)
 

th
a
t 
in
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm

e
r 
c
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 4
5
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 f
o
rm

in
g
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 7
5
 

o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 r
a
is
e
d
 t
o
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 v
e
ry
 c
lo
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 1
0
0
%
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 d
e
e
m
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
s
 u
n
v
ia
b
le
! 
 I
s
 t
h
e
re
 n
o
t 
a
 c
o
n
tr
a
d
ic
ti
o
n
, 
o
r 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 S
u
rv
e
y
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
b
e
in
g
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 a
s
c
e
rt
a
in
 a
 r
o
b
u
s
t 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

n
e
e
d
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t.
 

Page 104



a
t 
le
a
s
t 
a
 s
iz
e
a
b
le
 d
ile
m
m
a
 h
e
re
?
 

 T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
e
la
b
o
ra
te
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 b
y
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 

“A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 V
ia
b
ili
ty
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t”
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
a
 s
it
e
 i
s
 

m
a
d
e
 u
n
v
ia
b
le
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
ly
in
g
 i
ts
 n
e
e
d
. 
 I
t 
m
u
s
t 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
 m
a
jo
r 

s
h
o
rt
c
o
m
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
h
a
t 
n
o
 s
o
lu
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 o
ff
e
re
d
 t
o
 s
a
ti
s
fy
in
g
 t
h
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 n
e
e
d
. 

 C
P
R
E
 i
ts
e
lf
 i
s
 n
o
t 
e
n
ti
re
ly
 c
o
n
v
in
c
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
s
 i
n
c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
s
o
lu
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

m
a
rk
e
t-
h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
y
. 
 W

e
 a
re
 o
f 
th
e
 v
ie
w
 t
h
a
t 
g
iv
e
n
 a
s
s
u
re
d
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
te
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
, 
a
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 o
f 
s
ta
rt
e
r 

h
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
m
in
im
u
m
 i
n
it
ia
l 
s
iz
e
s
 b
u
t 
d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
e
a
s
y
 f
u
tu
re
 e
x
te
n
s
ib
ili
ty
, 
b
ri
n
g
in
g
 

in
to
 p
la
y
 s
e
lf
-h
e
lp
 o
r 
s
m
a
lle
r-
s
iz
e
d
 b
u
ild
in
g
 f
ir
m
s
. 
 T
h
is
 i
m
p
lie
s
 a
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
s
k
ill
 i
n
 

d
e
s
ig
n
, 
a
n
d
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 l
a
y
o
u
t 
th
a
t 
w
e
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 D
e
n
s
it
y
. 

E
la
n
o
r 
P
a
tr
ic
k
 

S
o
m
e
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
is
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 h
a
s
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 c
le
a
rl
y
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 o
r 
d
e
fi
n
e
d
. 
 P
le
a
s
e
 d
o
 n
o
t 
le
t 
u
s
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
o
th
e
r 
m
a
s
s
 a
re
a
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
n
 

th
e
 s
c
a
le
 a
s
 t
h
e
 K
e
rr
ia
 o
r 
A
m
in
g
to
n
. 

 W
it
h
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 t
o
 a
n
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 f
ir
s
t 
ti
m
e
 b
u
y
e
rs
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
o
ta
lly
 r
e
lia
n
t 
o
f 

le
n
d
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
n
y
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 m
u
s
t 
a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 t
h
a
t 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 c
a
n
 a
n
d
 d
o
e
s
 

o
c
c
u
r 
a
n
d
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
. 

  

T
h
e
 o
n
ly
 l
a
rg
e
 a
re
a
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 i
s
 A
n
k
e
r 
v
a
lle
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 w
ill
 

b
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
 c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 m
a
s
te
r 
p
la
n
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
 v
a
ri
e
ty
 o
f 

h
o
m
e
s
 a
re
 s
u
p
p
lie
d
, 
in
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
s
iz
e
 a
n
d
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
iv
e
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
  
to
 

a
s
s
is
t 
d
e
liv
e
r 
a
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 

J
V
H
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 

W
a
lt
o
n
 H
o
m
e
s
 

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 P
o
lic
y
 H
3
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
 f
le
x
ib
le
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
n
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
to
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
, 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 i
s
 r
a
is
e
d
 a
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
e
tt
in
g
 o
f 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
le
v
e
ls
 

o
f 
ta
rg
e
t 
d
e
p
e
n
d
a
n
t 
u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
. 
T
h
is
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 t
o
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
 t
h
a
t 

la
rg
e
r 
s
it
e
s
 c
a
n
 a
lw
a
y
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
 m
o
re
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
 i
n
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 t
e
rm

s
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
is
 i
s
 

n
o
t 
a
lw
a
y
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
e
 o
n
c
e
 a
b
n
o
rm

a
ls
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
. 
T
h
e
 w
a
y
 t
h
is
 p
o
lic
y
 i
s
 

w
o
rd
e
d
 w
ill
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 a
n
 i
n
e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
a
ry
 t
o
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
 w
ill
 a
v
o
id
 t
ri
g
g
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
e
r 
th
re
s
h
o
ld
 t
o
 a
v
o
id
 h
a
v
in
g
 t
o
 o
ff
e
r 
m
o
re
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
It
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
 a
s
 d
ra
ft
e
d
 i
s
 n
o
t 
e
v
e
n
h
a
n
d
e
d
 a
n
d
 

w
ill
 n
o
t 
a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
. 
T
h
is
 i
s
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
e
 w
h
e
n
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
rg
e
s
t 
s
it
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
, 
w
h
ic
h
 

w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 v
ia
b
le
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
a
n
y
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 g
iv
e
n
 t
h
e
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 c
o
s
ts
 

a
lr
e
a
d
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 l
e
a
v
e
 a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
s
h
o
rt
fa
ll 
in
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

T
h
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 n
o
te
d
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
e
t 

o
u
t 
m
o
re
 c
le
a
rl
y
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
. 
In
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
, 
re
c
e
n
t 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 h
a
s
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
 

in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 f
o
r 
1
4
 u
n
it
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 b
e
lo
w
 

th
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
th
re
s
h
o
ld
 f
o
r 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
T
h
e
re
fo
re
 i
t 

is
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
in
g
 a
 b
a
n
d
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
, 
a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 t
h
e
 

m
in
im
u
m
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 p
o
lic
y
 (
H
5
) 
w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
n
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
 o
n
 s
m
a
lle
r 
s
it
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 

a
re
 s
e
e
n
 a
s
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
g
iv
e
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
e
d
 n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
. 

C
o
lle
c
ti
v
e
ly
 i
t 
is
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 w
ill
 h
e
lp
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
n
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 n
e
e
d
. 

Page 105



B
o
ro
u
g
h
 a
n
d
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
 t
h
e
 f
la
w
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
In
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

a
tt
e
m
p
t 
to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
s
o
m
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 D
is
tr
ic
ts
 s
u
c
h
 o
f 
E
S
B
C
 h
a
v
e
 

h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 a
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
h
e
re
 a
 1
0
%
 l
e
v
e
l 
is
 n
o
w
 

s
o
u
g
h
t.
 

In
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 a
n
y
 p
o
lic
y
 m
u
s
t 
e
x
p
la
in
 a
n
d
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
th
e
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 f
o
rm

u
la
 t
o
 b
e
 a
d
o
p
te
d
, 
to
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 w
o
rk
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le
. 
W
it
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 f
o
rm

u
la
 b
e
in
g
 a
g
re
e
d
 i
n
 p
o
lic
y
 

h
o
w
 w
ill
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
d
u
s
tr
y
 f
o
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 k
n
o
w
 w
h
a
t 
le
v
e
ls
 o
f 
p
ro
fi
t 
is
 

a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 o
n
 s
it
e
s
 w
h
e
n
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
. 
T
h
is
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 s
o
 

th
a
t 
s
it
e
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 p
ro
p
e
rl
y
 a
p
p
ra
is
e
d
 b
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 a
c
q
u
is
it
io
n
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 

b
ri
n
g
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 o
f 
s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

T
u
rl
e
y
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
s
 

fo
r 
H
id
g
e
tt
s
 E
s
ta
te
s
 

O
n
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
 b
u
ilt
 i
n
to
 a
n
y
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
, 
th
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 

o
b
je
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 b
y
 d
ra
ft
 p
o
lic
y 
H
3
. 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 t
a
rg
e
t 
fo
r 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 ‘
a
t 
le
a
s
t’
 4
3
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
, 
a
s
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 e
x
is
t 
to
 

s
e
c
u
re
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
m
ix
e
d
 t
e
n
u
re
 s
it
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
is
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

e
m
b
ra
c
e
d
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
n
e
e
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 S
H
M
A
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
A
g
re
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 w
o
rd
in
g
 ‘
a
t 
le
a
s
t’
 b
e
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 i
t 
c
le
a
r 
th
a
t 
th
e
 4
3
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 a
 m
in
im
u
m
 f
ig
u
re
 t
o
 

d
e
liv
e
r.
 

C
llr
 S
te
v
e
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

G
iv
e
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 d
e
m
o
g
ra
p
h
ic
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
, 
th
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim

a
te
 I
 w
o
u
ld
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
th
a
t 
th
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
4
3
 l
o
w
 c
o
s
t 

re
s
id
e
n
c
e
s
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
 i
s
 t
o
ta
lly
 i
n
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 

A
g
re
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 w
o
rd
in
g
 ‘
a
t 
le
a
s
t’
 b
e
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 i
t 
c
le
a
r 
th
a
t 

th
e
 4
3
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 a
 m
in
im
u
m
 f
ig
u
re
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r.
 

             

Page 106



R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

 
M
a
in
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 R
a
is
e
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

F
o
re
s
tr
y
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 r
a
ti
o
n
a
le
 s
e
e
m
 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le
. 
It
 i
s
 v
it
a
l 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 f
o
r 

w
h
a
te
v
e
r 
s
iz
e
 a
n
d
 m
ix
 o
f 
u
n
it
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

g
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 w
it
h
in
 a
 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le
 d
is
ta
n
c
e
 e
g
 u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
N
G
S
t 

m
o
d
e
l 

B
ro
a
d
 G
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

a
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
o
lic
y
 

W
ill
ia
m
 D
a
v
is
 L
td
 

P
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 2
2
 o
f 
P
P
S
3
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
L
P
A
’s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 o
n
ly
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 l
ik
e
ly
 p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 t
y
p
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
in
g
 a
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 a
n
d
 m
ix
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
 t
y
p
e
s
 a
n
d
 

s
iz
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 w
e
 o
b
je
c
t 
to
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
 p
re
s
c
ri
b
e
d
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 b
y
 t
y
p
e
 a
n
d
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
m
a
rk
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 P
o
lic
y
 H
4
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 c
le
a
rl
y
 

in
c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
w
it
h
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
. 
In
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
is
 p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 2
3
 o
f 
P
P
S
3
 

s
ta
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
“d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
ri
n
g
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
m
a
rk
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 w
h
ic
h
 

re
fl
e
c
t 
d
e
m
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
”.
 T
h
is
 i
s
 

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
p
ri
v
a
te
 m
a
rk
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 s
iz
e
, 
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 s
m
a
ll 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 d
o
 n
o
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly
 w
a
n
t 
to
 b
u
y
 s
m
a
ll 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
. 
It
 i
s
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
th
is
 i
s
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 i
n
 p
o
lic
y
 o
r 
th
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 r
e
a
l 
d
a
n
g
e
r 
th
a
t 

th
e
 s
iz
e
 a
n
d
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
m
e
e
t 
th
e
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
r’
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

A
g
re
e
. 
T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
a
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 m
a
rk
e
t 
a
n
d
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
u
n
it
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
is
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 t
y
p
e
 a
s
 o
p
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
iz
e
 i
n
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 

w
it
h
 P
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 2
2
. 

B
ro
m
fo
rd
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 S
u
rv
e
y
’s
 a
lw
a
y
s
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
a
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
m
a
ll 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
. 
T
h
e
y
 

h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
d
o
 n
o
t 
re
fl
e
c
t 
tr
u
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 o
r 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
. 
 I
t 
is
 o
u
r 
o
p
in
io
n
 

th
a
t 
1
-b
e
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 d
o
 n
o
t 
re
p
re
s
e
n
t 
a
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
th
is
 s
iz
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ri
v
a
te
 m
a
rk
e
t.
 

F
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
o
in
t 
o
f 
v
ie
w
 o
f 
A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
to
c
k
 w
e
 w
o
u
ld
 w
is
h
 t
o
 s
e
e
 a
 h
ig
h
e
r 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
3
 a
n
d
 4
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 u
n
it
s
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 p
la
c
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
is
 t
y
p
e
 

o
f 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 H
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
. 

B
ro
m
fo
rd
 L
iv
in
g
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 q
u
e
ri
e
s
 l
in
k
e
d
 

to
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 l
e
tt
in
g
s
: 
 

W
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
le
tt
in
g
s
 p
la
n
s
?
  

W
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
ti
m
e
 w
a
it
in
g
 l
is
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
?
  

W
h
a
t 
w
a
s
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
v
ie
w
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 r
e
c
e
n
tl
y
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 

h
a
s
 t
h
is
 b
e
e
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
h
e
re
?
 

W
h
a
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
w
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 w
e
lf
a
re
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
ru
le
s
 h
a
v
e
 &
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 l
im
it
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 b
e
e
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t?
 

P
a
ra
 1
 o
n
 p
a
g
e
 1
1
 r
e
fe
rs
 t
o
 ‘
e
x
tr
a
 c
a
re
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
’ 
–
w
e
 a
s
s
u
m
e
 t
h
is
 m
e
a
n
s
 

'f
le
x
i 
c
a
re
'?
 

A
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 1
 b
e
d
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 r
e
s
tr
ic
te
d
 t
o
 m
a
rk
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 –
 a
s
 f
o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r 
3
 &
 4
 b
e
d
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
o
u
r 
lo
c
a
l 
d
a
ta
 t
e
lls
 u
s
 w
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 2
 b
e
d
s
 

b
o
th
 f
ro
m
 a
n
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 a
n
g
le
 &
 f
ro
m
 m
a
rk
e
t 
p
e
rs
p
e
c
ti
v
e
 (
h
e
lp
in
g
 

th
o
s
e
 o
n
 l
o
w
e
r 
in
c
o
m
e
s
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 m
a
rk
e
t)
 –
 a
g
re
e
 w
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

k
e
e
p
 u
n
d
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
3
 b
e
d
s
 f
o
r 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
 (
s
e
e
 

b
e
lo
w
) 
–
 H
C
A
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 &
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 s
e
t 

o
u
t 
in
 L
IP
. 

 L
o
c
a
l 
le
tt
in
g
s
 p
la
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 o
n
 o
th
e
r 
s
it
e
s
 &
 t
h
is
 w
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 g
o
o
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 t
o
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 s
o
c
ia
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 &
 

e
n
s
u
re
 m
a
n
a
g
e
a
b
le
 &
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ls
o
 m
e
e
t 
lo
c
a
l 

n
e
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 w
a
it
in
g
 l
is
t 
re
v
ie
w
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
1
0
. 

A
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 t
o
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
h
e
re
 –
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
2
 b
e
d
s
 &
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 e
x
p
lo
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
u
s
e
 o
f 
3
 b
e
d
s
 b
u
t 
in
it
ia
l 

w
o
rk
 o
n
 t
h
is
 (
o
n
g
o
in
g
) 
s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 n
o
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 

3
 b
e
d
s
 (
b
u
t 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 k
e
e
p
 u
n
d
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
) 

W
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm

 /
 L
H
A
 l
im
it
s
 &
 t
h
e
ir
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
e
ff
e
c
ts
 l
o
c
a
lly
 a
re
 

H
4
 D
o
 y
o
u
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
u
n
it
?
 

Page 107



c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 w
o
rk
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 w
it
h
 m
o
re
 d
e
ta
il 
to
 c
o
m
e
 f
ro
m
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 p
ro
je
c
t 
 

F
le
x
i 
c
a
re
 (
S
ta
ff
s
 C
C
) 
 d
o
e
s
 i
n
d
e
e
d
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 e
x
tr
a
 c
a
re
 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 

If
 t
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 s
iz
e
 a
n
d
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
re
 

re
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 H
4
 t
a
b
le
 s
h
o
w
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
 o
b
je
c
ti
o
n
s
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 I
 w
o
u
ld
 

ra
is
e
 s
o
m
e
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
 t
o
 2
 b
e
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 8
0
%
 

a
p
p
e
a
rs
 a
 l
it
tl
e
 h
ig
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
s
 b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 a
n
d
 t
e
n
a
n
t 
s
u
rv
e
ys
 l
o
c
a
lly
 

a
p
p
e
a
r 
to
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
 a
 p
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 m
in
im
u
m
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 f
ro
m
 

e
ld
e
rl
y
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
T
h
is
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 r
e
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 o
n
 t
h
e
 H
4
 t
e
x
t 
E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
).
 T
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

a
ls
o
 n
o
te
s
 t
h
e
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 f
a
c
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
  
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

, 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 f
o
r 
s
in
g
le
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
h
a
re
d
 h
o
u
s
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
s
 a
n
d
/o
r 

s
in
g
le
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 u
n
it
 o
n
ly
 c
o
s
ts
 (
d
e
p
e
n
d
a
n
t 
o
n
 a
g
e
/c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
) 
c
re
a
ti
n
g
 g
re
a
te
r 

m
a
rk
e
t 
p
re
s
s
u
re
 f
o
r 
1
 b
e
d
 u
n
it
s
 o
n
ly
 (
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
m
a
lle
r 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 u
n
it
 t
a
rg
e
t 

m
a
rk
e
t)
. 
N
e
v
e
rt
h
e
le
s
s
, 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
n
 t
h
e
 N
o
rt
h
 

W
a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
rs
 i
s
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
n
o
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 2
 b
e
d
 u
n
it
s
, 
a
v
o
id
in
g
 1
 b
e
d
 

u
n
it
s
 i
f 
a
t 
a
ll 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
e
e
k
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
n
d
 n
o
t 
s
im
p
ly
 a
llo
w
 

lo
w
e
s
t 
c
o
m
m
o
n
 d
e
n
o
m
in
a
to
r 
p
ri
v
a
te
 m
a
rk
e
t 
d
e
liv
e
ry
. 
1
 b
e
d
 u
n
it
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 t
h
e
 

e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
r 
ta
rg
e
te
d
 a
t 
a
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
m
a
rk
e
t 
a
n
d
/o
r 
n
e
e
d
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
 

M
e
re
v
a
le
 &
 B
ly
th
e
 

E
s
ta
te
s
 

P
o
lic
y
 H
4
 a
s
 i
t 
is
 t
o
o
 r
ig
id
 a
n
d
 i
n
fl
e
x
ib
le
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
s
e
e
k
s
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
8
0
%
 o
f 
a
ll 

n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 1
 a
n
d
 2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 s
iz
e
 u
n
it
s
, 
1
5
%
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm

 o
f 
3
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 s
iz
e
 u
n
it
s
 

a
n
d
 5
%
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm

 o
f 
4
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 s
iz
e
 u
n
it
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 f
a
r 
to
o
 

p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
. 
In
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim

a
te
 t
h
e
 m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
 b
u
ild
e
rs
 w
ill
 b
e
 

u
n
w
ill
in
g
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
t 
8
0
%
 o
f 
a
ll 
th
e
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 o
n
 a
 s
it
e
 a
s
 s
m
a
ll 
u
n
it
s
 a
s
 t
h
e
re
 w
ill
 

s
im
p
ly
 b
e
 n
o
 m
a
rk
e
t 
fo
r 
th
is
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
H
o
u
s
e
 b
u
ild
e
rs
 w
ill
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 m

u
c
h
 

g
re
a
te
r 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
s
iz
e
 o
f 
u
n
it
s
 a
n
d
 h
a
v
e
 f
a
r 
m
o
re
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m
a
rk
e
t 
th
a
n
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 
It
 i
s
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 e
x
tr
e
m
e
ly
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 f
o
r 
fi
rs
t 
ti
m
e
 b
u
y
e
rs
 t
o
 s
e
c
u
re
 a
 m
o
rt
g
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 f
u
n
d
 l
a
rg
e
 

d
e
p
o
s
it
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 b
y
 l
e
n
d
e
rs
-i
t 
is
 p
re
c
is
e
ly
 t
h
is
 g
ro
u
p
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 t
e
n
d
 t
o
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 

1
 a
n
d
 2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 u
n
it
s
. 

T
h
e
 r
is
e
 i
n
 o
n
e
 p
e
rs
o
n
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly
 m
e
a
n
 t
h
a
t 
8
0
%
 o
f 
a
ll 
n
e
w
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 a
s
 s
m
a
ll 
u
n
it
s
 a
s
 m
a
n
y
 s
m
a
ll 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 a
re
 a
s
 a
 

re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
fa
m
ily
 b
re
a
k
 u
p
s
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
p
a
re
n
ts
 s
ti
ll 
re
q
u
ir
e
 l
a
rg
e
r 
s
iz
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 

3
 a
n
d
 4
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
s
 t
o
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
te
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
s
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
y
 c
o
m
e
 t
o
 s
ta
y
 

o
n
 a
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
b
a
s
is
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
. 

Page 108



B
lo
o
r 
H
o
m
e
s
 

T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 a
s
 d
ra
ft
e
d
 i
s
 b
o
th
 i
n
fl
e
x
ib
le
 a
n
d
 t
o
o
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
. 
 F
u
rt
h
e
rm

o
re
 i
t 
c
a
n
 o
n
ly
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
a
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
p
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 
ti
m
e
 w
h
ic
h
 m
a
y 
n
o
t 
a
d
d
re
s
s
 

fu
tu
re
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
if
e
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 W

e
 a
ls
o
 b
e
lie
v
e
 

th
a
t 
th
e
 c
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 e
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 p
re
d
ic
a
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 2
0
0
6
 O
N
S
 s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 

a
re
 o
u
t 
o
f 
d
a
te
 g
iv
e
n
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 n
o
w
 2
0
0
8
 b
a
s
e
 d
a
te
 p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
s
. 
  

 F
u
rt
h
e
rm

o
re
 i
t 
is
 n
o
t 
c
re
d
ib
le
 t
o
 s
o
le
ly
 r
e
la
te
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 s
iz
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 

s
o
u
g
h
t,
 t
h
e
re
 m
a
y 
b
e
 n
u
m
e
ro
u
s
 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
c
h
o
ic
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 s
iz
e
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 w
it
h
 

n
e
w
ly
 f
o
rm

in
g
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
. 
  
  
T
h
e
 d
e
m
o
g
ra
p
h
ic
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
th
e
s
e
 a
s
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
s
 d
o
e
s
 

n
o
t 
a
p
p
e
a
r 
to
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
o
w
n
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 i
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 

s
tr
o
n
g
 d
e
s
ir
e
 t
o
 r
e
m
a
in
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 f
ro
m
 y
o
u
n
g
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 w
h
o
 a
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 t
o
w
a
rd
 l
a
rg
e
r 

h
o
u
s
e
s
. 
 A
s
 s
u
c
h
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 c
o
u
ld
 u
n
d
u
ly
 r
e
s
tr
ic
t 
s
u
c
h
 m

o
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

to
 r
e
ta
in
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 a
n
d
 s
k
ill
s
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
. 

S
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 /
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 a
s
 c
o
m
m
e
n
te
d
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 m
a
rk
e
t 
e
tc
. 

  A
g
re
e
 w
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 l
o
o
k
 a
t 
a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
 (
a
re
a
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 S
H
M
A
s
) 
w
h
ic
h
 

u
s
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ic
k
e
d
 u
p
 o
n
 i
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 S
u
rv
e
y
s
 –
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 g
iv
e
n
 

th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
to
c
k
 i
m
b
a
la
n
c
e
 i
n
 f
a
v
o
u
r 
o
f 
3
 &
 4
 b
e
d
s
, 
th
e
re
 m
a
y 
b
e
 

in
s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
to
c
k
 t
o
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 m
o
v
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 t
o
 

th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 c
a
n
 a
ff
o
rd
 t
o
 d
o
 s
o
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
u
ld
 j
u
s
ti
fy
 m
o
re
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
, 
2
 

b
e
d
 (
+
 s
o
m
e
 3
) 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 t
h
o
s
e
 o
n
 l
o
w
e
r 
in
c
o
m
e
s
 m
o
v
e
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
th
e
ir
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
r 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 m
a
rk
e
t 
s
o
 a
s
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
th
e
m
 t
o
 m
o
v
e
 

to
 l
a
rg
e
r 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
to
c
k
 i
f 
th
e
ir
 c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
v
e
r 
ti
m
e
. 
T
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 r
e
v
ie
w
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 t
h
is
. 

 

J
o
in
t 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

U
n
it
 

T
h
e
 e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 1
 a
n
d
 2
 b
e
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 i
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 w
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

K
e
n
 F
o
re
s
t 

B
ro
a
d
ly
 y
e
s
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
e
s
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
re
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 b
o
a
rd
 f
o
r 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
m
e
 

fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 i
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 a
re
a
 n
e
e
d
s
. 
 I
t 
is
 

a
d
v
o
c
a
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 p
a
ra
m
e
te
rs
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 i
n
fo
rm

e
d
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 

T
B
C
/S
S
P
C
T
 

A
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
m
a
lle
r 
u
n
it
s
, 
b
u
t 
w
o
u
ld
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
m
o
re
 2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
s
 

ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 1
. 
I 
a
m
 n
o
t 
c
le
a
r 
a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 s
p
lit
 i
n
 %

 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 1
 &
 2
 u
n
it
s
. 
A
s
 s
ta
te
d
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 p
a
re
n
ts
 a
re
 s
ti
ll 
o
f 
a
 h
ig
h
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 

s
m
o
k
in
g
 a
m
o
n
g
 t
h
is
 c
o
h
o
rt
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
if
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
te
d
 i
n
 a
 2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 u
n
it
 i
t 

w
ill
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 c
h
ild
/c
h
ild
re
n
 s
o
m
e
 r
e
s
p
it
e
 f
ro
m
 p
a
s
s
iv
e
 s
m
o
k
in
g
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

Y
e
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

T
e
tl
o
w
 K
in
g
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 W

M
 

H
a
rp
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 

W
e
 s
tr
o
n
g
ly
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 i
s
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
ri
v
e
d
 f
ro
m
 u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
. 
It
 i
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
e
x
t 
to
 m
a
k
e
 

re
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
s
e
 b
e
in
g
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 S
H
M
A
, 
p
a
ri
s
h
 p
la
n
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r-

le
a
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 s
it
e
s
. 

W
h
ils
t 
th
e
 W

e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 M
a
rk
e
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

s
m
a
lle
r 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 a
s
 p
e
r 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
. 

 P
o
in
t 
ta
k
e
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
a
n
ti
n
g
 t
o
 m
o
v
e
 o
n
 /
 s
ta
rt
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 e
tc
. 
b
u
t 

th
is
 m
o
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
to
c
k
 –
 n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
b
y
 

o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 m
o
v
in
g
 i
n
to
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
/ 
d
o
w
n
 s
iz
in
g
, 
b
u
t 
v
ia
 t
h
e
 n
o
rm

a
l 

w
o
rk
in
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 m
a
rk
e
t.
 T
h
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
liv
in
g
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 &
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 

Page 109



th
e
 s
m
a
ll 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
3
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 u
n
it
s
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
is
 p
o
lic
y
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
ta
k
e
 i
n
to
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th
e
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
o
-h
a
b
it
in
g
 c
o
u
p
le
s
 i
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 w
h
o
 m
a
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 f
a
m
ily
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 f
u
tu
re
. 
It
 i
s
 

u
n
re
a
lis
ti
c
 t
o
 a
s
s
u
m
e
 t
h
a
t 
e
n
o
u
g
h
 l
a
rg
e
r 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 o
ld
e
r 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

m
o
v
in
g
 o
n
. 
T
h
e
 

J
o
s
e
p
h
 R
o
w
n
tr
e
e
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 n
o
w
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
 t
h
a
t 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 m
a
y
 w
is
h
 t
o
 s
ta
y
 i
n
 

th
e
ir
 h
o
m
e
s
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
a
n
d
 w
e
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 

L
if
e
ti
m
e
 H
o
m
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
o
u
ld
 a
llo
w
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 r
e
m
a
in
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 

th
e
ir
 h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
s
 l
o
n
g
 a
s
 t
h
e
y
 w
is
h
. 
S
u
c
h
 a
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

c
o
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
 d
u
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 a
ls
o
 s
e
e
k
in
g
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 

to
 m
e
e
t 
a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a
n
d
 n
e
e
d
. 
W
e
 a
re
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
p
p
lie
d
 t
o
o
 r
ig
id
ly
 t
o
 a
ll 

re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
o
n
 s
m
a
ll-
s
c
a
le
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
. 
It
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

b
e
n
e
fi
c
ia
l 
fo
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 b
y
 n
o
ti
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 

w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
. 

T
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
s
e
n
te
n
c
e
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 t
o
 i
m
p
ly
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
o
f 
th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 c
o
n
te
x
t.
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

b
u
rd
e
n
 a
n
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 p
a
p
e
r-
h
e
a
v
y
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 v
a
lid
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 l
in
e
 

w
it
h
 o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 o
n
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
 t
y
p
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
s
 t
o
 s
m
a
ll 
s
c
a
le
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 w
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
la
ri
fi
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

S
ta
ff
s
 C
C
 /
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
F
C
H
, 
a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
, 

H
o
m
e
 r
e
p
a
ir
 a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 l
o
a
n
s
, 
H
a
n
d
y
 p
e
rs
o
n
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 e
tc
. 
to
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
is
 b
u
t 
in
 s
o
m
e
 c
a
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
h
o
m
e
 m
a
y
 n
o
t 
b
e
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 

&
 d
o
w
n
s
iz
in
g
 /
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 m
a
y
 b
e
 b
e
s
t 
 -
 h
e
n
c
e
 n
e
e
d
 

to
 o
th
e
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 (
F
C
H
, 
s
h
a
re
d
 e
q
u
it
y
 b
u
n
g
a
lo
w
s
, 
s
m
a
lle
r,
 

lif
e
ti
m
e
 h
o
m
e
s
 t
o
 b
u
y
 &
 a
t 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 r
e
n
t 
e
tc
.)
 –
 p
o
in
t 
is
 h
e
re
 (
a
s
 

re
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
) 
is
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
v
ia
b
le
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 e
it
h
e
r 
b
y
 m
a
k
in
g
 b
e
s
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
to
c
k
 o
r 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
k
n
o
w
n
 /
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 n
e
e
d
. 

   It
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 e
n
ti
re
ly
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 t
y
p
e
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 c
a
n
 c
ro
s
s
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
n
e
e
d
s
 d
a
ta
 e
tc
.  
 

C
P
R
E
 

C
P
R
E
 c
o
n
c
u
rs
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 w
e
ll-
re
a
s
o
n
e
d
 a
rg
u
m
e
n
ts
 p
u
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 i
n
 t
h
is
 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
. 
 W

e
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
 a
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ir
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
a
im
in
g
 f
o
r 

2
-b
e
d
ro
o
m
e
d
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 r
a
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 o
n
e
-b
e
d
 u
n
it
s
. 
 W

e
 d
o
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t,
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 p
a
rt
ia
lly
 

y
o
u
r 
o
w
n
 r
e
a
s
o
n
in
g
, 
th
a
t 
e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 p
re
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
 o
n
e
-b
e
d
ro
o
m
e
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 a
re
 

m
o
re
 a
 m
a
rk
 o
f 
d
e
s
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
 –
 o
r 
in
it
ia
l 
n
e
e
d
 –
 t
h
a
n
 l
o
n
g
e
r-
te
rm

 t
h
o
u
g
h
t,
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 

c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
t 
th
e
 r
o
o
t 
o
f 
th
e
 e
x
c
e
s
s
iv
e
 t
u
rn
o
v
e
r 
o
f 
s
u
c
h
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
. 

 W
e
 w
o
u
ld
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
a
ls
o
 t
h
a
t 
o
n
e
-b
e
d
ro
o
m
 n
e
e
d
 r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 p
e
rh
a
p
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 “
s
in
g
le
s
” 
m
a
rk
e
t 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 “
re
ti
re
e
s
”,
 w
h
o
 m
a
y 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
ly
 

n
e
e
d
 a
n
 e
x
tr
a
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 f
o
r 
“c
a
re
rs
”.
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

J
V
H
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 

W
a
lt
o
n
 H
o
m
e
s
 

T
a
rg
e
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 t
o
o
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
 a
re
 o
ft
e
n
 f
a
r 
m
o
re
 

k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
a
b
le
 a
s
 t
o
 w
h
a
t 
is
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
a
rk
e
ta
b
le
 i
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
s
. 
T
h
is
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 m
o
re
 u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 l
o
c
a
l 
m
a
rk
e
t 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
n
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 

Page 110



h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
re
 m
e
t 
a
s
 u
lt
im
a
te
ly
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 u
n
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 

b
u
ild
 h
o
m
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
y
 c
a
n
’t
 s
e
ll.
 I
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
o
 n
e
e
d
s
, 
m
a
rk
e
t 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 k
e
y
 t
o
 w
h
a
t 
w
ill
 u
lt
im
a
te
ly
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
y
. 
A
s
 

a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 a
 n
e
e
d
 m
a
y
 e
x
is
t 
a
n
d
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
, 
th
is
 w
ill
 s
ti
ll 
re
q
u
ir
e
 t
o
 b
e
 p
a
id
 

fo
r.
 A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ri
v
a
te
 r
e
n
ta
l 
m
a
rk
e
t 
h
a
s
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
e
n
 a
s
 a
 g
o
o
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 f
o
r 
p
ri
v
a
te
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim

a
te
 a
n
d
 m
a
n
y
 

w
e
ll 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 e
x
e
rc
is
in
g
 c
a
u
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 w
h
e
re
 a
n
 o
v
e
r 
s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
fl
a
ts
 a
n
d
 s
m
a
ll 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 h
a
s
 t
h
e
n
 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 

h
ig
h
 v
a
c
a
n
c
y
 r
a
te
s
 a
n
d
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 e
q
u
it
y
. 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 h
a
s
 s
o
 f
a
r 
a
v
o
id
e
d
 t
h
is
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 

b
u
t 
th
is
 c
o
u
ld
 o
c
c
u
r 
if
 t
h
e
 m
a
rk
e
t 
is
 f
lo
o
d
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
o
o
 m
a
n
y
 s
m
a
ll 
u
n
it
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
s
 u
n
a
b
le
 t
o
 f
in
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
ir
 a
c
q
u
is
it
io
n
. 
F
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
to
 a
n
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 s
e
t 
in
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
to
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m
ix
e
s
 t
o
 

a
d
a
p
t 
to
 m
a
rk
e
t 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
. 

S
ta
ff
s
 C
C
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

G
o
o
d
 t
o
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 t
w
o
 b
e
d
 f
ro
m
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
a
ta
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

T
u
rl
e
y
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
s
 

fo
r 
H
id
g
e
tt
s
 E
s
ta
te
s
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 o
f 
re
q
u
ir
in
g
 8
0
%
 o
f 
n
e
w
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 1
 

a
n
d
 2
 b
e
d
 u
n
it
s
 i
s
 

o
v
e
rl
y
 r
e
s
tr
ic
ti
v
e
, 
w
ill
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
ly
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
v
ia
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 r
e
s
tr
ic
t 

c
h
o
ic
e
 a
n
d
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 

C
llr
 S
te
v
e
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

W
h
y 
is
 i
t 
s
e
e
n
 a
s
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 t
o
 b
u
ild
 1
 o
r 
2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
. 
O
n
e
 b
e
d
 o
c
c
u
p
a
n
ts
 

v
e
ry
 o
ft
e
n
 f
in
d
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
, 
th
e
 o
n
e
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 

n
o
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
. 
W
o
u
ld
 i
t 
b
e
 r
id
ic
u
lo
u
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
b
u
ild
in
g
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 w
it
h
 a
 s
tu
d
y
/ 
h
o
b
b
y
 r
o
o
m
 u
s
a
b
le
 a
s
 a
  
2
n
d
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 s
ta
rt
, 
 M
a
n
y
 

o
f 
th
e
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 a
b
o
u
t 
o
u
r 
in
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
e
 y
o
u
n
g
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 m
ig
h
t 
g
o
 a
w
a
y
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 

M
o
rs
to
n
 A
s
s
e
ts
 

W
h
ils
t 
w
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 h
ig
h
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 o
f 
d
e
s
ig
n
, 
w
e
 

w
o
u
ld
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
o
v
e
rl
y
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
m
ix
, 

te
n
u
re
 a
n
d
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 H
4
 i
s
 o
v
e
rl
y
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 l
a
c
k
s
 

s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 m
a
rk
e
t 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 

     

Page 111



 

R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

 
M
a
in
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 R
a
is
e
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

F
o
re
s
tr
y
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 r
a
ti
o
n
a
le
 s
e
e
m
 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le
. 
It
 i
s
 v
it
a
l 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 f
o
r 

w
h
a
te
v
e
r 
s
iz
e
 a
n
d
 m
ix
 o
f 
u
n
it
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

g
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 w
it
h
in
 a
 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le
 d
is
ta
n
c
e
 e
.g
. 
u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
N
G
S
t 

m
o
d
e
l 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 

M
o
rs
to
n
 A
s
s
e
tt
s
 

W
h
ils
t 
w
e
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
a
ll 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
, 
w
e
 d
o
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
it
 i
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

to
 a
p
p
ly
 r
ig
id
 p
o
lic
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
F
le
x
i 
C
a
re
 A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
 I
n
s
te
a
d
, 
w
e
 

b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 m
ix
 a
n
d
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
is
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 u
p
-t
o
-d
a
te
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m
a
rk
e
t 
d
a
ta
, 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 r
ig
id
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 

e
a
s
ily
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 o
u
t 
o
f 
d
a
te
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 

to
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 

B
ro
m
fo
rd
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

A
re
 t
h
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
fl
e
x
i 
c
a
re
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 e
n
-c
o
m
p
a
s
s
 a
ll 
ty
p
e
s
 o
f 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
it
h
 y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
c
lie
n
ts
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 D
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
?
 

D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 ‘
e
x
tr
a
 c
a
re
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
’ 
in
 P
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 1
 o
n
 p
a
g
e
 1
1
 r
e
la
te
 

to
 t
h
e
 f
le
x
i 
c
a
re
 u
n
it
s
, 
w
e
 a
s
s
u
m
e
 t
h
is
 i
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
e
. 
  

T
h
e
 m
ix
e
d
 t
e
n
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
s
 o
u
r 
p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
is
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 

a
n
d
 i
s
 v
it
a
l 
fo
r 
th
e
ir
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
th
is
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
n
d
 i
s
 v
it
a
l 
fo
r 
th
e
ir
 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
. 

N
o
t 
a
ll 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 c
o
v
e
re
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 F
C
H
 b
a
n
n
e
r 
b
u
t 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 (
fo
r 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 f
o
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
).
  
O
th
e
r,
 b
ro
a
d
e
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 

to
 b
e
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
d
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
(&
 w
ill
 h
o
p
e
fu
lly
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 m
o
re
 a
p
p
a
re
n
t 
in
 

w
a
k
e
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
s
 s
u
rv
e
y
) 

M
ix
e
d
 t
e
n
u
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
F
C
H
 i
s
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 S
ta
ff
s
 C
C
 F
C
H
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 

T
 h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
F
le
x
i 
C
a
re
 

A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 a
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
n
 i
s
s
u
e
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
in
g
. 
T
h
is
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 a
ls
o
 r
e
in
fo
rc
e
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
m
in
im
u
m
 2
 b
e
d
 u
n
it
s
 t
o
 

e
n
a
b
le
 c
a
re
r,
 f
ri
e
n
d
s
, 
fa
m
ily
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
e
ld
e
rl
y
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
ta
ff
/s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 s
ta
y
 a
n
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 f
le
x
ic
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 w
h
e
re
/w
h
e
n
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
. 
 

T
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
n
e
w
 s
m
a
lle
r 
fl
e
x
i 
c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
/e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 

to
 r
e
-h
o
u
s
e
 m
a
y 
a
ls
o
 h
e
lp
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 l
a
rg
e
r 
fa
m
ily
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 m
a
rk
e
t 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
is
 h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
m
a
lle
r 
u
n
it
s
. 

M
e
re
v
a
le
 &
 B
ly
th
e
 

E
s
ta
te
s
 

O
b
je
c
t 
to
 P
o
lic
y
 H
4
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
n
ta
in
s
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 f
o
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 F
le
x
i 
C
a
re
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
s
 t
o
o
 r
ig
id
. 
It
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 

o
v
e
r 
6
5
 i
s
 g
ro
w
in
g
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
n
o
t 
a
ll 
s
it
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
fl
e
x
i 
c
a
re
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
o
m
e
 s
it
e
s
 m
a
y 
b
e
 m
o
re
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 t
o
 f
a
m
ily
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

te
rm

s
 o
f 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
fl
e
x
i 
c
a
re
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

c
lim

a
te
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 m
a
y 
s
im
p
ly
 n
o
t 
b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
is
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
a
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 s
it
e
 s
iz
e
 t
h
re
s
h
o
ld
 b
a
s
e
d
 p
o
lic
y
 

s
e
tt
in
g
 o
u
t 
p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 u
p
d
a
te
 s
u
rv
e
y
. 

H
4
 D
o
 y
o
u
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 

fo
r 
fl
e
x
i 
c
a
re
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
?
 

Page 112



J
o
in
t 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

U
n
it
 

W
h
ils
t 
w
e
 a
re
 h
a
p
p
y
 t
o
 s
e
e
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
lu
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
u
n
it
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 o
u
r 
n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 t
h
e
s
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 v
ie
w
e
d
 a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
u
it
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 

s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 m
a
rk
e
t 
to
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 f
o
r 
th
is
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly
 b
e
 s
e
e
n
 a
s
 a
b
s
o
lu
te
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
. 
W
h
a
t 
is
 c
le
a
r 
is
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 

a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
m
o
re
 f
o
r 
s
a
le
 a
n
d
 s
h
a
re
d
 o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
tr
ic
t 
fo
r 
th
is
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 u
p
d
a
te
 o
f 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

n
e
e
d
 s
u
rv
e
y
. 

K
e
n
 F
o
re
s
t 

T
h
is
 i
s
 a
 n
e
w
 m
o
re
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w
h
ic
h
 I
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
lly
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 o
b
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
 c
a
re
 s
y
s
te
m
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 m
a
y
 n
o
t 
d
e
liv
e
r 
o
n
 

e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 
 W

e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
t 
v
ill
a
g
e
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 e
x
is
ts
 i
n
 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 a
n
d
 n
e
a
r 
th
e
 B
e
g
g
a
rs
 B
u
s
h
 i
n
 E
rd
in
g
to
n
. 
 P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c
lo
s
e
 t
o
 T
o
w
n
 

C
e
n
tr
e
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 

to
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 

T
B
C
/S
S
P
C
T
 

T
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
le
x
i 
c
a
re
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 g
o
o
d
 a
s
 i
t 
w
ill
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

th
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
, 
b
u
t 
h
e
a
lt
h
 i
n
te
lli
g
e
n
c
e
 d
o
e
s
 a
ls
o
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
o
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
ill
 b
e
 l
iv
in
g
 w
it
h
 a
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 (
p
h
y
s
ic
a
l,
 m
e
d
ic
a
l,
 

m
e
n
ta
l)
 l
o
n
g
e
r.
 S
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
it
h
in
 a
 F
le
x
i 
c
a
re
 s
e
tt
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 c
o
m
b
in
a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 n
u
rs
in
g
 h
o
m
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
s
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

Y
e
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

T
e
tl
o
w
 K
in
g
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 W

M
 

H
a
rp
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 

W
h
ils
t 
w
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
, 
th
is
 i
s
 

n
e
it
h
e
r 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 n
o
r 
w
id
e
-r
a
n
g
in
g
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 f
u
lly
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
. 

T
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
e
x
t 
o
n
 p
a
g
e
 1
0
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
 g
ro
w
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
m
a
lle
r 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
o
ld
e
r 
s
in
g
le
 p
e
rs
o
n
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
, 

n
o
t 
a
ll 
o
f 
th
is
 n
e
e
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 s
tr
ic
tl
y
 b
e
 m
e
t 
b
y
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 s
m
a
lle
r 
g
e
n
e
ra
l 
m
a
rk
e
t 

h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
A
s
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
b
o
v
e
, 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 F
le
x
i 
C
a
re
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
a
d
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 a
n
d
 l
in
k
e
d
 i
n
 t
o
 a
 

s
e
p
a
ra
te
 p
o
lic
y
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
a
 w
id
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
2
 a
n
d
 C
3
 s
p
e
c
tr
u
m
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 o
n
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
. 

C
P
R
E
 

W
it
h
o
u
t 
k
n
o
w
in
g
 i
n
 d
e
ta
il 
th
e
 e
x
a
c
t 
te
rm

s
 o
f 
F
le
x
i-
c
a
re
 A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
C
P
R
E
 

a
g
re
e
s
 v
e
ry
 m
u
c
h
 w
it
h
 t
h
is
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 w
h
ic
h
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
s
 t
h
e
 d
e
m
o
g
ra
p
h
ic
 s
h
if
t 
in
 

fa
m
ily
 s
iz
e
s
, 
th
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 f
a
m
ily
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 f
o
r 

m
o
v
in
g
 e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 f
ro
m
 i
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
a
l 
c
a
re
 t
o
 c
a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h
o
m
e
. 
 A
d
d
e
d
 a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
s
 c
a
n
 

a
ls
o
 b
e
 b
o
th
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 a
g
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

v
a
lu
e
 o
f 
m
ix
e
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
(i
n
 t
h
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
s
e
n
s
e
) 
in
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 i
n
te
re
s
t 
a
n
d
 v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
 

in
 e
a
c
h
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
’s
 a
p
p
e
a
ra
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 b
u
ilt
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

Page 113



th
e
 s
e
tt
in
g
 o
f 
e
a
c
h
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

J
V
H
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 

W
a
lt
o
n
 H
o
m
e
s
 

H
o
m
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 s
o
 a
s
 t
o
 m
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
ir
 s
u
it
a
b
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
a
g
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 

a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 t
h
e
re
b
y
 e
x
te
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 p
ra
c
ti
c
a
lit
y
 a
lo
n
g
 h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
lif
e
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
E
v
id
e
n
c
e
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 

s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
 g
ro
w
in
g
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
. 

S
ta
ff
s
 C
C
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

F
ro
m
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
t 
is
 a
p
p
a
re
n
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 h
a
s
 a
 h
ig
h
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
e
w
 u
n
it
s
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

a
n
d
 a
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
s
o
m
e
  
 o
w
n
e
r 
o
c
c
u
p
ie
d
 c
h
o
ic
e
 a
s
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
n
 

e
x
tr
e
m
e
ly
 l
im
it
e
d
 o
ff
e
r 
a
t 
S
ta
n
d
o
n
 G
a
rd
e
n
s
  
a
t 
p
re
s
e
n
t 
.I
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 n
o
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 j
o
in
t 
 

fl
e
x
ic
a
re
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 p
a
n
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
re
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
  
s
o
m
e
 o
w
n
e
r 
o
c
c
u
p
ie
rs
 a
llo
c
a
te
d
 

re
n
te
d
 f
le
x
c
a
re
 u
n
it
s
 a
s
 t
h
e
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 t
h
is
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 

th
e
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 n
o
 p
ri
v
a
te
 o
p
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
u
n
it
s
 p
re
d
ic
te
d
 a
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 l
o
o
k
 a
 

v
e
ry
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
t 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 a
s
 w
e
 a
re
 a
 l
o
n
g
 w
a
y
 o
ff
 t
h
e
 2
0
1
0
 t
a
rg
e
t 
n
o
w
, 

m
e
a
n
in
g
 w
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
a
tc
h
 u
p
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 S
ta
ff
s
 C
C
 (
J
C
U
) 

                        

Page 114



R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

 
M
a
in
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 R
a
is
e
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

F
o
re
s
tr
y
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

W
h
a
te
v
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 i
s
 a
g
re
e
d
, 
th
e
re
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 

h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 g
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 w
it
h
in
 e
a
s
y 
re
a
c
h
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
ro
a
d
 G
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

a
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
o
lic
y
 

M
o
rs
to
n
 A
s
s
e
tt
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
m
a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

la
n
d
, 
a
n
d
 w
h
ils
t 
w
e
 d
o
 n
o
t 
o
b
je
c
t 
to
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 4
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
/h
e
c
ta
re
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 

ta
rg
e
t 
p
e
r 
s
e
, 
w
e
 w
o
u
ld
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 w
o
rd
in
g
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 a
b
o
v
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
lo
w
 t
h
is
 t
a
rg
e
t 
w
h
e
re
 t
h
is
 i
s
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 (
i.
e
. 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
 m
ix
e
d
-u
s
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
a
n
 a
re
a
).
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
 c
a
v
e
a
t 
o
f 
‘w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
 &
 

a
p
p
ro
ri
a
te
’ 
a
n
d
 ’
4
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
’.
 

It
 i
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 b
a
n
d
s
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 b
ro
a
d
 

fi
g
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 s
it
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
. 

W
ill
ia
m
 D
a
v
is
 L
td
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 i
n
 P
o
lic
y
 H
5
 t
o
 b
e
 f
a
r 
to
o
 h
ig
h
. 
D
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 o
f 
4
0
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 p
e
r 
h
e
c
ta
re
 (
d
p
h
) 
o
r 
m
o
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 h
ig
h
ly
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 i
n
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
. 
In
 o
u
r 
e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
th
is
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 i
s
 h
ig
h
ly
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 a
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 

fl
a
ts
/a
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 
N
o
t 
o
n
ly
 d
o
 w
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 m
a
rk
e
t 
fo
r 

fl
a
ts
/a
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 e
x
tr
e
m
e
ly
 l
im
it
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
w
e
 a
ls
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
s
u
c
h
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
to
 

b
e
 i
n
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
 m
a
n
y 
s
u
b
u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
s
. 
W
e
 w
e
lc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
4
0
 d
p
h
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 w
h
e
re
 u
n
v
ia
b
le
 o
r 
in
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
is
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
s
 w
e
lc
o
m
e
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
. 
 

W
e
 n
o
te
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p
o
lic
y
 H
5
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
tu
d
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 s
it
e
s
 w
it
h
 a
 t
o
ta
l 
o
f 
1
3
5
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 a
t 
3
0
d
p
h
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

g
ro
s
s
 s
it
e
 s
iz
e
. 
It
 t
h
e
n
 n
o
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 s
it
e
s
 w
o
u
ld
 o
n
ly
 b
e
 

a
b
le
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 1
1
5
0
 u
n
it
s
 i
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
t 
4
0
d
p
h
. 
T
h
is
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
 t
h
e
 

4
0
p
d
h
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
h
a
v
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
h
e
 

e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 i
t 
is
 n
o
t 
a
p
p
a
re
n
t 
h
o
w
 t
h
e
 1
3
5
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
 f
ig
u
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 r
e
a
c
h
e
d
. 

T
h
e
 S
H
L
A
A
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 o
v
e
r 
7
,0
0
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 o
n
 s
it
e
s
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 w
it
h
in
 1
0
 y
e
a
rs
, 

s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 a
re
 m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
it
e
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 

th
e
 r
e
s
id
u
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
o
u
t 
re
q
u
ir
in
g
 t
h
e
 u
n
s
u
it
a
b
ly
 h
ig
h
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 o
f 

4
0
d
p
h
. 
A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
lo
n
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 u
p
 t
o
 1
,4
0
0
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 

N
o
te
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
. 

                      T
h
e
 S
H
L
A
A
 (
F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
) 
o
u
tl
in
e
d
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
 h
ig
h
e
r 
n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 h
ig
h
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
p
p
ly
in
g
 a
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 

H
5
  
D
o
 y
o
u
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 

fi
g
u
re
s
?
 

Page 115



s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 
T
h
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 S
H
L
A
A
 h
a
s
 u
s
e
d
 l
o
w
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 o
f 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 3
0
-4
0
d
p
h
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
o
 b
e
 m
o
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 

B
ro
m
fo
rd
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

D
e
n
s
it
y
 f
ig
u
re
s
 s
e
e
m
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 f
o
r 
th
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
th
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 a
n
d
 i
n
 l
in
e
 

w
it
h
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 l
e
v
e
ls
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 

A
g
re
e
d
 -
 n
o
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
 

M
e
re
v
a
le
 &
 B
ly
th
e
 

E
s
ta
te
s
 

O
b
je
c
t 
a
s
 i
t 
is
 t
o
o
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 r
ig
id
. 
H
o
u
s
e
 b
u
ild
e
rs
 w
ill
 s
e
e
k
 t
o
 m
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
t 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
 b
u
t 
th
e
y
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 s
it
e
s
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
, 
c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
ts
, 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ri
c
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 s
u
rr
o
u
n
d
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 w
h
e
n
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

la
y
o
u
ts
. 
T
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 y
e
a
rs
 o
f 
e
x
p
e
rt
is
e
 a
n
d
 s
k
ill
 i
n
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 l
a
y
o
u
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 i
s
 a
 

m
o
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 w
a
y
 o
f 
m
a
k
in
g
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 t
h
a
n
 r
e
ly
in
g
 o
n
 a
 

c
ru
d
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
 c
a
v
e
a
t 
o
f 
‘w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
 &
 a
p
p
ro
ri
a
te
’ 
a
n
d
 ’
4
0
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
’.
 I
t 
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 b
a
n
d
s
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

to
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 b
ro
a
d
 f
ig
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 s
it
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
. 

B
lo
o
r 
H
o
m
e
s
 

N
o
t 
c
o
n
v
in
c
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
u
n
it
 p
o
lic
y
 i
s
 w
e
ll 
b
a
s
e
d
. 
 A
s
 s
u
c
h
 t
h
is
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
 

d
ir
e
c
t 
c
o
rr
e
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
it
e
s
. 
 

F
u
rt
h
e
rm

o
re
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
fe
a
tu
re
s
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
 i
n
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
. 
  

 In
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
s
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
, 
e
v
e
n
 a
d
o
p
ti
n
g
 a
 n
e
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
, 
w
o
u
ld
 

s
e
e
m
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 s
o
m
e
w
h
a
t 
a
b
s
tr
a
c
t 
c
o
n
c
e
p
t 
w
it
h
o
u
t 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 a
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 s
it
e
 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 o
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
. 
 A
s
 s
u
c
h
 w
e
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 4
0
 p
e
r 
n
e
t 
h
e
c
ta
re
 i
s
 f
la
w
e
d
. 
 S
im
ila
rl
y
 t
h
e
 m
e
th
o
d
 o
f 
c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 i
s
 

in
c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
d
v
ic
e
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 a
n
n
e
x
 t
o
 P
P
S
3
 a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 c
o
u
ld
 c
a
u
s
e
 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 i
n
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
s
. 
  

 W
e
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
h
o
u
ld
 c
ri
ti
c
a
lly
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 a
n
d
 p
e
rh
a
p
s
 a
d
o
p
t 
a
 

b
a
n
d
e
d
 f
ig
u
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
 o
f 
p
o
lic
y
 e
x
p
re
s
s
io
n
 

       T
h
e
 n
e
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
/d
e
n
s
it
y
 r
a
ti
o
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

S
H
L
A
A
 p
a
n
e
l 
s
e
t 
u
p
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 S
H
L
A
A
. 

K
e
n
 F
o
re
s
t 

D
e
n
s
it
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
e
t 
to
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
th
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
th
e
 a
re
a
 t
a
k
in
g
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th
e
 

n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
g
a
rd
e
n
 a
re
a
s
, 
p
ri
v
a
te
 a
m
e
n
it
y
 s
p
a
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
th
e
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
. 
 T
h
e
 

a
fo
re
m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 t
a
b
le
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 s
iz
e
 a
re
a
 s
h
o
w
s
 n
o
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
. 
T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 d
a
ta
 f
ro
m
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
a
g
e
 1
1
. 
K
n
o
w
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
re
a
s
, 
th
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 w
ill
 

u
n
d
o
u
b
te
d
ly
 v
a
ry
, 
th
e
re
fo
re
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 g
iv
e
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
. 

T
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 n
e
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 a
fo
re
m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 

ta
b
le
 w
a
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 S
H
L
A
A
 p
a
n
e
l.
 

T
B
C
/S
S
P
C
T
 

N
o
t 
in
fo
rm

e
d
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
is
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
n
s
w
e
r.
 Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 

th
e
 u
n
it
s
 a
ll 
b
e
 l
iv
in
g
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 
w
ill
 t
h
e
re
 b
e
 r
e
ta
il 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
m
o
n
g
 

th
e
m
. 
A
re
 t
h
e
y
 g
o
in
g
 t
o
 s
in
g
le
 u
n
it
s
 o
r 
fl
a
ts
?
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
o
le
ly
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
m
ix
e
d
 u
s
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 l
o
c
a
te
d
 i
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
. 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

N
o
 v
ie
w
. 
A
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 l
o
c
a
lly
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 

Page 116



C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
P
R
E
 

If
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 i
s
 t
o
 f
o
llo
w
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 o
f 
a
 l
a
rg
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
 o
r 
2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
e
d
 h
o
u
s
e
s
 

a
n
d
 i
s
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 s
u
c
h
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 a
s
 s
ta
rt
e
r 
h
o
m
e
s
, 
th
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ie
s
 t
o
 

b
e
 m
a
d
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
a
llo
w
 o
f 
th
e
 l
o
o
s
e
r 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
la
rg
e
r 
g
a
rd
e
n
s
 i
n
 l
o
w
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 

e
s
ta
te
s
. 
 C
P
R
E
 a
d
v
o
c
a
te
s
 h
e
re
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
re
fu
l 
a
n
d
 i
m
a
g
in
a
ti
v
e
 g
ro
u
p
in
g
 a
n
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 c
o
n
tr
iv
e
d
 f
o
r 
e
ff
e
c
t,
 s
u
rp
ri
s
e
, 
e
n
c
lo
s
u
re
 e
tc
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 t
h
e
 e
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 

s
it
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
, 
a
n
d
 u
ti
lis
e
s
 a
rc
h
it
e
c
tu
ra
l 
a
n
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
k
ill
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 u
tm
o
s
t.
  
T
h
e
 m
ix
 o
f 

ty
p
e
s
 o
f 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 w
ill
, 
p
ro
p
e
rl
y
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
, 
g
iv
e
 t
h
e
 v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 
b
u
ild
in
g
 h
e
ig
h
ts
 s
o
 a
b
s
e
n
t 
in
 o
rt
h
o
d
o
x
 l
a
y
o
u
ts
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 a
rc
h
it
e
c
tu
ra
l 

g
ro
u
p
in
g
s
 o
f 
“s
p
a
c
e
 a
n
d
 p
la
c
e
”.
 

 It
 i
s
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 a
b
o
v
e
 m
e
a
n
s
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 f
ro
m
 4
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 p
e
r 
h
e
c
ta
re
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 s
it
e
 a
re
a
 t
o
 5
0
-6
0
 

d
p
h
 w
it
h
o
u
t 
a
n
y
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
d
e
tr
im
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
d
e
e
d
 w
it
h
 g
re
a
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
t.
 

 C
P
R
E
 c
a
n
n
o
t 
a
t 
th
is
 s
ta
g
e
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 t
a
b
le
, 
p
1
1
, 
w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
w
s
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 

n
e
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
 i
s
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 g
ro
s
s
 s
it
e
 s
iz
e
. 
 0
.4
 h
a
s
 (
1
 a
c
re
) 
to
 2
 h
a
s
 (
5
 

a
c
re
s
) 
h
a
rd
ly
 m
e
ri
ts
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
 o
f 
2
0
%
, 
a
n
d
 2
 h
a
s
 (
5
 a
c
re
s
) 
a
n
d
 

a
b
o
v
e
 d
o
 n
o
t 
ju
s
ti
fy
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
 o
f 
n
e
a
rl
y
 h
a
lf
 (
4
0
%
).
  
S
o
m
e
 

ju
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 s
e
e
m
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
a
lle
d
 f
o
r,
 i
n
v
o
lv
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
n
e
t 
a
n
d
 

g
ro
s
s
 s
it
e
 a
re
a
s
. 
 T
h
e
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
n
e
t 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 w
h
ic
h
 w
e
 u
s
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 “
th
e
 c
u
rt
ila
g
e
 o
f 

th
e
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 r
o
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 m
in
o
r 
o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
s
 p
lu
s
 h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 r
o
a
d
 

u
p
 t
o
 a
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 o
f 
2
0
ft
”.
  
W
it
h
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
 o
c
c
u
p
a
n
c
y
 r
a
te
s
 

p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
l 
a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 a
n
d
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 t
h
e
 l
a
rg
e
s
t 

s
p
a
c
e
 u
s
e
rs
, 
b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
e
q
u
a
te
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 

e
n
v
is
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 T
a
b
le
. 
 

 
 

 
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
e
s
ig
n
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o
n
 a
n
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
 b
a
s
is
 w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 

s
u
c
h
 g
o
o
d
 d
e
s
ig
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 a
re
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
. 

                   T
h
e
 m
e
th
o
d
o
lo
g
y
 w
a
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 S
H
L
A
A
 p
a
n
e
l 
a
n
d
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 o
f 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 
W
e
 d
o
 n
o
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
 t
o
 

a
m
e
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
a
k
e
n
. 

J
V
H
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 

W
a
lt
o
n
 H
o
m
e
s
 

D
e
n
s
it
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 o
n
 a
 s
it
e
 b
y
 s
it
e
 b
a
s
is
, 
th
e
 r
e
m
o
v
a
l 
o
f 
m
in
im
u
m
 

d
e
n
s
it
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 i
n
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 i
s
 a
n
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
s
in
c
e
 P
P
G
 3
’s
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
w
n
 c
ra
m
m
in
g
 h
a
s
 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 s
o
m
e
 p
o
o
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 t
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
g
a
in
 b
e
 f
le
x
ib
ly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
. 
It
 i
s
 o
b
v
io
u
s
 t
h
a
t 
h
ig
h
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
n
e
a
r 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 n
o
d
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
’s
 w
h
e
re
 h
ig
h
e
r 

d
e
n
s
it
y
 a
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 a
re
 m
o
re
 s
u
it
e
d
. 
It
 i
s
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
a
t 
s
u
c
h
 

fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 c
a
n
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 b
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

b
o
ro
u
g
h
. 
i.
e
. 
3
5
 t
o
 4
0
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 p
e
r 
h
e
c
ta
re
 i
n
 a
re
a
s
 a
w
a
y
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 a
n
d
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 n
o
d
e
s
. 
S
u
c
h
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 s
it
e
s
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
It
 i
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 b
a
n
d
s
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 b
ro
a
d
 f
ig
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 s
it
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
. 

Page 117



a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 s
p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 
b
o
th
 a
m
e
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 p
a
rk
in
g
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 t
h
e
re
b
y
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 a
 h
ig
h
e
r 

q
u
a
lit
y
 l
iv
in
g
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
fr
o
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 

T
u
rl
e
y
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
s
 

fo
r 
H
id
g
e
tt
s
 E
s
ta
te
s
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
n
g
 ‘
n
e
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
s
’ 
is
 c
ru
d
e
 a
n
d
 u
n
lik
e
ly
 

to
 e
n
a
b
le
 a
n
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 o
f 
n
e
w
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 d
e
liv
e
r 
ro
b
u
s
t 
p
o
lic
y 
fo
r 
th
e
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t/
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
; 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
‘n
e
t 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
 d
e
n
s
it
y
’ 
g
iv
e
n
 i
n
 P
P
S
3
. 
In
 s
o
m
e
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 a
 n
e
t 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 o
f 
4
0
d
p
h
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
; 
g
iv
e
n
 t
h
a
t 

fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 i
n
 a
ll 
c
a
s
e
s
, 
to
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
n
d
 s
it
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
v
ia
b
ili
ty
),
 a
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 w
id
e
 

ta
rg
e
t 
fo
r 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 s
e
t.
 

T
h
e
 n
e
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
a
b
le
 a
re
a
/d
e
n
s
it
y
 r
a
ti
o
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

S
H
L
A
A
 p
a
n
e
l 
s
e
t 
u
p
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 S
H
L
A
A
. 
T
h
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

re
la
te
d
 t
o
 m
a
k
in
g
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
‘n
e
t 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
 d
e
n
s
it
y
’ 

in
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 l
a
te
s
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 n
o
te
d
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 

a
p
p
lie
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 p
o
lic
y
. 

 

C
llr
 S
te
v
e
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

W
e
 m
u
s
t 
n
o
t 
a
llo
w
 t
h
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
g
h
e
tt
o
. 
T
h
e
re
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 i
n
 

b
u
ilt
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 o
w
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 a
lik
e
. 
T
h
e
re
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 d
u
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
. 

T
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 m

ix
e
d
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 w
it
h
 a
 m
ix
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
y
p
e
s
, 
w
it
h
 g
o
o
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 a
 q
u
a
lit
y
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t.
 

T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
v
o
id
 t
h
e
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
in
g
le
 t
e
n
u
re
 a
n
d
 s
iz
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
. 

      

R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

 
M
a
in
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 R
a
is
e
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

F
o
re
s
tr
y
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

W
h
a
te
v
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 i
s
 a
g
re
e
d
, 
th
e
re
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 

h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 g
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 w
it
h
in
 e
a
s
y 
re
a
c
h
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
ro
a
d
 G
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

a
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
o
lic
y
 

M
o
rs
to
n
 A
s
s
e
tt
s
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
a
n
y
 p
o
lic
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

re
fl
e
c
t 
th
e
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 o
f 
a
 s
it
e
. 
 W

e
 d
o
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
it
 i
s
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 a
p
p
ly
 r
ig
id
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
p
a
rt
s
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
, 
u
n
le
s
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 

a
llo
w
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
c
o
p
e
 f
o
r 
d
e
v
ia
ti
o
n
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
A
g
re
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 w
o
rd
in
g
 ‘
w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
’ 
b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
w
o
rd
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
. 

W
ill
ia
m
 D
a
v
is
 L
td
 

T
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 w
ill
 c
e
rt
a
in
ly
 v
a
ry
 d
e
p
e
n
d
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 o
f 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
p
a
rt
s
 o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
. 
W
e
 w
o
u
ld
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
 p
o
lic
y
 w
h
ic
h
 

s
e
e
k
s
 h
ig
h
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
, 
w
it
h
 l
o
w
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 s
u
b
u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
s
. 
A
s
 t
h
e
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 p
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
in
d
ic
a
te
s
, 
h
ig
h
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 (
3
0
d
p
h
 a
n
d
 a
b
o
v
e
) 
a
re
 f
o
u
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 

a
re
a
s
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
. 
C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
 s
u
c
h
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
A
 b
a
n
d
e
d
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 

ill
u
s
tr
a
te
 t
h
e
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
s
it
e
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
. 

   

H
5
 D
o
 y
o
u
 t
h
in
k
 w
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 s
e
e
k
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 

d
e
n
s
it
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
p
a
rt
s
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
?
 

Page 118



w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
 t
h
a
t 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
m
u
c
h
 l
o
w
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 (
0
 t
o
 3
0
d
p
h
) 
a
re
 

m
a
in
ly
 f
o
u
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
s
. 
T
h
e
re
fo
re
 W

ill
ia
m
 D
a
v
is
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 

d
e
n
s
it
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 b
e
in
g
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
p
a
rt
s
 o
f 
to
w
n
. 

W
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
a
t 
3
0
d
p
h
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 l
e
v
e
l 
fo
r 
s
u
b
u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
s
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 A
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

       P
a
rt
s
 o
f 
th
e
 A
n
k
e
r 
V
a
lle
y
 a
re
 c
lo
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
te
rc
h
a
n
g
e
 w
h
ic
h
 m
a
k
e
s
 i
t 
a
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 j
u
s
ti
fy
 

h
ig
h
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
. 
D
if
fe
re
n
t 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 l
e
v
e
ls
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
p
p
lie
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

th
e
 m
a
s
te
r 
p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
it
e
. 

B
ro
m
fo
rd
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

In
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 m
e
ri
ts
 a
n
d
 n
o
t 
ti
e
d
 r
ig
id
ly
 t
o
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 o
n
ly
 b
e
 s
e
e
n
 a
s
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
s
. 
 A
 m
id
 p
o
in
t 
s
e
t 
o
f 
ta
rg
e
ts
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

s
m
a
lle
r 
g
e
o
g
ra
p
h
ic
 a
re
a
s
 w
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly
 b
e
 a
b
le
 t
o
 b
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 b
e
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 a
ll 
s
it
e
s
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
It
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
 

e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
ts
. 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 

P
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 t
h
is
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
s
o
lu
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 w
o
u
ld
 h
e
lp
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
lo
c
a
l 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 

a
n
d
 p
ro
te
c
t 
a
m
e
n
it
y
 i
n
 l
o
w
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 a
re
a
s
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
is
 m
a
y 
b
e
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
 i
n
 m
ix
e
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 

a
n
y
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
, 
a
m
e
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 l
a
n
d
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
, 
n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 t
o
 a
v
o
id
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
a
t 
w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
o
r 
a
 l
o
c
a
lis
e
d
 a
re
a
. 
W
h
e
re
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 g
ra
s
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 

d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 T
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 a
n
d
 T
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 e
d
g
e
s
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
llo
w
 f
o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 m
a
in
 i
s
s
u
e
 i
s
 t
o
 r
e
ta
in
 f
le
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 b
e
 a
b
le
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
, 
re
fl
e
c
t 
lo
c
a
l 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
n
d
 p
ro
te
c
t 
a
m
e
n
it
y
/o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 y
e
t 
s
ti
ll 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
It
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
 

e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
ts
. 

M
e
re
v
a
le
 &
 B
ly
th
e
 

E
s
ta
te
s
 

T
h
e
 h
o
u
s
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
y
 w
ill
 n
a
tu
ra
lly
 d
e
liv
e
r 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 o
n
 s
it
e
s
 i
n
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
ro
u
n
d
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
. 
T
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 o
n
 a
 s
it
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
o
n
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
, 
p
ri
c
e
, 
c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
u
rr
o
u
n
d
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 

u
n
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 f
o
r 
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
o
 s
e
e
k
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 a
s
 

a
g
a
in
 i
t 
is
 t
o
o
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 r
ig
id
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
W
h
ils
t 
w
e
 a
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 t
o
 s
e
t 
a
 b
a
n
d
e
d
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 

c
ri
te
ri
a
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

b
o
ro
u
g
h
, 
It
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
ts
. 

K
e
n
 F
o
re
s
t 

D
e
n
s
it
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
e
t 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 w
e
 d
e
liv
e
r 
h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
 m
in
im
a
l 

d
e
n
s
it
y
. 
 A
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
t 
b
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 i
n
 p
ra
c
ti
s
e
 t
h
e
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 h
a
s
 g
a
in
e
d
, 
if
 s
e
t 

to
o
 h
ig
h
 t
h
e
n
 w
e
 c
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 i
n
 r
e
fu
s
in
g
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 h
ig
h
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 l
o
w
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
. 
W
h
ils
t 
th
is
 l
ik
e
ly
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
s
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
la
n
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
A
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
 

it
s
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
a
n
d
 v
ia
b
le
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 b
a
n
d
e
d
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 a
re
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

Page 119



s
o
 b
e
 i
t.
 I
t 
is
 p
re
fe
ra
b
le
 t
o
 e
rr
 o
n
 t
h
e
 s
a
fe
 s
id
e
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 b
u
t 
h
a
v
e
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
v
ia
b
le
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 

T
B
C
/S
S
P
C
T
 

Y
e
s
, 
a
s
 i
t 
m
a
y
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
 b
e
tt
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
c
o
h
e
s
io
n
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

N
o
 v
ie
w
. 
A
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 l
o
c
a
lly
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 

C
P
R
E
 

C
P
R
E
 c
o
n
s
id
e
rs
 t
h
a
t 
in
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
re
s
t 
o
f 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
in
g
 a
n
d
 r
e
in
fo
rc
in
g
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
’s
 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
n
d
 a
v
o
id
in
g
 a
n
y
 t
e
n
d
e
n
c
y
 t
o
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
m
o
n
o
to
n
y
, 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
d
e
n
s
it
y
 z
o
n
e
s
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 z
o
n
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 o
f 
s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
lly
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 

d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r.
  
W
e
 r
e
a
d
 t
h
is
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 (
p
1
2
) 
th
e
 L
P
A
 

in
te
n
ti
o
n
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
e
 e
n
d
o
rs
e
, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 i
n
d
ic
a
ti
n
g
 i
f 
it
 r
e
la
te
s
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 h
is
to
ri
c
 

a
re
a
s
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 t
a
k
in
g
 a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 r
o
u
te
s
. 
C
R
P
E
 w
o
u
ld
 

n
o
t 
s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
p
e
d
a
n
ti
c
 m
in
o
r 
d
if
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 o
w
n
 s
a
k
e
, 
b
u
t 
o
n
ly
 a
s
 a
 

c
o
m
p
o
n
e
n
t 
re
in
fo
rc
in
g
 a
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
lo
c
a
l 
id
e
n
ti
ty
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
W
h
ils
t 
w
e
 a
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 t
o
 s
e
t 
a
 b
a
n
d
e
d
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
, 
It
 

is
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
it
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
ts
. 

J
V
H
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 

W
a
lt
o
n
 H
o
m
e
s
 

If
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a
re
 t
o
 b
e
 s
e
t 
th
e
s
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly
 m
ir
ro
r 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 

p
a
tt
e
rn
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 m
a
y 
n
o
t 
re
fl
e
c
t 
m
o
d
e
rn
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 a
re
a
s
 w
h
e
re
 h
o
u
s
e
s
 

w
e
re
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
te
d
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 o
w
n
in
g
 c
a
rs
 a
n
d
 s
o
m
e
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
te
d
 w
it
h
o
u
t 
g
a
rd
e
n
s
. 
A
 f
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
is
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 

p
a
rk
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
d
a
n
g
e
r 
a
s
 e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 v
e
h
ic
le
 r
o
u
te
s
 a
re
 b
lo
c
k
e
d
 b
y
 

re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 f
o
rc
e
d
 t
o
 p
a
rk
 i
n
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
 d
u
e
 t
o
 a
 l
a
c
k
 o
f 
s
e
n
s
ib
le
 o
ff
 

ro
a
d
 p
a
rk
in
g
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
to
w
n
 c
ra
m
m
in
g
. 
A
 f
le
x
ib
le
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 t
o
 

d
e
n
s
it
y
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
A
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
 

it
s
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
a
n
d
 v
ia
b
le
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 b
a
n
d
e
d
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 a
re
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 b
u
t 
h
a
v
e
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
v
ia
b
le
 

a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 m
o
d
e
rn
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

C
llr
 S
te
v
e
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

I 
b
e
lie
v
e
 w
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
d
e
n
s
it
y
  
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

to
w
n
, 
th
is
 p
re
v
e
n
ts
 s
o
m
e
 a
re
a
s
 b
e
in
g
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 d
o
w
n
 u
p
o
n
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 h
ig
h
 v
o
lu
m
e
 

a
n
d
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 w
h
ic
h
 b
ri
n
g
s
 w
it
h
 i
t 
it
s
 o
w
n
 s
e
t 
o
f 
s
o
c
ia
l/
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

p
ro
b
le
m
s
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
A
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
 

it
s
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
a
n
d
 v
ia
b
le
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 b
a
n
d
e
d
 d
e
n
s
it
y
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
 a
re
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 b
u
t 
h
a
v
e
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
v
ia
b
le
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 

        

Page 120



 

R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

 
M
a
in
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 R
a
is
e
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

F
o
re
s
tr
y
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

W
e
lc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 s
p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 
p
la
y
, 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
m
e
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 –
 

th
e
re
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 g
re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
/g
re
e
n
 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 w
it
h
in
 e
a
s
y
 r
e
a
c
h
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

N
o
rt
h
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 

B
C
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 b
a
s
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
n
a
b
lin
g
 

G
y
p
s
y
 a
n
d
 t
ra
v
e
lle
rs
 s
it
e
s
 t
o
 c
o
m
e
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
 m
o
re
 

d
e
ta
ile
d
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 (
fo
llo
w
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 S
o
u
th
e
rn
 S
ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
e
rn
 W

a
rw
ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 G
y
p
s
y
 

a
n
d
 T
ra
v
e
lle
r 
A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t)
. 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
n
o
te
 t
h
e
 l
o
w
 f
ig
u
re
s
 f
o
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
it
c
h
e
s
 a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
lu
c
ta
n
c
e
 o
f 
s
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 G
y
p
s
y
 a
n
d
 T
ra
v
e
lle
r 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
te
 i
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 b
u
t 
th
e
re
 a
re
 s
o
m
e
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 

ta
rg
e
ts
/f
ig
u
re
s
 m
a
y
 b
e
 t
o
o
 l
o
w
 a
n
d
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
u
ra
te
ly
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
  
p
o
s
it
io
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 H
ig
h
w
a
y
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 u
s
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 t
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

a
lo
n
g
 t
h
e
 A
5
 t
ru
n
k
 r
o
a
d
  
a
n
d
 c
lo
s
e
 t
o
 M
6
 a
n
d
 M
4
2
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 o
f 
th
e
 o
p
in
io
n
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 

c
o
n
ta
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 G
T
A
A
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
t 
th
e
 m
o
s
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 

b
a
s
e
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
. 

T
B
C
/S
S
P
C
T
 

A
re
 t
h
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 s
it
e
s
 s
p
re
a
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 o
r 
a
re
 t
h
e
y
 a
ll 
in
 o
n
e
 a
re
a
. 
I 

re
a
lis
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 c
o
u
ld
 o
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 b
e
 n
a
m
e
d
 

a
s
 G
P
/ 
D
e
n
ti
s
t.
 

T
h
e
re
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 n
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 s
it
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
’s
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
. 
W
h
ils
t 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
 t
o
 a
llo
c
a
te
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

s
it
e
s
 i
t 
s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
a
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 b
a
s
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
u
it
a
b
ili
ty
 

o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
s
it
e
s
. 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

L
ic
h
fi
e
ld
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
fo
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
G
y
p
s
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
v
e
lle
rs
. 
T
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 t
h
a
t 
s
u
it
a
b
le
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 

lim
it
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 D
is
tr
ic
t’
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 

s
o
u
g
h
t.
 I
t 
is
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 p
re
s
e
n
t 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 a
n
y
 c
ro
s
s
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
. 
In
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
tr
a
n
s
it
 p
it
c
h
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
it
 i
s
 o
u
r 
v
ie
w
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 

c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
t 
a
 s
u
b
-r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
le
v
e
l.
 T
h
e
 G
T
A
A
 a
p
p
o
rt
io
n
e
d
 5
 t
ra
n
s
it
 p
it
c
h
e
s
 

to
 e
a
c
h
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
/d
is
tr
ic
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
 m
a
y 
b
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 i
n
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
/p
o
o
lin
g
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 

a
n
y
 c
o
s
ts
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
s
u
c
h
 s
it
e
s
. 
T
h
e
 G
T
A
A
 d
id
 s
e
t 

o
u
t 
a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
g
y
p
s
y
, 
tr
a
v
e
lle
r 
a
n
d
 

tr
a
v
e
lli
n
g
 s
h
o
w
p
e
o
p
le
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 A
5
 c
o
rr
id
o
r 
s
u
b
-r
e
g
io
n
. 
It
 i
s
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 

th
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 u
n
d
e
rp
in
 a
n
y
 c
ro
s
s
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

T
h
e
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 u
p
d
a
te
 o
f 
th
e
 S
H
L
A
A
 e
m
p
h
a
s
is
e
s
 t
h
e
 l
a
c
k
 o
f 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 a
llo
c
a
te
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 s
it
e
s
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
s
tr
ic
te
d
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 s
it
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
. 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 o
f 
th
e
 o
p
in
io
n
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 c
o
n
ta
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 G
T
A
A
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
t 
th
e
 m
o
s
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
, 

h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
p
ir
it
 o
f 
th
e
 f
o
rt
h
c
o
m
in
g
 d
u
ty
 t
o
 c
o
-o
p
e
ra
te
, 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
y
 c
ro
s
s
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

D
e
rb
y
s
h
ir
e
 G
y
p
s
y
 

L
ia
is
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
 

•
 
'G
y
p
s
y
' s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
a
d
 'G

y
p
s
ie
s
'  

•
 
T
h
e
 
w
o
rd
in
g
 
'to
 
e
n
a
b
le
 
th
e
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
it
c
h
e
s
' 
im
p
lie
s
 
th
a
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
s
ti
ll 
d
o
 n
o
t 
in
te
n
d
 t
o
 a
c
tu
a
lly
 a
llo
c
a
te
 a
 s
it
e
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

T
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 c
o
n
fo
rm

s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 c
o
n
ta
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

e
m
e
rg
in
g
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
‘P
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 

T
ra
v
e
lle
r 
S
it
e
s
’ 
w
h
ic
h
, 
o
n
 a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
, 
w
ill
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

H
6
 D
o
 y
o
u
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

G
y
p
s
ie
s
, 
T
ra
v
e
ll
e
rs
 a
n
d
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 S
h
o
w
p
e
o
p
le
?
 

Page 121



n
e
e
d
 
in
 
th
e
 
a
re
a
, 
c
o
n
tr
a
ry
 
to
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
p
o
lic
y
 
in
 
C
ir
c
u
la
r 
0
1
/2
0
0
6
. 
 

T
h
e
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 i
s
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
. 

     •
 
T
h
e
 
w
o
rd
in
g
 
'P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 
w
ill
 
b
e
 
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 
to
 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 
to
 
th
e
 
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 
o
f 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 m
ix
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
' i
s
 v
a
g
u
e
. 
  

•
 
C
ri
te
ri
o
n
 C

 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
a
d
 '
T
h
e
 s
it
e
 m

u
s
t 
b
e
 c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 o
n
 s
it
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
w
a
te
r 
s
u
p
p
ly
, 
d
ra
in
a
g
e
, 
s
e
w
a
g
e
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
a
n
d
 w
a
s
te
 

d
is
p
o
s
a
l' 
fo
r 
c
la
ri
ty
 

•
 
C
ri
te
ri
o
n
 D
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
a
d
 'T
h
e
 s
it
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
ly
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 

to
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
, 
s
h
o
p
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
lo
c
a
l 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
'  
  

C
ir
c
u
la
rs
. 

It
 a
llo
w
s
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 t
o
 s
e
t 
th
e
ir
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 h
is
to
ri
c
a
l 

d
e
m
a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 n
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
. 
W
h
e
re
 t
h
is
 i
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
lic
y
 a
llo
w
s
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

b
a
s
e
d
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 i
n
 p
la
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
te
rm

in
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

if
 t
h
e
y
 c
o
m
e
 f
o
rw
a
rd
. 

A
g
re
e
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
e
le
te
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
. 

 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 w
h
e
n
 c
o
m
p
ili
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 

p
o
lic
y
. 

C
P
R
E
 

T
h
e
 L
P
A
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 a
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 n
e
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 w
e
 b
e
lie
v
e
 d
ra
ft
 P
o
lic
y
 H
6
 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te
ly
 d
e
fi
n
e
s
 t
h
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 a
n
y
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w
h
e
re
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 (
a
n
d
 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 w
h
e
re
 a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
) 
is
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 
 W

e
 d
o
 n
o
t 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
t 
th
is
 s
ta
g
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
is
 u
n
d
u
ly
 o
n
e
ro
u
s
 a
s
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

n
u
m
b
e
rs
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 a
t 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
ta
g
e
. 

 C
P
R
E
 i
s
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 a
ri
s
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 P
la
n
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

fr
o
m
 a
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
m
a
jo
r 
in
fl
u
x
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 E
U
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 a
t 
a
 l
e
v
e
l 

in
c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
p
u
rs
u
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 t
ra
d
it
io
n
a
l 
e
m
p
lo
ym

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
s
is
ta
n
t 
to
 i
n
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

a
s
s
im
ila
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 h
o
s
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
 W

e
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
th
a
t 
th
e
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 m
e
ri
ts
 a
 r
o
lli
n
g
 

re
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

  

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 

        A
n
y
 f
u
tu
re
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 

c
ri
te
ri
a
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

E
la
n
o
r 
P
a
tr
ic
k
 

I 
w
a
s
 a
ls
o
 p
le
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
 t
h
a
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 t
h
e
ir
 p
o
lic
y
 o
n
 

G
y
p
s
y
 a
n
d
 T
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
. 
 I
t 
w
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 n
ic
e
r 
to
 h
a
v
e
 r
e
a
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 

m
in
o
ri
ty
 g
ro
u
p
 h
a
d
 a
c
tu
a
lly
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
. 
M
a
n
y
 o
f 
u
s
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 

m
in
o
ri
ty
 g
ro
u
p
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 h
a
v
e
 l
o
n
g
 b
e
e
n
 p
e
rs
e
c
u
te
d
 a
n
d
 w
e
 m
u
s
t 
a
ll 
m
a
k
e
 a
n
 e
ff
o
rt
 

to
 e
n
s
u
re
 p
e
rs
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
. 
P
ro
v
is
io
n
 t
o
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
 t
h
is
 g
ro
u
p
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

to
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
m
 f
e
e
l 
le
s
s
 i
s
o
la
te
d
 o
r 
e
x
c
lu
d
e
d
 f
ro
m
 s
o
c
ie
ty
 i
s
 a
 r
o
le
 t
h
a
t 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
d
 m
a
k
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 f
o
r.
 S
o
c
ia
l 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
. 
R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 G
y
p
s
y
, 
T
ra
v
e
lle
rs
 a
n
d
 

tr
a
v
e
lli
n
g
 S
h
o
w
p
e
o
p
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

e
m
e
rg
in
g
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
n
d
s
 h
a
v
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
. 

Page 122



w
h
ic
h
 r
e
c
o
g
n
iz
e
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 i
s
 a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
. 

 

C
llr
 S
te
v
e
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

T
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 l
iv
e
 a
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
ty
p
e
 o
f 
lif
e
 s
ty
le
. 
T
h
a
t 
b
e
in
g
 o
f 
a
 t
ra
n
s
ie
n
t 
n
a
tu
re
. 
I 

w
o
u
ld
 h
a
p
p
ily
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 t
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
, 
b
u
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
 t
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 f
a
il 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
c
a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 u
p
k
e
e
p
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 s
a
id
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 t
h
e
 

fi
x
e
d
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
c
a
rr
y
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
b
u
rd
e
n
 o
f 
d
o
in
g
 s
o
. 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 n
o
te
d
. 

G
a
ry
 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

A
g
re
e
 t
h
a
t 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 h
a
s
 a
 l
im
it
e
d
 s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 d
is
tr
ic
ts
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
t 
to
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
te
 t
h
e
s
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
f 
a
t 
a
ll 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
 

K
e
n
 F
o
re
s
t 

A
g
re
e
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
o
te
d
 

 

Page 123



Page 124

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

APPENDIX B: The Sustainability Appraisal 
 
 
The requirement for Sustainability Appraisal 
 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires Development Plan 
Documents to contribute towards the achievement of more sustainable development.  
The Sustainability Appraisal process has a key role to play in fulfilling this requirement 
by ensuring that sustainability issues are given full consideration in the preparation 
and adoption of plans, particularly when formulating and refining policies. 
 
Stages of the Sustainability Appraisal 
 
The Borough Council has been working on the Core Strategy since 2006 and has 
produced a number of consultation documents, including the Issues and Options in 
2008, an Option report in 2009 and most recently the specific Housing Policy 
document.   
 
The Core Strategy Issues and Options report included suggestions for core policies 
and four spatial options to deliver future sustainable growth: 
 
Option 1: Urban containment and regeneration 
Option 2: Urban containment and Anker Valley intensification 
Option 3: Greenfield urban extensions 
Option 4: Greenfield and Green Belt urban extensions 
 
The report was accompanied by an Initial Sustainability Appraisal, which covered the 
following tasks: 
 

Task B1 Testing the DPD objectives against the SA framework 

Task B2 Developing the DPD options 

Task B3 Predicting the effects of the DPD 

Task B4 Evaluating the effects of the DPD 

 
The appraisal concluded that Option 1 was the most sustainable because of the 
minimal urban expansion involved and the ability to use existing services and facilities.  
Despite Option one scoring the highest through the appraisal process, it was expected 
that the final spatial option would involve elements of a number of the options.   
 
The Proposed Spatial Strategy was the result of consideration of responses to the 
Option report consultation, understanding of the emerging evidence base and the 
Initial Sustainability Appraisal.  The sustainability appraisal of the Proposed Spatial 
Strategy considered all the proposed core policies with the exception of H3 relating to 
affordable housing.  This was because the policy had not been developed at that 
stage, pending the completion further housing studies.   
 
The Housing Policy chapter of the Core Strategy was revised in 2011 following the 
completion of the affordable housing viability work, so that it comprised: 
 
H1 – revised policy for housing delivery 

Page 125



 2 

H2 – unchanged policy for Anker Valley site 
H3 – revised policy on affordable housing 
H4 – new policy on housing need 
H5 – new policy on housing density 
H6 – revised policy on Gypsy and Travelling Showpeople accommodation 
 
Public consultation took place between February and April 2011, to which 134 
individual comments were received from 34 respondents.  The Council is now taking 
the opportunity to appraise the policies in light of representations received to the 
consultation.  Each policy has been assessed alongside one realistic alternative option 
using the appraisal framework set out below. 
 
Scoring the Policies 
 
The framework used to assess the policy options was established through the 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report. The objective of the appraisal is to highlight 
the different advantages and disadvantages of each option.  
 
The appraisal objectives have been modified since the Proposed Spatial Strategy to 
take into account the phasing out of the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) and the 
recognition that there is duplication in some of objectives.  As a result, Sustainability 
Appraisal objective SA1 has been amended to remove reference to the RSS, SA7 and 
SA13 have been combined and SA19 and SA20 have been combined.  Appendix 1 
contains the revised sustainability appraisal objectives. 
 
The same scoring system has been used throughout the various stages of the Core 
Strategy, which uses the following symbols to give a score for each option under every 
objective: 
 

 Symbol Score 

 
Major Positive 
Minor Positive 
 
Neutral 
 
Minor Negative 
Major Negative 
 
Uncertain 
 

 
++ 
+ 
 
0 
 
- 
- - 
 
? 

 
+2 
+1 
 
0 
 
-1 
-2 
 
0 

 
 
Sustainability Appraisal of the Housing Policies 
 
The appraisal of the housing policies is set out in Appendix 2.  The sustainability 
appraisal considers all the revised housing policies, which are H1, H3, H4 and H5.  
Policy H2 was unchanged and although H6 was amended its intent remained the 
same.  Following the consultation, a decision was taken to introduce a separate policy 
on flexi-care housing provision, justified on the basis of local circumstances.  
 

Page 126



 3 

All policies were assessed as they were drafted for the consultation and are set out as 
option 1 in the appraisal framework.  In addition, every policy has been assessed 
alongside one realistic alternative option (option 2).  The total scores for each policy 
show that option 1 has scored highest in every instance, which provides a sound 
endorsement that the preferred policy approach is the most appropriate for Tamworth. 
 
Next Steps: Moving towards an adopted Core Strategy 
 
The Council is due to consider the consultation responses to the housing policy 
consultation at Cabinet in August.  There will be some re-working of the entire Core 
Strategy before the Publication Draft is produced for consultation in January 2012 for 
a period of 6 weeks.  Upon publication, the Core Strategy will be accompanied by a 
sustainability statement which will appraise all the policies contained within the 
document.  Submission is due in early summer 2012. 
 
 

 
 

Page 127



 4 

Appendix 1 
Revised Sustainability Appraisal Framework 
 
SA1 To meet national policy in the most appropriate and sustainable way for 

Tamworth 

SA2 To meet the housing needs of the whole community 

SA3 To encourage the efficient use of land 

SA4 To reduce deprivation 

SA5 To ensure equal access to community services and facilities 

SA6 To encourage equal access to education, jobs and training 

SA7 To encourage active and healthier lifestyles by providing accessible 
networks of paths, open spaces and formal recreation facilities 

SA8 To make communities safer by reducing crime, fear of crime and anti-
social behaviour 

SA9 To encourage a diverse and competitive economy that will provide 
sustainable economic growth 

SA10 To protect and enhance historic assets 

SA11 To encourage high quality and locally distinct places, spaces and 
buildings 

SA12 To protect and enhance biodiversity and sites of nature conservation 
value 

SA13 To minimise flood risk 

SA14 To reduce energy consumption by encouraging energy efficiency and use 
of renewable energy sources 

SA15 To encourage the reduction, re-use and recycling of waste and water 

SA16 To minimise pollution including air, water, land contamination and noise 

SA17 To make Tamworth town centre the heart of the borough by creating a 
vibrant and attractive environment 

SA18 To reduce the need to travel and encourage sustainable modes of 
transport 

SA19 To make best use of the existing transport infrastructure and seek 
improvements 

 
 
 

Page 128



 5

Appendix 2 
Sustainability Appraisal of Revised Housing Policies 
 
H1 Housing Delivery-meeting Tamworth’s housing needs in neighbouring authorities  
 

 
Option 1: Identifying broad locations within 
neighbouring authorities to meet Tamworth’s future 
housing needs 
 

 
Option 2: Not Identifying broad locations within neighbouring 
authorities to meet Tamworth’s future housing needs 
 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
SA1: To meet national policy in the most appropriate and sustainable way for Tamworth 

++ Allocating sites is in accordance with national and 
regional planning policy as the approach could ensure a 
flexible, responsive supply of land is delivered for 
housing which is available, suitable and achievable. It 
complies with the requirement to illustrate flexibility to 
deal with changing circumstances 
Sites identified, particularly within North Warwickshire 
scored highly against sustainability and viability criteria 
in the Joint Development & Infrastructure Study.  

- If the requirement for additional housing growth is confirmed, the 
inability of the Core Strategy to identify sufficient locations to 
accommodate need would result in the document being found 
‘unsound’. Subsequently Tamworth would not have an up to date 
development plan in place resulting in housing sites being allowed on a 
piecemeal basis through the appeal process and impacting on the 
ability to deliver sustainability targets which could also place additional 
pressure on Tamworth’s infrastructure. It could also place pressure to 
release green belt locations, employment sites and/or open space 
which could fail to deliver sustainable benefits for Tamworth whilst 
potentially resulting in the loss of important green spaces and natural 
boundaries to adjoining settlements. 

 
SA2: To meet the housing needs of the whole community 

+ Ensuring adequate large sites to accommodate future 
housing needs should ensure that economy of scale 
benefits are realised. This could increase the viability to 
deliver a mixture of housing types including affordable 
housing. 

- Not allocating sufficient sites could reduce the ability to deliver an 
appropriate mixture of housing types and the lack of larger sites could 
negate the ability to provide a sufficient supply of affordable housing to 
meet Tamworth’s needs. 

 

P
age 129



 6

SA3: To encourage the efficient use of land  

0 Allocating larger sites should enable sites to be planned 
holistically to encourage the most efficient use of land 
and incorporate higher densities. However, overall 
benefits would only arise if all existing brownfield sites 
had been developed prior to the release of these sites. 

0 Tamworth’s spatial strategy emphasises the ‘brownfield site’ first 
principle which should result in the most efficient use of land and 
appropriate density levels. If further housing needs are confirmed, not 
identifying sites could place pressure on greenbelt and Greenfield 
locations and employment sites therefore reducing the efficient use of 
land within the borough.  

 
SA4: To reduce deprivation 

0 Will not have any direct impact. 0 Will not have any direct impact on deprivation although the inability to 
meet housing need could reduce the availability of appropriate number 
and type of housing therefore increasing the number of people living  
in inappropriate accommodation. 

 
SA5: To ensure equal access to community services and facilities 

0 Will not have any direct impact. 0 Will not have any direct impact. 

 
SA6: To encourage equal access to education, jobs and training 

0 Will not have any direct impact on ensuring equal 
access to education, jobs and training although the 
scale of the sites would result in a contribution towards 
delivering educational facilities.. 

0 Will not have any direct impact. 

 
SA7: To encourage active and healthier lifestyles by providing accessible networks of paths, open spaces and formal recreation facilities 

+ Larger sites could be planned to accommodate open 
spaces, paths and formal recreation facilities and/or 
offer financial contributions towards improvements to 
existing provision. 

0 Will not have any direct impact on providing  accessible networks 
although these could come under pressure for future housing if a need 
is confirmed and no locations are identified. 

 
SA8: To make communities safer by reducing crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour 

0 Will not have any direct impact on making communities 
safer. However, the scale of the sites would allow 
designs to incorporate the majority of designing out 
crime principles 

0 Will not have any direct impact on making communities safer 

P
age 130



 7

 

 
SA9: To encourage a diverse and competitive economy that will provide sustainable economic growth 

0 Would not have any direct impact. 0 Would not have any direct impact. 

 
SA10: To protect and enhance historic assets 

0 None of the sites contain or are adjacent to historic 
assets so no direct impact. 

0 No direct impact on historic assets. 

 
SA11: To encourage high quality and locally distinct places, spaces and buildings 

+ Larger sites may offer an opportunity to create diverse 
range of buildings and spaces which in turn may deliver 
locally distinct places, spaces and buildings. The 
economy of scale benefits may increase the viability of 
larger sites therefore resulting in higher design 
standards. 

0 Relying on smaller sites may be able to deliver high quality and locally 
distinct places, spaces and buildings but reduced economies of scale 
may reduce site viability and less contributions and may impact on 
achieving higher standards. 

 
SA12: To protect and enhance biodiversity and sites of nature conservation value 

0 Several sites are located close to sites of nature 
conservation value but no direct impacts are likely given 
the distance to the designations. 

0 No direct impact on protecting sites of nature conservation and the 
protection of biodiversity. 

 
SA13: To minimise flood risk 

+ Several locations are sited outside of flood risk areas. 0 Existing housing sites have been identified on the basis of them 
having a low risk of flooding and individual applications may require a 
flood risk assessment to assess the risk which would have to be either 
mediated or the proposal refused. 

 
SA14: To reduce energy consumption by encouraging energy efficiency and use of renewable energy sources 

+ The scale of the locations offers the potential for the 
incorporation of renewable and low carbon forms of 
energy supply. 

0 Reliance on smaller sites may reduce the viability of delivering higher 
standards but all would be expected to incorporate a minimum level of 
energy efficiency measures. 

 
SA15: To encourage the reduction, re-use and recycling of waste and water 

+ The scale of new and enhanced infrastructure required 0 Reliance on smaller sites may reduce the viability of delivering higher 

P
age 131



 8

to service the locations would result in greater efficiency 
measures being incorporated so contributing towards 
potentially increased reductions. 

reductions but all would be expected to incorporate a minimum level of 
forms of measures to reduce water use and increase recycling. 

 
SA16: To minimise pollution including air, water, land contamination and noise 

0 No direct impact  0 No direct impact 

 
SA17: To make Tamworth town centre the heart of the borough by creating a vibrant and attractive environment 

0 No direct impact 0 No direct impact 

 
SA18: To reduce the need to travel and encourage sustainable modes of transport 

0 No direct impact 0 No direct impact 

 
SA19: To make best use of the existing transport infrastructure and seek improvements 

0 No direct impact 0 No direct impact 

 

Final Sustainability Appraisal Scores for Options 

Option 
1 

 
8 

Option 
2 

 
-2 

 

P
age 132



 9

Policy H3 Affordable Housing  
 

 
Option 1: Seek to provide a target of 43 affordable 
housing units pa with banded delivery thresholds based 
on site size (number of dwellings)  
 

 
Option 2: Seek to provide a target of 43 affordable housing units pa 
but no specific site based thresholds 
 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
SA1: To meet national policy in the most appropriate and sustainable way for Tamworth 

++ Setting an overall target and range of circumstances 
including minimum site size thresholds is compliant with 
PPS3 and is based on a robust local assessment of 
need. 

+ Whilst setting an overall target partly complies with PPS3 guidance, the 
lack of site threshold may impact on delivery particularly on smaller 
sites. 

 
SA2: To meet the housing needs of the whole community 

++ The overall target and thresholds should enable 
adequate level of affordable housing to be delivered 
across Tamworth to meet local needs. 

+ Whilst the overall target should assist the delivery of affordable housing 
not having thresholds could potentially result in provision being on a 
less structured basis with an over reliance on individual negotiation. 

 
SA3: To encourage the efficient use of land  

0 No impact on ensuring the efficient use of land has been 
identified. 

0 No impact on ensuring the efficient use of land has been identified 

 
SA4: To reduce deprivation 

+ Ensuring that adequate numbers of affordable housing 
is provided to meet local needs should ensure that 
communities have access to appropriate housing which 
is affordable thus reducing deprivation created by 
inappropriate housing provision. 

+ The affordable housing target should ensure that needs are addressed 
therefore impacting positively on reducing deprivation caused by 
inadequate access to housing. 

 
SA5: To ensure equal access to community services and facilities 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

P
age 133



 10

 
SA6: To encourage equal access to education, jobs and training 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

 
SA7: To encourage active and healthier lifestyles by providing accessible networks of paths, open spaces and formal recreation facilities 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

 
SA8: To make communities safer by reducing crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

 
SA9: To encourage a diverse and competitive economy that will provide sustainable economic growth 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

 
SA10: To protect and enhance historic assets 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

 
SA11: To encourage high quality and locally distinct places, spaces and buildings 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

 
SA12: To protect and enhance biodiversity and sites of nature conservation value 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

 
SA13: To minimise flood risk 

0 No direct impact has been identified. 0 No direct impact has been identified. 

 
SA14: To reduce energy consumption by encouraging energy efficiency and use of renewable energy sources 

+ Affordable housing provided by Registered Social 
Landlords tend to achieve higher energy efficiency 
standards. 

+ Affordable housing provided by Registered Social Landlords tend to 
achieve higher energy efficiency standards. 

 
SA15: To encourage the reduction, re-use and recycling of waste and water 

+ Affordable housing provided by Registered Social 
Landlords tend to achieve higher standards 

+ Affordable housing provided by Registered Social Landlords tend to 
achieve higher standards 

P
age 134



 11

 
SA16: To minimise pollution including air, water, land contamination and noise 

0 No direct impact has been identified 0 No direct impact has been identified 

 
SA17: To make Tamworth town centre the heart of the borough by creating a vibrant and attractive environment 

+ The spatial strategy will encourage the provision of new 
housing, which in accordance with the site threshold 
approach will deliver affordable housing in and around 
the town centre. This, in turn, will increase the town 
centre population therefore increasing demand for town 
centre services and contributing to its economy. 

+ The spatial strategy will encourage the provision of new housing, 
which in accordance with affordable housing target may deliver 
affordable housing in and around the town centre. This, in turn, will 
increase the town centre population therefore increasing demand for 
town centre services and contributing to its economy 

 
SA18: To reduce the need to travel and encourage sustainable modes of transport 

0 No direct impact has been identified 0 No direct impact has been identified 

 
SA19: To make best use of the existing transport infrastructure and seek improvements 

0 No direct impact has been identified 0 No direct impact has been identified 

 

Final Sustainability Appraisal Scores for Options 

Option 
1 

 
8 

Option 
2 

 
6 

P
age 135



 12

Policy H4 Housing needs 
 

 
Option 1:  Provide a range of housing types and sizes 
and address local needs by setting proportional targets 
for dwelling size, with an emphasis on smaller dwellings 
 

 
Option 2:  Provide a range of housing types and sizes but do not 
specify targets for dwelling size or type 
 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
SA1: To meet national policy in the most appropriate and sustainable way for Tamworth 

+ Providing a range of dwelling types in order to build 
mixed communities is in line with PPS3.   

+ Providing a range of dwelling types in order to build mixed communities 
is in line with PPS3.   

 
SA2: To meet the housing needs of the whole community 

++ Using evidence specific to Tamworth to set targets for 
dwelling size will address local housing needs. 

+ Whilst a range of housing types and sizes will address some local 
needs, a lack of targets means that Tamworth’s specific housing needs 
are not addressed.  

 
SA3: To encourage the efficient use of land  

+ Smaller dwellings should occupy less land, enabling 
higher densities to be achieved. 

0 No impact. 

 
SA4: To reduce deprivation 

+ Providing a larger proportion of smaller dwellings will 
help address issues of affordability. 

+ Providing a range of housing types should address issues of 
affordability. 

 
SA5: To ensure equal access to community services and facilities 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA6: To encourage equal access to education, jobs and training 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

P
age 136



 13

 

 
SA7: To encourage active and healthier lifestyles by providing accessible networks of paths, open spaces and formal recreation facilities 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA8: To make communities safer by reducing crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA9: To encourage a diverse and competitive economy that will provide sustainable economic growth 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA10: To protect and enhance historic assets 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA11: To encourage high quality and locally distinct places, spaces and buildings 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA12: To protect and enhance biodiversity and sites of nature conservation value 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA13: To minimise flood risk 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA14: To reduce energy consumption by encouraging energy efficiency and use of renewable energy sources 

+ Smaller dwellings will be more efficient to run. 0 No impact. 

 
SA15: To encourage the reduction, re-use and recycling of waste and water 

+ Smaller dwellings should reduce the amount of waste 
produced and water used. 

0 No impact. 

 
SA16: To minimise pollution including air, water, land contamination and noise 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

P
age 137



 14

 
SA17: To make Tamworth town centre the heart of the borough by creating a vibrant and attractive environment 

+ Additional small dwellings built in the town centre will 
increase the population in this part of the town and 
create a market for a more diverse range of activities 
and services. 

+ Additional dwellings built in the town centre will increase the 
population in this part of the town and create a market for a more 
diverse range of activities and services. 

 
SA18: To reduce the need to travel and encourage sustainable modes of transport 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA19: To make best use of the existing transport infrastructure and seek improvements 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 

Final Sustainability Appraisal Scores for Options 

Option 
1 

 
8 

Option 
2 

 
4 

P
age 138



 15

Policy H4(a) Flexicare housing provision (new separate policy, currently part of H4) 
 

 
Option 1:  Targets for flexi care accommodation by 
tenure. 
 

 
Option 2:  No targets 
 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
SA1: To meet national policy in the most appropriate and sustainable way for Tamworth 

+ Providing housing specifically for older people is in line 
with PPS3 because it adds to the range of housing types 
and addresses known local need. 

- Not setting targets will mean that the needs of a whole sector of the 
community will not be addressed, which is contrary to PPS3. 

 
SA2: To meet the housing needs of the whole community 

+ There is a demonstrated need for specialist housing for 
the growing elderly population in Tamworth, as an 
alternative to residential care.  

- Not setting targets will mean that the needs of a whole sector of the 
community will not be addressed.  

 
SA3: To encourage the efficient use of land  

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA4: To reduce deprivation 

+ Providing care for elderly people in their own homes will 
help to reduce deprivation, particularly in terms of 
mental and physical health and living conditions. 

- Not providing specialist housing for the elderly could lead to an 
increase in deprivation amongst this population. 

 
SA5: To ensure equal access to community services and facilities 

+ Flexi-care schemes will by definition incorporate some 
on-site services and facilities, which will be easy to 
access. 

0 No impact. 

 
SA6: To encourage equal access to education, jobs and training 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

P
age 139



 16

 
SA7: To encourage active and healthier lifestyles by providing accessible networks of paths, open spaces and formal recreation facilities 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA8: To make communities safer by reducing crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA9: To encourage a diverse and competitive economy that will provide sustainable economic growth 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA10: To protect and enhance historic assets 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA11: To encourage high quality and locally distinct places, spaces and buildings 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA12: To protect and enhance biodiversity and sites of nature conservation value 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA13: To minimise flood risk 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA14: To reduce energy consumption by encouraging energy efficiency and use of renewable energy sources 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA15: To encourage the reduction, re-use and recycling of waste and water 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA16: To minimise pollution including air, water, land contamination and noise 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

P
age 140



 17

 

 
SA17: To make Tamworth town centre the heart of the borough by creating a vibrant and attractive environment 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA18: To reduce the need to travel and encourage sustainable modes of transport 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA19: To make best use of the existing transport infrastructure and seek improvements 

0  No impact. 0 No impact. 

 

Final Sustainability Appraisal Scores for Options 

Option 
1 

 
4 

Option 
2 

 
-3 

 P
age 141



 18

Policy H5 Density  
 

 
Option 1:  Average density of 40 dph, higher in intensive 
locations, but no specific targets 
 

 
Option 2:  Banded density targets for different parts of borough 
 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
Rating 

 
Commentary/Explanation 

 
SA1: To meet national policy in the most appropriate and sustainable way for Tamworth 

++ Setting local density targets is in line with PPS3 and is 
based on a robust local assessment of need. 

++ Setting local density targets is in line with PPS3. Providing evidence 
supports it, specifying a range of densities may be appropriate to reflect 
local circumstances. 

 
SA2: To meet the housing needs of the whole community 

0  Setting density targets does not guarantee that housing 
needs will be met. 

0  Setting density targets does not guarantee that housing needs will be 
met.  

 
SA3: To encourage the efficient use of land  

++ Relatively high densities will make efficient use of land. ++ Relatively high densities will make efficient use of land.  

 
SA4: To reduce deprivation 

0 Will not have any impact on deprivation. 0 Will not have any impact on deprivation. 

 
SA5: To ensure equal access to community services and facilities 

+ Locating higher density housing close to existing facility 
hubs in the town centre and other centres will make use of 
those facilities and services. It could also put pressure on 
them but should help to sustain and encourage new 
services. 

+ Locating higher density housing close to existing facility hubs in the 
town centre and other centres will make use of those facilities and 
services. It could also put pressure on them but should help to sustain 
and encourage new services. 

 
SA6: To encourage equal access to education, jobs and training 

+ Locating higher density housing close to existing facility 
and employment hubs in the town centre and other 

0 No impact. 

P
age 142



 19

centres will improve access to jobs. 

 
SA7: To encourage active and healthier lifestyles by providing accessible networks of paths, open spaces and formal recreation facilities 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA8: To make communities safer by reducing crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA9: To encourage a diverse and competitive economy that will provide sustainable economic growth 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA10: To protect and enhance historic assets 

0  High density development in the town centre could have a 
negative impact on the historic character.  However, 
design policies will ensure new development in sensitive 
locations is appropriate in scale and appearance. 

0  High density development in the town centre could have a negative 
impact on the historic character.  However, design policies will ensure 
new development in sensitive locations is appropriate in scale and 
appearance. 

 
SA11: To encourage high quality and locally distinct places, spaces and buildings 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA12: To protect and enhance biodiversity and sites of nature conservation value 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA13: To minimise flood risk 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA14: To reduce energy consumption by encouraging energy efficiency and use of renewable energy sources 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA15: To encourage the reduction, re-use and recycling of waste and water 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

P
age 143



 20

 

 
SA16: To minimise pollution including air, water, land contamination and noise 

0 No impact. 0 No impact. 

 
SA17: To make Tamworth town centre the heart of the borough by creating a vibrant and attractive environment 

++ Building high density dwellings in the town centre will 
increase the population in this part of the town and create 
a market for a more diverse range of activities and 
services. 

++ Building high density dwellings in the town centre will increase the 
population in this part of the town and create a market for a more 
diverse range of activities and services. Being more prescriptive about 
density targets will not make any difference. 

 
SA18: To reduce the need to travel and encourage sustainable modes of transport 

+ Requiring higher densities around intensive locations and 
transport routes will reduce the need to travel and 
encourage the use of public transport, walking and 
cycling. 

+ Requiring higher densities around intensive locations and transport 
routes will reduce the need to travel and encourage the use of public 
transport, walking and cycling. Being more prescriptive about density 
targets will not make any difference. 

 
SA19: To make best use of the existing transport infrastructure and seek improvements 

+ Requiring higher densities around intensive locations and 
transport routes will make use of the existing 
infrastructure. It is likely that improvements will be 
required, which will be predominantly developer funded. 

+ Requiring higher densities around intensive locations and transport 
routes will make use of the existing infrastructure. It is likely that 
improvements will be required, which will be predominantly developer 
funded. Being more prescriptive about density targets will not make 
any difference. 

 

Final Sustainability Appraisal Scores for Options 

Option 
1 

 
10 

Option 
2 

 
9 

 

 

P
age 144



 

NAME OF COMMITTEE 

Cabinet 
 
 

DATE OF COMMITTEE 

31st August 2011 
 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER; CORPORATE DIRECTOR; ASSISTANT 
DIRECTOR; 

Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Enterprise 
 
 

REPORT OF THE  

 
 
 

TITLE OF REPORT 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
 
 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Cabinet; 
 

1. endorses the progress made to date on the Infrastructure Delivery Plan; and  

2. approves the progression of an evidence base and option appraisal for the 
Community Infrastructure Levy  

 
 

PURPOSE 

To update Members on the development of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and seek 
approval from Members to start work on the evidence base and option appraisal for the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

The cost of production for the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is included within the existing 
Local Development Framework (LDF) budget. The implementation of the IDP will require 
resources from the public, private, voluntary and community sectors. Funding could be 
secured through the development management process as planning obligations (s.106 or 
Community Infrastructure Levy) as well as other Government programmes and initiatives 
such as the New Homes Bonus and Tax Incremental Financing.  
 
There is likely to be a cost implication to producing and administering the Community 
Infrastructure Levy. The cost of the examination and viability work will have to be met by the 
Council. The Council has budgeted £40,000 for the financial year 2013/14 however, this may 
need to be brought forward and this amount may need increasing and will need to be 
considered during the budget process. At present there are very few Authorities who have 
introduced CIL and so information on actual costs is not available. With respect of 
undertaking viability work, the Government has stated that:  
 
“Estimates of rates charged by the Valuation Office Agency and by consultants suggest 
that the costs could range between £25,000 and £70,000 depending on the complexity 
of the work (which will depend on the degree of variation in land values and the 
complexity of the charging schedule).”  

 
The Government has also estimated the cost of examination to be between £30,000 and 
£40,000.  
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 145



It would be anticipated that Tamworth would incur costs at the lower end of these scales. 
Through working with other Staffordshire Authorities or Authorities in the Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) then there is the potential to share costs and achieve efficiencies. The 
cost of the evidence base, viability work, examination and administration will be investigated 
further as part of the option appraisal and reported to Cabinet for a decision as to whether to 
proceed with CIL. It is estimated that on average £3,000 to £4,000 could be levied on a new 
house. In Tamworth we currently have identified future housing sites that could make a 
provision of 1350 units to 2026. This would equate to a CIL of £4m to £5.5m over the period 
based on these estimates that could be used to part fund the identified infrastructure.  Once 
established up to 5 per cent of the total CIL receipts can be used to fund the council’s 
administrative expenses.  
 
In order to understand the cost benefits and implications of a CIL further evidence and 
options need to be considered before reporting back to Cabinet. 
 
 
 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 

Without a detailed evidence based Infrastructure Delivery Plan the Core Strategy will be at 
risk of being found unsound which would be a significant waste of time and money.  
 
If the Community Infrastructure Levy is not in place then there is a risk of not securing funds 
to support the delivery of identified infrastructure necessary to support growth and 
development in the Borough. 
 
 
 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

The IDP and CIL will seek to improve the sustainability of the town through the provision of 
the necessary infrastructure to support growth and development.  
 
 
 

CONCLUSIONS 

In order to understand the cost benefits and implications of a CIL further evidence and 
options need to be considered before reporting back to Cabinet. 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION   

1. Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
 
The Local Development Framework (LDF) is a flexible portfolio of different documents, which 
are referred to as local development documents (LDDs) that can be tailored to the needs of a 
particular area and easily updated. The Core Strategy is the key document in the LDF as it 
sets out the spatial vision for the local area in response to the Sustainable Community 
Strategy (and or strategic vision for an area) and the views of citizens and local stakeholders 
in the planning system. It will set out the pattern of development across Tamworth until 2026. 
This means that it will, for example, identify which broad areas are suitable for housing and 
other strategic development needs. 
 
The Council is in the process of finalising its Core Strategy after a number of public 
consultations and it is intended to publish the Core Strategy in January 2012, submit to 
Government in May 2012 and for it to be examined in Public by an independent inspector in 
the summer of 2012. 
 
Planning Policy Statement 12 (PPS12) (June 2008) identifies that adequate infrastructure 
planning is a key test of soundness for Core Strategies. It identifies the Core Strategy as the 
means of ‘orchestrating the necessary social, physical and green infrastructure required to 
ensure that sustainable communities are created’. To fulfil that role and to be found sound, 
the Core Strategy must identify : infrastructure needs and costs; the phasing of 
development; funding sources; and responsibilities for delivery. This will be 
expressed in an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) which will form part of and be 
submitted and examined with the Core Strategy.  Producing the IDP is not something 
that the Council can do alone. Working with other partners to prepare infrastructure 

Page 146



plans is essential.  
 
Guidance that supports PPS12 from the Government, the Planning Inspectorate and the 
Planning Advisory Service all advocate the importance of identifying the necessary 
infrastructure to support the development proposed in the Core Strategy up front, testing the 
risks associated with the infrastructure and setting out contingencies to ensure that there is 
flexibility to overcome any future delivery problems that may be experienced. 
 
Whilst the IDP is important to ensure that the Core Strategy is found sound, it also has a 
wider corporate role within Tamworth Borough Council and with partners as it supports and 
informs other strategies and decisions (such as the Local Investment Plan which sets out the 
councils ambitions for the development of new affordable housing) relating to capital 
investment. The Council and its Partners will need to align their own financial decision 
making to facilitate the delivery of necessary infrastructure for which they are responsible. 
There is therefore a key role for the Tamworth Strategic Partnership (TSP) to take ownership 
of the IDP and to ensure post adoption that it is monitored and updated yearly. Guidance 
from the CLG (Planning Together, April 2009) advises that LSPs establish a group for 
infrastructure and asset management. This could be useful for considering asset 
management strategies across organisational boundaries, improving joined-up service 
delivery and rationalising premises costs, and for considering approaches for the transfer of 
assets to community control. The TSP have recognised the importance of the IDP to this role 
and as such have made its production the subject of a Task and Finish Group. 
 
To achieve an integrated approach, authorities need to work with local investors from the 
public, private, voluntary and community sectors. Funding will also need to be secured 
through the development management process as planning obligations and through any 
future arrangements, e.g. the forthcoming Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) as well as 
other Government programmes and initiatives such as the New Homes Bonus and Tax 
Incremental Financing.  
 
What is infrastructure? 
 
The list could be exhaustive but could include: roads, public transport, energy, water (supply 
and treatment), waste(management and disposal), flood defence, telecommunications, open 
space, parks and open spaces, education, healthcare, emergency services, crematoria, 
social services, community centres, arts and culture facilities etc. Often these are split into 3 
areas: 
 
Physical: the broad collection of systems and facilities that house and transport people and 
goods, and provide services e.g. transportation networks, housing, energy supplies, water, 
drainage and waste provision, ICT networks, public realm and historic legacy. 
 
Green: the physical environment within and between our cities, towns and villages. A 
network of multi-functional open spaces, including formal parks, gardens, woodland, 
green corridors, waterways, street trees and open countryside. 
 
Social & Community: the range of activities, organisations and facilities supporting 
the formation, development and maintenance of social relationships in a community. It can 
include the provision of community facilities (education, healthcare, community centres, 
sports & leisure facilities), local networks, community groups, small scale funding to assist 
local projects, skills development and volunteering. 
 
Through the process of producing the Core Strategy, by talking with partners individually and 
through the Local Strategic Partnership, and through various studies, a range of 
infrastructure has been identified (see Appendix A). Further work is required with public and 
private sector partners to finalise the IDP. A series of meetings have been arranged with 
partners and it is intended to take a report to the TSP Board in September to identify and 
further necessary infrastructure. 
 
Project Management 
 
The IDP will be ‘owned’ by Tamworth Borough Council on behalf of the TSP and will be 
viewed as a key corporate document. Day to day management of the IDP, including 
monitoring and review will be the responsibility of the Head of Strategic Planning and 

Page 147



Development. As it is a living document the content will change and the Council will be reliant 
on partners to provide more detailed information as projects are finalised.  
 
The IDP contains information regarding the type, timing and potential costs of infrastructure 
needed to support the growth proposed by the Core Strategy. The IDP and its subsequent 
updates enable the Council to plan effectively for this growth and to maximise the potential 
associated with this growth to achieve wider sustainability, economic, social and 
environmental objectives. 
 

2. Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
Historically development has funded infrastructure that is required as a result of the 
development through section 106 agreements. However, this has often been restricted to 
large scale developments and the cumulative impact on the infrastructure of places 
(particularly as a result of small developments) has not been addressed. Section 106 
agreements were often not particularly transparent to the public and misunderstood and 
often did not offer developers certainty on the costs of development. The process could also 
add significantly to the time taken to issue a planning permission.  
 
The Government recognised that almost all development has some impact on the need for 
infrastructure, services and amenities - or benefits from it - and thought it is only fair that 
such development pays a share of the cost. The Government felt it also right that those who 
benefit financially when planning permission is given should share some of that gain with the 
community which granted it to help fund the infrastructure that is needed to make 
development acceptable and sustainable.  
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) came into force in April 2010. It allows local 
authorities in England and Wales to raise funds from developers undertaking new building 
projects in their area. The money can be used to fund a wide range of infrastructure that is 
needed as a result of development. This includes new or safer road schemes, flood 
defences, schools, hospitals and other health and social care facilities, park improvements, 
green spaces and leisure centres. The Regulations also restrict the use of Section 106 to 
collect developer contributions.  
 
Tamworth Borough Council, under the Regulations is classed as the ‘Charging Authority’ and 
is able to put in place a ‘Charging Schedule’ which sets out rates (in £’s per Sq. M.) that the 
Levy is charged for different types of development.  
 
Tamworth Borough Council will also be the ‘Collecting Authority’ and will have responsibility 
for issuing liability, commencement and demand notices. The Council will also have 
Enforcement Powers to be used for example if the required Levy has not been paid.  
 
In order to put CIL in place an independent Examination will be held to ensure that the 
procedural requirements have been followed and that the charging authority has used 
“appropriate available evidence”. The Borough Council will therefore need to: establish the 
total cost of the required infrastructure (including CIL set up and administration costs); the 
amount that can be funded from other sources; the overall effect of imposing CIL at the 
chosen rate(s) on the economic viability of development in the area; and, strike “an 
appropriate balance” between the desirability of funding the infrastructure and not making the 
achievement of the overall development unviable.  
 
It is likely that in Tamworth development will be unable to afford to pay for all of the required 
infrastructure due to land values, and therefore CIL will need to be recognised as only one of 
a variety of sources of funding for infrastructure.  
 
The Borough Council may pass money to bodies outside their area to deliver infrastructure 
which will benefit the development of their area, such as the Environment Agency for flood 
defence or the county council, for education infrastructure. As contributions to infrastructure 
are pooled within CIL so one payment is made, the Borough Council will need to make 
decisions on prioritising infrastructure and what proportion of CIL receipts should be passed 
to these other infrastructure providers.  
 
The levy is intended to focus on the provision of new infrastructure and should not be used to 
remedy pre-existing deficiencies in infrastructure provision unless those deficiencies will be 

Page 148



made more severe by new development. The levy can be used to increase the capacity of 
existing infrastructure or to repair failing existing infrastructure, if that is necessary to support 
development. 
 
If we choose, we will also be able to collaborate and pool our funds with other Charging 
Authorities to support the delivery of ‘sub-regional infrastructure’, for example, a larger 
transport project where we are satisfied that this would support the development of 
Tamworth. 
 
To ensure that the levy is open and transparent, charging authorities must prepare short 
reports on the levy for the previous financial year which must be placed on their websites by 
31 December each year. They may prepare a bespoke report or utilise an existing reporting 
mechanism, such as the annual monitoring report which reports on the development plan.  
 
These reports will ensure accountability and enable the local community to see what 
infrastructure is being funded from the levy. Charging authorities must report on how much 
monies they received from the levy in the last financial year and on how much was unspent 
at the end of the financial year. They must also report total expenditure from the levy in the 
preceding financial year, with summary details of what infrastructure the levy funded, how 
much of the levy was ‘spent’ on each item of infrastructure and how much on administrative 
expenses. 
 
Implications 
The CIL will be able to be raised against development and even small amounts for each will 
add up. After the 6th April 2014 we will not be able to pool more than five s106 contributions. 
Currently in Tamworth, contributions are collected and pooled from some developments for 
improvements to public open space and also via the town centre parking policy.  
Whilst there is a resource and cost implication to administer CIL the costs could be 
recovered through revenue raised through the CIL. However, this would reduce the amount 
collected for infrastructure. The risk of not implementing a CIL will be that less developer 
contributions will be raised as the ability to use s106 reduces after 2014, and therefore 
required infrastructure will be more difficult to deliver.  
 
CIL is likely to be more cumbersome and inflexible than financial payments secured by 
planning obligations. There will be a resource implication to ensure that the correct 
procedures are followed, the progress of development is monitored and appropriate records 
are kept. However, it is possible to cover part of the administration costs of CIL through the 
Levy.  
 
CIL will have a more powerful enforcement regime and will provide clarity and certainty for 
the development industry (and for the Council) once the system is established. This will aid 
financial planning of key infrastructure requirements.  
 
Further work will be undertaken to look at the options available to the Council and the costs, 
benefits and risks of each and reported back to Cabinet. In order to do this further detail on 
the required infrastructure will be collected from partner organisations, including costings and 
phasing. Further research will be undertaken from Authorities who have gone through the 
process and have a CIL in place and further research on likely levels of CIL that could be 
raised.  
 
Draft Timetable 
 

Collect evidence (informed by the Infrastructure Delivery Plan) Ongoing  

Option Appraisal for CIL - Cabinet January 2012 

If decided to proceed  

Procure advice to establish land & property values Spring 2012 

Procure advice to establish construction rates Spring 2012 

Engage consultant to undertake viability testing Spring 2012 

Produce a preliminary draft charging schedule Spring 2012 

Cabinet report that sets out schedule and likely levy that could be 
recovered and seeks approval to consult  

April 2012 
 

Consult on the preliminary draft charging schedule May 2012 

Publish draft Charging Schedule  July 2012 
Page 149



4 week period to allow representations to be made August 2012 

Appoint an examiner Summer 2012 

Submission to an Examiner October 2012 

Examination Winter 2012 

Examiners report Early 2013 

Approval of charging schedule by Full Council  Early 2013 

 
 
 
 

REPORT AUTHOR 

Matthew Bowers 
 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Report to Cabinet, “Local Investment Plan”, 29th June 
 
 

APPENDICES 

A) Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 

Page 150



  P
h
y
si
ca
l 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 

D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 
N
o
te
s 

T
ra
n
sp
o
rt
 –
 

C
y
cl
in
g
 &
 W

al
k
in
g
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

C
y
cl
e 
li
n
k
s 

E
n
co
u
ra
g
e 
p
eo
p
le
 t
o
 l
ea
d
 

m
o
re
 s
u
st
ai
n
ab
le
 

li
fe
st
y
le
s 
an
d
 r
ed
u
ce
 

tr
af
fi
c 
co
n
g
es
ti
o
n
  
b
y
 

ad
d
re
ss
in
g
 g
ap
s 
in
 

cu
rr
en
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 t
o
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 n
ew

 l
in
k
s 

fo
r 
n
ew

 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

(s
ee
 N
ei
l 
M
as
o
n
) 

T
o
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 
/ 
re
ta
il
 

p
ar
k
 l
in
k
s 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 s
u
rf
ac
e 

tr
ea
tm

en
t 
an
d
 /
 o
r 

li
g
h
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 /
 o
r 

si
g
n
ag
e,
 t
o
 t
o
w
n
 

ce
n
tr
e 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 p
ay
ab
le
 

u
p
o
n
 c
o
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t 

£
1
1
6
,8
3
2
 h
as
 b
ee
n
 s
ec
u
re
d
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e 
R
o
y
al
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 a
n
d
 

A
u
co
tt
 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
ts
 t
o
w
ar
d
s 

en
h
an
ce
m
en
ts
 t
o
 p
ed
es
tr
ia
n
 

an
d
 c
y
cl
e 
li
n
k
s 

A
n
k
er
 V
al
le
y
 –
 

A
sh
b
y
 R
o
ad
 

L
in
k
s 
to
 r
ai
lw
a
y
 

st
at
io
n
, 
to
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

an
d
 e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

£
1
m
 (
n
ew

 

fo
o
t 
/ 
cy
cl
e 

b
ri
d
g
es
 o
v
er
 

W
C
M
L
 a
n
d
 

N
o
tt
in
g
h
am

 

li
n
e)
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

2
0
1
6
-2
0
2
1
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 A
n
k
er
 

V
al
le
y
 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

 

P
o
st
 1
6
 A
ca
d
em

y
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 s
tr
ee
t 

li
g
h
ti
n
g
, 
c
y
cl
e 

fa
ci
li
ti
es
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 
 

F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 w
id
e 
li
n
k
s 

M
o
re
 c
o
m
p
re
h
en
si
v
e 

cy
cl
e 
n
et
w
o
rk
 l
in
k
in
g
 

re
si
d
en
ti
al
 a
re
as
 t
o
 

th
e 
to
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 
an
d
 

em
p
lo
y
m
en
t 
ar
ea
s 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

 
 

L
T
P
 a
n
d
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

P
ed
es
tr
ia
n
 L
in
k
s 

E
n
co
u
ra
g
e 
p
eo
p
le
 t
o
 l
ea
d
 

m
o
re
 s
u
st
ai
n
ab
le
 

li
fe
st
y
le
s 
an
d
 r
ed
u
ce
 

tr
af
fi
c 
co
n
g
es
ti
o
n
 b
y
 

ad
d
re
ss
in
g
 g
ap
s 
in
 

cu
rr
en
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 t
o
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 n
ew

 l
in
k
s 

fo
r 
n
ew

 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

P
u
ff
in
 C
ro
ss
in
g
 

fa
ci
li
ty
 o
n
 V
en
tu
ra
 

P
ar
k
 R
o
ad
 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 p
ay
ab
le
 

u
p
o
n
 c
o
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t 

C
u
rr
en
tl
y
 u
n
d
er
 c
o
n
st
ru
ct
io
n
 

T
o
u
ca
n
 C
ro
ss
in
g
 

fa
ci
li
ty
 o
n
 

S
ai
n
sb
u
ry
s 

R
o
u
n
d
ab
o
u
t 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 
2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 p
ay
ab
le
 

u
p
o
n
 c
o
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t 

C
u
rr
en
tl
y
 u
n
d
er
 c
o
n
st
ru
ct
io
n
 

F
o
o
tw
a
y
 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 o
n
 

V
en
tu
ra
 P
ar
k
 R
o
ad
 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 
2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 p
ay
ab
le
 

u
p
o
n
 c
o
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t 

 

T
o
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 
/ 
re
ta
il
 

p
ar
k
 l
in
k
s 

T
o
w
n
 C
en
tr
e 

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
 

 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l,
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

 
 

Page 151



  P
h
y
si
ca
l 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 

D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 
N
o
te
s 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 

P
ri
v
at
e 
S
ec
to
r 

F
u
n
d
in
g
 

T
o
w
n
 C
en
tr
e 
/ 

L
ei
su
re
 Z
o
n
e 
li
n
k
 

N
ew

 b
ri
d
g
e 

E
n
h
an
ce
d
 r
o
u
te
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 a
cc
es
s 
to
 

R
iv
er
 f
ro
n
ta
g
e 
in
 

to
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

W
at
er
si
d
e 
tr
ai
l 

N
ew

 p
at
h
s 
an
d
 s
tr
ee
t 

fu
rn
it
u
re
, 
si
g
n
ag
e 

W
at
er
si
d
e 
tr
ai
l 

 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
en
t 

A
g
en
c
y
 

£
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

 
 

P
o
st
 1
6
 A
ca
d
em

y
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 s
tr
ee
t 

li
g
h
ti
n
g
, 
p
ed
es
tr
ia
n
 

ac
ce
ss
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 
 

F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

A
n
k
er
 V
al
le
y
 –
 

A
sh
b
y
 R
o
ad
  

L
in
k
s 
to
 r
ai
lw
a
y
 

st
at
io
n
, 
to
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

an
d
 e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

£
1
m
 (
n
ew

 

fo
o
t 
/ 
cy
cl
e 

b
ri
d
g
es
 o
v
er
 

W
C
M
L
 a
n
d
 

N
o
tt
in
g
h
am

 

li
n
e)
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

2
0
1
6
-2
0
2
1
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 A
n
k
er
 

V
al
le
y
 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

 

T
ra
n
sp
o
rt
 -
 R
ai
l 

“S
ig
n
if
ic
an
t 
tr
av
el
 f
lo
w
s 

b
et
w
ee
n
 T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

co
rr
id
o
r 
an
d
 B
ir
m
in
g
h
am

 

b
u
t 
ra
il
 i
s 
n
o
t 
w
el
l 
p
la
ce
d
 

to
 a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
at
e 
th
es
e 
at
 

p
re
se
n
t.
 T
h
e 
ro
u
te
 i
s 
o
n
 a
 

m
aj
o
r 
re
g
en
er
at
io
n
 

co
rr
id
o
r 
an
d
 t
h
er
e 
is
 

si
g
n
if
ic
an
t 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 

fo
r 
a 
b
et
te
r 
ra
il
 s
er
v
ic
e 
to
 

ac
t 
as
 a
 c
at
al
y
st
 f
o
r 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t”
 (
W
es
t 

M
id
la
n
d
s 
R
ai
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
P
la
n
) 

D
ed
ic
at
ed
 l
o
ca
l 
ra
il
 

se
rv
ic
e 
to
 

B
ir
m
in
g
h
am

 

D
iv
er
si
o
n
 o
f 
p
ri
v
at
e 

ca
r 
u
se
rs
 c
o
m
m
u
ti
n
g
 

to
 B
ir
m
in
g
h
am

 t
o
 

R
ai
l 
u
se
 

N
et
w
o
rk
 R
a
il
 

/ 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 

M
id
la
n
d
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

 
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 

C
ar
 P
ar
k
in
g
 

ca
p
ac
it
y
 i
n
cr
ea
se
s 

D
iv
er
si
o
n
 o
f 
p
ri
v
at
e 

ca
r 
u
se
rs
 c
o
m
m
u
ti
n
g
 

to
 B
ir
m
in
g
h
am

 t
o
 

R
ai
l 
u
se
  

N
et
w
o
rk
 R
a
il
 

/ 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 

M
id
la
n
d
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
0
6
 -
 

2
0
1
1
 

 
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

P
la
tf
o
rm

 

le
n
g
th
en
in
g
 a
n
d
 

st
at
io
n
 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 a
t 

W
il
n
ec
o
te
 

 
N
et
w
o
rk
 R
a
il
 
u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
0
6
 –
 

2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
 -
 

2
0
1
6
 

 
 

 

T
u
rn
b
ac
k
 s
id
in
g
 

an
d
 c
ro
ss
o
v
er
 a
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

T
o
 e
n
ab
le
 d
ed
ic
at
ed
 

lo
ca
l 
se
rv
ic
e,
 

in
cr
ea
si
n
g
 t
h
e 
%
 o
f 

co
m
m
u
te
rs
 t
ra
v
el
li
n
g
 

b
y
 p
u
b
li
c 
tr
an
sp
o
rt
 

N
et
w
o
rk
 R
a
il
 
U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
1
1
 -
 

2
0
1
6
 

 
 

 

Page 152



  P
h
y
si
ca
l 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 

D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 
N
o
te
s 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 

 
N
et
w
o
rk
 R
a
il
 

/ 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 

M
id
la
n
d
 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
0
6
 -
 

2
0
1
1
 

 
Id
en
ti
fi
ed
 i
n
 t
h
e 
N
at
io
n
al
 

S
ta
ti
o
n
s 
Im

p
ro
v
em

en
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e.
 S
ta
rt
 e
x
p
ec
te
d
 

o
n
 s
it
e 
S
u
m
m
er
 2
0
1
0
 

 

C
am

p
 H
il
l 
C
h
o
rd
 

li
n
e 

In
cr
ea
se
 i
n
 c
ap
ac
it
y
 

to
 c
en
tr
al
 

B
ir
m
in
g
h
am

 s
ta
ti
o
n
s.
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 

co
n
n
ec
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 n
ew

 

jo
u
rn
ey
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s.
 

N
et
w
o
rk
 R
a
il
 
U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

C
am

p
 H
il
l 
li
n
es
 c
h
o
rd
s 
in
 

N
et
w
o
rk
 R
ai
l 
S
B
P
 R
o
u
te
 

P
la
n
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 p
ro
p
o
se
d
 

st
ra
te
g
y
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

B
u
s 
S
er
v
ic
es
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
cc
es
si
b
il
it
y
. 

R
ed
u
ci
n
g
 t
h
e 
im

p
ac
t 
o
f 

tr
af
fi
c 
(c
o
n
g
es
ti
o
n
, 

en
v
ir
o
n
m
en
t)
 

2
 b
u
s 
st
o
p
s 
an
d
 

sh
el
te
rs
 a
lo
n
g
 

V
en
tu
ra
 P
ar
k
 R
o
ad
 

R
ed
u
ce
 i
m
p
ac
t 
o
f 

n
ew

 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
o
n
 

lo
ca
l 
an
d
 s
tr
at
eg
ic
 

h
ig
h
w
a
y
 n
et
w
o
rk
. 

R
ed
u
ce
 c
o
n
g
es
ti
o
n
, 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 b
u
s 

jo
u
rn
ey
 t
im

es
 a
n
d
 

re
li
ab
il
it
y
. 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

£
4
0
,0
0
0
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 p
ay
ab
le
 

u
p
o
n
 c
o
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t 

£
4
0
,0
0
0
 s
ec
u
re
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e 

R
o
y
al
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
u
co
tt
 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
ts
 

2
0
 m

in
 B
u
s 
se
rv
ic
e 

to
 ‘
C
ar
d
in
al
 P
o
in
t’
 

fr
o
m
 t
o
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

R
ed
u
ce
 i
m
p
ac
t 
o
f 

n
ew

 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
o
n
 

lo
ca
l 
an
d
 s
tr
at
eg
ic
 

h
ig
h
w
a
y
 n
et
w
o
rk
. 

R
ed
u
ce
 c
o
n
g
es
ti
o
n
, 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 b
u
s 

jo
u
rn
ey
 t
im

es
 a
n
d
 

re
li
ab
il
it
y
. 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

£
9
0
,0
0
0
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 p
ay
ab
le
 

u
p
o
n
 c
o
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t 

£
8
5
,0
0
0
 s
ec
u
re
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e 

R
o
y
al
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
u
co
tt
 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
ts
  

E
n
h
an
ce
d
 

P
as
se
n
g
er
 

In
fo
rm

at
io
n
 /
 R
ea
l 

T
im

e 
P
as
se
n
g
er
 

In
fo
rm

at
io
n
 

In
cr
ea
se
 

at
tr
ac
ti
v
en
es
s 
o
f 

P
u
b
li
c 
T
ra
n
sp
o
rt
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 a
d
v
is
e 
o
n
 

sp
ec
if
ic
s 

P
u
b
li
c 
T
ra
n
sp
o
rt
 

P
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 R
o
u
te
 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 

C
o
m
m
u
te
r 
ro
u
te
s 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
se
d
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 a
d
v
is
e 
o
n
 

sp
ec
if
ic
s 

A
n
k
er
 V
al
le
y
 

E
x
te
n
d
ed
 R
o
u
te
 2
 

S
er
v
ic
e 
to
 n
ew

 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 153



  P
h
y
si
ca
l 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 

D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 
N
o
te
s 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

B
u
s 
D
ep
o
t 

R
el
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

A
v
ai
la
b
le
 t
o
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

re
g
en
er
at
io
n
 s
it
e 

A
rr
iv
a
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

P
ri
v
at
e 
S
ec
to
r 
le
d
 

A
rr
iv
a 
h
av
e 
co
n
fi
rm

ed
 d
es
ir
e 

to
 r
el
o
ca
te
 w
h
en
 s
u
it
ab
le
 

p
re
m
is
es
 b
ec
o
m
e 
av
ai
la
b
le
 

B
u
s 
S
ta
ti
o
n
 /
 

in
te
rc
h
an
g
e 

E
n
h
an
ce
d
 p
as
se
n
g
er
 

fa
ci
li
ti
es
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

A
rr
iv
e
 

 
 

 
 

 

C
an
al
 

 
E
n
h
an
ce
d
 

m
an
ag
em

en
t,
 

ac
ce
ss
 a
n
d
 

in
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 

 
B
ri
ti
sh
 

W
a
te
rw

a
y
s 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
  

- 
 

 
 

H
ig
h
w
a
y
 N
et
w
o
rk
 

R
ed
u
ci
n
g
 t
h
e 
im

p
ac
t 
o
f 

tr
af
fi
c 
(c
o
n
g
es
ti
o
n
, 

en
v
ir
o
n
m
en
t)
 

Jo
ll
y
 S
ai
lo
r 

R
o
u
n
d
ab
o
u
t 

Im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
  

R
ed
u
ce
 i
m
p
ac
t 
o
f 

n
ew

 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
o
n
 

lo
ca
l 
an
d
 s
tr
at
eg
ic
 

h
ig
h
w
a
y
 n
et
w
o
rk
. 

R
ed
u
ce
 c
o
n
g
es
ti
o
n
, 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 b
u
s 

jo
u
rn
ey
 t
im

es
 a
n
d
 

re
li
ab
il
it
y
. 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

E
st
 £
1
m
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 p
ay
ab
le
 

u
p
o
n
 c
o
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

S
ai
n
sb
u
ry
’s
 

R
o
u
n
d
ab
o
u
t 

Im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 

R
ed
u
ce
 i
m
p
ac
t 
o
f 

n
ew

 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
o
n
 

lo
ca
l 
an
d
 s
tr
at
eg
ic
 

h
ig
h
w
a
y
 n
et
w
o
rk
. 

R
ed
u
ce
 c
o
n
g
es
ti
o
n
, 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 b
u
s 

jo
u
rn
ey
 t
im

es
 a
n
d
 

re
li
ab
il
it
y
. 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

E
st
 £
1
m
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 p
ay
ab
le
 

u
p
o
n
 c
o
m
m
en
ce
m
en
t 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

5
 f
in
g
er
 p
o
st
s 

(i
n
fo
rm

at
io
n
 

d
ir
ec
ti
o
n
 s
ig
n
s)
 

re
la
te
d
 t
o
 C
ar
d
in
al
 

P
o
in
t 
s1
0
6
 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

F
u
n
d
ed
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 

d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s,
 

p
ay
ab
le
 u
p
o
n
 

co
m
m
en
ce
m
e

n
t 

 
 

 
 

A
5
(T
) 
Ju
n
ct
io
n
 

Im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 a
t 

S
to
n
ey
d
el
p
h
 /
 M

il
e 

O
ak
 

 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s 

A
g
en
cy
 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

M
il
e 
O
ak
: 

£
1
,3
4
9
,2
3
0
 

S
to
n
ey
d
el
p
h
: 

£
9
7
3
,3
2
6
 

 
 

 
 

V
en
tu
ra
 P
ar
k
 t
o
 

T
o
w
n
 C
en
tr
e 
–
 

U
rb
an
 T
ra
ff
ic
 

C
o
n
tr
o
l 

C
o
n
g
es
ti
o
n
 m

an
ag
ed
, 

b
u
s 
re
li
ab
il
it
y
 

im
p
ro
v
ed
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
n
k
er
 V
al
le
y
 L
o
ca
l 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

£
1
1
m
  

 
 

F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

 

Page 154



  P
h
y
si
ca
l 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 

D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 
N
o
te
s 

T
ra
n
sp
o
rt
 P
ac
k
ag
e 
-

A
n
k
er
 V
al
le
y
 L
in
k
 

R
o
ad
 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l,
 

N
et
w
o
rk
 R
ai
l,
 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

A
n
k
er
 V
al
le
y
 L
o
ca
l 

T
ra
n
sp
o
rt
 P
ac
k
ag
e 

–
 U
rb
an
 T
ra
ff
ic
 

C
o
n
tr
o
l 
 

U
p
p
er
 G
u
n
g
at
e 

/A
ld
er
g
at
e 
co
rr
id
er
 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
ro
v
id
e 
ac
ce
ss
 

D
u
n
st
al
l 
L
an
e 
L
in
k
 

A
cc
es
s 
to
 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
en
t 
L
an
d
 

ac
h
ie
v
ed
 

P
ri
v
a
te
 

S
ec
to
r
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
er
m
is
si
o
n
 e
x
is
ts
 

C
ar
 P
ar
k
in
g
 

T
o
w
n
 C
en
tr
e 

re
g
en
er
at
io
n
 

T
o
w
n
 C
en
tr
e 
ca
r 

p
ar
k
 i
m
p
ro
v
em

en
t,
 

re
g
en
er
at
io
n
 a
n
d
 

ra
ti
o
n
al
is
at
io
n
 

R
ig
h
t 
ty
p
e 
o
f 
p
ar
k
in
g
 

av
ai
la
b
le
 i
n
 t
h
e 
ri
g
h
t 

p
la
ce
s 

L
an
d
 r
el
ea
se
d
 f
o
r 

to
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 
u
se
s 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 o
f 

al
te
rn
at
iv
e 
fo
rm

s 
o
f 

su
st
ai
n
ab
le
 t
ra
v
el
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

P
ri
v
at
e 

la
n
d
o
w
n
er
s 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
  

 
 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 
 

 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 S
ig
n
ag
e 

to
 t
o
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 
ca
re
 

p
ar
k
s 

R
ed
u
ce
 c
o
n
g
es
ti
o
n
 

T
o
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

re
g
en
er
at
io
n
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

P
ri
v
at
e 

la
n
d
o
w
n
er
s 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

 
 

 
 

H
o
u
si
n
g
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
 

A
re
as
 

 
T
in
k
er
s 
G
re
en
 

H
o
u
si
n
g
 t
h
at
 b
et
te
r 

m
ee
ts
 t
h
e 
n
ee
d
s 
o
f 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 r
es
id
en
ts
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 s
to
ck
 

co
n
d
it
io
n
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 h
ea
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

ed
u
ca
ti
o
n
al
  

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 e
n
er
g
y
 

ef
fi
ci
en
c
y
 R
ed
u
ct
io
n
 

in
 s
o
ci
al
 p
ro
b
le
m
s 

(i
.e
. 
A
S
B
) 
&
 

en
h
an
ce
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

in
v
o
lv
em

en
t 

E
ff
ec
ti
v
e 
u
ti
li
sa
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
as
se
ts
 t
o
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

R
eg
is
te
re
d
 

P
ro
v
id
er
s 

H
C
A
 

T
o
 b
e 

d
et
er
m
in
ed
 a
s 

p
ar
t 
o
f 

fe
as
ib
il
it
y
 

w
o
rk
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

 
A
 f
ea
si
b
il
it
y
 s
tu
d
y
 w
il
l 
b
e 

co
n
d
u
ct
ed
 t
h
at
 f
u
ll
y
 e
x
p
lo
re
s 

al
l 
o
p
ti
o
n
s 
fo
r 
d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
in
 

th
e 
T
in
k
er
s 
G
re
en
 a
re
a.
  
T
h
e 

st
u
d
y
 w
il
l 
lo
o
k
 a
t 
sc
en
ar
io
s 

th
at
 d
el
iv
er
 t
h
e 
ri
g
h
t 
m
ix
 /
 t
y
p
e 

o
f 
h
o
u
si
n
g
 t
o
 m

ee
t 
id
en
ti
fi
ed
 

n
ee
d
, 
p
o
te
n
ti
al
 i
n
v
es
tm

en
t 

re
q
u
ir
em

en
ts
 &

 e
x
p
lo
re
 t
h
e 

w
id
er
 r
eg
en
er
at
io
n
 o
f 
th
e 
ar
ea
 

to
 i
n
cl
u
d
e 
b
en
ef
it
s 
to
 t
h
e 
lo
ca
l 

ec
o
n
o
m
y
, 
im

p
ro
v
em

en
t 
to
 t
h
e 

p
h
y
si
ca
l 
/ 
so
ci
al
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
en
t 

&
 i
m
p
ro
v
ed
 h
ea
lt
h
 o
u
tc
o
m
es
 

fo
r 
re
si
d
en
ts
 

Page 155



  P
h
y
si
ca
l 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 

D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 
N
o
te
s 

m
ax
im

is
e 
so
ci
al
 &
 

ec
o
n
o
m
ic
 b
en
ef
it
s 
o
f 

re
g
en
er
at
io
n
 a
ct
iv
it
y
 

 
 

K
er
ri
a 

H
o
u
si
n
g
 t
h
at
 b
et
te
r 

m
ee
ts
 t
h
e 
n
ee
d
s 
o
f 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 r
es
id
en
ts
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 s
to
ck
 

co
n
d
it
io
n
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 h
ea
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

ed
u
ca
ti
o
n
al
  

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 e
n
er
g
y
 

ef
fi
ci
en
c
y
 R
ed
u
ct
io
n
 

in
 s
o
ci
al
 p
ro
b
le
m
s 

(i
.e
. 
A
S
B
) 
&
 

en
h
an
ce
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

in
v
o
lv
em

en
t 
 

E
ff
ec
ti
v
e 
u
ti
li
sa
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
as
se
ts
 t
o
 

m
ax
im

is
e 
so
ci
al
 &
 

ec
o
n
o
m
ic
 b
en
ef
it
s 
o
f 

re
g
en
er
at
io
n
 a
ct
iv
it
y
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

R
eg
is
te
re
d
 

P
ro
v
id
er
s 

H
C
A
 

T
o
 b
e 

d
et
er
m
in
ed
 a
s 

k
ey
 e
le
m
en
t 

o
f 
fe
as
ib
il
it
y
 

st
u
d
y
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

 
A
 f
ea
si
b
il
it
y
 s
tu
d
y
 w
il
l 
b
e 

co
n
d
u
ct
ed
 t
h
at
 f
u
ll
y
 e
x
p
lo
re
s 

al
l 
o
p
ti
o
n
s 
fo
r 
d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
in
 

th
e 
T
in
k
er
s 
G
re
en
 a
re
a.
  
T
h
e 

st
u
d
y
 w
il
l 
lo
o
k
 a
t 
sc
en
ar
io
s 

th
at
 d
el
iv
er
 t
h
e 
ri
g
h
t 
m
ix
 /
 t
y
p
e 

o
f 
h
o
u
si
n
g
 t
o
 m

ee
t 
id
en
ti
fi
ed
 

n
ee
d
, 
p
o
te
n
ti
al
 i
n
v
es
tm

en
t 

re
q
u
ir
em

en
ts
 &

 e
x
p
lo
re
 t
h
e 

w
id
er
 r
eg
en
er
at
io
n
 o
f 
th
e 
ar
ea
 

to
 i
n
cl
u
d
e 
b
en
ef
it
s 
to
 t
h
e 
lo
ca
l 

ec
o
n
o
m
y
, 
im

p
ro
v
em

en
t 
to
 t
h
e 

p
h
y
si
ca
l 
/ 
so
ci
al
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
en
t 

&
 i
m
p
ro
v
ed
 h
ea
lt
h
 o
u
tc
o
m
es
 

fo
r 
re
si
d
en
ts
 

 
 

G
ar
ag
e 
S
it
es
 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 l
ev
el
s 
o
f 

A
ff
o
rd
ab
le
 H
o
u
si
n
g
 

R
ed
u
ct
io
n
 i
n
 s
o
ci
al
 

p
ro
b
le
m
s 
(i
.e
. 
A
S
B
) 

&
 e
n
h
an
ce
d
 

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

in
v
o
lv
em

en
t 
 

E
ff
ec
ti
v
e 
u
ti
li
sa
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
as
se
ts
 t
o
 

m
ax
im

is
e 
so
ci
al
 &
 

ec
o
n
o
m
ic
 b
en
ef
it
s 
o
f 

re
g
en
er
at
io
n
 a
ct
iv
it
y
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

R
eg
is
te
re
d
 

P
ro
v
id
er
s 

H
C
A
 

In
v
es
tm

en
t 

re
q
u
ir
em

en
t 

to
 b
e 

id
en
ti
fi
ed
 

o
n
ce
 a
ll
 s
it
es
 

to
 g
o
 f
o
rw

ar
d
 

h
av
e 
b
ee
n
 

ag
re
ed
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

 
W
o
rk
 i
s 
cu
rr
en
tl
y
 u
n
d
er
w
a
y
 t
o
 

d
et
er
m
in
e 
w
h
ic
h
 s
it
es
 w
il
l 
b
e 

d
ev
el
o
p
ed
 a
s 
af
fo
rd
ab
le
 

h
o
u
si
n
g
. 
 P
ro
p
o
se
d
 n
u
m
b
er
s 

ar
e 
ex
p
ec
te
d
 t
o
 d
ec
re
as
e 
o
n
ce
 

re
le
v
an
t 
si
te
 i
n
v
es
ti
g
at
io
n
s 

h
av
e 
b
ee
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 H
C
A
 t
o
 

b
e 
in
v
it
ed
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 &
 a
ss
is
t 

in
 d
el
iv
er
y
 o
n
 t
h
o
se
 s
it
e 
to
 g
o
 

fo
rw

ar
d
 f
o
r 
d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t.
 

T
o
w
n
 C
en
tr
e 

h
o
u
si
n
g
 

In
cr
ea
se
 v
it
al
it
y
 a
n
d
 

v
ia
b
il
it
y
 

T
o
w
n
 C
en
tr
e 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 h
o
u
si
n
g
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 t
o
 m

ee
t 

v
ar
ie
ty
 o
f 
id
en
ti
fi
ed
 

n
ee
d
 

B
ri
n
g
in
g
 e
m
p
ty
 

p
ro
p
er
ti
es
 b
ac
k
 i
n
to
 

u
se
 /
 e
n
er
g
y
 

ef
fi
ci
en
c
y
 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 

H
o
u
si
n
g
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 

to
 m

ix
ed
 u
se
, 
m
o
re
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 

R
eg
is
te
re
d
 

P
ro
v
id
er
s 

H
C
A
 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 
 

 
 

Page 156



  P
h
y
si
ca
l 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 

D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 
N
o
te
s 

v
ib
ra
n
t 
to
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

T
o
w
n
 C
en
tr
e 

P
u
b
li
c 
R
ea
lm

  

 
G
at
ew

a
y
s 

C
o
ll
eg
e 
C
am

p
u
s 

T
ra
in
 S
ta
ti
o
n
  

S
o
u
th
 E
as
t 
 

L
ad
y
b
ri
d
g
e 
 

L
ic
h
fi
el
d
 S
tr
ee
t 
 

 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 l
eg
ib
il
it
y
 t
o
 

to
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 
 

R
ed
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
/ 

In
v
es
tm

en
t 
o
f 
p
u
b
li
c 

an
d
 p
ri
v
at
e 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
si
te
s 

R
ec
o
n
fi
g
u
re
d
 U
p
p
er
 

G
u
n
g
at
e 
b
ri
d
g
e 
li
n
k
 

R
ec
o
n
fi
g
u
re
d
 

P
ed
es
tr
ia
n
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 

ju
n
ct
io
n
 o
u
ts
id
e 

st
at
io
n
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e 

li
n
k
s 
to
 t
o
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

D
o
w
n
g
ra
d
ed
 

h
ig
h
w
a
y
s 

in
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

m
in
im

is
ed
 s
tr
ee
t 

cl
u
tt
er
, 
m
ax
im

is
ed
 

p
ed
es
tr
ia
n
 m

o
v
em

en
t 

an
d
 i
n
cr
ea
se
 v
is
ib
il
it
y
 

o
f 
k
e
y
 s
tr
at
eg
ic
 

m
o
v
em

en
t 
co
rr
id
o
rs
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
o
rr
id
o
rs
 

U
p
p
er
 G
u
n
g
at
e 
 

V
ic
to
ri
a 
R
o
ad
  

B
o
le
b
ri
d
g
e 
S
tr
ee
t 
 

L
ad
y
b
ri
d
g
e 
 

L
ic
h
fi
el
d
 S
tr
ee
t 
 

 

In
v
es
ti
g
at
e 
w
id
en
ed
 

fo
o
tp
at
h
s,
 c
y
cl
e 

p
at
h
s,
 p
ed
es
tr
ia
n
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 c
ro
ss
in
g
s,
 

si
g
n
ag
e 
an
d
 a
d
o
p
ti
n
g
 

a 
co
n
st
ra
in
t 
p
al
et
te
 o
f 

m
at
er
ia
ls
 a
n
d
 s
tr
ee
t 

fu
rn
it
u
re
. 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 t
o
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 

li
n
k
s 
en
co
u
ra
g
in
g
 

in
cr
ea
se
d
 f
o
o
tf
al
l 

D
ed
ic
at
ed
 c
y
cl
e 
li
n
k
s 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 l
ig
h
ti
n
g
 

Im
p
ro
v
e 
cr
o
ss
in
g
 

fa
ci
li
ti
es
/s
u
b
w
a
y
 

p
o
te
n
ti
al
 f
o
r 
ri
v
er
si
d
e 

ro
u
te
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
ed
es
tr
ia
n
 S
ig
n
ag
e 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

V
eh
ic
le
 S
ig
n
ag
e 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

S
tr
ee
t 
F
u
rn
it
u
re
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 157



  P
h
y
si
ca
l 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 

D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 
N
o
te
s 

(b
in
s,
 b
en
ch
es
, 

p
la
n
te
rs
 e
tc
) 

 
 

L
ig
h
ti
n
g
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

L
ib
ra
ry
 /
 C
iv
ic
 

S
p
ac
e 
&
 S
t 
E
d
it
h
a 

S
q
u
ar
e 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

T
o
w
n
 H
al
l 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

'Q
u
ar
te
rs
' 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

T
ra
il
s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

R
iv
er
 f
ro
n
ta
g
e 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

M
ar
k
et
 

Im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

P
u
b
li
c 
R
ea
lm

 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 

O
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 
st
u
d
y
 f
o
u
n
d
 

p
o
o
r 
q
u
al
it
y
 /
 l
o
w
 v
al
u
e 

sp
ac
es
 

K
er
ri
a 

E
ll
er
b
ec
k
 

E
x
le
y
 

C
al
le
d
o
n
ia
 

E
n
h
an
ce
d
 p
la
n
ti
n
g
, 

m
at
er
ia
ls
, 
li
g
h
ti
n
g
, 

st
re
et
 f
u
rn
it
u
re
 

le
ad
in
g
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
ed
 

se
n
se
 o
f 
p
la
ce
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 158



   G
re
en
 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

N
o
te
s 

In
cr
ea
se
 i
n
 q
u
an
ti
ty
 

&
 q
u
al
it
y
 o
f 
o
p
en
 

sp
ac
es
 

T
o
 m

it
ig
at
e 

d
ef
ic
ie
n
ci
es
 o
f 

g
o
o
d
 q
u
al
it
y
 o
p
en
 

sp
ac
es
 i
d
en
ti
fi
ed
 i
n
 

o
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 

as
se
ss
m
en
t 
in
 

N
o
rt
h
 a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 

E
as
t 
an
al
y
si
s 
ar
ea
s 

W
ig
g
in
to
n
 P
ar
k
 –
 

en
h
an
ce
d
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 
 

In
cr
ea
se
 t
h
e 

am
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
g
o
o
d
 

q
u
al
it
y
 o
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

K
er
ri
a 
/ 
G
la
sc
o
te
 

R
o
ad
 o
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 

(n
o
rt
h
 E
as
t 
an
al
y
si
s 

ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
 t
h
e 

am
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
g
o
o
d
 

q
u
al
it
y
 o
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
n
ew

 

o
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 
li
n
k
ed
 

to
 n
ew

 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e 

A
n
k
er
 V
al
le
y
 

 
D
ev
el
o
p
er
s 

D
ep
en
d
an
t 
o
n
 

sc
h
em

e 

D
ep
en
d
an
t 
o
n
 

sc
h
em

e 

 
D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

L
ac
k
 o
f 
u
rb
an
 p
ar
k
 

in
 e
as
te
rn
 s
id
e 
o
f 

to
w
n
 (
so
u
th
 e
as
t,
 

ea
st
 a
n
d
 n
o
rt
h
 e
as
t 

an
al
y
si
s 
ar
ea
s)
 

B
u
m
p
y
 /
 

K
et
tl
eb
ro
o
k
 L
ak
es
  

F
o
rm

at
io
n
 o
f 
li
n
ea
r 

u
rb
an
 p
ar
k
 

F
o
o
tp
at
h
, 
ac
ce
ss
 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
, 

fa
ci
li
ty
 

im
p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 (
in
c 

b
in
s,
 b
en
ch
es
, 
d
o
g
 

b
in
s,
 i
n
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
, 

si
g
n
ag
e)
, 
li
g
h
ti
n
g
, 
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
, 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

T
o
 m

it
ig
at
e 

d
ef
ic
ie
n
c
y
 i
n
 s
em

i-

n
at
u
ra
l 
o
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 
 

W
ig
g
in
to
n
 P
ar
k
 –
 

es
ta
b
li
sh
 L
N
R
 

(N
o
rt
h
 a
n
al
y
si
s 

ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 s
em

i-

n
at
u
ra
l 
h
ab
it
at
s 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 

b
io
d
iv
er
si
ty
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
, 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

B
ro
ad
 M

ea
d
o
w
 –
 

es
ta
b
li
sh
 L
N
R
 

(m
id
-w

es
t 
an
al
y
si
s 

ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 s
em

i-

n
at
u
ra
l 
h
ab
it
at
s 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 

b
io
d
iv
er
si
ty
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
, 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

B
u
m
p
y
 –
 e
st
ab
li
sh
 

L
N
R
 (
E
as
t 
an
al
y
si
s 

ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 s
em

i-

n
at
u
ra
l 
h
ab
it
at
s 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 

b
io
d
iv
er
si
ty
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
, 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

K
er
ri
a 
/ 
G
la
sc
o
te
 

R
o
ad
 o
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 

(N
o
rt
h
 E
as
t 

an
al
y
si
s 
ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 s
em

i-

n
at
u
ra
l 
h
ab
it
at
s 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 

b
io
d
iv
er
si
ty
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
, 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
“S
it
es
 

o
f 
A
lt
er
n
at
iv
e 

B
ro
ad
 m

ea
d
o
w
 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 s
em

i-

n
at
u
ra
l 
h
ab
it
at
s 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

 

Page 159



  G
re
en
 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

N
o
te
s 

N
at
u
ra
l 

G
re
en
sp
ac
e”
 

(S
A
N
G
S
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 

b
io
d
iv
er
si
ty
 

R
ed
u
ce
d
 p
re
ss
u
re
 

o
n
 S
A
C
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
, 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

T
o
 m

ai
n
ta
in
 h
ig
h
 

le
v
el
s 
o
f 
g
o
o
d
 

q
u
al
it
y
 o
p
en
 s
p
ac
es
 

ac
ce
ss
ib
le
 t
o
 

m
aj
o
ri
ty
 o
f 

re
si
d
en
ts
 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 

m
ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 l
ev
el
s 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e 

M
ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 o
f 

o
p
en
 s
p
ac
es
 t
o
 b
e 

o
f 
re
q
u
ir
ed
 

st
an
d
ar
d
 t
o
 m

ee
t 

in
cr
ea
se
d
 d
em

an
d
s 

p
la
ce
d
 o
n
 s
p
ac
e 
b
y
 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ep
en
d
an
t 
o
n
 s
ca
le
 

o
f 
d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

 
 

F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

d
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

R
ec
o
g
n
is
ed
 t
h
at
 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
ca
n
 p
la
ce
 

ad
d
it
io
n
al
 b
u
rd
en
 o
n
 

ex
is
ti
n
g
 o
p
en
 s
p
ac
es
 

an
d
 t
h
ei
r 
m
ai
n
te
n
an
ce
. 

In
cr
ea
se
 a
n
d
 

d
ev
el
o
p
 n
et
w
o
rk
 o
f 

'f
ri
en
d
s 
o
f'
 g
ro
u
p
s 

2
 n
ew

 g
ro
u
p
s 

es
ta
b
li
sh
ed
, 

en
g
ag
em

en
t 
w
it
h
 

lo
ca
l 
p
eo
p
le
, 

ra
is
in
g
 

in
v
o
lv
em

en
t 
an
d
 

k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e 
o
f 

is
su
es
. 
Im

p
ro
v
ed
 

m
ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 o
f 

ar
ea
s 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
 

 

M
ai
n
ta
in
 

co
n
se
rv
at
io
n
 a
n
d
 

en
g
ag
em

en
t 

ac
ti
v
it
y
 o
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

L
N
R
’s
 

en
g
ag
em

en
t 
w
it
h
 

lo
ca
l 
p
eo
p
le
, 

ra
is
in
g
 

in
v
o
lv
em

en
t 
an
d
 

k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e 
o
f 

is
su
es
. 
Im

p
ro
v
ed
 

m
ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 o
f 

ar
ea
s.
 m

ax
im

is
ed
 

p
o
te
n
ti
al
 f
o
r 
h
ea
lt
h
 

an
d
 s
o
ci
al
 b
en
ef
it
s.
  

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
 

 
2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
 

 

W
il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 a
n
n
u
al
 

ev
en
t 

R
ai
se
d
 a
w
ar
en
es
s,
 

in
cr
ea
se
d
 n
u
m
b
er
 

o
f 
v
o
lu
n
te
er
s 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
 

 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
en
ta
l 

E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 a
cc
es
s 

fo
r 
sc
h
o
o
ls
 t
o
 

L
N
R
, 
im

p
ro
v
ed
 

in
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 a
t 

o
p
en
 s
p
ac
es
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

W
il
d
li
fe
 T
ru
st
  

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
F
u
n
d
ed
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
W
T
 'W

il
d
 A
b
o
u
t 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
' T

ea
m
, 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l,
 D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

In
cr
ea
se
 i
n
 q
u
an
ti
ty
 

o
f 
p
la
y
 s
p
ac
es
  

T
o
 a
d
d
re
ss
 

d
ef
ic
ie
n
ci
es
 o
f 
p
la
y
 

sp
ac
es
 i
n
 t
h
e 

F
o
n
te
n
a
y
e 
R
o
ad
 /
 

B
u
ck
in
g
h
am

 R
o
ad
 

ar
ea
 (
n
o
rt
h
 a
n
al
y
si
s 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 

fo
r 
re
le
v
an
t 
ag
e 

g
ro
u
p
s 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 160



  G
re
en
 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

N
o
te
s 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

ar
ea
) 

K
er
ri
a 
/ 
G
la
sc
o
te
 

R
o
ad
 o
p
en
 s
p
ac
e 

(n
o
rt
h
 e
as
t 
an
al
y
si
s 

ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 

fo
r 
re
le
v
an
t 
ag
e 

g
ro
u
p
s 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

W
ar
w
ic
k
sh
ir
e 

M
o
o
r 
/ 
M
ac
G
re
g
o
r 

P
ar
k
 (
n
o
rt
h
 e
as
t 

an
al
y
si
s 
ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 

fo
r 
re
le
v
an
t 
ag
e 

g
ro
u
p
s 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

C
o
u
n
ty
 D
ri
v
e 
ar
ea
 

(M
id
-W

es
t 
an
al
y
si
s 

ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 

fo
r 
re
le
v
an
t 
ag
e 

g
ro
u
p
s 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

E
as
t 
o
f 
P
ee
le
rs
 

W
ay
 (
so
u
th
 w
es
t 

an
al
y
si
s 
ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 

fo
r 
re
le
v
an
t 
ag
e 

g
ro
u
p
s 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

C
as
tl
e 
G
ro
u
n
d
s 

(m
id
 w
es
t 
an
al
y
si
s 

ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 

fo
r 
re
le
v
an
t 
ag
e 

g
ro
u
p
s 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

W
es
t 
o
f 
G
la
sc
o
te
 

L
an
e 
(s
o
u
th
 e
as
t 

an
al
y
si
s 
ar
ea
) 

In
cr
ea
se
d
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 

fo
r 
re
le
v
an
t 
ag
e 

g
ro
u
p
s 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

E
n
h
an
ce
d
 a
cc
es
s 
to
 

g
re
en
 n
et
w
o
rk
 

 
T
o
w
p
at
h
 u
p
g
ra
d
es
 

to
 p
ro
v
id
e 
ro
u
te
s 

fo
r 
w
al
k
in
g
 a
n
d
 

cy
cl
in
g
 

 
B
ri
ti
sh
 

W
a
te
rw

a
y
s 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
1
6
-2
0
2
6
 

 
B
ri
ti
sh
 W

at
er
w
a
y
s,
 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

w
h
er
e 
ap
p
ro
p
ri
at
e 

 

 
 

A
d
d
it
io
n
al
 c
y
cl
e 

tr
ac
k
s 
u
ti
li
si
n
g
 

g
re
en
 n
et
w
o
rk
 /
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 w
id
e 

 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

C
E
N
T
R
A
L
 

R
IV

E
R
S
 

IN
IT
IA

T
IV

E
 S
W
T
 

T
O
 A
D
V
IS
E
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

T
A
M
E
 V
A
L
L
E
Y
 

P
A
R
T
N
E
R
S
H
IP
 

S
W
T
 T
O
 A
D
V
IS
E
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 161



   S
o
ci
al
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

N
o
te
s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

In
d
o
o
r 
/ 
O
u
td
o
o
r 

S
tu
d
y
 

C
o
n
cl
u
si
o
n
s?
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

S
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 L
ei
su
re
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

C
u
lt
u
re
 

 
A
ss
em

b
ly
 R
o
o
m
s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

C
as
tl
e 
- 
H
L
F
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
ea
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
el
lb
ei
n
g
 

M
ee
ti
n
g
 i
d
en
ti
fi
ed
 

n
ee
d
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 h
ea
lt
h
 

an
d
 w
el
lb
ei
n
g
 o
f 

re
si
d
en
ts
. 
S
ee
 

In
d
o
o
r 
/ 
O
u
td
o
o
r 

S
p
o
rt
s 
S
tu
d
y
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

W
el
lb
ei
n
g
 C
en
tr
e 

Im
p
ro
v
e 
h
ea
lt
h
  
/ 

w
el
lb
ei
n
g
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

H
ea
lt
h
 C
en
tr
es
 /
 

G
P
 S
u
rg
er
ie
s 

S
o
u
th
 S
ta
ff
s 
P
C
T
 

/ 
S
C
C
 t
o
 a
d
v
is
e 

fu
rt
h
er
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
E
R
V
IC
E
S
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

F
ir
e 
S
ta
ti
o
n
s 

Im
p
ro
v
e 

em
er
g
en
c
y
 

re
sp
o
n
se
 t
im

es
 

R
ed
u
ce
 r
is
k
 o
f 
fi
re
 

2
 n
ew

 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

fi
re
 s
ta
ti
o
n
s 

(B
el
g
ra
v
e 
an
d
 

L
ic
h
fi
el
d
 S
tr
ee
t)
 

2
 n
ew

 s
ta
ti
o
n
s.
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
cc
es
s 

to
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s.
 

Im
p
ro
v
ed
 

k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e 
an
d
 

u
n
d
er
st
an
d
in
g
 o
f 

is
su
es
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 
F
ir
e
 

£
4
6
m
 f
o
r 
w
id
er
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e 
 

2
0
0
6
-2
0
1
1
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
P
F
I 
- 
se
cu
re
d
 

E
x
p
ec
te
d
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

an
d
 f
u
ll
y
 o
p
er
at
io
n
al
 

2
0
1
2
 

A
m
b
u
la
n
ce
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

P
o
li
ce
 

A
d
d
re
ss
 c
ri
m
e 
an
d
 

fe
ar
 o
f 
cr
im

e 

R
es
tr
u
ct
u
re
 /
 

re
lo
ca
te
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

P
o
li
ce
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 
in
 

to
w
n
 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

P
o
li
ce
 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

 
U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

 P
o
li
ce
 e
x
p
ec
t 
in
 P
la
n
 

p
er
io
d
 t
h
at
 s
o
m
e 

al
te
ra
ti
o
n
 o
r 

re
st
ru
ct
u
ri
n
g
 o
f 

ex
is
ti
n
g
 f
ac
il
it
ie
s 
m
ay
 

b
e 
re
q
u
ir
ed
 t
o
 r
es
p
o
n
d
 

to
 c
h
an
g
in
g
 d
em

an
d
s 

u
p
o
n
 r
es
o
u
rc
es
 

 
 

A
n
k
er
 V
al
le
y
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
en
rt
e 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

C
em

et
er
ie
s 
/ 

 
E
x
te
n
si
o
n
 t
o
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 162



  S
o
ci
al
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

N
o
te
s 

C
re
m
at
o
ri
a 

W
ig
g
in
to
n
 P
ar
k
 

C
em

et
ry
 

E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 –
 

N
u
rs
er
y
 a
n
d
 P
re
-

sc
h
o
o
l 

 
 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

 
 

 
 

 

E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 –
 

P
ri
m
ar
y
  

 
N
ew

 1
.5
 f
o
rm

 o
f 

en
tr
y
 (
F
E
) 
P
ri
m
ar
y
 

sc
h
o
o
l 
w
h
ic
h
 

co
n
si
st
s 
o
f 
3
1
5
 

R
ec
ep
ti
o
n
 t
o
 Y
ea
r 

6
 p
la
ce
s 
an
d
 

re
le
v
an
t 
n
u
rs
er
y
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
ap
p
ro
x
 

si
te
 s
iz
e:
 1
5
,1
0
0
m
².
  

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

£
5
.2
m
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

2
0
1
6
-2
0
2
1
 

 
D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

D
ep
en
d
in
g
 o
n
 

sc
al
e,
 l
o
ca
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

ti
m
in
g
 o
f 
n
ew

 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

ex
te
n
si
o
n
s 
to
 

ex
is
ti
n
g
 s
ch
o
o
ls
 

m
ay
 b
e 
n
ec
es
sa
ry
 –
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 

a
d
v
is
e 
fu
rt
h
er
 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 
 

 
D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 
m
ay
 

b
e 
re
q
u
ir
ed
 w
h
er
e 

ro
ll
 n
u
m
b
er
s 

in
cr
ea
se
 a
s 
re
su
lt
 o
f 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

 

E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 -
 

S
ec
o
n
d
ar
y
 

 
E
x
te
n
si
o
n
 t
o
 

R
aw

le
tt
s 
to
 

ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
e 

A
n
k
er
 v
al
le
y
 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
1
7
5
 

p
la
ce
s 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

£
3
m
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

2
0
1
6
-2
0
2
1
 

 
D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 

D
ep
en
d
in
g
 o
n
 

sc
al
e,
 l
o
ca
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

ti
m
in
g
 o
f 
n
ew

 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

ex
te
n
si
o
n
s 
to
 

ex
is
ti
n
g
 s
ch
o
o
ls
 

m
ay
 b
e 
n
ec
es
sa
ry
 –
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 

a
d
v
is
e 
fu
rt
h
er
 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

F
u
rt
h
er
 /
 H
ig
h
 

E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 

 
C
o
ll
eg
e 
to
 a
d
v
is
e 

fu
rt
h
er
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 163



  S
o
ci
al
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

N
o
te
s 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
en
t 

 
Jo
b
 a
d
v
ic
e 
/ 

su
p
p
o
rt
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 s
k
il
ls
 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

V
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 W

o
rk
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
P
ro
v
id
e 
a 
st
ab
le
 

an
d
 n
u
rt
u
ri
n
g
 

en
v
ir
o
n
m
en
t 
w
it
h
 

o
ff
ic
e 
fa
ci
li
ti
es
 f
o
r 

st
ar
t 
u
p
 b
u
si
n
es
se
s 

an
d
 s
o
ci
al
 

en
te
rp
ri
se
s.
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 

co
n
fe
re
n
ce
 /
 

m
ee
ti
n
g
 p
la
ce
 

B
u
si
n
es
s 

In
cu
b
at
io
n
 U
n
it
s 
&
 

m
ee
ti
n
g
 s
p
ac
e 

to
w
n
 c
en
tr
e 
/ 

co
ll
eg
e 
/ 
A
m
in
g
to
n
 

In
d
u
st
ri
al
 E
st
at
e 

d
ep
en
d
in
g
 o
n
 s
it
e 

av
ai
la
b
il
it
y
 

 
 

£
5
0
0
,0
0
0
 -
 £
1
m
 

d
ep
en
d
in
g
 o
n
 s
ca
le
 

 
2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
 

C
h
il
d
re
n
s 
S
er
v
ic
es
 

 
Y
o
u
th
 C
en
tr
e 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

W
at
er
 R
es
o
u
rc
es
 

an
d
 S
u
p
p
ly
 

 
S
o
m
e 
o
ff
-s
it
e 
w
at
er
 

m
ai
n
s 
 

in
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 w
il
l 

b
e 
re
q
u
ir
ed
 

 
S
ev
er
n
 T
re
n
t 

W
a
te
r 
L
td
, 
S
o
u
th
 

S
ta
ff
s 
W
a
te
r
 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

 
 

D
ep
en
d
an
t 
o
n
 l
ev
el
 o
f 

g
ro
w
th
 

 
 

N
ew

 b
o
o
st
er
 p
u
m
p
 

at
 G
la
sc
o
te
 b
o
o
st
er
 

st
at
io
n
 

 
S
o
u
th
 S
ta
ff
s 

W
a
te
r
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
  

 
 

D
ep
en
d
an
t 
o
n
 l
ev
el
 o
f 

g
ro
w
th
 

 
 

U
se
 o
f 
W
ar
to
n
 

G
ro
u
n
d
w
at
er
 U
n
it
 

fo
r 
fu
rt
h
er
 w
at
er
 

ex
tr
ac
ti
o
n
 

 
S
o
u
th
 S
ta
ff
s 
W
at
er
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

 
 

 

W
as
te
 w
at
er
 

co
ll
ec
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

tr
ea
tm

en
t 

 
Im

p
ro
v
em

en
ts
 m

a
y
 

b
e 
re
q
u
ir
ed
 t
o
 

in
cr
ea
se
 c
ap
ac
it
y
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e 
m
ai
n
s 
/ 

p
u
m
p
in
g
 s
ta
ti
o
n
s 

 
S
ev
er
n
 T
re
n
t 

W
a
te
r 
L
td
 

 
 

 
 

 

S
u
rf
ac
e 
W
at
er
 

D
ra
in
ag
e 

 
Im

p
le
m
en
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

S
u
st
ai
n
ab
le
 

D
ra
in
ag
e 
S
y
st
em

s 

te
ch
n
iq
u
es
 i
n
 n
ew

 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
 

T
am

w
o
rt
h
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

D
ev
el
o
p
er
 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 

 
 

 
 

 

F
lo
o
d
 D
ef
en
ce
s 

 
N
ew

 f
lo
o
d
 

d
ef
en
ce
s 
at
 F
az
el
e
y
 

N
ew

 f
lo
o
d
 

d
ef
en
ce
s 
le
ad
in
g
 t
o
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
en
t 

A
g
en
cy
 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

T
h
e 
R
iv
er
 

T
am

e 
F
lo
o
d
 

 
 

Page 164



  S
o
ci
al
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

N
o
te
s 

(M
a
y
fa
ir
 D
ri
v
e 
an
d
 

B
ro
o
k
 E
n
d
),
 n
ew

 

em
b
an
k
m
en
t 
at
 

L
ic
h
fi
el
d
 R
o
ad
 

re
d
u
ce
d
 r
is
k
 o
f 

fl
o
o
d
in
g
 

R
is
k
 

m
an
ag
em

en
t 

S
tr
at
eg
y
 

co
n
ta
in
ed
 

se
v
er
al
 

p
ro
je
ct
s 
to
 

re
d
u
ce
 t
h
e 
ri
sk
 

o
f 
fl
o
o
d
in
g
 

an
d
 w
as
 

su
b
je
ct
 t
o
 

p
u
b
li
c 

co
n
su
lt
at
io
n
 i
n
 

2
0
0
9
. 
A
n
 

ac
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

w
it
h
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
es
 

is
 e
x
p
ec
te
d
 

2
0
1
0
. 

 
In
v
es
ti
g
at
io
n
 o
f 

fl
o
o
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 F
lo
o
d
 

p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 w
o
rk
s 
to
 

B
ir
m
in
g
h
am

 

F
az
el
e
y
 C
an
al
 

R
ed
u
ce
d
 f
lo
o
d
in
g
 

fr
o
m
 R
iv
er
 T
am

e 
B
ri
ti
sh
 

W
a
te
rw

a
y
s 
/ 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
en
t 

A
g
en
cy
 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
  

2
0
1
6
-2
0
2
6
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
o
u
se
h
o
ld
 W

as
te
 

R
ec
y
cl
in
g
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 

 
W
a
rw

ic
k
sh
ir
e 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
  

2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
6
 

 
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
er
m
is
si
o
n
 

ex
is
ts
 f
o
r 
si
te
. 
L
in
k
ed
 

in
to
 e
x
p
an
si
o
n
 o
f 
B
ir
ch
 

C
o
p
p
ic
e.
  

E
n
er
g
y
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

T
ra
n
sm

is
si
o
n
 a
n
d
 

d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 s
y
st
em

 

fo
r 
el
ec
tr
ic
it
y
 

 
N
o
n
e 
id
en
ti
fi
ed
 b
u
t 

u
p
g
ra
d
in
g
, 

re
n
ew

al
, 
ex
te
n
si
o
n
 

to
 n
et
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

su
b
st
at
io
n
s 
m
ay
 b
e 

re
q
u
ir
ed
 

 
E
le
ct
ri
ci
ty
 

P
ro
v
id
er
s 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
 

 
 

 
 

T
ra
n
sm

is
si
o
n
 a
n
d
 

d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 s
y
st
em

 

fo
r 
g
as
 

 
N
o
n
e 
id
en
ti
fi
ed
 b
u
t 

u
p
g
ra
d
in
g
, 
re
n
ew

al
 

an
d
 e
x
te
n
si
o
n
 t
o
 

g
as
 n
et
w
o
rk
s 
m
a
y
 

b
e 
re
q
u
ir
ed
 

 
G
as
 p
ro
v
id
er
s 

U
n
k
n
o
w
n
s 

 
 

 
 

R
en
ew

ab
le
 E
n
er
g
y
 

G
en
er
at
io
n
 

 
P
o
ss
ib
le
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s 
fo
r 

re
n
ew

ab
le
 e
n
er
g
y
 

g
en
er
at
io
n
 h
av
e 

 
P
ri
v
at
e 
se
ct
o
r 
/ 

co
m
m
er
ci
al
 e
n
er
g
y
 

co
m
p
an
ie
s 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 165



  S
o
ci
al
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
fr
as
tr
u
ct
u
re
 

R
eq
u
ir
ed
 

D
ri
v
er
 

S
ch
em

e 
/ 
L
o
ca
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e 
/ 
Im

p
ac
t 

L
ea
d
 a
n
d
 D
el
iv
er
y
 

A
g
en
ci
es
 

C
o
st
 

P
h
as
in
g
 

C
o
re
 S
tr
at
eg
y
 

P
o
li
cy
 

B
u
d
g
et
 /
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

N
o
te
s 

b
ee
n
 i
d
en
ti
fi
ed
 i
n
 

th
e 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
sh
ir
e 

R
en
ew

ab
le
 /
 L
o
w
 

C
ar
b
o
n
 E
n
er
g
y
 

S
tu
d
y
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 166



 1

CABINET 
 

31 August 2011 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder, Corporate Services & Assets 
 
 

WRITE OFFS 01/04/2011 – 30/06/2011 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
Not exempt. 
 
PURPOSE: 
 
To provide members with details of write offs from 01 April 2011 to 30 June 2011. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:   
 
That members endorse the amount of debt written off.  
 
Executive Summary 
 

The Heads of Service are responsible for the regular review of debts and consider 
the need for write off and authorise where necessary appropriate write offs in line 
with the Corporate Credit Policy. This report shows the position for the current 
financial year. Further updates will continue to be produced on a quarterly basis. 
 

Type 01/04/11-30/06/11 

Council Tax -£5.46 

Business Rates £131,232.95                

Sundry Income £18,125.98 

Housing Benefit Overpayments £3,294.75 

 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no new financial implications arising from this report. As the write offs 
detailed have already been approved in line with the Corporate Credit 
Policy/Financial Regulations and have been reported to members where appropriate. 
 
Members should note that NNDR write offs are covered by amending the Council’s 
contribution to the Non Domestic Rating Pool. 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 167



 2

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
That the amounts written off be endorsed. 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
This forms part of the Council’s Corporate Credit Policy and effective management of 
debt. 
 
The Council is committed to ensuring that debt write offs are kept to a minimum by 
taking all reasonable steps to collect monies due. There will be situations where the 
debt recovery process fails to recover some or all of the debt and will need to be 
considered for write off in accordance with the schemes of delegation prescribed in 
the Corporate Credit Policy. 
 
The Council views such cases very much as exceptions. Before writing off debt, the 
Council will satisfy itself that all reasonable steps have been taken to collect it and 
that no further recovery action is possible or practicable. It will take into account the 
age, size and type of debt together with any factors that it feels are relevant to the 
individual case. 
 
Debt Write Off 
 
Authorisations are needed to write off debt: 
 

Authority Account Value 

Chief Officer 
(or authorised delegated officer) 

up to £5,000 

Corporate Director (Resources) £5,001 - £10,000 

Cabinet over £10,000 

 
These limits apply to each transaction. 
All write offs are completed in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2003. 
 
Bad Debt Provision 
 
The level of the provision must be reviewed jointly by the unit and accountancy on at 
least a quarterly basis as part of the management performance review, and the table 
below gives the mandatory calculation 
 
 
Where the debt is less than 6 months old it will be written back to the service unit. 
 

Page 168



 3

Debt Outstanding Provision (net of VAT) 

Between 6 and 12 months old 50% 

Between 12 and 24 months old 75% 

Over 24 months old 100% 

 
The financial effects of providing for Bad Debts will be reflected in the Council’s 
accounts at Service Unit level. 
 
Please note that the Deputy Director of Housing and Health will report separately on 
write offs. 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Michael Buckland, Head of Revenues, tel. 709523 
Email michael-buckland@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Corporate Credit Policy- effective management of debt 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendices A to D give details of write offs completed for the Revenues and Benefits 
Service 
 
 

Page 169



 4

Appendix A- Council Tax 
 

 P
age 170



 5

Appendix B- Business Rates 
 

 
 

P
age 171



 6

Appendix C- Miscellaneous Income 
 

 
 

P
age 172



 7

Appendix D- Housing Benefit Overpayments 
 

 
 

P
age 173



Page 174

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Annual Review 2010/11
	Cabinet Report for Annual Review 201011 enc. 1

	5 Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults
	Cabinet Report for Safeguarding Children and Vulnerbale Adults enc. 1
	Cabinet Report for Safeguarding Children and Vulnerbale Adults enc. 2

	6 Increase in Disabled Facilities Grant Budget to Reflect Contributions
	7 Tamworth Core Strategy: Proposed Housing Policy Consultation Responses
	Cabinet Report for Tamworth Core Strategy Proposed Housing Policy Consultation Responses enc. 2.5
	Cabinet Report for Tamworth Core Strategy Proposed Housing Policy Consultation Responses enc. 2.5

	8 Infrastructure Delivery Plan
	Cabinet Report for Infrastructure Delivery Plan enc. 1

	9 Write Offs 01/04/2011 - 30/06/2011

